

Animal welfare in extensive systems

Edited by Severiano Silva and George Thomas Stilwell

Published in Frontiers in Veterinary Science





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-266-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-266-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Animal welfare in extensive systems

Topic editors

Severiano Silva — Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto, Portugal George Thomas Stilwell — University of Lisbon, Portugal

Citation

Silva, S., Stilwell, G. T., eds. (2023). *Animal welfare in extensive systems*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-266-1

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

04	Editorial: Animal welfare in extensive systems
	Severiano R. Silva and George Stilwell

06 A Survey of Smallholder Farms Regarding Demographics, Health Care, and Management Factors of Donkeys in Northeastern China Liang Deng, Shicheng Shi, Jing Li, Chi Tang, Yuwei Han and Peng Xie

- 15 Progress With Livestock Welfare in Extensive Production Systems: Lessons From Australia Peter Andrew Windsor
- 24 Corrigendum: Progress With Livestock Welfare in Extensive Production Systems: Lessons From Australia Peter Andrew Windsor
- 25 Welfare of Native Goat Breeds in Serbia—Emphasis on Parasitological Infections Katarina Nenadović, Tamara Ilić, Nemanja Jovanović, Dejan Bugarski and Marijana Vučinić
- 38 Temperament Trait Changes in Japanese Black Cows Under Grazing and Confined Conditions

Noriaki Nakajima, Hiroki Mitsuishi and Masato Yayota

- 47 Feasibility and Reliability of the AWIN Welfare Assessment Protocol for Dairy Goats in Semi-extensive Farming Conditions Monica Battini, Manuela Renna, Mauro Giammarino, Luca Battaglini and Silvana Mattiello
- 61 Barriers to Utilizing Non-replacement Male Calves in the Australian Dairy Industry: A Qualitative Study Veronika Vicic, Anthony J. Saliba, Michael A. Campbell and Jane C. Quinn
- 72 Determinants of Ruminant Farmers' Use of Sustainable Production Practices for Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation in Enugu State, Nigeria

Cynthia Ebere Nwobodo, Blessing Nwokolo, Juliana Chinasa Iwuchukwu, Violet Amarachukwu Ohagwu and Remigius Ikechukwu Ozioko

82 Dynamics of Thermolysis and Skin Microstructure in Water Buffaloes Reared in Humid Tropical Climate—A Microscopic and Thermographic Study

> Reíssa Alves Vilela, José de Brito Lourenço Junior, Manuel Antonio Chagas Jacintho, Antonio Vinícius Correa Barbosa, Messy Hannear de Andrade Pantoja, Carlos Magno Chaves Oliveira and Alexandre Rossetto Garcia

97 Grass composition and distribution patterns as determinants of behavioral activities and weight accumulation of Nguni and Boran cattle post-relocation

Mhlangabezi Slayi, Leocadia Zhou and Yonela Zifikile Njisane

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Laura Ann Boyle, Teagasc Food Research Centre, Ireland

*CORRESPONDENCE Severiano R. Silva Ssilva@utad.pt

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 23 November 2022 ACCEPTED 30 November 2022 PUBLISHED 20 December 2022

CITATION

Silva SR and Stilwell G (2022) Editorial: Animal welfare in extensive systems. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:1106188. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.1106188

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Silva and Stilwell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Animal welfare in extensive systems

Severiano R. Silva^{1*} and George Stilwell²

¹Veterinary and Animal Research Centre (CECAV), Associate Laboratory of Animal and Veterinary Sciences (AL4AnimalS), University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Vila Real, Portugal, ²Laboratory, Centre of Interdisciplinary Research in Animal Health (CIISA), Associate Laboratory of Animal and Veterinary Sciences (AL4AnimalS), Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal

KEYWORDS

ruminant, extensive systems, welfare, goat, cattle

Editorial on the Research Topic Animal welfare in extensive systems

World livestock production is diverse and is supported by a wide range of systems, from intensive to extensive. Although most animal production originates from intensive systems, there are many regions in developed and developing countries where extensive systems are essential and play a role in ecosystems' integrity, social stability, cultural heritage preservation, and economic turnover. One of the most recent challenges for this system is to understand how animal welfare is impacted and how it may be assessed. To respond to this challenge, this Research Topic has put together a collection of research and review articles dedicated to a broad spectrum of topics related to animal health and welfare, as well as other features of extensive livestock production in different countries. These articles address questions about animal welfare in extensive systems, from different perspectives and for different species such as donkeys, goats, cattle, and water buffaloes.

Extensive livestock production is vital for many reasons in different continents. This aspect is discussed by Windsor in a review on the Australian reality, but with a clear message for other countries. This review emphasizes the need for continuing improvements in animal welfare to ensure social acceptance of animal-sourced food and fiber; a pertinent issue in the social context of strong opposition toward animal production. In addition, the need for sustainability of animal production is also highlighted in how it impacts the Australian economy. Severe drought periods subsequent to global climate changes have dramatically affected animal welfare in these systems, triggering the emergence of unforeseen disease severity (e.g., paratuberculosis) and overwhelming bushfires, causing an increase in mortality, morbidity, and suffering of extensive-farmed animals. This review suggests innovations for animal welfare surveillance and assessment that will improve the management of extensive farm animal welfare in Australia and will serve as a lesson globally.

Likewise, practices that will allow for the adaptation, or that will help mitigate the effects of climate change, ensuring a more sustainable production in Enugu State, Nigeria, are analyzed by Nwobodo et al. This work studies factors that significantly influenced the use of sustainable practices by 96 ruminant farmers. Access to veterinary services,

monthly household, and annual income from ruminant production were considered the most important factors influencing the implementation of these practices.

Publications related to the health and welfare of donkeys are very much needed. The article by Deng et al. highlights farm demographics as well as the health and welfare issues of donkeys in Northeastern China. In this work, it is pointed out that 40% of the donkeys suffered from at least one health problem; the most common problems were colic, respiratory disorders, and skin conditions. The article also indicates that owners underestimated some of the most prevalent diseases in donkeys, which suggests that there is still room for improvement in health management, ensuring better welfare of donkeys in those regions.

The work presented by Nenadović et al. studies the impact of parasitological infections on the welfare of native goat breeds in extensive Serbian farming systems. Using the Animal Welfare Indicators (AWIN) protocol, correlations were found between infection by certain parasites and animal welfare-based indicators, such as poor hair coat condition and nasal discharge. Also working with goats, Battini et al. test the feasibility and reliability of the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for dairy goats in semi-extensive farming conditions. Inter-observer reliability analysis of different indicators showed a wide range of values, from excellent to insufficient. The results identified as insufficient were associated with differences in the background of the assessors and feasibility constraints, which is why there is a need for comprehensive training and validation of some grouplevel animal-based indicators, particularly those that evaluate daily activities' synchrony.

Aspects related to the behavior and welfare of cattle are addressed in three articles. Nakajima et al. show the importance of temperament trait changes in Japanese Black cows under grazing and confined conditions. The results show that grazing enhanced the cows' docility while being managed. On the other hand, Vicic et al. analyze the barriers facing non-replacement male calves in the Australian dairy industry. The main barriers identified were related to the cost and availability of feed, the additional cost of labor, and a lower economic return on the meat produced by this type of animal. Identifying these barriers represents a step toward non-replacement male calves being seen as a profitable commercial practice. Slayi et al. analyze grass species and their distribution patterns, and their effect on the behavior and weight gain of Nguni (NG) and Boran (BR) cattle, post-relocation to a novel environment. It was found that both breeds showed a reduction in weight gain and body condition in the first 3 weeks after moving, which was followed by adaptation to the novel environment conditions and stress reduction, with the recovery of their behavioral activities and weight gains.

Lastly, the article presented by Vilela et al. is related to thermolysis and skin microstructure dynamics in water buffaloes reared in a humid tropical climate. This work expands the knowledge on the heat tolerance capacity of Murrah buffaloes in tropical environments. It was shown that, despite the tolerance capacity of this species to heat stress, access to shade in buffalo rearing systems in tropical regions is essential.

In summary, the Research Topic of these articles will contribute to increasing the knowledge regarding the welfare of animals kept in more natural settings.

Author contributions

Both authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.





A Survey of Smallholder Farms Regarding Demographics, Health Care, and Management Factors of Donkeys in Northeastern China

Liang Deng^{1*}, Shicheng Shi¹, Jing Li^{2*}, Chi Tang¹, Yuwei Han¹ and Peng Xie¹

¹ Department of Animal Genetics, Breeding and Reproduction, College of Animal Science and Veterinary Medicine, Shenyang Agricultural University, Shenyang, China, ² Department of Clinical Veterinary Medicine, College of Veterinary Medicine, China Agricultural University, Beijing, China

Essential information on the population dynamics and the health and welfare of Chinese donkeys is scarce. The objectives of this study were to describe the demographic characteristics, management and health care of a sample of donkeys under smallholder farm conditions of northeastern China. A cross-sectional survey of 731 randomly selected donkey owners on smallholder farms (1,658 donkeys) in 40 villages of northeastern China was conducted. Data on the composition and management of the donkeys and their routine health care were analyzed. The surveyed donkey population consisted of mostly (83.8%) jenny/filly donkeys with a mean age of 6.2 \pm 5.0 years. Most (91.2%) of the farms kept 1-4 donkeys. The majority of donkeys were used for breeding and labor. Most (93.8%) of the farms did not have bedding, and their mean stable size was 17.7 \pm 10.1 m². All of the animals were turned out for at least part of the year. The mean size of the turnout areas on the farms was 17.8 m². The condition of 12.5% of the donkeys was evaluated as "poor" with a body condition score of 1 on a scale of 5. More than one third (37.9%) of the donkeys had never been dewormed. Also, none of them were ever vaccinated or received dental care from a veterinarian. Their hoofs were trimmed once (45.9%) or twice (27.6%) a year. Forty percent of the donkeys were reported to suffer from at least one medical problem in the preceding year. The most common medical problems were colic, respiratory disorders and skin conditions. Owners seemed to underestimate some of the most prevalent diseases in donkeys, suggesting that their knowledge of the management of donkeys, including routine healthcare practices should be improved to ensure the health and welfare of donkeys in northeastern China.

Keywords: demographics, management, health care, survey, donkey, China

INTRODUCTION

The latest estimate of the global donkey population is 50.45 million, of which 2.68 million are raised in China (1, 2). Donkeys comprise a key animal species that has made valuable contributions to our society. They have a long history of serving various purposes in China, such as milk, meat and hide production, and labor and recreation (3).

Previous studies have revealed demographic characteristics of donkeys, such as the size and composition of the endangered Miranda donkeys in Portugal (4, 5), the donkey population in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Miguel Quaresma, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Francisco Javier Navas González, University of Cordoba, Spain

*Correspondence:

Liang Deng Ideng@syau.edu.cn Jing Li jlivet@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 06 November 2020 Accepted: 17 March 2021 Published: 14 April 2021

Citation:

Deng L, Shi S, Li J, Tang C, Han Y and Xie P (2021) A Survey of Smallholder Farms Regarding Demographics, Health Care, and Management Factors of Donkeys in Northeasterm China. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:626622. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.626622

6

The Donkey Sanctuary of United Kingdom (UK) (6–8) and the working donkeys in developing countries (9, 10). These authors have described disproportionate or unstable distributions in age and gender among some groups of donkeys (9, 10) or the relatively long lifespans and good health of others (6, 7). Baseline demographic data on the general donkey population is essential to evaluate population dynamics (11), and the relevance and impact of outcomes of epidemiological control (12).

It is important to ensure appropriate management and routine care to maintain good health among donkeys. Different types of nutrition, stabling facilities, activity, environment, health care, and culture can influence the welfare, development of disease and average breeding life of horses and donkeys (7, 13–15). However, donkeys often suffer significant health problems owing to physiologic characteristics and stoical behavior which are often misinterpreted by owners (16). Donkeys often do not exhibit obvious clinical signs despite suffering from severe or even life-threatening conditions (17). The characteristics in behavior, physiology and health have been recognized by some donkey researchers, para-Governmental bodies and owners, who have developed management guidelines for disease prevention (18, 19) and applied improved management practices to control disease risks (15, 17).

More recently, the feasibility of establishing intensive donkey farming systems in China to supply the demand for hides has been investigated (11). More than 70% of donkeys in China are raised under extensive conditions on smallholder farms, which reflect the population dynamics of extensive donkey farming systems. Forty-five percent of all Chinese donkeys are raised, bred and used in northeastern China, an important donkeybreeding region, and most of them remain under smallholder farm conditions (2). Our recent study investigated the foalingrelated parameters and dental disorders of jennies in this region (20, 21).

To the best of our knowledge, little information is known about the demographic characteristics, management and health care of donkeys in northeastern China. Hence, this cross-sectional study aimed to ascertain the demographic characteristics, management and health care of the extensively managed donkey population in northeastern China.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Area

We conducted this study in Western Liaoning Province and the Eastern Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, two adjacent zones with numerous hills in northeastern China, at an altitude ranging from 300 to 1,200 m above sea level, between coordinates $118^{\circ}50'-122^{\circ}26'$ E and $40^{\circ}17'-43^{\circ}01'$ N. This part of China has a semi-arid climate with an average monthly maximum temperature 24.1° C in July and minimum temperature -10.1° C in January. Meanwhile, the average monthly maximum precipitation is 129.8 mm in July and minimum precipitation is 1.8 mm in January. The mean relative humidity is 51%. The study area is 290 km from north to south and 300 km from east to west: 37,500 km² in total. The farmers practiced a mixed crop–livestock production systems, and used donkeys for breeding and light farm work. The donkey herds in the study area consisted of ~ 0.8 million indigenous Liaoxi donkeys described in our previous study (20), which account for two-thirds of donkeys in northeastern China. Breeding was practiced in a relatively extensive system. Thirty to fifty jennies were bred by in-hand breeding with natural service using a shared jack, following oestrus, usually observed and detected by the jenny owners.

Study Methodology and Data Collection

A cross-sectional survey of 731 smallholder farms was conducted in 40 villages between March and July 2017 with face-to-face interviews of the donkey owners of each farm. The farms were selected using a stratified sampling method according to their geographical distribution (north, east and south areas). Among each area, the farms were randomly selected based on the density statistics of donkeys by local government. These farms were visited door to door, and owners were asked if they would like to take part in the survey, resulting in a conveniencebased sample of owners who were willing to participate. The survey, which took \sim 20 min to complete, was combined with a pre-tested, semi-structured questionnaire, which was developed using a modification of the tailored design method (22). The questionnaire contained sections on the demographics of the owner (age, gender, educational level, source of income and the number of years spent raising donkeys), the donkey (age, gender, herd size and use), general management practices (stabling, turnout and feeding) and health care measures and interventions (body condition scores, medical problems during the preceding year, deworming, vaccination, dental care and hoof trimming) (Supplementary Table 1). A trained enumerator measured the size of the stables and turnout areas and rated the body condition of the donkeys on a 5-point scale (1 = poor, 2 = moderate, 3 =ideal, 4 = fat, and 5 = obese), in accordance with the guidelines of The Donkey Sanctuary (23). Photographs of the donkeys were collected to confirm the identity of each one. The total sample size was \sim 0.2% of the total number of households with donkeys based on the population census of 2016.

The data collection protocol was implemented with the approval of the Shenyang Agricultural University Animal Care and Use Committee (Permit no.: 201702018).

Statistical Analysis

The baseline survey data were entered into Microsoft Office Excel 2007 (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, WA), then exported to SPSS version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) after checking it for possible mistakes, typing errors and outliers. Descriptive statistics, including frequencies, means, medians, ranges, percentages and standard deviations (SDs) of the variables were calculated. The results are expressed as mean or mean \pm SD and 95% confidence intervals (CI). Normality was assessed using the Shapiro–Wilk test. Comparisons between groups were made using Pearson's chi-squared test for categorical variables. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.



RESULTS

Demographic Characteristics of the Respondents

A total of 731 donkey owners completed the survey. The age and gender distributions of the respondents are shown in **Figure 1**. Two-thirds of the respondents (67.7%, 95% CI: 64.3–71.1) were males and most of them (88.8%, 95% CI: 86.5–91.1) were 41–70 years old. The mean age of the respondents was 58.3 ± 9.5 years. The majority of respondents (96.6%) had ≤ 9 years of education, and nearly a half (48.6%) relied on agriculture as their all source of income. Most of them (81.5%) had raised donkeys for longer than 25 years (**Table 1**).

Age and Gender Distributions of the Donkeys

A total of 1,658 donkeys were included in the study. The herds mostly consisted of jenny/filly donkeys (83.8%, 95% CI: 82.0–85.6), jack/colt donkeys (15.9%, 95% CI: 14.1–17.7) and gelding donkeys (0.2%). The mean and median ages of the sample were 6.2 ± 5.0 years and 5 years (range: 0–23 years), respectively, and the largest and second largest number of age groups were ≤ 1 year (23.4%, 95% CI: 21.4–25.4) and 6–8 years (23.0%, 95% CI: 21.0–25.0), respectively. The number of females and males decreased dramatically after 1 years old. Among the 264 jack/colt donkeys, only 40 donkeys were over 3 years old and used for breeding, which account for a small percentage (2.4%) in this surveyed population (**Figure 2**).

Herd Size

The herd size of the donkeys across the 694 smallholder farms is presented in **Table 2**. The average farm size was 1.7 ± 1.3 ha and most (91.2%) of the farms kept 1–4 donkeys. The mean herd size and mean number of breeding jennies per farm were 2.5 ± 1.5 and 1.7 ± 0.9 , respectively. The herd to farm ratio and breeding jennies to farm ratio were 2.2:1 and 1.6:1, respectively.

TABLE 1 | Respondents (Donkey owners)' number of years of education, source
of income, and years raising donkeys in Western Liaoning and Eastern Inner
Mongolia of China (n = 731).

Characteristic	Percentage (number) of respondents	95% CI
Education (years)		
0	13.7 (100)	11.2-16.2
<3	10.0 (73)	5.7-14.3
4–6	37.9 (277)	34.4–41.4
7–9	35.0 (256)	31.5–38.5
10–12	2.9 (21)	1.7–4.1
>12	0.5 (4)	0-1.0
Source of income		
Agricultural activity	48.6 (355)	45.0-52.2
Agricultural activity + Employment	51.4 (376)	47.8–55.0
Years raising donkeys		
<5	2.9 (21)	1.7–4.1
6–10	2.5 (18)	1.4–3.6
11–15	3.7 (27)	2.3-5.1
16–20	3.4 (25)	2.1-4.7
21–25	6.0 (44)	4.3-7.7
>25	81.5 (596)	78.7–84.3

Cl, confidence interval.



Uses of Donkeys

The majority of donkeys were used for breeding (79.7%), and a large proportion was used for work, such as driving (61.6%), packing (3.4%) and agricultural operations during drafts (69.1%). Only 11.4% of the donkeys were used for meat and hide production (**Table 3**).

TABLE 2 Herd size of donkeys across 694* smallholder farms in Western
Liaoning and Eastern Inner Mongolia of China.

Herd and farm size	Mean	Median	SD	Range
Farm size (ha)	1.7	1.3	1.3	0–12
Herd size	2.5	2	1.5	1–14
Breeding jennies size	1.7	1	0.9	0–10
Herd size/farm size (per ha)	2.2	1.5	2.1	0–22.5
Breeding jennies size/farm size (per ha)	1.6	1.2	1.6	0–22.5

SD, standard deviation; ha. hectare.

*Thirty-seven respondents did not provide the information.

TABLE 3 Uses of donkeys across smallholder farms in Western Liaoning and Eastern Inner Mongolia of China (n = 1,658).

Uses	Percentage (number) of donkeys*	95% CI
Breeding	79.7 (1322)	77.8–81.6
Draft	69.1 (1146)	66.9–71.3
Driving	61.6 (1022)	59.3-63.9
Production (meat and hide)	11.4 (189)	9.9-12.9
Packing	3.4 (56)	2.5-4.3
Not reported	0.8 (14)	0.4–1.2

Cl, confidence interval.

*More than one answer was allowed.

Stable Management

Overall, 99.5% of the donkeys were routinely stabled at some time throughout the year. The types of stable structures and bedding varied (**Table 4**). Most of the stables were remodeled houses in which owners lived previously (44.7%) and simple brick stables (40.8%). Others were made of wood with an iron roof (14.0%).

The mean and median stable size per farm was $17.7 \pm 10.1 \text{ m}^2$ and 14.8 m^2 (ranges 0–103 m²), respectively. Among these farms, there were four (0.5%) kept their donkeys in the yard without any stable or shelter throughout the year. Most of the farms stabled the donkeys in areas measuring 1–25 m² (79.3%), followed by 25–50 m² (17.0%). Most of the farms did not have bedding (93.8%), and only a small number of donkeys had straw bedding (6.2%).

Turnout Management

The types and sizes of the turnout areas are summarized in **Table 5**. In the majority of turnout areas, a donkey was tied to a pole outside (39.0%), followed by a turnout to a paddock without grass (24.2%) and a walking area in a yard (8.3%). A small proportion of farms (5.3%) had a pasture with an access for donkeys.

The mean and median size of the turnout areas were 17.8 and 13.4 m² (ranges 1.7–145 m²), respectively. Most of the donkeys were kept in small turnout areas measuring \leq 50 m² (70.3%); only 1.8% of the farms kept donkeys in turnout areas larger than 75 m².

The durations of the turnouts varied by season (**Table 6**). The majority of donkeys (73.7–95.0%) were turned out during the day

TABLE 4 | Characteristics of the stables across smallholder farms in Western Liaoning and Eastern Inner Mongolia of China (n = 731).

Stables	Percentage (number) of farms	95% CI
Type of structure		
Remodeled from old houses	44.7 (327)	41.1–48.3
Simple brick stable	40.8 (298)	37.2-44.4
Wood stable with an iron roof	14.0 (102)	11.5–16.5
No stable	0.5 (4)	0–1.0
Stable size (m ²)		
0	0.5 (4)	0–1.0
1–25	79.3 (580)	76.4–82.2
25–50	17.0 (124)	14.3–19.7
51–75	0.5 (4)	0–1.0
>75	0.3 (2)	-0.1 to 0.7
Not reported	2.3 (17)	1.2–3.4
Type of bedding		
No bedding	93.8 (686)	92.1–95.5
Straw	6.2 (45)	4.5-7.9

Cl, confidence interval.

TABLE 5 | Types and sizes of turnout areas across smallholder farms in Western Liaoning and Eastern Inner Mongolia of China (n = 731).

Turnout areas	Percentage (number) of farms	95% CI
Type of turnout area		
Pole tied	39.0 (285)	35.5–42.5
Paddock without grass	24.2 (177)	21.1–27.3
Yard	8.3 (61)	6.3–10.3
Pasture	5.3 (39)	3.7–6.9
Not reported	23.1 (169)	20.0–26.2
Turnout area size (m ²)		
<25	53.9 (394)	50.3–57.5
25–50	16.4 (120)	13.7–19.1
51–75	4.8 (35)	3.3–6.3
>75	1.8 (13)	0.8–2.8
Not reported	23.1 (169)	20.0–26.2

Cl, confidence interval.

and stabled at night, throughout the year. A larger proportion was turned out 24 h/day without access to any stable during the summer (26.3%) and spring (22.6%), compared to the other seasons (0.8–16.6%, P < 0.01). A small proportion of donkeys were stabled 24 h/day during the winter (4.3%) and autumn (0.8%). Overall, the donkeys' median turnout duration was 10 h/day, although there was seasonal variation: a median of 12 h/day in the summer, 11 h/day in the spring, 10 h/day in the autumn and 8 h/day in the winter.

Dietary Management

Donkeys were mainly fed crop residue, such as millet straw (85.4%) and maize straw (83.1%), whereas 33.0% were fed hay

TABLE 6 | Stable and turnout management of donkeys across smallholder farms in Western Liaoning and Eastern Inner Mongolia of China throughout the year (n = 1,585).

	Percentage (number) of donkeys				
	Time of year				
Turnout	Sept-Nov	Dec-Feb	Mar-May	Jun-Aug	
Night stabled, day turned out	81.4 (1290) ^b	95.0 (1505) ^a	77.4 (1226) ^{bc}	73.7 (1168) ^{cd}	
Turned out 24 h/day	16.6 (263) ^b	0.8 (12) ^c	22.6 (359) ^a	26.3 (417) ^a	
Stabled 24 h/day	2.0 (32)	4.3 (68)	0	0	
Median time spent outside (h/day)	10	8	11	12	

 $^{a-d}$ Lowercase superscript letters indicate a significant difference (P < 0.01).

(**Table 7**). More than half of the donkeys were offered forage twice daily (52.6%) and 32.2% were fed forage daily *ad libitum*.

Most of the donkeys' diets were supplemented with small amounts of homemade concentrates, including maize (89.2%), soybean meal (16.9%), sunflower seed meal (14.8%) and wheat bran (6.9%). Only 29.0% of the donkeys were given vitamin and mineral supplements, and 0.7% were fed commercial products. Three donkeys (0.2%) were fed without concentrates. Over half (51.1%) of the donkeys' diets were supplemented with concentrates twice daily, 24.7% were supplemented once daily and 23.5% were supplemented three times daily.

All the donkeys were provided with water daily, 5.5% automatic drinkers and 94.5% bucket. There were 72.3% donkeys could drink clean water, although remains with dirty water.

Body Condition Score

The BCS was ideal in the largest proportion of the donkeys (43.2%, 95% CI: 40.8–45.6), moderate in 27.7% of them (95% CI: 25.5–29.9), fat in 15.8% (95% CI: 14.0–17.6%), poor in 12.5% (95% CI: 10.9–14.1%) and obese in 0.8% (95% CI: 0.4–1.2%) of the donkeys.

Health Care

The provision of routine health care to the donkeys, such as deworming, vaccination, dental care and hoof trimming, were examined (**Table 8**). More than one third (37.9%) of the donkeys were not dewormed yearly. Nearly half (44.5%) were dewormed once per year and 12.4% were dewormed twice per year. None of the donkeys in this study had ever been vaccinated or received dental care from a veterinarian or a dental technician. A farrier performed hoof trimming of the animals without being shod. A total of 761 (45.9%) and 458 (27.6%) donkeys had their hoofs trimmed once and twice a year, respectively. Only 20 donkeys (1.2%) had their hoofs trimmed three times a year; however, 245 donkeys (14.8%) had never had their hoofs trimmed.

Common Medical Problems

The most common medical problems of the donkeys during the preceding year are presented in **Table 9**. Most (60.5%) of the donkeys did not suffer from any medical problems in the **TABLE 7** | Dietary management provided for donkeys across smallholder farms in Western Liaoning and Eastern Inner Mongolia of China (n = 1,658).

Feed type and feeding frequency	Percentage (number) of donkeys	95% CI
Type of forage feed*		
Millet straw	85.4 (1416)	83.7-87.1
Maize straw	83.1 (1378)	81.3-84.9
Нау	33.0 (547)	30.7–35.3
Alfalfa	0.7 (12)	0.3–1.1
Other	0.5 (8)	0.2–0.8
Not reported	0.4 (7)	0.1–0.7
Frequency of forage feeding daily		
1 time/d	4.1 (68)	3.2–5.1
2 times/d	52.6 (872)	50.2-55.0
3 times/d	10.7 (177)	9.2-12.2
Ad libitum	32.2 (534)	30.0–34.5
Not reported	0.4 (7)	0.1–0.7
Type of concentrate*		
Maize	89.2 (1479)	87.7–90.7
Soybean meal	16.9 (280)	15.1–18.7
Sunflower seed meal	14.8 (245)	13.1–16.5
Wheat bran	6.9 (114)	5.7-8.1
Mineral or vitamin supplements	29.0 (481)	26.8–31.2
Commercial products	0.7 (12)	0.3-1.1
Other	11.3 (187)	9.8–12.8
None	0.2 (3)	0-0.4
Not reported	0.4 (7)	0.1–0.7
Frequency of concentrate feeding d	laily	
1 time/d	24.7 (410)	22.6–26.8
2 times/d	51.1 (848)	48.7–53.5
3 times/d	23.5 (390)	21.5-25.5
None	0.2 (3)	0–0.4
Not reported	0.4 (7)	0.1–0.7
Water availability		
Automatic drinker	5.5 (92)	4.4-6.6
Bucket	94.5 (1566)	93.4–95.6
Cleanliness of water		
Clean	72.3 (1198)	70.2–74.5
Dirty	27.7 (460)	25.6–29.9

Cl, confidence interval.

*More than one answer was allowed.

preceding year. Among those that did have medical problems, 13.5% had colic, 10.9% had respiratory disorders, 9.2% had skin disorders, 3.4% had lameness and 2.7% had oral/dental disorders, which were considered common issues.

DISCUSSION

The present study was designed to provide a description of the demographic characteristics, management and health care of a large cohort of donkeys under smallholder farm conditions in northeastern China. To the best of our knowledge, this is

TABLE 8 Health care of donkeys across smallholder farms in Western Liaoning
and Eastern Inner Mongolia of China ($n = 1,658$).

Type of healthcare	Percentage (number) of donkeys	95% CI
Frequency of deworming		
Never	37.9 (628)	35.6-40.2
Once per year	44.5 (738)	42.1-46.9
Twice per year	12.4 (205)	10.8–14.0
More often than every 4 months	0.4 (7)	0.1–0.7
Dewormed, depending on fecal examination	2.7 (45)	1.9–3.5
Not reported	2.1 (35)	1.4–2.8
Vaccinations		
Not vaccinated	100 (1658)	
Dental care		
Never by a veterinarian or dental technician	100 (1658)	
Frequency of hoof trimming		
Never	14.8 (245)	13.1–16.5
Once per year	45.9 (761)	43.5–48.3
Twice per year	27.6 (458)	25.4–29.8
Three times per year	1.2 (20)	0.7-1.7
Not reported	10.5 (174)	9.0–12.0

Cl, confidence interval.

TABLE 9 Common medical problems of donkeys across smallholder farms in Western Liaoning and Eastern Inner Mongolia of China (n = 1,658).

Medical problems	Percentage (number) of donkeys*	95% Cl
None	60.5 (1003)	58.1–62.9
Colic	13.5 (224)	11.9–15.1
Respiratory disorders	10.9 (181)	9.4-12.4
Skin disorders	9.2 (153)	7.8–10.6
Lameness	3.4 (56)	2.5-4.3
Oral/dental disorders	2.7 (45)	1.9–3.5
Other+	4.4 (73)	3.4-5.4
Not reported	7.4 (123)	6.1–8.7

Cl, confidence interval.

*More than one answer was allowed.

⁺Other common medical problems including tetanus, intoxication, septic foals, colitis, body mass, and abortion from unknown origins.

the first comprehensive survey of donkey owners using faceto-face interviews and questionnaires to explore the status of a Chinese donkey population. Our analysis and evaluation of the data collected should be valuable in providing baseline reference information for future studies and improving the health and welfare of donkeys in China.

The farm sample for this cross-sectional survey was selected using a stratified sampling method by visiting the region and owners participated on a voluntary basis. However, the willingness of the owners to participate could be a bias toward the more caring and candid donkey owners. In our study, over 90% owners we visited were glad to participate in the survey; therefore, the sample could be representative of the population. The faceto-face method of obtaining data enhanced the respondents' participation and minimized nonresponses and errors, compared with previous surveys using only questionnaires related to donkeys (7) and horses (14, 24).

In this study, the majority of owners who raised donkeys were males, similar to the farmers who used working equines in the campesino hill-slope communities of central Mexico (25). The mean age of the owners was 58.3 ± 9.5 years, which was 7 years younger than that of the owners of the Miranda donkey herds in Portugal (5). The advanced age of the owners suggest a further decrease in the number of donkey herds in the near future (5). In terms of educational level, only a small proportion of owners had completed junior high school. Thus, lack of formal education could have affected the management and health care of their donkeys.

The mean age of the donkeys herein (6.2 \pm 5.0 years) was similar to that of the market donkeys reported in central Ethiopia (26) and working donkeys on family farms in Albania (27). Nevertheless, they were significantly younger than the donkeys with a mean age >20 years in foster care (7), those raised in The Donkey Sanctuary in the UK (6) and those working in Zimbabwe (9). The mean age revealed a significantly younger and premature culling of donkeys in China, owing to the potential for nutritional stressors, improper health care and production use. This study's sample had a significantly higher proportion of female than male donkeys. Similar results were found in Nigeria (10) and Portugal (4), although an equal distribution of males and females was reported in Mexico (28). Furthermore, female donkeys younger than 1 year accounted for \sim 12% of the current sample. To maintain the herd size, it would be reasonable for owners to have at least 25% pubescent females for their herds (5). In contrast to the results found in other countries, in this study a very small proportion (2.4%) of males was maintained in the herd as breeders and almost all males were sold during early weaning to the intensive feedlot for meat and hide purpose. Therefore, the low ratio of siring males could have resulted in the unequal contribution to the genetic pool of the population (5).

Some owners had not fully embraced the importance of the proper housing of donkeys. The use of a wooden shelter with an iron roof and no stable requires a critical evaluation because these housing features could be associated with stress caused by cold temperatures, especially in the early hours of the day in the winter (29, 30). The amount (93.8%) of donkeys stabled without bedding differed significantly from donkeys in The Donkey Sanctuary, where only 5.0% were reported to have no bedding (7). Fifty-five percent of facilities provided clean bedding to donkeys in Italy and UK (30). Lack of bedding could be detrimental to donkeys, which may suffer from cold-related stress (30). Straw is the most frequently (75%) used bedding type for donkeys (7). Horses on straw bedding have been found to spend three times longer in a lateral recumbent position overnight than they did on shavings, suggesting a beneficial health effect of straw (31).

Most of the donkeys in this study were stabled at night and turned out during the day, throughout the year. The mean stable size ($17.7 \pm 10.1 \text{ m}^2$) probably was inadequate considering the mean herd size per farm was 2.5 donkeys. One donkey should

be stabled in a box \sim 3.3 × 3.3 m (32) or provided with the suitable box according to the body size, to provide a healthy and safe environment. The mean size of the turnout areas in this study, were consistent with the recommended dimension of 7 m² per donkey for milk production (19). The duration of the daytime turnouts varied between seasons, consistent with previous studies of donkeys (7) and horses (14, 33, 34), indicating that time spent outside is likely to affect equine health and welfare (7) by providing opportunities to exercise (35), avoiding the risk of stereotypies (36) and reducing exposure to respiratory allergens within the stable environment (33). However, there was no regular turnout for grazing in this study; herein, pastures were scarce due to the semi-arid climate.

Consistent with the recommendations for feeding donkeys by The Donkey Sanctuary (37), all of them were provided with forage, the main source of high-fiber roughage, such as millet straw and maize straw, reflecting the types of products readily available in northeastern China. One third of the donkeys were fed with hay, which is the most frequently used forage feed for donkeys in The Donkey Sanctuary (7) and for horses in various countries (14, 33, 38, 39). In addition to the forage, most of the donkeys were fed some concentrates/supplementary feed; working donkeys may require supplementary feeds due to the increased energy requirement. Concentrates are required and should be low in cereal grain content in order to avoid related health problems (40). Nevertheless, owners' basic knowledge of donkey nutrition was inadequate (20), resulting in a diet with nutrient deficiencies and/or dietary excesses. Most of the donkeys in our study were taken to clean water by bucket during the day, while 15 and 20% donkeys were provided with dirty and very dirty water in 20 donkey facilities in Europe, respectively (30). The general rule is that donkeys should always be provided with free access to clean water throughout the day (41).

Body condition scoring is a useful tool for fine-tuning diets to a donkey's individual requirements (37). In the present study, most of the donkeys maintained an ideal BCS, as they were mainly involved in breeding and light farm work. Additionally, the condition of 12.5% of the donkeys was rated as poor and 27.7% as moderate, which was more than 0.36% (poor) and 6.85% (moderate) of donkeys in 20 donkey facilities in Europe, respectively (30). Working donkeys with a low BCS may have comorbid dental disease, liver disease, gait abnormalities and other health issues (42, 43). Thus, it is important to promote energy intake, dental care, parasites control and general health care throughout the day to improve a donkey's body condition. In contrast to the conditions in which 33.8% of the donkeys were overweight or obese, as described in The Donkey Sanctuary (7), only a few of the donkeys in our study could be considered overweight.

The frequency of preventive healthcare interventions, such as deworming, vaccination and dental and hoof care, was low in the current study, which was similar to the frequency reported for working donkeys in most developing countries (17, 44).

In this study, more than one third of the donkeys were never dewormed. Without anthelmintics, the average life of a donkey varies from 9 years in Ethiopia to 15 years in Mexico (45). Over half of the donkeys in this study were dewormed once or twice per year. A mean annual deworming frequency consisting of 2 treatments has beneficial effects on the performance (health, longevity, and ability to work) of donkeys. In Ethiopia, the most suitable time for deworming is at the end of the dry and wet seasons (45).

None of the donkeys in this study was reported to be vaccinated against any disease. To date, no domestic commercial vaccines are available for horses or donkeys in mainland China, except some commercial vaccines imported and used for sport horses. Infectious equine disease in donkeys has been found within China. For example, an equine influenza outbreak on a 300-head donkey farm in Shandong Province resulted in a 25% mortality rate (46), which was also reported to be a common occurrence. In addition, the increase in abortions due to *Salmonella abortus equi* was reported on a farm with over 1,000 jennies (47). Thus, donkeys should be included in vaccination programs promoted by the government to enhance herd immunity and reduce individual risk.

The 2.7% prevalence of dental disorders reported by the owners was based on their inadequate knowledge. However, all the respondents confirmed that none of the animals had received routine dental care by a veterinarian or dental technician. Large populations of adult donkeys with no dental care and moderateto-severe dental disease are common in China (21). Major dental disorders in geriatric donkeys (48) could be prevented or managed more effectively if they received routine dental care from an early age. Poor dentition and infrequent dental treatment were associated with colic in donkeys (6, 49). The prevalence of dental disease in China may be underestimated, similar to The Donkey Sanctuary in the UK (7), given the few clinical signs exhibited by donkeys, the limited number of equine veterinarians and dental technicians and the lack of donkey owners' knowledge concerning specific dental problems. More recently, we revealed that the most common dental disorders of jennies were sharp enamel points, incisor diastemata and focal overgrowths in Liaoning Province of China (21); therefore, proper dental care should be provided to improve the welfare of donkeys in China.

Hoof disease and hoof-related lameness is common in donkey populations worldwide. Donkeys are almost four times more likely to have sole abnormalities than are horses or mules (42). Lameness was reported in 3.4% of the donkeys during this study, which was significantly lower than the 27.2% prevalence of lame donkeys at The Donkey Sanctuary in the UK (50), 18.7% of the dairy donkeys' hoofs neglect in Italy (51), and 100% of the lame working draft donkeys in Pakistan (52). The prevalence of hoof disease in this study could be underestimated, owing to the donkey owners' lack of knowledge concerning the diagnosis of hoof disease. All the donkeys in this study were trimmed three or fewer times per year, which is significantly lower than the requirement that donkeys' hoofs be trimmed every 6-10 weeks (50). In this study, the percentage of donkeys reported to have never had hoof care was less than the 40% of donkeys reported in The Donkey Sanctuary in the UK (7).

A study in the UK reported that 59% of the donkeys suffered from at least one medical problem (7). However, only 39.5% of the donkeys were reported to have health issues in our study. The most common problems were colic and respiratory and skin disorders, which were more variable compared with studies of donkeys (7) and horses (14, 38, 39) in different countries. These differences may be due to the under-reporting of health issues in the present survey, which relied on the respondent's recall, compared to the medical records used by the veterinarians (34, 38). The traditional system of Chinese University education for army and working equine veterinarians has disintegrated (3); therefore, the existing equine veterinary services in mainland China are insufficient and lack routine data entries on donkeys into the medical records, owing to the small, scattered population of equine veterinarians with little or no formal education or training. Furthermore, it is possible that donkeys often do not exhibit obvious clinical signs when they experience disease. Thus, the recognition of some health problems by owners may be incorrect or inadequate, particularly chronic pain (17).

Colic is considered the third most important disease of horses in northern Britain (14), although it is ranked much lower on the list of common medical problems of donkeys in The Donkey Sanctuary in the UK (7). Our study revealed that the incidence of colic was 13.5%, making it the most common medical problem of the donkeys. All the cases were reported by the donkey owners; they were not diagnosed by veterinarians. The disease that caused the colic was unclear, considering the inadequate knowledge about its diagnosis. The incidence was higher than the incidence (3.9–5.9%) found in the donkeys in other studies (6, 49). It is more likely that the donkeys in this study stabled for half a day and were fed inappropriate concentrate feed or reduced water intake. Therefore, the colic that commonly occurred was similar to that reported in stabled horses (53).

CONCLUSION

The results of this study provide valuable baseline information on the demographics, management and health care of the donkey population in northeastern China. A significantly younger and premature culling of the donkeys and a low ratio of siring males probably had a dramatic impact on the donkey population of China. Inadequate knowledge and ineffective management affected the health and welfare of the donkeys. The general

REFERENCES

- FAOSTAT. Food and agricultural organization of the United Nations. In: FAO Statistical Database Website. Available online at: http://www.fao.org/faostat/ en/#data/QA (accessed August 1, 2020).
- 2. National Bureau of Statistics of China. *China Statistical Yearbook*. Beijing: China Statistics (2020).
- Deng L, Duan H, Zhang X, Zeng S, Wu C, Han G. Advances in the research and application of artificial insemination to equids in China 1935-2012. J Equine Vet Sci. (2014) 34:351–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2013.07.010
- Quaresma M, Martins AMF, Rodrigues JB, Colaço J, Payan-Carreira R. Viability analyses of an endangered donkey breed: the case of the Asinina de Miranda (*Equus asinus*). Anim Prod Sci. (2014) 55:1184– 91. doi: 10.1071/AN13307
- Quaresma M, Martins AM, Rodrigues JB, Colaço J, Payan-Carreira R. Pedigree and herd characterization of a donkey breed vulnerable to extinction. *Animal.* (2014) 8:354–9. doi: 10.1017/S1751731113002218

information obtained in this study permits exploration of the interaction between managerial factors and health to improve the welfare of donkeys and build an appropriate farming system of donkeys in the future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Materials**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Shenyang Agricultural University Animal Care and Use Committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LD performed the survey. SS, CT, and JL helped with data collection. YH and PX participated in data analysis. LD and JL edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 31501952), the Foundation from the Department of Education of Liaoning Province, China (Grant No. LSNFW201904), the Foundation of Science and Technology Mission in Liaoning Province, China (Grant No. 2018103049), and High level introduction of talent research start-up funding of China Agricultural University (Grant No. 31051017).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2021.626622/full#supplementary-material

- Cox R, Proudman CJ, Trawford AF, Burden F, Pinchbeck GL. Epidemiology of impaction colic in donkeys in the UK. *BMC Vet Res.* (2007) 3:1. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-3-1
- Cox R, Burden F, Proudman CJ, Trawford AF, Pinchbeck GL. Demographics, management and health of donkeys in the UK. *Vet Rec.* (2010) 166:552–56. doi: 10.1136/vr.b4800
- Fernandez EB, Giral IDB, Thiemann AK, Vázquez Bringas FJ. Demography, preventative healthcare and reason for relinquishment of donkeys to an equine charity in the UK (2013-2015). *Equine Vet J.* (2020) 53:324–30. doi: 10.1111/evj.13310
- Hagmann J, Prasad VL. Use of donkeys and their draught performance in smallholder farming in Zimbabwe. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (1995) 27:231–9. doi: 10.1007/BF02250700
- Blench R, Jode Ade, Gherzi E. Donkeys in Nigeria: history, distribution and productivity. In: Starkey P, Fielding D, editors. *Donkeys, People and Development*. Wageningen: Animal Traction Network for Eastern and Southern Africa (ATNESA) (1998). p. 210–9.

- Bennet R, Pfuderer S. The potential for new donkey farming systems to supply the growing demand for hides. *Animals.* (2020) 10:718. doi: 10.3390/ani10040718
- 12. Dohoo IR, Martin W, Stryhn H. *Veterinary Epidemiologic Research*, 2nd ed. Prince Edward Island: VER Inc. (2010).
- 13. Cohen ND, Gibbs PG, Woods AM. Dietary and other management factors associated with colic in horses. *J Am Vet Med Assoc.* (1999) 215:53–60.
- Mellor DJ, Love S, Walker R, Gettinby G, Reid SW. Sentinel practice-based survey of the management and health of horses in northern Britain. *Vet Rec.* (2001) 149:417–23. doi: 10.1136/vr.149.14.417
- Haddy E, Burden F, Prado-Ortiz O, Zappi H, Raw Z, Proops L. Comparison of working equid welfare across three regions of Mexico. *Equine Vet J.* (2020). doi: 10.1111/evj.13349. [Epub ahead of print].
- Davis E. Donkey and mule welfare. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. (2019) 35:481–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cveq.2019.08.005
- Barrio E, Rickards KJ, Thiemann AK. Clinical evaluation and preventative care in donkeys. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. (2019) 35:545– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.cveq.2019.08.013
- The Voluntary Initiative Group on Equines Under the EU Platform on Animal Welfare. European Guide to Good Animal Welfare Practice for the Keeping, Care, Training and Use of Donkeys and Donkey Hybrids. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_platform_platconc_equidae-guide-good-practices.pdf (accessed February 18, 2021).
- Dai F, Costa ED, Minero M, Burden F, Judge A. Dairy donkeys: good animal management practices for donkey milk production. Available at: https://donkeynetwork.org.uk/article/355/dairy-donkeys-good-animalmanagement-practices-for-donkey-milk-production (accessed February 18, 2021).
- Deng L, Shi S, Li J, Tang C, Liao Q, Xie P. A cross-sectional survey of foaling-related parameters of jennies (*Equus asinus*) under smallholder farm conditions in Northeast China. J Equine Vet Sci. (2020) 87:102928. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2020.102928
- Jiang W, Liu B, Jin Y, Deng L, Liao Q, Li J. A clinical survey investigating the dental disorders of jennies in China. *Thai J Vet Med.* (2021) 51:91–9. doi: 10.14456/tjvm.2021.13
- 22. Dillman DA. Mail and Internet Surveys: The Tailored Design Method. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons (1999).
- Svendsen MBE. Body condition score chart. In: Duncan J, Hadrill D, editors. *The Professional Handbook of the Donkey*. 4th ed. London: Whittet Books (2008). p. 401–3.
- Wylie CE, Ireland JL, Collins SN, Verheyen KLP, Newton JR. Demographics and management practices of horses and ponies in Great Britain: a crosssectional study. *Res Vet Sci.* (2013) 95:410–7. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2013. 05.004
- Velázquez-Beltrán LG, Sánchez-Vera E, Nava-Bernal EG, Arriaga-Jordán CM. The role of working equines to livelihoods in current day campesino hill-slope communities in central Mexico. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2011) 43:1623–32. doi: 10.1007/s11250-011-9881-6
- Tesfaye A, Martin Curran M. A longitudinal survey of market donkeys in Ethiopia. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2005) 37 (Suppl. 1):87–100. doi: 10.1007/s11250-005-9010-5
- Papa L, Kume K. The results of identification and characterisation of the donkey population in Albania. *Agr Forest.* (2012) 58:127–36.
- Aluja ASD, Lopez F. Donkeys in Mexico. J Equine Vet Sci. (1992) 12:389–92. doi: 10.1016/S0737-0806(06)81367-5
- Ayo JO, Olaifa FH, Ake AS. Physiological responses of donkeys (*Equus asinus*, Perissodactyla) to work stress and potential ameliorative role of ascorbic acid. *Afr J Biotechnol.* (2013) 12:1585–93. doi: 10.5897/AJB12.2778
- Dai F, Costa ED, Murray LMA, Canali E, Minero M. Welfare conditions of donkeys in Europe: initial outcomes from on-farm assessment. *Animals*. (2016) 6:5. doi: 10.3390/ani6010005
- Pedersen GR, Sondergaard E, Ladewig J. The in?uence of bedding on the time horses spend recumbent. J Equine Vet Sci. (2004) 24:153–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2004.03.013
- Sainsbury DWB, Housing. In: Svendsen ED, editor. The Professional Handbook of the Donkey. London: Whittet Books (1997). p. 106–24.
- Hotchkiss JW, Reid SW, Christley RM. A survey of horse owners in Great Britain regarding horses in their care. Part 1: horse demographic characteristics and management. *Equine Vet J.* (2007) 39:294–300. doi: 10.2746/042516407X177538

- 34. Ireland JL, Clegg PD, McGowan CM, McKane SA, Pinchbeck GL. A cross-sectional study of geriatric horses in the United Kingdom. Part 1: demographics and management practices. *Equine Vet J.* (2011) 43:30– 6. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.2010.00145.x
- Taylor F. Nutrition. In: Svendsen ED, editor. *The Professional Handbook of the Donkey*. London: Whittet Books (1997). p. 93–105.
- Wickens CL, Heleski CR. Crib-biting behavior in horses: a review. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (2010) 128:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2010.07.002
- Smith D, Wood S. Donkey nutrition. In: Duncan J, Hadrill D, editors. *The Professional Handbook of the Donkey*. 4th ed. London: Whittet Books (2008). p. 10–27.
- Brosnahan MM, Paradis MR. Demographic and clinical characteristics of geriatric horses: 467 cases (1989–1999). J Am Vet Med Assoc. (2003) 223:93–8. doi: 10.2460/javma.2003.223.93
- McGowan TW, Pinchbeck G, Phillips CJ, Perkins N, Hodgson DR, McGowan CM. A survey of aged horses in Queensland, Australia. Part 1: management and preventive health care. *Aust Vet J.* (2010) 88:420–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2010.00637.x
- The Donkey Sanctuary. Nutrition. In: Evans L, Crane M, editors. *The Clinical Companion of the Donkey*. Leicester: Troubador (2018). p. 237–44.
- David GS, Burden FA. Practical donkey and mule nutrition. In: Geor RJ, Harris PA, Coenen M, editors. *Equine Applied and Clinical Nutrition: Health, Welfare and Performance.* Saunders: Elsevier. (2013). p. 304–16.
- Burn CC, Dennison TL, Whay HR. Environmental and demographic risk factors for poor welfare in working horses, donkeys and mules in developing countries. Vet J. (2010) 186:385–92. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2009.09.016
- Burden FA, Bell N. Donkey nutrition and malnutrition. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. (2019) 35:469–79. doi: 10.1016/j.cveq.2019.08.004
- McLean AK, Navas Gonzalez FJ. Can scientists influence donkey welfare? Historical perspective and a contemporary view. J Equine Vet Sci. (2018) 65:25–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jevs.2018.03.008
- Svendsen ED. Workshop summary: donkey parasitology. Vet Parasitol. (1994) 54:287–90. doi: 10.1016/0304-4017(94)90097-3
- 46. Yang H, Xiao Y, Meng F, Sun F, Chen M, Cheng Z, et al. Emergence of H3N8 equine influenza virus in donkeys in China in 2017. Vet Microbiol. (2018) 214:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2017.11.033
- Wang H, Liu KJ, Sun YH, Cui LY, Meng X, Jiang GM, et al. Abortion in donkeys associated with *Salmonella abortus equi* infection. *Equine Vet J.* (2019) 51:756–9. doi: 10.1111/evj.13100
- du Toit N, Burden FA, Dixon PM. Clinical dental examinations of 357 donkeys in the UK. Part 1: prevalence of dental disorders. *Equine Vet J.* (2009) 41:390–4. doi: 10.2746/042516409X368912
- Cox R, Burden F, Gosden L, Proudman C, Trawford A, Pinchbeck G. Case control study to investigate risk factors for impaction colic in donkeys in the UK. Prev Vet Med. (2009) 92:179–87. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2009.08.012
- Thiemann AK, Poore LA. Hoof disorders and farriery in the donkey. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. (2019) 35:643–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cveq.2019.08.012
- Dai F, Segati G, Brscic M, Chincarini M, Dalla Costa E, Ferrari L, et al. Effects of management practices on the welfare of dairy donkeys and risk factors associated with signs of hoof neglect. J Dairy Res. (2018) 85:30– 8. doi: 10.1017/S0022029917000723
- 52. Reix CE, Burn CC, Pritchard JC, Barr AR, Whay HR. The range and prevalence of clinical signs and conformation associated with lameness in working draught donkeys in Pakistan. *Equine Vet J.* (2014) 46:771–7. doi: 10.1111/evj.12231
- Perkins NR, Reid SW, Morris RS. Profiling the New Zealand Thoroughbred racing industry. 2. Conditions interfering with training and racing. *New Zeal Vet J.* (2005) 53:69–76. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2005.36471

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Deng, Shi, Li, Tang, Han and Xie. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Progress With Livestock Welfare in Extensive Production Systems: Lessons From Australia

Peter Andrew Windsor*

Sydney School of Veterinary Science, The University of Sydney, Camden, NSW, Australia

The extensive livestock production industries are vital to the national economy of Australia. Continuing improvements to extensively-raised livestock welfare is desirable, necessary and in some situations mandatory, if the social license for animal sourced food and fiber production is to continue sustainably. However, meeting increasingly high welfare standards is challenging. The changing climate in this millennium, has seen the occurrence of two of the most severe drought periods on record in Australia, resulting in complex welfare issues arising from unforeseen disease, trade and environmental catastrophes. The onset of the first drought coincided with an uncontrolled epidemic of ovine paratuberculosis. It ended just prior to a temporary ban on live export of tropical cattle to Indonesia that induced a major market failure and led to severe morbidity and mortality on some beef properties. The second drought period progressed in severity and culminated in the most extreme bushfires recorded, causing unprecedented levels of mortality, morbidity and suffering in farmed animals and wildlife. Temperature extremes have also caused periodic heat-associated or cold-induced hyopthermia losses, requiring increased vigilance and careful management to reduce both temperature-induced stress during transport and the high ovine peri-parturient losses traditionally observed in extensive sheep farming. Several issues remain controversial, including surgical mulesing of wool sheep to manage flystrike, and the continuing live export trade of sheep and cattle. However, in reviewing the increasingly complex welfare challenges for the extensive livestock population industries that are export trade dependent and remain vulnerable to welfare activism, it appears progress has been made. These include development of prescribed livestock welfare Standards and Guidelines and the introduction of the Exporter Supply Chain Assurance System (ESCAS) to address export concerns. Further, the sheep mulesing crisis led to improved producer welfare attitudes and practices, including pain management during aversive husbandry procedures that is now occurring globally. Finally, innovations in animal welfare surveillance and assessment, are additional encouraging signs that suggest improving change management of extensive farm animal welfare is occurring that provides lessons well-beyond Australian shores.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Lena Maria Lidfors, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden George Thomas Stilwell, University of Lisbon, Portugal

*Correspondence:

Peter Andrew Windsor peter.windsor@sydney.edu.au orcid.org/0000-0001-5629-3517

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 01 March 2021 Accepted: 15 July 2021 Published: 06 August 2021

Citation:

Windsor PA (2021) Progress With Livestock Welfare in Extensive Production Systems: Lessons From Australia. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:674482. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.674482

Keywords: climate change, drought, heat, live export, pain management, welfare assessment

INTRODUCTION

Livestock production accounts for $\sim 40\%$ of agricultural output in developed countries. Advanced genetics, feeding systems, pasture improvements, animal health prevention and controls including improved biosecurity, plus other animal production management technologies, have reduced requirements for livestock by about 20% yet doubled meat production in the last 40 years (1). With global meat production projected to increase another 19% by 2030 (2), improved adoption of emerging "best practice" technologies is required (3). As large ruminant production has now been associated with high outputs of greenhouse gas emissions (GHGe), it has been estimated that improved production efficiencies could potentially assist the global livestock sector to reduce GHGs by as much as 30% (1). Further, recent SARS (including Covid-19) and MERS outbreaks indicate that zoonotic pathogen spillover from livestock production (4) and wild animal populations is occurring, especially where wildlife biodiversity is high and land-use change is occurring (5). Further, there are increasing concerns of emerging food insecurity and safety (6) including antimicrobial resistance (AMR) from misuse of antibiotics, including in food production (7). Finally, with uncontrolled transboundary diseases emerging (e.g., African Swine Fever, Lumpy Skin Disease in SE Asia), it has been suggested that our food system is fragile, requiring radical change to build resilience and ensure our food supply is safer, fairer, and healthier for humans, animals and the environment in the future (8).

However, welfare challenges in livestock production are also considered a major threat to the sustainability of the production of animal-sourced foods (9). In Australia, it has been estimated that 95% of people view farm animal welfare to be a concern and 91% want at least some reform to address this (9). There exists a perceived gap between expectations and regulation, due to an increased focus on animals' level of sentience and related capabilities, with research indicating a fundamental community belief that animals are entitled to the protection of relevant rights and freedoms, closely aligning with activist sentiment (9). The public appears to have an increasing expectation for effective regulation to ensure highly transparent practices in livestock production (9), although achieving this in extensive production systems is challenging. Welfare challenges in extensive husbandry systems in Australia are recognized as mostly associated with: prolonged periods of food and/or water scarcity; climate extremes; high predation risk environments; issues of inadequate surveillance and management of diseases including the monitoring of ill animals with minimal availability of veterinary assistance for parturition, neonatal and other disorders; animal transportation; and biosecurity issues. A number of these challenges are likely to increase in complexity because of climate change. Increased understanding of these challenges and development of potential solutions requires strategic research, particularly for welfare assessment of farm animals in extensive systems and application of innovations that mitigate the impact of these challenges.

Australia has a particular interest in the introduction of new practices to mitigate welfare challenges of extensive livestock

production. Extensive livestock production industries are vital to the national economy, and include 26.4 million beef cattle valued at AUD19.6 billion in 2019, and 70.6 million sheep valued at AUD6.6 billion for meat and AUD3.615 billion for wool (in 2019 and 2017, respectively) (10). Due to a number of welfare disaster events in the last two decades, Australian livestock producers are increasingly recognizing that continuing improvements to extensively-raised livestock welfare is desirable, necessary and in some situations mandatory, if the social license for animal sourced food production is to continue sustainably. Australia is a vast country with many marginal soil areas more suitable for extensive livestock grazing than intensive farming. Most sheep occur in the temperate zones of southern Australia, managed extensively in large flocks usually exceeding 3,000 individuals, especially the dominant Merino wool flocks. Some flocks are managed with or adjacent to Bos taurus beef cattle, with most enterprises successfully managing this proximity or cohabitation. However, the huge areas of tropical northern Australia are unsuitable for these animals. Livestock located there are mainly Bos indicus infused cattle that are raised under very extensive conditions, with climatic extremes, large distances and low management inputs (11). Meeting the increasingly high welfare standards expected is challenging, particularly in northern Australia where animals are rarely mustered more than once annually. Further, as demonstrated in the past two decades, extensive livestock welfare risks are increasing in association with the severity of climate change.

This millenium has seen the onset of two of the most severe drought periods on record in Australia (12-14). That were complicated by welfare issues arising from unforeseen disease, trade and environmental catastrophes. The onset of the first drought coincided with an uncontrolled epidemic of ovine paratuberculosis (15-18). The end of the drought coincided with a temporary ban on live export of tropical cattle to Indonesia that induced market failure, leading to mass morbidity and mortalities on some northern beef properties where extensive management of the animals is sometimes too remote for urgent remediation to prevent welfare issues (19, 20). The second drought period progressed in severity and culminated in the most extreme bushfires recorded, causing high levels of mortality, morbidity and suffering in farmed animals and wildlife (21-26). Temperature extremes also cause periodic heat-associated or cold-induced hyopthermia losses. Increased vigilance and careful management is required to reduce both temperature-induced stress during transport and the high ovine peri-parturient losses traditionally observed in extensive sheep farming. Further, an important issue affecting many extensively grazed properties is control of invasive animal pests causing challenging levels of livestock predation. Several issues remain particularly controversial, including surgical mulesing of wool sheep to manage flystrike, and the continuation of the live export trade of sheep and cattle.

This paper reviews the increasingly complex welfare challenges for the extensive livestock industries that are export trade dependent in Australia and are increasingly vulnerable to both welfare activism and the impacts of a changing climate (**Figure 1**). The review includes examples of improved



producer welfare attitudes and practices through application of research innovations, including pain management during aversive husbandry procedures now occurring globally. Further, it describes new innovations in animal welfare assessment and surveillance and increasing adoption of prescribed welfare standards and guidelines to improve livestock welfare compliance. It concludes that these are encouraging signposts of improved change management of extensive farm animal welfare in Australia that provide lessons relevant to global considerations for the food security system.

THE CHANGING CLIMATE

Australia's climate has warmed on average by $1.44 \pm 0.24^{\circ}$ C since national records began in 1910, with an increase in the frequency of extreme heat events, accompanied by declines of ~16% (April to October) and \sim 20% (May to July) in rainfall, respectively, since 1970 (12, 13). Similarly, in the southeast of Australia, a decline of \sim 12% (April to October) rainfall since the late 1990s, with decreasing streamflow at the majority of streamflow gauges across southern Australia since 1975, although rainfall and streamflow have increased across parts of northern Australia since the 1970s. These changes are recognized as increasing the impacts of temperature extremes, causing periodic heatassociated or cold-induced hyopthermia losses, plus increased vigilance and careful management required to reduce both temperature-induced and nutritional-deficiency stress during drought, plus the risk of extreme fire weather and the length of the fire season, across large parts of the country since the 1950s, especially in southern Australia (12, 13). This millenium has seen the onset of two of the most severe drought periods on record in Australia that were complicated by welfare issues arising from unforeseen disease, trade and environmental catastrophes.

The onset of the first and most prolonged so-called "millennium drought" occurred in the southeast of Australia from 1996 to 2010 (14), coinciding with emergence in the late 1990's of an uncontrolled epidemic of ovine paratuberculosis, or Johne's Disease (OJD), causing substantial on farm sheep losses, associated with mortalities exceeding 20% per annum on some farms (15, 16). Necropsy studies identified the mortalities as

due to the combined impact of both OJD and drought (17, 18). Paratuberculosis caused about two thirds of the total estimated financial losses (17), with malnutrition accounting for 18% of the annual cost of all deaths among adult sheep (18). This indicated the importance of improving nutritional and disease management practices plus closer flock supervision to reduce the significant biological and financial impacts of OJD on sheep flocks during drought. Drought continues to negatively impact the welfare of both sheep and farming families in Australia, although the severe ovine morbidity associated with OJD and the widespread depression of sheep graziers following precipitous declines in values of affected farms due to OJD in the early millennium years, remains unprecedented (15–17).

In southern and eastern Australia, the recent droughts have been found to be the worst in the past 400 years and expectations are they will become more prevalent in the future (19). The second drought period in eastern Australia was from 2017 to 2020 and led to the entire state of New South Wales (NSW) and more than half of the neighboring state of Queensland to be declared drought-affected. Many described it as the worst drought in living memory, with numerous farmers choosing to cull their cattle due to welfare concerns (20). "Drought Planning" has been intensely promoted by the relevant state agricultural authorities in Australia for over three decades (21, 22). This process includes emergency response planning for "exceptional droughts" that encourage producers to be aware of the need for proactive drought "preparedness, prevention, response, and recovery," involving systematic: identification of enterprise risks; analysis of climate records; monitoring for trigger points; action planning for when triggers occur; financial analysis and building of cash, feed and water reserves; then regular review and updating of the drought plan. Despite these efforts, it appears that some welfare disasters appear almost impossible to manage effectively. These occur both during and immediately following the drought where there may be precipitous rain causing mass flooding events and even greater losses, both immediate and later diseaseinduced losses than were associated with the dry period of the drought (23, 24).

Unfortunately, an even more catastrophic post-drought event occurred during this period when in December 2019 through

January 2020, eastern Australia experienced its worst ever recorded extreme bushfire season. This culminated in more than 33 people killed, thousands of properties destroyed, at least 18 million hectares of once-green bushland becoming blackened and desolate, with billions of animals dead and injured (25). A new study is currently attempting to improve farmer bushfire preparedness by providing a comprehensive "Livestock Bushfire Preparation and Recovery Manual." The aim is for farmers to address the physical and financial effects of bushfires that could reduce stock and financial losses incurred by bushfire (26). The study is surveying herd and flock managers affected in the 2019-2020 fire season, assessing animal health and welfare issues, the effects on carcass damage and meat product quality and the financial strain on affected farmers. Further, patterns of burnt areas and livestock losses across landscapes is being assessed to identify a fire risk index that can determine the safest paddocks for stock to be placed in as part of their fire plan (26).

LIVESTOCK TRANSPORTATION WELFARE

The majority of Australian livestock producers and industry personnel, are well aware that to continue their access to domestic and overseas markets, they have important responsibilities for livestock welfare during the large distances required for the transport of animals by road, rail and vehicle onboard ships within and beyond Australia. This has led to the development of the national "Australian Animal Welfare Standards and Guidelines (S&G's) - Land Transport of Livestock" (27) to guide the processes from: the time that animals are mustered and assembled; their handling before and during loading; their journey duration and travel conditions with spelling periods and access to water; then the unloading and holding times. The Land Transport S&G's contain: (i) Objectives describing the intended outcome(s) for each section of the standards; (ii) Standards or minimum requirements that must be met under animal welfare law; and (iii) Guidelines for the recommended practices to achieve desirable animal welfare outcomes to guide and describe higher animal welfare outcomes compared to the minimum requirements of the Standards. This variation in acceptable practices reflects the vast differences in husbandry conditions between different agricultural regions, particularly in the extensive rangelands and tropical northern Australia where livestock farming is more often described as animal "harvesting." Here, the climatic extremes, large areas and distances within and between holdings (stations or farms) and low management inputs are necessary, ensuring that the extensive tropical cattle industry continues to face significant challenges to assure high standards of animal welfare (11).

However, it is the live export industry (LEI), where more than 2.7 million animals are shipped from Australian ports to nearly 20 countries around the globe annually, that faces the most scrutiny (28), with extensive research indicating that issues posed before, during and after live export results in the cumulative effects of combined stresses on the welfare of the animals (29). This has required the Australian Government assuming animal welfare responsibilities for export abattoirs and the live export

trade, despite these issues being difficult to address through regulation and increasingly documented in the media, leading many Australians supporting an end to live export (30). Although welfare incidents in the sheep LEI had occurred sporadically prior to 2003, it was in that year that the "Cormo Express" captured international attention following refusal of entry of the ship and the 57,000 sheep on-board to Saudi Arabia following a claim that some had signs of a vesicular disease, presumably contagious ecthyma or scabby mouth from orf virus infection. The ship spent 2 months moving around the Persian Gulf, with animals exposed to high risk of heat stress, until the animals could be donated to the people of Eritrea (31). Then in 2011, an incident occurred that captured public attention on welfare in the cattle LEI, with the televised filming of disturbing slaughter practices of Australian cattle in Indonesian abattoirs. The exposed animal handling and operational techniques causing pain and injury, led the Federal Government to suspend the trade to Indonesia for a month. The sudden cessation of this AUD1.4 billion LEI of tropical beef cattle caused a precipitous market failure, with the domestic market unable to cope with the sheers numbers of cattle that were now in the supply chain. The impacts of this rapid yet controversial decision created difficult diplomatic, policy and industry issues, that are still debated (32-34) due to the negative impacts on economic returns, community attitudes and international socio-political relations.

The Australian Government in 2011, implemented the Exporter Supply Chain Assurance System (ESCAS) in an attempt to improve control and traceability throughout the LEI supply chain, requiring that transport, handling and slaughter complies with OIE welfare standards (35). However, in August 2012 an Australian ship carrying \sim 22,000 sheep was blocked from unloading in Kuwait and Bahrain after local authorities also claimed that the animals had orf infection. The sheep had been at sea for 33 days and were left on board for almost a further 2 weeks until they were unloaded in Pakistan, where it was later reported that around 9,000 of the sheep had been killed on suspicion that they were diseased (36). Despite regular vaccination programs, it appears orf infection remains one of the numerous but important threats to the viability of small ruminant LEI's (37). Similar incidents have continued to recur and investigations reveal failures of monitoring and enforcement of ESCAS in destination countries, in both approved and nonapproved facilities, most often revealed by the efforts of the various welfare agencies (38). The ongoing concerns have also led to a recent research review of 71 potential animal welfare indicators, categorized as animal, environmental and resourcebased measures that would be appropriate for use throughout the LEI for feeder and slaughter livestock species in the 3 LEI sectors: (1) Australian facilities; (2) vessel; and (3) destination country facilities (39). The review identified 38 (sector 1), 35 (sector 2), and 26 (sector 3) measures currently being collected plus 20, 25, and 28 measures that are relevant to each LEI sector (sectors 1, 2, 3, respectively), and that could be developed and integrated into a future benchmarking system (39) should the LEI's continue, presumably as a transition industry until importing countries agree that processed meat is a preferred product to live animals.

PROGRESS WITH PAIN AND WOUND MANAGEMENT FOR AVERSIVE HUSBANDRY PROCEDURES

Perhaps as controversial as the LEI in extensive sheep welfare in Australia, is the "mulesing operation," a routine procedure with removal of skin from the breech and tail of lambs to create a bare area, providing lifetime prevention against myiasis (flystrike) in susceptible sheep (40). This mostly involves Merino lambs at high risk of the condition because of their breech conformation (wrinkle) that readily retains urine and feces and provides an attractive environment for deposition of the eggs of the sheep blowfly *Lucilia cuprina*. Following hatching, the blowfly larvae burrow deeply into adjacent tissues to the penetrating wounds in afflicted animals, rapidly causing the animal to become moribund because of blowfly strike and if untreated, death. Myiasis remains a serious cause of morbidity and mortality in Australian sheep despite long-term genetic improvement to reduce "blowfly-susceptibility" (41).

Until 2005, mulesing was performed without analgesia, resulting in welfare concerns for the lambs at and following surgery. Then a product designed to be readily used by producers, comprising a "stay and spray" approach for open wounds using a topical anesthetic formulation (TAF) to alleviate pain, plus components to minimize hemorrhage and provide antiseptic cover, was introduced (Tri-Solfen[®], Medical Ethics, Australia). On application, it forms a long-lasting biocompatible barrier over the wound, creating its own intrinsic analgesic properties and acting as a slow-release carrier for the actives, including the two local anesthetics, lidocaine hydrochloride (5% w/w) and bupivacaine hydrochloride (0.5% w/w), in addition to the vasoconstrictor adrenaline acid tartrate (0.00451% w/w) and the antiseptic cetrimide (0.5% w/w). The combined synergies create prolonged analgesia extending to at least 24 h and well beyond the expected duration of the actives, plus enhanced healing of open wounds (41, 42). The TAF product has been researched extensively prior to and since it was registered for commercial use in 2012 and has been widely adopted by farmers in Australia, enabling the sale of wool classified as "PR" (pain relief) and improved welfare of sheep susceptible to flystrike during the extended period required until genetic alterations of Australian Merino sheep phenotypes can progress sufficiently to successfully address the risk of myiasis. It is estimated that 6-7 million lambs are treated annually, with well over 100 million sheep having now received treatment since the product was first registered.

This innovation has the potential to complement the various approaches to human wound debridement (43, 44). Further, TAF has been demonstrated to be safe and efficacious in managing pain and improving healing of acute surgical wounds incurred during surgical castration and tail docking of lambs (45, 46), surgical castration and dehorning of calves (47–49), and debridement of hoof lesions in cattle to reduce lameness (50). Effective pain relief at marking has been recognized as important in the northern beef industry. Herd musters commonly occur only annually, resulting in a broad range of ages of calves submitted to dehorning and castration, and variable degrees of

restraint stress. Additional findings from recent studies with this product, include confirmation of rapid onset of surgical wound analgesia with positive welfare outcomes for an extended period, improved pain management when used with a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID, especially meloxicam) or other products for pain relief (51–55), plus on occasions, improved productivity (56). More recently, the TAF has been successfully applied to lesions resulting from viral infection of the mucosa and epidermis, including Foot-and-Mouth Disease (57, 58).

The inclusion of an NSAID in the pain management research in animals is aimed at developing "best practice" options for multimodal pain management, where practical delivery of both the blockage of nociception and amelioration of wound sensitization is achieved. A method for oral delivery of NSAIDs (meloxicam as Ilium Buccalgesic[®], Troy Laboratories, Australia) was developed in Australia and has been shown to be efficacious for procedures in both lambs and calves (52, 53). Although the widespread adoption by farmers of the addition of an oral NSAID to surgical procedures in sheep currently remains uncertain, the use of TAF accompanied by intramuscular injections of an NSAID, administered by beef farmers under veterinary advice for castration and dehorning, appears to be rapidly increasing in northern Australia. Recent research has confirmed both efficacy and productivity improvements with this multimodal approach when used in routine husbandry procedures on extensive beef cattle properties (56). In the Australian sheep industry, despite demonstration of the efficacy of an intra-scrotal and tail-docking wound spray of the TAF (45, 46), the convenient use of elastrator bands to cause ischaemic necrosis of the tail and scrotal tissues by producers, remains popular. An instrument recently developed (Numnuts[®], Senesino Pty Ltd, Australia) that assists intravenous administration of lignocaine to the neck of the scrotum or tail, prior to application of the band(s), has been shown to reduce pain avoidance behaviors post-procedure (59). As with previous studies with the TAF, use of a multimodal approach with an NSAID is likely to provide superior pain management.

PROGRESS WITH SURVEILLANCE, ASSESSMENT AND NEW TECHNOLOGIES

With the vast distances occurring on many Australian properties, addressing surveillance challenges for improved welfare in the extensive livestock industries has been recognized as an issue for many years. This is of particular concern with the demands and costs of managing endemic myiasis (*Lucilia cuprina*) and sheep lice (*Bovicola ovis, Lignognathus ovillus* and *Linognathus pedalis*) infestations in southern wool sheep flocks, and cattle tick (*Boophilus microplus*) and buffalo fly (*Haematobia irritans*) in the northern beef cattle herds. For both industries, the impacts of prolonged drought have proven to be extremely challenging, particularly with the recent example of the slow recognition of the moderate to high mortality rates emerging in adult sheep flocks with OJD that were only measurable when wool sheep were mustered for their annual shearing and required on-farm

necropsy studies for definitive data (15-18). Similarly, the high background of lamb mortality in many flocks is not as wellrecognized by producers as could be expected. This is because in many locations, dead lambs are rarely observed as they may be scavenged by wild canids and in some locations, feral pigs. High lamb mortality potentially reduces profitability and is increasingly perceived as an animal welfare issue for the sheep industry. Yet under extensive sheep production systems, especially in Merino flocks where the disturbance of lambing is to be avoided to minimize mis-mothering, data on mortality rates is usually only available when the flock is mustered for lamb marking and weaning. These interventions usually occurs ~6-8 and 12-14 weeks after the commencement of lambing, respectively. A recent study of producer knowledge of lamb mortality rates, causes of lamb mortality, perceptions and practices that may contribute to lamb deaths, identified that \sim 50% of producers estimated the mortality rate of lambs between birth and marking was 10%. This compared to published estimates of 20-25% (60). These perceptions impact negatively on the benefits of management strategies, including vaccination. Improved surveillance and extension services are necessary to ensure producers understand the causes of mortality and the key messages required. The generally low predation of live lambs in most cases and the high total costs to farm economics of lamb mortality from failures in disease prevention and management of climatic extremes (60), needs to be addressed.

Similarly, mismanagement of common cattle diseases is potentially a severe and prolonged animal welfare concern (61), with disease prevention almost invariably producing financial benefits that exceed the high costs of disease morbidity and mortality. As in extensive sheep flocks, in very extensive cattle systems, data on reproductive performance and mortality rate is usually only obtained at annual calf marking and weaning. Improving the accuracy of health and productivity records is an important area requiring improvement, with automated technology including drones to regularly visualize the herd, potentially enabling more effective syndromic disease surveillance. This approach remains an inadequately utilized tool that could greatly assist the recognition and diagnosis of welfare issues and disease (61) in extensive production systems. In tropical beef production, there is also the challenge of removing unrequired females from the herd in a suitable condition for sale. This requires that the ovarian function of these females is ablated, usually by spaying to prevent pregnancy and enable fattening (62, 63). The failure of a chemical spaying approach to be effective in the field and the delayed availability of immunospaying currently under investigation, has led to continuation of the reasonably common practice of surgical cattle spaying. This is now mostly performed by the Willis Dropped Ovary technique that has a low but recognized mortality rate.

Improving producer knowledge that the potential suffering of disease-affected animals is a welfare issue that needs to be avoided, is important, with timely and humane on-farm euthanasia required when necessary (61). Traditionally, a major driver for improved welfare has been the risk of prosecution via regulatory agencies with statutory responsibilities for ensuring animal welfare compliance. It is anticipated that improved

awareness of the Australian Livestock Welfare S&G's could reduce this traditional reliance on regulatory action (27). The traditional reliance on enforcement of current animal welfare legislation in livestock systems in Australia is now being replaced by promotion of self-audits for accreditation schemes. This suggests that objective measurement of animal welfare by appropriate welfare assessment protocols is increasingly important in accompanying efforts to improve surveillance. The welfare relevance of animal health and the relative ease of recording has led to most approaches focusing on clinical measures and physical appearance, with inclusion of behavioral and mental state aspects of welfare suggested as requiring a more comprehensive approach (64). In extensive cow-calf operations, more research is required to develop robust and feasible indicators of positive welfare states for on-farm use. These include objective measures of behavior and the affective state of animals, enabling comparison and contrast of welfare implications of husbandry procedures that are versatile, relevant, reliable, affordable, and broadly acceptable by stakeholders (65). Qualitative Behavioral Assessment (QBA) is an integrated measure that describes behavior as a dynamic, expressive body language, enabling comparative, hypothesis-driven evaluation of various industry-relevant practices. Although most other welfare assessment methods record "problems" such as lameness or injury scores, QBA also captures positive aspects of animal welfare that occur when animals engage with their environment. As QBA is increasingly used in animal welfare assessments in Europe, it may have application in combination with other methods as a welfare assessment tool for the Australian livestock industries (65).

Continuous measurement and monitoring of the behavioral state of animals by using on-animal sensors to identify movements and locations that reflect the well-being of the animals, has potential for extensive livestock systems (66). With increasingly reliable animal welfare measures and decreasing costs of on-animal sensors, technology adoption will very likely increase, particularly if the value proposition for farm businesses and algorithm development, ensures validity and reliability (66). The application of new technologies to improve livestock management systems for improved animal welfare, should complement the learning abilities of the animals (67). Examination of virtual fencing identified that successful learning occurs when the animal perceives cues to be predictable (e.g., an audio warning always precedes a shock) and controllable (e.g., operant response to the audio cue prevents receiving the shock), with an acceptable management also ensuring that welfare is not compromised (67).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Although animal welfare issues facing the extensive southern Australian sheep and beef cattle industries have some similarities to those faced by extensive livestock production industries in many other countries, management of external parasitism from myiasis and lice in wool sheep flocks and the impacts of prolonged drought have proven to be extremely challenging. However, whilst the extensive tropical Australian beef cattle industry in northern Australia is also characterized by climatic extremes and external parasitism from cattle tick and buffalo fly, the large property sizes and distances requiring prolonged transport, plus the necessary low management inputs, ensure the industry still has significant challenges in meeting increasing standards for animal welfare. Issues remain with the mustering and moving of cattle, the timing and frequency of handling; transportation including live export, predation and aversive surgical husbandry procedures (11). With conversion of the northern herd to Bos indicus animals better adapted to the northern Australian environment, many of the previous livestock welfare problems have been ameliorated to some degree. Increasing implementation of management changes, including adoption of pain management for surgical procedures, improved planning for extended dry periods and drought, with wider use of supplementary feeding; and broader implementation of vaccination and weaner management programs, suggests dramatic improvement for large numbers of cattle is in progress. Research continues for less-invasive alternatives to cow spaying, and the calf marking procedure could be improved by increasing the adoption of polled genotypes to reduce dehorning plus the earlier castration of males, requiring more frequent mustering of herds.

The LEI's also continue to be problematic. It would appear that patience of many Australians is exhausted with the sheep LEI that sends temperate woolled animals on prolonged sea journeys to countries with harsh tropical environments. This presumably remains an industry in transition. With the exception of variable recipient country slaughter processes and despite some challenges with implementing ESCAS, the issues with the beef LEI, where tropically adapted animals experience far shorter journeys to neighboring tropical countries, appear more defensible. In northern Australia, a considerable number of livestock farming operations are geared for servicing the beef LEI and there is considerable resistance to cessation of this industry. With demand from importing countries likely to increasingly switch to processed meat as a preferred product to live animals, as refrigeration and supermarket sales become more established in regional developing countries, it is envisaged that eventually the northern beef LEI will transition to in-country processing and carcass exports.

Millions of global farm animals experience painful livestock management procedures annually and there is an increased

REFERENCES

- FAO. World Livestock: Transforming the Livestock Sector through the Sustainable Development Goals. Rome: FAO (2011). p. xvi–xxxi. Available online at: http://www.fao.org/3/CA1201EN/ca1201en.pdf (Accessed October 20, 2020).
- FAO. Mapping supply and demand for animal-source foods to 2030. In Animal Production and Health Working Paper 2. Rome: FAO (2018). Available online at: https://www.fao.org/3/i2425e/i2425e00.htm (Accessed October 20, 2020).
- 3. Windsor P, Martin S, Khounsy S, Young J, Thomson P, Bush, et al. Improved milk production from supplementation of swamp buffalo

requirement for producers to implement pain management protocols on farms, although in many countries, options for on-farm analgesia are limited (68). Whilst further research is needed on objective measurement of pain in food animals, the use of multimodal analgesia using local anesthetics and particularly TAF, with an NSAID and in particular meloxicam, are currently considered the best options for on-farm analgesia in Australia (44, 69). Further research on pain assessment and amelioration, including applications for inflammatory (57, 58) and neuropathic conditions are necessary to achieve best practice in livestock pain management (68, 69).

There are encouraging signs suggesting improving change management of extensive farm animal welfare is occurring in Australia. These include the adoption of prescribed livestock welfare Standards and Guidelines, introduction of ESCAS to address export concerns (70), improved producer welfare attitudes and practices including pain management during aversive husbandry procedures now occurring globally, plus new innovations in animal welfare surveillance and assessment. With exception of the continuation of the LEI, evidence suggests that a new paradigm has emerged on-farm, capable of sustainably addressing the complex welfare concerns arising in extensive livestock husbandry systems in Australia. Global consumers of extensively-raised livestock products likely need greater awareness of the quality of product raised under improving attitudes and practices of animal welfare on many Australian livestock farms. These lessons may provide valuable insights for producers in and advisors to, the extensive livestock industries in other countries.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PW contributed the entirety of this review, although this work was dependent on a number of colleagues and collaborators as per acknowledgments featured as co-authors in the publications cited.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The contributions of many collaborative research colleagues and those associated with provision of funding for trials is important and most appreciated aspect of the learning presented in this review.

with molasses nutrient blocks containing 10% urea. Dairy. (2021) 2:90-103. doi: 10.3390/dairy2010009

- Becker DJ, Washburne AD, Faust CL, Mordecai EA, Plowright RK. The problem of scale in the prediction and management of pathogen spillover. *Philos T Roy Soc B.* (2019) 374:20190224. doi: 10.1098/rstb. 2019.0224
- Allen T, Murray KA, Zambrana-Torrelio C, Morse SS, Rondinini C, Di Marco, et al. Global hotspots and correlates of emerging zoonotic diseases. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:1124. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00923-8
- Marchant-Forde JN. The science of animal behavior and welfare: challenges, opportunities and global perspective. *Front Vet Sci.* (2015) 2:16. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2015.00016

- Chantziaras I, Boyen F, Callens B, Dewulf J. Correlation between veterinary antimicrobial use and antimicrobial resistance in food-producing animals: a report on seven countries. J Antimicrob Chemoth. (2014) 69:827– 34. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkt443
- Marchant-Forde JN, Boyle LA. COVID-19 effects on livestock production: a one welfare issue. Front Vet Sci. (2020) 7:585787. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.585787
- Futureye. Australia's Shifting Mindset on Farm Animal Welfare. Windsor (2018). Available online at: https://www.outbreak.gov.au/sites/default/files/ documents/farm-animal-welfare.pdf (Accessed February 17, 2021).
- ABS. Livestock Products, Australia, December 2020. Australian Bureau of Statistics (2020). Available online at: abs.gov.au (Accessed February 17, 2020).
- Petherick, JC. Animal welfare issues associated with extensive livestock production: the northern Australian beef cattle industry. *App An Behav Sci.* (2005) 92:211–34. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2005. 05.009
- BOM. Annual climate statement 2019. Bureau of Meteorology (2019). Available online at: http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/current/annual/aus/ 2019/ (Accessed February 17, 2021).
- BOM. State of the Climate 2020. Bureau of Meteorology (2020). Available online at: http://www.bom.gov.au/state-of-the-climate/ (Accessed February 17, 2021).
- BOM. Recent rainfall, drought and southern Australia's long-term rainfall decline. Bureau of Meteorology (2015). Available online at: http:// www.bom.gov.au/recentrainfall,droughtandsouthernAustralia'slongtermrainfalldecline (accessed February 17, 2021).
- Windsor PA. Paratuberculosis control in sheep and goats. Vet Micro. (2015) 181:161–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2015.07.019
- Windsor PA, Whittington RJ. Control of ovine paratuberculosis in Australia revisited. *Animals.* (2020) 10:1623. doi: 10.3390/ani100 91623
- Bush RD, Windsor PA, Toribio JA. Losses of adult sheep due to ovine Johne's disease in 12 infected flocks over a 3-year period. *Aust Vet J.* (2006) 84:246–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2006.00001.x
- Bush RD, Toribio JA, Windsor PA. The impact of malnutrition and other causes of losses of adult sheep in 12 flocks during drought. *Aust Vet J.* (2006) 84:254–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2006.00002.x
- Doyle K. What you need to know about droughts: why they happen and how they are defined. (2018). Available online at:https://www.abc.net.au/news/ 2018-08-01/what-you-need-to-know-about-droughts/10051956 (accessed February 17, 2021).
- Mao F. Living with Australia's drought: 'It's cheaper to shoot the cows'. (2018). Available online at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-australia-45123925 (Accessed February 22, 2021).
- Meaker G, McCormick L, Blackwood I. Drought Planning. Department of Primary Industries, NSW (2007). Available online at:https://www.dpi.nsw. gov.au/climate-and-emergencies/droughthub/information-and-resources/ drought-planning (Accessed February 22, 2021).
- 22. DPI NSW. Managing farm businesses during drought. Department of Primary Industries NSW. (2018). Available online at: https://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/ climate-and-emergencies/droughthub/information-and-resources (Accessed February 22, 2021).
- Mao F. Australian farmers' long road after mass cattle deaths. (2019). Available online at:https://www.bbc.com/news/world-australia-47274662 (Accessed January 22, 2021).
- MLA. Flood Recovery. Meat and Livestock Australia (2020). Available online at: https://www.mla.com.au/research-and-development/dealing-withnatural-disasters/flood-recovery (Accessed February 22, 2021).
- Wheeling K. Australia's most extreme bushfire season, statistically speaking (2020). Eos. doi: 10.1029/2020EO151949
- Hooper C. New study into the effects of bushfires on cattle and sheep health and welfare. (2020). Available online at: https://about.unimelb.edu.au/newsroom/ news/2020/july/new-study-into-the-effects-of-bushfires-on-cattle-andsheep-health-and-welfare (Accessed February 22, 2021).
- 27. AHA. *Animal Welfare Standards 2020*. Animal Health Australia. Animal Welfare Standards Land Transport (Accessed March 01, 2020).
- ABC. What would Australia look like without live exports? Australian Broadcasting Corporation News (2018) (Accessed March 01, 2021).

- Phillips CJ. 'The Welfare of Livestock During Sea Transport' in Michael C. Appleby et al. (eds), Long Distance Transport and Welfare of Farm Animals. *CABI*. (2008) 137:140. doi: 10.1079/9781845934033.0137
- ABC. Vote Compass finds almost two-thirds of Australian voters support a ban on live animal exports (2019). Available online at: https://www.abc. net.au/news/2019-04-26/vote-compass-live-exports-almost-two-thirdssupport-ban/11046230 (Accessed March 01, 2021).
- SMH. Cormo Express disaster haunts industry. Sydney Morning Herald (2004). Available online at: https://www.smh.com.au/national/cormoexpress-disaster-haunts-industry-20041029-gdk0f8.html (Accessed March 01, 2021).
- ABC. Politicians link suicides to cattle export ban. Australian Broadcasting Corporation News (2012). Available online at: https://www.abc.net.au/ news/2012-09-12/politicians-link-suicides-to-cattle-export-ban/4256526 (Accessed March 01, 2021).
- Wagstaff J. Effects of Australian live export cattle ban to Indonesia still felt by beef producers. (2016). The Weekly Times. Available online at: weeklytimesnow.com.au (Accessed February 22, 2021).
- Wahlquist C. Australian government's 2011 cattle live export ban was invalid, court rules. (2020). Live exports | The Guardian (Accessed February 22, 2021).
- Petrie C. Live export a chronology. Parliament of Australia (2019). Available online at: https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_ Departments/Parliamentary_Library/pubs/rp/rp1920/Chronologies/ LiveExport (Accessed March 01, 2020)
- ABC. Stranded live export sheep unloaded at Kuwait. Australian Broadcasting Corporation News Blog (2012). Available online at: https://www.abc.net.au/ news/2012-09-04/stranded-live-export-sheep-unloaded-at-kuwait/4241916 (accessed February 17, 2021).
- Windsor PA, Nampanya S, Tagger A, Keonam K, Gerasimova M, Putthana V, et al. Is orf infection a risk to expanding goat production in developing countries? A case study from Lao PDR. *Small Rumin Res.* (2017) 154:123–8. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2017.08.003
- RSPCA. Mapping decades of live export disasters. Royal Society for the Protection of Cruelty to Animals, Australia. (2018). Available online at: https:// www.rspca.org.au/live-exports-timeline-tragedy (accessed February 17, 2021).
- Fleming PA, Wickham SL, Dunston-Clarke EJ, Willis RS, Barnes AL, Miller DW, et al. Review of livestock welfare indicators relevant for the Australian live export industry. *Animals.* (2020) 10:1236–26. doi: 10.3390/ani100 71236
- Lomax S, Shiel M, Windsor PA. Impact of topical anaesthesia on pain alleviation and wound healing in lambs following mulesing. *Aust Vet J.* (2008) 86:159–69. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2008.00285.x
- Windsor PA, Lomax S. Addressing welfare concerns regarding control of cutaneous myiosis in Australia. *Small Rumin Res.* (2013) 110:165– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2012.11.027
- Lomax S, Sheil M, Windsor PA. Duration of action of a topical anesthetic formulation for pain management of mulesing in sheep. *Aust Vet J.* (2013) 91:160–7. doi: 10.1111/avj.12031
- Windsor PA, Lomax S, White P. Pain management for improved small ruminant welfare. Small Rumin Res. (2016) 142:55– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2016.03.024
- 44. Roberts CD, Windsor PA. Innovative pain management solutions in animals may provide improved wound pain reduction during debridement in humans: an opinion informed by veterinary literature. *Intl Wound J.* (2019) 16:968–73. doi: 10.1111/iwj.13129
- Lomax S, Dickson H, Sheil M, Windsor PA. Topical anaesthesia alleviates the pain of castration and tail docking in lambs. *Aust Vet J.* (2010) 88:67– 74. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2009.00546.x
- 46. Ferrer LM, Lacasta D, Ortín A, Ramos JJ, Tejedor MT, Borobia M, et al. Impact of a topical anaesthesia wound management formulation on pain, inflammation and reduction of secondary infections after tail docking in lambs. *Animals*. (2020) 10:1255. doi: 10.3390/ani10081255
- Lomax S, Windsor PA. Topical anaesthesia mitigates the pain of castration in beef calves. J Anim Sci. (2013) 91:1–8. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5984
- Grandin T. Animal welfare and society concerns finding the missing link. Meat Sci. (2014) 98:461–9. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.05.011

- Espinoza C, Lomax S, Windsor PA. Topical anaesthesia provides pain management for dehorning of calves. J Dairy Sci. (2013) 96:2894– 902. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-5954
- Stilwell GT, Ferrador AM, Santos S, Domingues JM, Carolin N. Use of topical local anesthetics to control pain during treatment of hoof lesions in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:6383–90. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15820
- 51. Paull DR, Lee C, Colditz IG, Atkinson SJ, Fisher AD. The effect of a topical Anaesthetic formulation, systemic Flunixin and Carprofen, singly or in combination, on cortisol and Behavioural responses of merino lambs to Mulesing. *Aust Vet J.* (2007) 85:98–106. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2007.00115.x
- Small AH, Belson S, Holm M, Colditz IG. Efficacy of a buccal meloxicam formulation for pain relief in merino lambs undergoing knife castration and tail docking in a randomised field trial. *Aust Vet J.* (2014) 92:381– 8. doi: 10.1111/avj.12241
- 53. Small AH, Marini D, Dyall T, Paull D, Lee C. A randomised field study evaluating the effectiveness of buccal meloxicam and topical local anaesthetic formulations administered singly or in combination at improving welfare of female Merino lambs undergoing surgical mulesing and hot knife tail docking. *Res Vet Sci.* (2018) 118:305–11. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2018.03.006
- 54. Van der Saag D, Lomax S, Windsor PA, Taylor C, Thomson P, Hall E, et al. Effects of topical anaesthesia and buccal meloxicam on average daily gain, behaviour and inflammation of unweaned calves following surgical castration. *Animal.* (2018) 1:9. doi: 10.1017/S1751731118000216
- 55. Van der Saag D, White P, Ingram L, Manning J, Windsor P, Thomson P, et al. Effects of topical Anaesthetic and buccal meloxicam treatments on concurrent castration and dehorning of beef calves. *Animal.* (2018) 8:35. doi: 10.20944/preprints201801.0294.v1
- 56. Van der Saag D, Lomax S, Windsor PA, Taylor C, White PJ. Evaluating treatments with topical anaesthesia and buccal meloxicam for pain and inflammation caused by amputation dehorning of cal- ves. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0198808. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198808
- Windsor PA, MacPhillamy I, Khounsy S, Young JR, Bush RD. Managing welfare and antimicrobial resistance issues in treating Foot-and-Mouth Disease lesions: a new therapeutic approach. *VetMed:ResRep.* (2020) 11 99– 107. doi: 10.2147/VMRR.S273788
- Lendzele SS, Mavoungou JF, Burinyuy KA, Armel KA, Dickmu SJ, Young JR, et al. Efficacy of a topical anaesthetic wound treatment formulation for treating Foot-and-mouth disease. A field trial in Cameroon. *TBED*. (2020) 68, 2531–2542. doi: 10.1111/tbed.13923
- 59. Small AH, Jongman EC, Niemeyera D, Lee C, Colditz IG. Efficacy of precisely injected single local bolus of lignocaine for alleviation of behavioural responses to pain during tail docking and castration of lambs with rubber rings. *Res Vet Sc.* (2020) 133:210–8. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2020. 09.025
- Kopp K, Hernandez-Jover M, Robertson S, Abuelo A, Friend M. A survey of New South Wales sheep producer practices and perceptions on lamb mortality and ewe supplementation. *Animals*. (2020) 10:1586. doi: 10.3390/ani10091586
- Toaff-Rosenstein R. Chapter 8: Disease and injury: beyond current thinking about top causes of cattle morbidity. In: Tucker CB, editor. *Advances in Cattle Welfare*. Sawston: Woodhead Publishing (2018). p. 199– 226. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-100938-3.00007-3
- 62. Petherick JC, McCosker K, Mayer DG, Letchford P, McGowan M. Evaluation of the impacts of spaying by either the dropped ovary technique or

ovariectomy via flank laparotomy on the welfare of Bos indicus beef heifers and cows. J An Sc. (2013) 91:382–94. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5164

- 63. Yu A, Van der Saag D, Letchford P, Windsor PA, White P. Preliminary investigation to address pain and haemorrhage following the spaying of female cattle. *Animals.* (2020) 10:249. doi: 10.3390/ani10020249
- 64. Winkler C. Chapter 3: Assessment of cattle welfare: approaches, goals, and next steps on farms. In: Tucker CB, editor. *Advances in Cattle Welfare*. Sawston: Woodhead Publishing (2018). p. 55–69.
- Fleming PA, Clarke T, Wickham SL, Stockman CA, Barnes AL, Collins T, et al. The contribution of qualitative behavioural assessment to appraisal of livestock welfare. *An Prod Sci.* (2016) 56:1569–78. doi: 10.1071/AN1 5101
- Manning J, Power D, Cosby A. Legal complexities of animal welfare in Australia: do on-animal sensors offer a future option? *Animals.* (2021) 11:91. doi: 10.3390/ani11010091
- Lee C, Colditz IG, Campbell DLM. A framework to assess the impact of new animal management technologies on welfare: a case study of virtual fencing. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:187. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018. 00187
- Kleinhenz MD, Viscardi AV, Coetzee JF. On-farm pain management of food production animals. *App An Sci.* (2021) 37:77–87. doi: 10.15232/aas.2020-02106
- Stilwell G, Windsor P, Broom DM. Pain management for ruminants during common farm husbandry procedures. In: Duarte AF, Lopes da Costa L, editors. Advances in Animal Health, Medicine and Production. Cham: Springer (2020). p 27–51. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-61981-7_2
- 70. Exporter Supply Chain Assurance System (ESCAS) Department of Agriculture (Accessed May 10, 2021).

Conflict of Interest: The author reports no conflict of interest in this work. The extensive studies evaluating Tri-Solfen and other therapies for aversive animal-husbandry interventions that occurred prior to this review paper, were funded by an Australian Research Council Linkage Grant from the Australian government with financial contributions from Medical Ethics Australia and Bayer Animal Health Australia and the author has provided advice to these companies on the international use of pain management products. However, the content in this paper was not influenced by funding from either of these companies, nor did they have a role in the design, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

The handling editor declared a past co-authorship/collaboration with the author.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Windsor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Corrigendum: Progress With Livestock Welfare in Extensive Production Systems: Lessons From Australia

Peter Andrew Windsor*

Sydney School of Veterinary Science, The University of Sydney, Camden, NSW, Australia

Keywords: climate change, drought, heat, live export, pain management, welfare assessment

A Corrigendum on

OPEN ACCESS

Approved by:

Frontiers Editorial Office, Frontiers Media SA, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Peter Andrew Windsor peter.windsor@sydney.edu.au orcid.org/0000-0001-5629-3517

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 23 February 2022 Accepted: 16 March 2022 Published: 06 April 2022

Citation:

Windsor PA (2022) Corrigendum: Progress With Livestock Welfare in Extensive Production Systems: Lessons From Australia. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:882457. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.882457 **Progress With Livestock Welfare in Extensive Production Systems: Lessons From Australia** by Windsor, P. A. (2021). Front. Vet. Sci. 8:674482. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.674482

In this original article, there was an error. The conflict of interest statement published was incorrect. The corrected conflict of interest statement is below.

The author reports no conflict of interest in this work. The extensive studies evaluating Tri-Solfen and other therapies for aversive animal-husbandry interventions that occurred prior to this review paper, were funded by an Australian Research Council Linkage Grant from the Australian government with financial contributions from Medical Ethics Australia and Bayer Animal Health Australia and the author has provided advice to these companies on the international use of pain management products. However, the content in this paper was not influenced by funding from either of these companies, nor did they have a role in the design, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

The author apologize for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way. The original article has been updated.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Windsor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Welfare of Native Goat Breeds in Serbia—Emphasis on Parasitological Infections

Katarina Nenadović^{1*}, Tamara Ilić², Nemanja Jovanović², Dejan Bugarski³ and Marijana Vučinić¹

¹ Department of Animal Hygiene, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ² Department of Parasitology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ³ Scientific Veterinary Institute "Novi Sad", Belgrade, Serbia

Native goat breeds in Serbia has been recognized as an important element of regional agrobiodiversity and play an important role in the safeguarding of cultural and traditional heritage. The aim of this study was to identify the main welfare issues likely to be encountered in extensive goat farming systems with an emphasis on parasitological infections. The study was conducted during the winter season on four small farms of native Balkan and Serbian white goats. For welfare assessment, animal-based indicators from AWIN protocol for goats were used. All fecal samples for parasites were qualitatively and quantitatively examined. The main welfare issues identified were poor hair coat condition (62.79%), dirty and light soiling hindquarters (31.40%), thin body condition score (26.74%), abscesses (19.78%), and udder asymmetry (18.60%). In addition, an important and prevalent welfare problem identified across all farms was parasite infection and weak significant (p < 0.001) correlation between certain parasites (Strongylidae, Moniezia spp., Buxtonella sulcate, and Protostrongylidae) and welfare indicators such as poor hair coat condition and nasal discharge. The results of this study provided the first overview and valuable insight into the impact of extensive systems on the welfare of native goats in the Balcan region.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

George Thomas Stilwell, University of Lisbon, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Patrizia Ana Bricarello, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil Jessica Quijada, Langston University, United States

*Correspondence:

Katarina Nenadović katarinar@vet.bg.ac.rs

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 10 March 2021 Accepted: 28 July 2021 Published: 31 August 2021

Citation:

Nenadović K, Ilić T, Jovanović N, Bugarski D and Vučinić M (2021) Welfare of Native Goat Breeds in Serbia—Emphasis on Parasitological Infections. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:678880. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.678880 Keywords: animal welfare, animal-based indicators, extensive systems, goats, parasites

INTRODUCTION

In Serbia, at present, there is very little information as to the welfare of goats. Before the Second World War, in the Republic of Serbia, goat breeding had a significant place and was mostly represented as an extensive production, in the hilly, mountainous area (1). With the adoption of the Law on the Prohibition of Goat Breeding in 1954 (2), goat farming has become forbidden, which negatively influenced the overall size of the goat population in Serbia, as well as the presence of native goat breeds (1). The goat farming sector in Serbia has been rapidly developing during the last decades. Currently, in Serbia, there are 180,000 breeding goats (3). According to the Institute for Animal Husbandry's annual report, only 13 smallholder farms with a total of 429 native goat breeds are registered in Serbia today.

Native goat breeds in Serbia represent valuable and irreplaceable genetic resources and play an important role in the safeguarding of cultural and traditional heritage (1). There are two local goat breeds currently raised in Central and Eastern Serbia, Balkan goat and Serbian white goat, with

25

Balkan goat being the native breed and Serbian white basically being improved Balkan by crossing with Saanen bucks aimed at improving milk yield (1). Both of these breeds are very endurable that is easily adapted to modest conditions of care, housing, and nutrition, usually raised extensively in hilly, mountainous regions (1) and only during the winter season when there is provision of supplementary feeds at home in addition to grazing, then the production system is considered as semi-extensive.

Both breeds are used for combined production of both milk and meat, but for Balkan goat, the meat is the most important product (4), while Serbian white goat has higher milk production (1).

Extensive management systems allow animals to behave in a more natural way and express natural behaviors such as grazing, exploration, or exercise, which may be beneficial for their health (5, 6). These characteristics of extensive systems fit with one of the three conceptual frameworks used to assess animal welfare, "natural living," and also has clear links to similar concepts in the "five freedoms"-freedom to express normal behaviors and the "five domains"—behavioral or interactive restriction (7, 8). While the welfare of goats is largely positive when assessed according to natural living (e.g., providing animals with opportunities to play, make their own decisions, or to have positive social relationships) in extensive system may face a range of compromises to their well-being, but principally, these relate to nutritional stress, inadequate water supply, climatic extremes, parasitical diseases, lameness, and inappropriate managing (5, 9). Grazing goats are therefore exposed to a huge diversity of parasites since natural pastures are the main source of internal and external parasites (10). These parasites impact greatly on animal health, welfare, and productivity such as a considerable decline in weight gain, milk yield, and hair coat condition (10).

This paper aims to present the first outcomes of data collected in a sample of extensively reared native Balkan and Serbian white goat according to the AWIN protocol, and parasite data, as well as to identify the welfare problems that affect these animals.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Farms and Management

The study was conducted in January 2021, on four small farms of native Balkan and Serbian white goat (Figures 1A,B). In Table 1, characterizations of the farms are shown. Farms are located in the hilly, mountainous regions of Central and Eastern Serbia (Figure 2). Serbia is a continental country in Southeastern Europe, in the central part of the Balkan Peninsula, between 41°53' and 46°11' N and 18°49' and 23°00' E. Due to the Pannonian Plain in the north, it is a part of Central Europe. Geographically and climatically, its southern part is a Mediterranean country. The Serbian climate is between a continental climate in the north, with cold dry winters, and warm, humid summers with well-distributed rainfall patterns, and a more Mediterranean climate in the south with hot, dry summers and autumns and average relatively cool and rainier winters with heavy mountain snowfall. January is the coldest month of the year in Serbia as the winter brings snow, heavy frost, and dense fog in many parts of the country. According to the Republic Hydrometeorological Service of Serbia, the average monthly air temperature for the period in January 2021 was in the range of from -0.7° C to 4.3° C (in mountain regions -5.2° C) with a total of 75–150 mm precipitation in Central and Eastern Serbia.

Animals from these areas were maintained under extensive management systems, where they foraged all day round in a fenced paddock during the day with minimum supplementation in the winter season (1 kg of a prepared meal of forage legumes + maize per animal). Water is provided from a natural spring, and shelter is provided by trees, shrubs, other vegetation, and artificial



FIGURE 1 | Serbian white (A) and Balkan goat (B).

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the examined farms.

Characteristics			Farms		
		I	II	Ш	IV
Goat status		Lactating	Lactating	Lactating	Non-lactating
Goat breed		Serbian white	Serbian white	Balkan	Balkan
Total goats/farm		15	36	10	60
Number of male br	reeder goat	1	1	1	1
Number of adult goats on farm		14	30	7	51
Number of evaluate goats (aged 2–10 y		14	25	7	40
Number of pens		1	1	1	1
Pen dimension (m ²	2)	40	98	12	90
Stocking density (n	n²/animal)	2.67	2.72	1.2	1.5
Bedding	Clean/dirty, wet	Clean	Clean	Dirty and wet	Clean
	Sufficient/insufficient	Sufficient	Sufficient	Insufficient	Insufficient
Type of water place	es	Bucket	Bucket	Bucket	Natural spring
Cleanness of water places		Clean	Clean	Dirty	Clean
Deworming in spring and autumn		Albendazole	Neositol (levamisole hydrochloride), ivermectin	Albendazole	No use

structures. During the winter season at night and the varying climatic extremes, goats are penned. In these areas, farmers use veterinary service (farm II), weak use (farm I and III), and do not use (farm IV) with goats not treated/dewormed (**Table 1**). An initial preventive planned deworming of animals against intestinal parasites was performed twice a year in spring and autumn (farms I, II, and IV).

Animals and Welfare Assessment

Since there was no specific protocol for extensively managed goats, the authors used animal-based indicators from AWIN welfare assessment protocol for sheep and goats (11) such as body condition score (BSC), hindquarters cleanness (12), hair coat condition, severe lameness, abscesses, udder asymmetry, oblivion, ocular and nasal discharge, latency to the first contact test and resource-based indicators such as bedding (sufficient/insufficient and clean/dirty, wet) and type and cleanness of water places. These indicators were selected because they address the main welfare concerns for goats, covering freedom from hunger, pain, injury, or disease. The assessment of the goats was conducted between 9 and 16 h by two assessors who were trained to use AWIN welfare protocol for sheep and goats. Welfare indicators are awarded with a score of 0 when welfare is good, a score of 1 is awarded when welfare has been poor and unacceptable, and a score of -1 is only awarded when the goat is thin.

The total number of goats on the farms was 131 (**Table 1**). We observed only adult goats aged 2–10 years, and a number of animals for assessment were selected (**Table 1**) according to the total number of animals on each farm (11).

Parasitological Examinations

In February 2021, parasitological examinations were performed at the Department of Parasitology, University of Belgrade Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, on fecal samples of native Balkan goat and Serbian white goat from four small farms. Coprological testing included both macroscopic and microscopic examinations of samples. Individual samples were collected from the same housing unit, regarding housing systems.

Sample Collections

The parasitological examination included the collection of goat feces, in the form of individual samples, which were put in PVC bags, and all the necessary information was labeled. Feces were sampled immediately after defecation. In order to avoid contamination of samples with pseudoplastic particles of plant and animal origin from the litter and the ground, sampling was performed from the upper segments of the excreted feces. The samples were stored in a handheld refrigerator at a temperature of $+4^{\circ}$ C and transported to the Parasitology Laboratory, where coprological diagnostics was performed within 24 h.

Macroscopic Examination

In the macroscopic examination, the formation, consistency, color, and odor of fecal samples were investigated. Any deviations in these parameters from the typical physiological characteristics of the feces of the goats were noted. The presence of impurities such as blood, pus, mucus, or undigested food was recorded as potential markers of certain pathological conditions of the gastrointestinal tract. Thereafter, the feces was carefully examined using tweezers, and any adult helminths and their parts were transferred to a Petri dish, rinsed in saline, and prepared for further analysis (13).



Microscopic Examination

Preparations for microscopic diagnostics were made by qualitative methods without concentration and with a concentration of parasitic elements.

Fecal Examination by Qualitative Method

Coprological examination was performed by qualitative methods without (Vajda method) and with a concentration of parasitic elements—flotation and sedimentation techniques (14).

Fecal Examination by Quantitative Method

Quantification of the obtained results was performed by the McMaster method (15), with a sensitivity of 50 eggs/oocysts per gram of feces to determine the helminth eggs/coccidia oocyst/ciliate cysts per gram outputs (16).

A saturated aqueous NaCl solution (>97%; Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) was used to perform conventional flotation methods, which was prepared by mixing 210 g of NaCl with 1,000 ml of distilled water (specific gravity 1,200). The preparations made were observed under 100 magnifications for morphological identification of gastrointestinal (GI) parasitic eggs/oocysts/cysts, according to Soulsby (17).

Pulmonary strongylids were identified, based on the morphological characteristics of the first-stage larvae.

During the identification of the larvae, the presence of *Dictyocaulus filaria* was confirmed by the finding of the first-stage larvae with an anterior protoplasmic knob and black granular intestinal inclusions in the feces (18). The larvae of Protostrongylides are differentiated by their characteristic feature at the tip of their tail (19).

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software. Results were described by descriptive statistics (mean value and standard error) and as prevalence (the overall number of goats showing the measure regardless of severity). The distribution of the welfare indicators was tested by the Kolmogorov–Smirnov distribution fitting test, which showed a not normal distribution. The differences between welfare indicators were analyzed using the non-parametric Kruskal–Wallis test on the equality of the medians, adjusted for ties. When significant differences were found, Dunn–Bonferroni *post-hoc* test was performed. For animal-based parameters and different endoparasite infection and coinfections, the prevalence was calculated on a total number of goats, and the significant difference was determined by the Chi-square test.

Relationships between the different welfare indicators and endoparasites were examined by Spearman's rank correlation. For all correlation analyses, the absolute value of the Spearman's correlation coefficients assessed whether very weak ($0.0 \leq |\text{rho}| < 0.2$), weak ($0.2 \leq |\text{rho}| < 0.4$), moderate ($0.4 \leq |\text{rho}| < 0.6$), strong ($0.6 \leq |\text{rho}| < 0.8$), or very strong ($0.8 \leq |\text{rho}| \leq 1.0$) relationships existed as described by Campbell (20). Only those correlations significant at p < 0.05 are reported.

RESULTS

Welfare Assessment

Based on the results, significant differences (p < 0.05, p < 0.001) were observed at body condition score (thin and fat goats), hair coat condition, nasal discharge, severe lameness, and hindquarter cleanness between goats from different farms (**Table 2**). The most poor and unacceptable welfare indicators in goats were hair coat condition (62.79%, 54/86) with an average score of 0.63 \pm 0.03, hindquarter cleanness (31.40%, 27/86, 0.31 \pm 0.05), tin BCS (26.74%, 23/86, 0.41 \pm 0.07), abscesses (19.78%, 17/86, 0.20 \pm 0.04), and udder asymmetry (18.60%, 16/86, 0.19 \pm 0.04) (**Tables 2, 3**).

The average score of dirty hair in farm III (0.86 \pm 0.14) and farm IV (0.40 \pm 0.08) was significantly higher (p < 0.001) compared with farm II (**Table 3**).

Parasitological Examinations

In the examined feces of goats from four farms, nine endoparasites were identified in the form of coinfections protozoa (Coccidia and *Buxtonella sulcata*), nematodes (Strongylidae, *Trichuris ovis, Capillaria* spp., *Dictyocaulus filaria*, and *Protostrongylidae*), cestodes (*Moniezia* spp.), and trematodes *Dicrocoelium lanceolatum* with a total prevalence of 100% (86/86) (**Table 4**). The most prevalent endoparasites in all farms observed was Coccidia (95.35%, 82/86) followed by Strongylidae (90.70%, 78/86) and Protostrongylidae (86.04%, 74/86).

In farm I, the most prevalent coinfections were *T. ovis*-*Moniezia* spp.-Coccidia-*Protostrongylidae* and Strongylidae-*T. ovis*-*Moniezia* spp.-Coccidia-*B. sulcata* with prevalence of 21.42% (3/14). Polyparasitism of Strongylidae-Coccidia-*Protostrongylidae* dominated in farm II (48%-12/25) and farm IV (40%-14/40), while on farm III prevailing coinfections were Strongylidae-*T. ovis*-*Moniezia* spp.-*Protostrongylidae* (28.57%-2/7) (**Table 5**). A significant difference (p < 0.05; p< 0.001) between four farms of extensively managed native goat breed was established in the prevalence of all coinfections except in quadruple infections of Strongylidae-*Moniezia* spp.-Coccidia-*Protostrongylidae* (**Table 5**).

In most fecal samples of goats, we detected a low degree of infection (<50-500 opg/epg) with coccidia, strongylidae, anoplocephalidae, and *T. ovis* (farms I, II, and III), coccidia and strongylidae (farm II), and *Capillaria* spp. (farm IV) (**Table 6**). Medium degree of infection (550-1,500 opg/epg) with coccidia was found in farm I (875 ± 25 opg), farm II ($1,000 \pm 22.60$ opg), and farm III (733.3 ± 109.3 opg). The high degree of infection (>1,500 opg/epg) was with coccidia and was detected only in farm II ($1,975 \pm 141.70$ opg) (**Table 6**).

Correlations Between Welfare Indicators and Endoparasites

Table 7 shows the significant correlations observed between the different welfare indicators and different endoparasites. There was a weak significant positive correlation between BCS and hair coat condition (rho = 0.28, p < 0.001) and a moderate positive correlation between bedding cleanness and dirty and light soiling hindquarters (rho = 0.35, p < 0.001) and bedding cleanness

TABLE 2 | Prevalence of welfare parameters in 86 individual goats examined in four farms in Serbia.

Animal-based	indicators		Farms										
		l N = 14		I II II N = 14 N = 24		III N = 7		IV N = 40		Total for all farms <i>N</i> = 86		χ²	р
		n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	N	%		
Body condition	Thin	8	57.14	7	28	2	28.57	6	15	23	26.74	8.32	0.03*
score (BCS)	Adequate	6	42.86	18	72	5	71.43	28	70	57	66.28	4.13	0.25
	Fat	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	15	6	15	7.42	0.05*
Hair coat condi	tion	13	92.85	12	48	5	71.43	24	60	54	62.79	8.12	0.04*
Severe lamenes	S	0	0	0	0	2	28.57	0	0	2	2.33	23.10	0.00**
Abscesses		5	35.71	3	12	1	14.29	8	20	17	19.78	3.33	0.34
Hindquarters cleanness		5	35.71	0	0	6	85.71	16	40	27	31.40	22.53	0.00**
Udder asymme	try	3	21.43	3	12	1	14.29	9	22.5	16	18.60	1.28	0.73
Nasal discharge)	3	21.43	2	8	0	0	1	2.5	6	6.98	7.16	0.09
Ocular discharge		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	/	/
Oblivion		1	7.14	0	0	1	14.29	0	0	2	2.33	7.39	0.06

N, total number of samples; n, number of positive samples. ***p < 0.001; *p < 0.05.

TABLE 3 | Mean (±SEM) scores for animal-based welfare parameters in goats examined in four farms in Serbia.

Animal-based indicators	Farms									
	I	II	ш	IV	Total for all farms	p				
	$\mathbf{Mean} \pm \mathbf{SEM}$	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SEM}$	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SEM}$	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SEM}$	Mean ± SEM					
Body condition score (BCS)	0.57 ± 0.14	0.28 ± 0.09	0.29 ± 0.18	0.45 ± 0.12	0.41 ± 0.07	0.55				
Hair coat condition	0.93 ± 0.07	0.48 ± 0.06	0.71 ± 0.18	0.60 ± 0.08	0.63 ± 0.03	0.13				
Severe lameness	0	0	0.29 ± 0.18	0	0.02 ± 0.02	0.67				
Abscesses	0.36 ± 0.13	0.12 ± 0.07	0.14 ± 0.14	0.20 ± 0.06	0.20 ± 0.04	0.66				
Hindquarters cleanness	0.36 ± 0.13	OAB	$0.86\pm0.14^{\text{A}}$	$0.40\pm0.08^{\rm B}$	0.31 ± 0.05	0.00***				
Udder asymmetry	0.21 ± 0.11	0.12 ± 0.07	0.14 ± 0.14	0.23 ± 0.07	0.19 ± 0.04	0.90				
Nasal discharge	0.21 ± 0.11	0.08 ± 0.06	0	0.03 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.03	0.10				
Ocular discharge	0	0	0	0	0	0				
Oblivion	0.07 ± 0.07	0	0.14 ± 0.14	0	0.02 ± 0.02	0.92				

***p < 0.001; A,Bp < 0.001.

and severe lameness (rho = 0.51, p < 0.001). Likewise, a weak significant correlation between strongylids, anoplocephalids, *Buxtonella sulcata*, and hair coat condition (rho = 0.23, r = 0.21, rho = 0.25, respectively, p < 0.05) were observed (**Table** 7), and week significant negative correlation between protostrongilids and nasal discharge (rho = -0.28, p < 0.001).

DISCUSSION

Although we examined four farms and 86 extensively managed native goat breed in total, this study constitutes the first evaluation of the welfare of goats conducted in Serbia. The findings of this study are a sound basis for future research, providing valuable insight into the main welfare issues regarding extensive goat farming. Poor hair coat condition (62.79%), dirty and light soiling hindquarters (31.40%), thin BCS (26.74%), abscesses (19.78), and udder asymmetry (18.60%) showed high prevalence and should, therefore, be considered as major welfare problems.

In the present study, we observed a total of 66.28% of the goats were in adequate BCS, but the presence of the 26.74 and 15% thin and fat goats represent factors affecting welfare in those animals. These results can be ascribed to the fact that in extensive systems, goats due to seasonal variation and not timely grazing sometimes cope with long periods of grazing the forage with high fiber contents and low energy, and suffer chronic hunger (6). Even the food supplementation was provided by all farmers from the study; problems with inadequate body condition scores occurred. An additional problem with supplementation is that we can connect that some animals may be reluctant to eat the supplements if they are not accustomed to them, or there might be existing competition between animals (6). The importance

TABLE 4 Prevalence of endoparasites in goats examined in four farms in Ser	rbia.
--	-------

Endoparasites		l (N = 14)	II (N = 25)		(N = 7)			IV (N = 40)		Total (<i>N</i> = 86)		p
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%		
S	9	64.29 (39.19–89.39)	25	100	5	71.43 (37.96–100)	39	97.50 (95.13–100)	78	90.70	9.41	***
Т	10	71.43 (47.77–95.09)	0	0	4	57.14 (20.48–93.80)	15	37.50 (22.50–52.50)	29	33.72	23.6	***
Μ	10	71.43 (47.77–95.09)	0	0	6	85.71 (59.79–100)	16	40 (24.82–55.18)	32	37.21	29.01	***
С	14	100	25	100	5	71.43 (37.96–100)	39	97.50 (95.13–100)	82	95.35	53.31	***
C ¹	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	15 (3.93–26.07)	6	6.98	7.14	*
D	2	14.29 (0–32.62)	4	16 (1.63–30.37)	0	0	9	22.50 (9.56–35.44)	15	17.44	2.32	0.50
BS	7	50 (23.81–76.19)	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	8.14	39.01	***
Ρ	9	64.29 (39.19–89.39)	20	80 (64.32–95.68)	6	85.71 (59.79–100)	39	97.50 (95.13–100)	74	86.04	10.65	***
D ¹	0	0	8	32	0	0	0	0	8	9.30	21.52	***

N, total number of samples; n, number of positive samples; S, Strongylidae; C, Coccidia; T, Trichuris ovis; M, Moniezia spp.; C¹, Capillaria spp.; D, Dicrocoelium lanceolatum; D¹, Dictyocaulus filarial; B, Buxtonella sulcata; P, Protostrongylidae. ***p < 0.001; *p < 0.05.

of dietary supplementation, especially protein supplementation, showed in numerous studies on resistance and resilience of sheep and goats to GI parasite infections, has been recently confirmed in a few studies (21, 22). According to Hoste et al. (23), GI parasitic infection is often equated to a nutritional disease because of the major negative impacts on total tract digestibility, diet intake, and the reorientation of nutrient use for the maintenance of tissue homeostasis. Ghosh et al. (24) reported that the nutritional status of goats is influenced by a number of factors such as feeding strategy and management, health (parasites, wasting disease, and viral or bacterial and metabolic diseases), age, social hierarchy, and goat status.

Among the etiological agents that affect the poor health status of goats, parasites are usually neglected, although they can lead to colossal morbidity and mortality of goats, which results in significant economic losses (25–27). In our study, the overall prevalence of endoparasites in goats from four farms was 100% and might represent a factor that affects body condition score. Although in our study we did not find that BCS and endoparasites correlated, according to many authors (28–33), endoparasites cause several subclinical effects such as hyperproteinemia, growth depression, reduction in milk yield, loss of appetite, and digestive inefficiency. Parasite infection negatively affects hosts by consuming host resources and directly damaging host tissues or indirectly by stimulating costly immune responses and by changing host movement, foraging, or social behaviors (34–36).

Polyparasitism in our study might be due to goat grazing activities on contaminated pastures, poor sanitation and management in farm III, unsystematic and inadequate deworming, or not treating in farm IV (**Table 1**).

We noted that the overall prevalence of coccidian oocysts in goats was 95.35%. Our results are similar to those reported in China–87.9% (37), Czech Republic–92.2% (38), Portugal–100% (39), and Slovakia–100% (40). The high prevalence of coccidian oocysts in studied animals might be linked with the poor hair coat condition since coccidia can invade and destroy intestinal cells of the hosts, and electrolyte loss exacerbates mineral deficiencies, and there is poor absorption of nutrients, and affected goats can show a rough hair coat, poor weight gain, and weakness (37, 41).

The current finding showed that 100% of the studied animals were positive with GI parasitic infection, predominated by coccidian oocysts and strongyloides eggs (90.70%) with a low degree of infections. These data indicates that all diagnosed endoparasitosis in extensively managed goats are mostly present in the subclinical form. As a consequence, infective agents mainly cause indirect economic damage to the extensively managed goat production and significantly affect the welfare of goats. Polyparasitism was found in all goats, which can compromise the immune system of the host increasing their susceptibility to other diseases or parasites (42). Similar surveys of parasites on goat farms have been conducted in other European and Asian countries. Eggs from one or more species of GI parasites were identified in 100% goats in Turkey (43), 95.90% in Slovakia (44), 87.95% in Nepal (45), and 96% in Northern Italy (46).

Another parasite, *Capillaria* spp. was currently reported to be a prevalence rate (6.98%) that was higher than reported in Italy (46), Nepal (45), Bangladesh (47), and Thailand (48) (lower than 2%). *Capillaria* spp. is critical in goats and shares a wide range of herbivores including man (49). TABLE 5 | Prevalence of coinfection parasite infections in goats examined in four farms in Serbia.

Coinfections	Farms											
	I (N = 14)		II (N = 25)		l	III (N = 7)		IV (N = 40)	Total	(N = 86)	χ²	р
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%		
Double infections												
SC	0	0	5	20 (4.32–35.68)	0	0	0	0	5	20	12.95	***
MC	0	0	0	0	1	14.29 (0–40.22)	0	0	1	1.16	11.42	***
Triple infections												
TCB	2	14.29 (0–32.62)	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	2.33	10.53	*
SCP	2	14.29 (0–32.62)	12	48 (28.42–67.58)	0	0	14	35 (20.21–49.78)	28	32.56	8.33	*
MCP	0	0	0	0	1	14.29 (0–40.22)	0	0	1	1.16	11.42	***
Quadruple infections	i											
TMCP	3	21.42 (0–42.91)	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3.49	15.98	***
SMCP	2	14.29 (0–32.62)	0	0	1	14.29 (0–40.22)	10	25 (11.58–38.42)	13	15.12	7.51	0.0
SCPD ¹	0	0	4	16 (1.63–30.37)	0	0	0	0	4	4.65	10.24	*
STMP	0	0	0	0	2	28.57 (0–62.04)	0	0	2	2.33	23.10	***
STCP	0	0	0	0	1	14.29 (0–40.22)	0	0	1	1.16	11.42	***
Fivefold infections												
STMCB	3	21.42 (0–42.91)	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3.49	15.98	***
STMCP	0	0	0	0	1	14.29 (0–40.22)	0	0	1	1.16	11.42	***
SCDPD ¹	0	0	4	16 (1.63–30.37)	0	0	0	0	4	4.65	10.24	*
STCDP	0	0	0	0	0	0	9	22.5 (9.56–34.44)	9	10.47	11.56	***
Six-fold infections												
STMCC ¹ P	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	17.5 (6.72–29.28)	7	8.14	8.76	*
Sevenfold infections												
STMCDBP	2	14.29 (0–32.62)	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	2.33	10.53	*
Total	14	100	25	100	7	100	40	100	86	100		

N, total number of samples; n, number of positive samples; S, Strongylidae; C, Coccidia; T, Trichuris ovis; M, Moniezia spp.; C¹, Capillaria spp.; D, Dicrocoelium lanceolatum; D¹, Dictyocaulus filarial; B, Buxtonella sulcata; P, –Protostrongylidae.

***p < 0.001; *p < 0.05.

The current study identified the overall prevalence of 37.21% (*Moniezia* spp.), 33.72% (*T. ovis*), 17.44% (*D. lanceolatum*), and 8.14% (*B. sulcata*), significantly higher than those reported by other researchers (44, 46), and in agreement with results from Nepal (45).

According to authors from Ethiopia (50) and West Africa (51), the prevalence of moniesiosis in sheep is significantly higher compared with goats and more susceptible to parasite infection (52). Infection of *Moniezia* spp. in small ruminants

was reported to cause severe pathogenic effects, viz. disturbance of gastrointestinal motility, secretion, diarrhea, and anemia along with reduced slaughter yield, increased water content, and reduction in protein and fat (53).

Dicrocoelium spp. hepatic infection is responsible for direct losses in sheep and goat production due to the discarding of parasitized livers and indirect losses through costs associated with anthelmintic treatments (53). It has been reported in Italy (54), Iran (55), India (56), Nepal (57), Malaysia (58), and

> 0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6

6

100

 52.50 ± 2.50

6 (6.98)

Farms	Degree of infection		Endoparasites					
	(quantitative FEC method)		Coccidia	Strongylidae	Moniezia spp.	Trichuris ovis		
I		Ν	14	9	10	10		
	Low	п	12	9	10	10		
		%	85.71	100	100	100		
		$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SEM}$	387.5 ± 28.29	106.3 ± 14.75	80 ± 15.28	53.33 ± 3.33		
	Medium	п	2	0	0	0		
		%	14.29	0	0	0		
		$\text{Mean}\pm\text{SEM}$	875 ± 25	0	0	0		
I		Ν	25	25	0	0		
	Low	п	11	25	0	0		
		%	44	100	0	0		
		$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SEM}$	213.6 ± 7.04	28.60 ± 2.48	0	0		
	Medium	п	6	0	0	0		
		%	24	0	0	0		
		$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SEM}$	$1,000 \pm 22.60$	0	0	0		
	High	п	8	0	0	0		
		%	32	0	0	0		
		$\text{Mean}\pm\text{SEM}$	$1,975 \pm 141.70$	0	0	0		
		N	5	5	6	4		

3

60

225 + 62.92

2

40

 733.3 ± 109.3

40

40

100

 175 ± 16.11

84 (97.67)

TABLE 6 | Quantitative assessment of fecal samples in in goats examined on four farms in Serbia.

Low: <50–500 opg/epg; medium: 550–1,500 opg/epg; high: >1,500 opg/epg (opg/epg, number of oocysts/eggs calculated per 1 g of feces); N, total number of samples; n, number of positive samples.

5

100

 155 ± 66.22

0

0

0

40

40

100

 152.6 ± 16.02

79 (91.86)

6

100

 51.25 ± 1.25

0

0

0

16

16

100

 50.31 ± 0.31

32 (37.21)

4

100

 37.50 ± 5.12

0

0

0

15

15

100

 37 ± 3.90

29 (33.72)

Nigeria (59). According to Sharma et al. (53), dicrocoeliosis remained little known and underestimated since those infected are asymptomatic and masked by the presence of pathological effects of multiple parasitic infections in ruminants.

n

%Mean \pm SEM

Ν

%

 $\mathsf{Mean}\pm\mathsf{SEM}$

n

%

 $Mean \pm SEM$

N (%)

Ν

The current finding showed that lungworms, protostrongylide infection predominated (87.21%), which is in agreement with the results from Morocco (60), but differs from Ethiopia -13.4– 53.6% (61). The finding of *D. filaria* (9.30%) is in agreement with those recorded by Paran et al. (62) who diagnosed the prevalence at 8.9%. In our study, we found six goats (6.98%) with nasal discharge and significant correlations with protostrongylidae. These results can be ascribed to the fact that the most common clinical sign of lungworms in sheep and goats are pyrexia, coughing, rapid shallow breathing, nasal discharge, and emaciation with retarded growth (63). Lungworm infections in goats are of considerable economic importance. The parasites cause chronic production losses as a result of reduced food conversion ratio (FCR) and weight gain (62). The variation and differences in the prevalence of lungworms of small ruminants in different areas might be associated with differences in nutritional status, level of immunity, management practice of the animal, rainfall, humidity, temperature, altitude differences (64), and season of examination on their respective study area (65).

Poor hair coat condition was found at a prevalence of around 62.79% (54/86) in all farms. This result is not in agreement with those recorded by Can et al. (66) who found that 20–25% of the

Low

Medium

Low

IV

Total

TABLE 7 Spearman's rank correlations between the welfare indicators and
different endoparasites.

	rho	р
Hair coat condition	0.28	0.00***
Hindquarter cleanness	0.35	0.00***
Severe lameness	0.51	0.00***
fare indicators		
Hair coat condition	-0.23	0.03*
Hair coat condition	0.24	0.05*
Hair coat condition	0.25	0.02*
Nasal discharge	-0.28	0.00***
	Hindquarter cleanness Severe lameness Ifare indicators Hair coat condition Hair coat condition Hair coat condition	Hair coat condition0.28Hindquarter cleanness0.35Severe lameness0.51Ifare indicators-0.23Hair coat condition-0.24Hair coat condition0.25

***p < 0.001; *p < 0.05.

observed animals showed inadequate poor hair coat condition in intensive dairy goat farms. The available literature suggests that different factors may affect hair coat conditions in goats such as mineral deficiencies (41), lower BCS (67), and ectoparasite infestation (68). According to Battini et al. (67), this indicator can reflect a goat's nutritional and health status. In the present study, we found that BCS and certain endoparasites (Strongylidae, Moniezia spp. and Buxtonella sulcata) correlate weak with hair coat conditions. The finding was not in agreement with the report made by Battini et al. (67), who found no effect of GI parasitic infestation on hair coat condition due to low level of infestation and the no access to pasture that represents one of the main risk factors for gastrointestinal parasite infections (69). These results suggest that parasites are certainly one cause for a poor hair coat condition, although we cannot exclude that other factors may affect this indicator, such as cold temperatures during the winter season. Exposure to hot or cold environments can also be a welfare problem for extensive livestock (70, 71). In cold winters, energy requirements for maintenance are 20% greater (72). A study performed by Battini et al. (67) proved that goats with a rough hair coat were in a significantly poorer nutritional condition and health status compared with goats with a normal hair coat. These indicate that cold weather could indirectly affect poor hair coat conditions in goats with nutritional deficiencies. The previous study (73) have shown that prolonged exposure of goat to naturally occurring or artificially induced cold environments mobilized fatty acids together with the increased blood glucose, which could have been used in muscles for heat production.

In the present study, we noted dirty and light soiling hindquarters in 31.40% of the studied goats. This result is in agreement with those recorded by Can et al. (66) who found dirty hindquarter prevalence of 27.1%. The result from this study is highly related to immediate environmental conditions, stock attitudes of people, and care for animals (74). According to Bøe et al. (75), the most important characteristics of pen flooring for farm animals are considered to be thermal conductivity, softness, cleanliness, and slipperiness. Even if this welfare indicator was not included in the AWIN welfare protocol for goats (11), dirty hindquarters may reflect animal discomfort that affects the welfare of goats. Based on the results of Bøe et al. (75), the cleanliness of the floor influences animal preferences among others, while softness did not appear to be an important flooring characteristic for the goats. In this study, bedding and hindquarter cleanness were correlated. Also, the dirtiest hindquarters in goats were observed in farm III (85.71%) compared with other studied farms, reflecting poor management and cleaning routines (**Table 1**). These findings are unsurprising, as a range of factors, such as housing design and bedding type, affects the cleanliness of goats.

Damp and dirty environments lead to the spread of specific bacteria, which cause painful health problems such as lameness (76). In this study, bedding cleanness and severe lameness were correlated. Generally, the prevalence of obviously severe lameness in goats was very low (only two in farm III, 2.33%) which is in line with the studies of Anzuino et al. (77), Muri et al. (78), and Can et al. (66), which reported lameness prevalence of 3, 1.7, and 2.1%, respectively. Since lameness is a major welfare concern as it is a painful condition, it is important to identify and treat it (79).

The present study also describes the overall prevalence of abscesses (19.78%) and udder asymmetry (18.60%). The occurrence of external abscesses in the body is closely associated with caseous lymphadenitis in small ruminants (80), which is recognized as an endemic disease in many countries (81). According to Mattiello et al. (82), external abscesses may influence the health condition of the animals and behavioral changes. Udder asymmetry is a sign of chronic alteration that remains even after an udder has recovered from infection or injury (83).

The human-animal relationship represents the mutual perception of stockman and animals and is essential for good animal welfare (84). In the present study, the latency period to the first contact between goat and assessor was good on all studied farms. Regarding the studied animals, extensively managed sheep showed fear in relation to the first contact with assessors (85). According to Jackson and Hackett (86) dairy goats habituate faster with human presence and gentle handling with regard to sheep that receive only neutral or aversive contact with people in extensive systems, e.g., restraint, shearing, or medication administration. This appears to support the findings of Mattiello et al. (87) that ascribe the better and very close relationship between the stock person and the animals in small farms compared with large ones.

CONCLUSION

Although extensive systems of management provide appropriate physical living conditions (e.g., resting area, natural shelters from varying climatic extremes, and grazing area) where goats can express natural behavior, disadvantages in terms of animal welfare exist. Animal-based parameters provide information on the care of farmers for animals. These results demonstrated that the most common causes of further care were poor hair coat condition, dirty hindquarters, thin BCS, abscesses, and udder asymmetry, while other welfare problems are less

represented such as severe lameness, oblivion, and nasal discharge. In addition, an important and prevalent problem in welfare identified across all farms was parasite infection. Nutritional deficiency and the probable scarcity of quality protein, together with sources of infection during stabling, characterize coccidiosis and T. ovis infections, which directly impact the quality of the hair coat and the body condition of the animals. Therefore, these findings suggest for a need of well-coordinated, sanitary monitoring of goat farms by field veterinarians and dissemination of knowledge to animal handlers and farmers to minimize the occurrence of infections. Overall, the issues identified in this study can be treated or mitigated by management practices. Also, it is recommended that protein supplementation be used, which leads to resistance and resilience of goats to GI parasite infections. While results in this study may be more representative of welfare problems in large-scale goat farms, the findings of this study are groundwork for future research, providing valuable insight into the main welfare issues likely to be encountered in extensive goat farming.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Maksimović N, RuŽić-Muslić D, Petrović VC, Pantelić V, Cekić B, Cosić I, et al. Performance records of autochthonous goats in central Serbia. *Biotechnol Anim Husb.* (2019) 35:357–65. doi: 10.2298/BAH1904357M
- 2. Anonymous. Zakon o zabrani drŽanja koza. SluŽbeni glasnik Narodne Republike Srbije 37:269 (1954).
- FAOSTAT. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Statistics Division (2020). Available online at: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/# data/QA/visualize (accessed January 5, 2020).
- Žujović M, Stanišić N, Memiši N. Autochthonous Balkan goat bread composition and traits of kid carcass. *Biotechnol Anim Husb.* (2009) 25:411– 20. doi: 10.2298/BAH0906411Z
- Spigarelli C, Zuliani A, Battini M, Mattiello S, Bovolenta S. Welfare assessment on pasture: a review on animal-based measures for ruminants. *Animals*. (2020) 10:609. doi: 10.3390/ani10040609
- Temple D, Manteca X. Animal welfare in extensive production systems is still an area of concern. Front Sustain Food Syst. (2020) 4:154. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.545902
- Fraser D. Assessing animal welfare at the farm and group level: the interplay of science and values. *Anim Welf.* (2003) 12:433–43.
- Mellor D, Beausoleil N. Extending the "five domains" model for animal welfare assessment to incorporate positive welfare states. *Anim Welf.* (2015) 24:241–53. doi: 10.7120/09627286.24.3.241
- 9. Turner SP, Dwyer CM. Welfare assessment in extensive animal production systems: challenges and opportunities. *Anim Welf.* (2007) 16:189–92.
- Kumar N, Rao TK, Varghese A, Rathor VS. Internal parasite management in grazing livestock. J Parasit Dis. (2013) 37:151–7. doi: 10.1007/s12639-012-0215-z
- 11. Mattiello S, Battini M, Vieira A, Stilwell, G. AWIN Welfare assessment protocol for goats. (2015)
- Dwayer C, Ruiz R, Heredia IBD, Canali E, Barbieri S, Zanella A. AWIN Welfare assessment protocol or sheep. (2015). doi: 10.13130/AWIN_SHEEP_2015
- Dimitrijević S. Dijagnostika parazitskih bolesti (Diagnosis of parasitic diseases). Beograd: Fakultet veterinarske medicine (1999).

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because the research was not conducted directly on animals, we only observed animals and sampled from them (feces). In this way, the welfare of the examined individuals was not impaired. Written informed consent for participation was not obtained from the owners because we made an agreement over the phone that their farms would remain anonymous as we complied.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KN wrote the manuscript with input from all authors. KN and MV conceptualized and designed the study. TI and NJ acquired, analyzed, and interpreted the data. DB made critical revisions. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

We gratefully thank to Frontiers Financial Support (Grant No. DSC-03030774116PRD) and Frontiers Strategic Budget (Grant No. DSC-08031481405PRD). We gratefully thank to Mivaka d.o.o. for financial support.

- 14. Fisheries MAFF. Food, Reference Book: Manual of Veterinary Parasitological Laboratory Techniques. London: Ministry of Agriculture (1986).
- Chandrawathani P, Premaalatha B, Jamnah O, Priscilla FX, Erwanas AI, Lily Rozita MH, et al. Mc Master method of worm egg count from faecal samples of goats: A comparison of single and double chamber enumeration of worm eggs. *MJVR*. (2015) 6:81–7.
- Urquhart GM, Armour J, Duncan JL, Dunn AM, Jennings FW. Veterinary Parasitology. 2nd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Science (1996).
- Soulsby EJL. Helminths, Arthropods and Protozoa of Domesticated Animals. 7th ed. London: Baillière Tindall (1982).
- Dunn AM. Veterinary Helminthology. 2nd ed. London: William Heinemann Medical Book Ltd (1978).
- 19. Geoffrey L. *Veterinary Helminthology and Entomology*. 5th ed. Edinburg, TX: Oliver and Boyd (1962).
- 20. Campbell MJ. Statistics at Square Two. 2nd ed. Blackwell: BMJ Books (2006).
- Cériac S, Durbant P, Godard X, Barbier C, Feuillet D, Félicité Y, et al. Effect of the nutritional status of Creole goats on the density-dependent prolificacy of Haemonchus contortus. *Vet Parasitol.* (2019) 276:108973. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2019.10 8973
- 22. Bambou JC, Ceï W, Arquet R, Calif V, Bocage B, Mandonnet N, et al. Mixed grazing and dietary supplementation improve the response to gastrointestinal nematode parasitism and production performances of goats. *Front Vet Sci.* (2012) 8:628686. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.6 28686
- 23. Hoste H, Torres-Acosta JFJ, Quijada J, Chan-Perez I, Dakheel MM, Kommuru DS, et al. Interactions between nutrition and infections with Haemonchus contortus and related gastrointestinal nematodes in small ruminants. In: Gasser RB, VonSamsonHimmelstjerna G, editors. *Haemonchus contortus and Haemonchosis Past, Present and Future Trends*, London: Academic Press, (2016). 111:239–351.
- Ghosh CP, Datta S, Mandal D, Das AK, Roy DC, Roy A, et al. Body condition scoring in goat: impact and significance. *J Entomol Zool Stud.* (2019) 7:554–60.
- Das M, Laha R, Goswami A, Goswami A. Gastrointestinal parasitism of goats in hilly region of Meghalaya, India. Vet World. (2017) 10:81. doi: 10.14202/vetworld.2017.81-85
- Chikweto A, Tiwari K, Bhaiyat MI, Carloni J, Pashaian K, Pashaian A, et al. Gastrointestinal parasites in small ruminants from Grenada, West Indies: a coprological survey and a review of necropsy cases. *Vet Parasitol Reg Stud Rep.* (2018) 13:130–4. doi: 10.1016/j.vprsr.2018.05.004
- Kaur S, Singla LD, Sandhu BS, Bal MS, Kaur P. Coccidiosis in goats: pathological observations on intestinal developmental stages and anticoccidial efficacy of amprolim. *Indian J Anim Res.* (2019) 53:245–9. doi: 10.18805/ijar.B-3471
- Taylor M, Coop R, Wall R. Veterinary Parasitology. 3rd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing (2007).
- Idika IK, Iheagwam CN, Ezemonye CN, Nwosu CO. Gastrointestinal nematodes and body condition scores of goats slaughtered in Nsukka, Nigeria. *Niger Vet J.* (2012) 33:440–7.
- Bowman D. Georgis' Parasitology for Veterinarians. 10th ed. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier (2014).
- 31. Paul BT, Biu AA, Ahmed GM, Mohammed A, Philip MH, Jairus Y. Point prevalence and intensity of gastrointestinal parasite ova/oocyst and its association with Body Condition Score (BCS) of sheep and goats in Maiduguri, Nigeria. J Adv Vet Parasitol. (2016) 3:81–8. doi: 10.14737/journal.jap/2016/3.3.81.88
- Zvinorova PI, Halimani TE, Muchadeyi FC, Matika O, Riggio V, Dzama K. Prevalence and risk factors of gastrointestinal parasitic infections in goats in low-input low-output farming systems in Zimbabwe. *Small Rumin Res.* (2016) 143:75–83. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2016.09.005
- 33. Sánchez CA, Becker DJ, Teitelbaum CS, Barriga P, Brown LM, Majewska AA, et al. On the relationship between body condition and parasite infection in wildlife: a review and meta-analysis. *Ecol Lett.* (2018) 21:1869–84. doi: 10.1111/ele.13160
- 34. Moore J. *Parasites and the Behavior of Animals*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2002).
- 35. Graham AL, Shuker DM, Pollitt LC, Auld SK, Wilson AJ, Little TJ. Fitness consequences of immune responses: strengthening the empirical framework for ecoimmunology. *Funct Ecol.* (2011) 25:5–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01777.x
- Rynkiewicz EC, Pedersen AB, Fenton A. An ecosystem approach to understanding and managing within-host parasite community dynamics. *Trends Parasitol.* (2015) 31:212–21. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2015.02.005
- Wang CR, Xiao JY, Chen AH, Chen J, Wang Y, Gao JF, et al. Prevalence of coccidial infection in sheep and goats in northeastern China. *Vet Parasitol.* (2010) 174:213–7. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2010.08.026
- Koudela B, Boková A. Coccidiosis in goats in Czech Republic. Vet Parasitol. (1998) 76:261–7. doi: 10.1016/S0304-4017(97)00147-7
- Silva LMR, Carrau T, Vila-Viçosa MJM, Musella V, Rinaldi L, Failing K, et al. Analysis of potential risk factors of caprine coccidiosis. *Vet Parasitol Reg Stud Rep.* (2020) 22:100458. doi: 10.1016/j.vprsr.2020.100458
- Vasilková Z, Krupicer I, Legáth J, Kovalkovicova N, Petko B. Coccidiosis of small ruminants in various regions of Slovakia. *Acta Parasitol.* (2004) 49:272– 5.
- Szefer P, Nriagu JO. Mineral Components in Foods, Chemical and Functional Properties of Food Components Series. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; Tylor and Francis Group (2007). p. 163–95.
- Wang CR, Qiu JH, Zhu XQ, Han XH, Ni HB, Zhao JP, et al. Survey of helminths in adult sheep in Heilongjiang Province, People's Republic of China. *Vet Parasitol.* (2006) 140:378–82. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2006.04.008
- 43. Umur S, Yukari BA. Seasonal activity of gastro-intestinal nematodes in goats in Burdur region, Turkey. *Turk J Vet Anim Sci.* (2005) 29:441–8.
- Babják M, Königová A, Urda-Dolinská M, Várady M. Gastrointestinal helminth infections of dairy goats in Slovakia. *Helminthologia*. (2017) 54:211– 7. doi: 10.1515/helm-2017-0027
- 45. Ghimire TR, Bhattarai N. A survey of gastrointestinal parasites of goats in a goat market in Kathmandu, Nepal. J Parasit Dis. (2019) 43:686–95. doi: 10.1007/s12639-019-01148-w
- 46. Di Cerbo AR, Manfredi MT, Zanzani S, Stradiotto K. Gastrointestinal infection in goat farms in Lombardy (Northern Italy): analysis on community and spatial distribution of parasites. *Small Rumin Res.* (2010) 88:102–12. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2009.12.017

- Rabbi AKMA, Islam A, Anisuzzaman M, Majumder S, Rahman MH. Does feeding system influence parasitism in Black Bengal Goats in Bangladesh? *Progress Agric.* (2011) 22:85–95. doi: 10.3329/pa.v22i1-2.16470
- Jittapalapong S, Saengow S, Pinyopanuwat N, Chimnoi W, Khachaeram W, Stich RW. Gastrointestinal helminthic and protozoal infections of goats in Satun, Thailand. J Trop Med Parasitol. (2012) 35:48–54.
- Odermatt P, Lv S, Sayasone S. Less common parasitic infections in Southeast Asia that can produce outbreaks. *Adv Parasitol.* (2010) 72:409–35. doi: 10.1016/S0065-308X(10)72013-3
- Dagnachew S, Amamute A, Temesgen W. Epidemiology of gastrointestinal helminthiasis of small ruminants in selected sites of North Gondar zone, Northwest Ethiopia. *Ethiop Vet J.* (2011) 15:57–68. doi: 10.4314/evj.v15i2.67694
- 51. Attindehou S, Salifou S. Epidemiology of cestodes infections in sheep and goats in Benin. Vet Res. (2012) 5:59-62.
- Kumsa B, Tadese T, Sori T, Duguma R, Hussen B. Helminths of sheep and goats in central Oromia (Ethiopia) during the dry season. J Anim Vet Adv. (2011) 10:1845–9. doi: 10.3923/javaa.2011.1845.1849
- Sharma DK, Paul S, Gururaj K. Gastrointestinal helminthic challenges in sheep and goats in afro-asian region: a review. *Anim Res.* (2020) 10:1–18. doi: 10.30954/2277-940X.01.2020.1
- Scala A, Tamponi C, Dessi G, Sedda G, Sanna G, Carta S, et al. Dicrocoeliosis in extensive sheep farms: a survey. *Parasit Vect.* (2019) 12:1–7. doi: 10.1186/s13071-019-3609-2
- 55. Khanjari A, Bahonar A, Fallah S, Bagheri M, Alizadeh A, Fallah M, et al. Prevalence of fasciolosis and dicrocoeliosis in slaughtered sheep and goats in Amol Abattoir, Mazandaran, northern Iran. Asian Pac J Trop Dis. (2014) 4:120–4. doi: 10.1016/S2222-1808(14)60327-3
- Godara R, Katoch R, Yadav A, Borah MK. Dicrocoeliosis in goats in Jammu, India. J Parasit Dis. (2014) 38:201–4. doi: 10.1007/s12639-012-0212-2
- Karki K, Bashir BK, Subedi JR. A case study on seasonal prevalence of helminth parasites in goats (Capra hircus) in Kalanki (Khasibazzar), Kathmandu Nepal. *Bull Env Pharmacol Life Sci.* (2012) 1:11–13.
- Tan TK, Chandrawathani P, Low VL, Premaalatha B, Lee SC, Chua KH, et al. Occurrence of gastro-intestinal parasites among small ruminants in Malaysia: highlighting Dicrocoelium infection in goats. *Trop Biomed.* (2017) 34:963–9.
- Usman AM, Malann YD, Babeker EA. Prevalence of Gastrointestinal parasitic infections among ruminants animals slaughtered in Katagum abattoir of Bauchi state, Nigeria. *Int J Innov Res Adv Stud.* (2016) 3:167–70.
- Berrag B, Urquhart GM. Epidemiological aspects of lungworm infections of goats in Morocco. *Vet Parasitol.* (1996) 61:81–95. doi: 10.1016/0304-4017(95)00803-9
- Adem J. Lung Worm Infection of Small Ruminant in Ethiopia. Worm infection of small ruminant in Ethiopia. Adv Life Sci Technol. (2016) 43:12–22.
- Paran MS, Dey AR, Begum N, Hossain MS, Alam M. Prevalence of pulmonary parasitic infection in goats of Mymensingh. BJVAS. (2015) 3:1–6.
- Chakraborty S, Kumar A, Tiwari R, Rahal A, Malik Y, Dhama K, et al. Advances in diagnosis of respiratory diseases of small ruminants. *Vet Med Int.* (2014) p. 16. doi: 10.1155/2014/508304
- Borji H, Azizzadeh M, Ebrahimi M, Asadpour M. Study on small ruminant lungworms and associated risk factors in northeastern Iran. Asian Pac J Trop Med. (2012) 5:853–6. doi: 10.1016/S1995-7645(12)60159-X
- 65. Kebede S, Menkir S, Desta M. On farm and Abattoir study of Lungworm infection of small ruminants in selected areas of Dale District, Southern Ethiopia. *Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci.* (2014) 3:1139–52.
- 66. Can E, Vieira A, Battini M, Mattiello S, Stilwell G. On-farm welfare assessment of dairy goat farms using animal-based indicators: the example of 30 commercial farms in Portugal. *Acta Agric Scand A Anim Sci.* (2016) 66:43–55. doi: 10.1080/09064702.2016.1208267
- Battini M, Peric T, Ajuda I, Vieira A, Grosso L, Barbieri S, et al. Hair coat condition: a valid and reliable indicator for on-farm welfare assessment in adult dairy goats. *Small Rumin Res.* (2015) 123:197–203. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2014.12.009
- Veit HP, McCarthy F, Friedericks J, Cashin M, Angert R. A surveyof goat, and cattle diseases in the Artibonite Valley, Haiti, West Indies. *Rev Elev Med Vet Pays Trop.* (1993) 46:27–38. doi: 10.19182/remvt.9377

- Waller PJ. Sustainable nematode parasite control strategies for ruminant livestock by grazing management and biological control. Anim Feed Sci Technol. (2006) 126:277–89. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2005.08.007
- Baumgard LH, Rhoads RP. Efects of heat stress on postabsorptive metabolism and energetics. Ann Rev Anim Biosci. (2013) 1:311–37. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-031412-103644
- Salama AAK, Caja G, Hamzaoui S, Such X, Albanell E, Badaoui B, et al. Thermal stress in ruminants: responses and strategies for alleviation. In: Villalba JJ, Manteca X, editors. *Animal Welfare in Extensive Production Systems*. 1st ed. Shefeld: 5m Publishing (2016) 11–36.
- 72. NRC. Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants, Sheep, Goats, Cervids, and NewWorld camelids. Washington, DC: National Academy Press (2007).
- Coloma-García W, Mehaba N, Llonch P, Caja G, Such X, Salama AAK. Prenatal heat stress effects on gestation and postnatal behavior in kid goats. *PLoS ONE*. (2020) 15:e0220221. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0220221
- 74. De Rosa G, Grasso F, Pacelli C, Napolitano F, Winckler C. The welfare of dairy buffalo. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2009) 8:103–16. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2009.s1.103
- Bøe KE, Andersen IL, Buisson L, Simensen E, Jeksrud WK. Flooring preferences in dairy goats at moderate and low ambient temperature. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 108:45–57. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.12.002
- 76. Winter AC. Lameness in sheep. *Small Rumin Res.* (2008) 76:149–53. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2007.12.008
- Anzuino K, Bell NJ, Bazeley KJ, Nicol CJ. Assessment of welfare on 24 commercial UK dairy goat farms based on direct observations. *Vet Rec.* (2010) 167:774–80. doi: 10.1136/vr.c5892
- Muri K, Stubsjøen SM, Valle PS. Development and testing of an on-farm welfare assessment protocol for dairy goats. *Anim Welf.* (2013) 22:385–400. doi: 10.7120/09627286.22.3.385
- Fitzpatrick J, Scott M, Nolan A. Assessment of pain and welfare in sheep. Small Rum Res. (2006) 62:55–61. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2005.07.028
- 80. Smith MC, Sherman DM. Goat Medicine. Ames, IA: Wiley-Blackwell (2009).
- Williamson LH. Caseous lymphadenitis in small ruminants. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. (2001) 17:359–71. doi: 10.1016/S0749-0720(15)30033-5
- Mattiello S, Battini M, Mantova E, Noè L, Grosso L, Barbieri S. Evidence of poor welfare in goats with external abscesses. A preliminary study. *Large Anim Rev.* (2018) 24:113–8.

- Klaas IC, Enevoldsen C, Vaarst M, Houe H. Systematic clinical examinations for identification of latent udder health types in Danish dairy herds. J Dairy Sci. (2004) 87:1217–28. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73272-5
- Hemsworth PH. Human-animal interactions in livestock production. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2003) 81:185–98. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(02)0 0280-0
- Nenadović K, Karać P, Vučinić M, Teodorović R, Živanov D, Trailović R, et al. Assessment of the Welfare of Extensively Managed Autochtonous Sheep Breed Vlasicka Zackel using Animal-Based Measurements. *Acta Vet Belgrade*. (2020) 70:207–18. doi: 10.2478/acve-2020-0015
- Jackson KM, Hackett D. A note: the effects of human handling on heart girth, behaviour and milk quality in dairy goats. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 108:332–6. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.01.011
- Mattiello S, Battini M, Andreoli E, Minero M, Barbieri S, Canali E. Avoidance distance test in goats: A comparison with its application in cows. *Small Rum Res.* (2010) 91:215–8. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2010. 03.002

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Nenadović, Ilić, Jovanović, Bugarski and Vučinić. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Temperament Trait Changes in Japanese Black Cows Under Grazing and Confined Conditions

Noriaki Nakajima^{1*}, Hiroki Mitsuishi² and Masato Yayota^{2,3}

¹ The United Graduate School of Agricultural Science, Gifu University, Gifu, Japan, ² Faculty of Applied Biological Sciences, Gifu University, Gifu, Japan, ³ Education and Research Center for Food Animal Health, Gifu University, Gifu, Japan

The objective of the present study was to reveal the effects of grazing on the temperament traits of cows. Nine Japanese Black cows [344 \pm 32 kg body weight (BW), 7.7 \pm 3.0 year of age], which had various experiences, such as tethering, handling, and grazing, were used in this experiment. Five of the nine cows were grazed for 3 months on a 1.8-ha field composed of a sown pasture with forestland. The remaining cows were fed in confinement. On days 38, 52, 72, and 86 after the start of grazing, the temperament traits observed in various situations, such as moving to the body weight scale, weighing, handling, moving to the stock for blood sampling, holding in the stock, and obtaining a blood sample, were assessed with a visual analog scale (VAS: 1-10) or score (1-5). During weighing and handling, the intensity of resistance exhibited by the grazing cows, as evaluated by head movement, walking/stepping, tail flicking, rope tension, and overall movement, was lower than that exhibited by confined cows (P < 0.05). The resistance score exhibited by the grazing cows during blood sampling was also lower than that exhibited by confined cows (P < 0.01). These results suggest that grazing enhances docility in cows with various experiences in different situations encountered in daily management.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

George Thomas Stilwell, University of Lisbon, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Amber Adams Progar, Washington State University, United States Hilde M. N. Vervaecke, University College Odisee, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Noriaki Nakajima noriaki.nakajima@outlook.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 06 May 2021 Accepted: 17 August 2021 Published: 10 September 2021

Citation:

Nakajima N, Mitsuishi H and Yayota M (2021) Temperament Trait Changes in Japanese Black Cows Under Grazing and Confined Conditions. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:705764. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.705764 Keywords: confinement, docility, grazing, temperament trait, visual analog scale

INTRODUCTION

In cattle, temperament is described as an animal's response to handling or forced movement by humans (1). Farmers use the term "temperament" to describe cattle behavior during handling. Temperament is one of the most important parameters in livestock production. It contributes to animal productivity and meat quality (2), animal welfare (3, 4), immunity (5, 6), and even the safety of those handling the animals (7). For example, cattle with excitable temperaments have lower average daily gain and higher mortality rates than those with calm temperaments (8, 9), suggesting that the temperament of cattle is a critical parameter for farmers because of the monetary impact.

Handling and rearing can affect cattle temperament. Cattle that are frequently handled tend to become more docile than those that are less handled (10); however, excessive handling could be detrimental in animal management with regard to human safety since these individuals develop no flight zone. In contrast, extensively managed beef cattle are relatively unfamiliar with humans (11). Less frequent human-animal interactions make cattle fearful, which can cause them to behave aggressively during handling (10). Social interactions between animals also affect their

temperament (12). The presence of peers reduces the stress responses to fear-inducing situations in cattle (13). When peers are in sight, heifers display less behavior indicative of distress in response to a novel object (14). Cows engage in many more active social interactions with other individuals when they are grazed than when they are confined with tethering (15); thus, grazing could have a positive impact on temperament *via* social interactions.

Physical condition also relates to temperament. Calm and excitable cattle have different cortisol concentrations (16). Grazed cows have lower cortisol concentrations than confined cows (17). The change in stress susceptibility could change the behavior of cattle during handling and restraint. However, a report showed that calves kept indoors were calmer than calves kept outdoors (18), implying that grazing may adversely affect temperament. This inconsistency in the relationship between grazing and temperament traits may be attributable to the frequency of contact between humans and cattle (10). In addition, cattle's previous experiences can shape their future reactions to humans (10). For example, a negative experience such as poor handling and holding in a yard environment by the handler increases cattle reactivity (19), whereas a positive experience such as gentle handling by the handler reduces animal reactivity in future handling (20). Generally, the system used to rear Japanese Black beef cows requires frequent contact with humans during daily management practices. Japanese Black beef cows gain experience with handling, tethering and other types of interactions during the rearing process. Thus, the effects of grazing on the temperament of calves may not be the same as the effects of grazing on the temperament of adult dairy cows and beef cows that come into contact with humans on a daily basis. The visual analog scale (VAS) is a quantitative assessment with high intra- and inter-observer reliability. It is considered a reliable and practical assessment method for cattle temperament evaluation, although it is not generally superior to other methods (21).

The aim of this study was to reveal, mainly using the VAS, whether grazing affects the temperament of beef cows in various situations encountered in daily management practices, such as weighing, handling, and blood sampling.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals, Housing, Grazing, and Diets

This study was conducted at the Minokamo livestock farm, Gifu Field Science Center, Gifu University (longitude $137^{\circ}03'57''E$; latitude $35^{\circ}26'44''N$), from June to August 2018. Nine Japanese Black cows ($344 \pm 32 \text{ kg}$ body weight (BW), $7.7 \pm 3.0 \text{ year}$, not lactating and not pregnant) with no clinical signs of disease and no external injury at the start of the experiment were used. All cows were housed in an $8 \text{ m} \times 7.3 \text{ m}$ indoor pen and tethered to tie stalls in a closed barn for the first 2 weeks of the experiment. Each cow was tethered with a rope but was able to engage in social interactions with neighboring individuals. The pen had a concrete floor covered with sawdust bedding.



The cows were fed \sim 5 kg/day Sudan grass hay, 1 kg/day wheat bran and 50 g/day calcium phosphate on an as-fed basis at 08:00 and 16:00 h according to the Japanese Feeding Standard for beef cattle (22). The cows had free access to water and mineral salt blocks. Then, five of the nine cows were rotated as a group between grazing on a 1.8-ha pasture composed of sown pasture, which was dominated by Italian rye grass [Lolium multiflorum (Lam.)], and a forestland for 3 months (grazed cow: GC). The dry matter (DM) content and grass height of the herbage in the sown grassland were 22.4% and 62.9 cm, respectively. The grazing area was divided into four paddocks, and the cows were rotated among the paddocks based on the availability of forage. The grazing cows remained outside all day and consumed only the herbage in the pasture, with access to a mineral salt block and water. The remaining cows were maintained under the confined conditions described above (confined cow: CC) for 3 months. The cows were allocated to the conditions so that average weight and age were matched as closely as possible between groups. In addition, all cows were old enough to have considerable experience with tethering, handling by humans and grazing in farm management. The frequency of daily monitoring was the same for the GCs and CCs, although the CCs also came into contact with farm staff when they were fed and when their pen was cleaned. The mean ambient temperature and humidity were 27.2 \pm 5.1°C and 69.7 \pm 19% during the experiment, respectively.

Temperament Trait Analysis

The average BW and age of GCs were 351 ± 30 kg and 10.0 \pm 2.1 year, respectively, whereas those of CCs were 336 \pm 37 kg and 9.8 \pm 4.2 year, respectively. The age of all cows was over 6 year. The temperament traits of the cows were observed on days 0, 38, 52, 72, and 86 after the start of grazing. The recording of the temperament traits started at 08:00 h before feeding. The observational procedure was as follows: First, a handler moved each cow from a waiting place to a body weight scale using a handling rope (Figure 1A). The distance from the waiting place to the body weight scale was $\sim 15 \,\mathrm{m}$. The intensity of cow resistance during this movement was recorded and analyzed using the scoring system described below (Table 2). Then, the cows were weighed on the scale, and the intensity of cow resistance with regard to each individual behavior was recorded for 2 min [visual analog scale (VAS): 21] (Figure 1B). After weighing, the cow was held in one place by the handler for 2 min (Figure 1C). The distance from the body weight scale to the location for holding by the handler was $\sim 2 \text{ m}$. The length of the rope from the cow to the handler was kept at \sim 1 m. The intensity of the cow's resistance with regard to each behavior while standing was recorded and analyzed with the VAS. Subsequently, the handler moved the cow into a stock to enable a blood sample to be drawn (Figure 1D). The distance from the location for holding by the handler to the stock used for blood sampling was \sim 30 m. The intensity of the cow's resistance while

TABLE 1 | Definition of temperament traits and visual analog scale (VAS).

	E	ndpoints of VAS	Definition		
Temperament trait	Min (0)	Max (10)	_		
Head movement	No movement	Head permanently moving/violent struggling	The head is displaced horizontally and/or vertically in relation to the median plane (23)		
Tail flicking	No flicking	Constant flicking	Tail movement to the left or right of the center and back again, i.e., a tail movement from the left to the right side would count as two flicks (24)		
Walking/stepping	No walking/stepping	Continuous walking/stepping	Two or more limbs are alternately raised and make contac with the ground again, with or without ground covered between movements		
Rope tension ^a	Loose	Tightened	Evaluates whether the rope used to tie the cattle forms a curve (relaxed) or a straight line (tensed) (25)		
Overall movement	calmness	Wild/Aggressive			

TABLE 2 | Definition of temperament trait score.

Timing	Temperament trait score							
	1	2	3	4	5			
During moving to body weight measurement scale	No resistance	Almost no resistance	A handler approaches and chases the individual from	A handler pushes the individual hard from behind the cow "or"	A handler pushes the individual hard from behind the cow "and"			
During moving to stock for blood sampling			behind the cow	pulls a handling rope strongly from the front of the cow	pulls a handling rope strongly from the front of the cow			
During blood sampling	No resistance	Slight resistance	Moderate resistance	Considerable resistance	Extreme resistance			

Temperament trait	Correlation (r)					
	Weighing	Tethering	Holding for blood sampling			
Overall movement	0.86	0.79	0.74			
Head movement	0.89	0.76	0.64			
Tail flicking	0.75	0.72	0.53			
Walking/stepping	0.88	0.89	0.71			
Rope tension ^a	-	0.83	-			

^aThe tethering test only.

moving to the stock was recorded and analyzed using the scoring system (**Table 2**). In the stock, the cow's behaviors were recorded for the first 2 min and analyzed with the VAS (**Figure 1E**). Finally, the intensity of the cow's resistance during blood sampling was recorded and analyzed using the scoring system (**Table 2**). The collected blood samples were used for further analysis (section Statistical analysis). During the behavioral test, the times of the behavioral test and waiting time per cow were \sim 30 min and an hour and a half, respectively, per behavioral test.

The behaviors of all cows were recorded using two video cameras (GZ-MG575, Victor Co., Ltd., Yokohama, Japan) and were analyzed using a VAS (21) or scoring system (Figure 1). The VAS is a continuous horizontal scale. This assessment is used to measure the intensity of a behavior on a ten-centimeter scale in analog format (Table 1). The behaviors assessed with the VAS were overall movement, head movement, tail flicking, walking/stepping, and tension of the handling rope, as shown in Table 1. The inter- and intra-observer reliability of the VAS was confirmed by Vogt et al. (21). The intensity of resistance during the handling procedure was recorded using a scoring system (Table 2). This scoring system classified the degree of resistance into five stages from "no resistance [1]" to "intense resistance [5]." Scoring was conducted using a video clip to minimize scoring differences between observers. All video clips were analyzed by two observers. Observers were blinded as to which individual was in grazing or confinement when the behaviors of cows were analyzed by the VAS. The correlation between observers with regard to the VAS scores is also shown in Table 3.

Blood Analysis

Blood samples were collected from the jugular vein using a vacuum collection tube containing heparin (Venoject II vacuum blood collection tube, TERUMO Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). Blood samples were centrifuged at 1,000 × g at 4°C for 10 min to collect the blood plasma. The plasma samples were stored at -80° C until cortisol analysis. The concentration of cortisol was determined using a commercial kit (Cortisol EIA Kit, Oxford Biomedical Research, Inc., MI, USA).

Statistical Analysis

We calculated the sample size using G*Power version 3.1.9.2 (two-way ANOVA with repeated measures, $\alpha = 0.05$, $(1-\beta) = 0.8$, University of Dusseldorf, Dusseldorf, Germany). Power



analyses of temperament traits and blood parameters showed that appropriate power (0.8 or above) to detect differences in 11 of the 17 parameters could be obtained with a total sample size of nine or fewer animals. Considering the cost and availability of experimental cows, the sample size was determined based on the assumption of large effect sizes. The statistical unit in this experiment was the individual animal rather than the treatment group. This unit was chosen because the grazing period lasted 3 months, and it would have been difficult to create several replicates of the grazing treatment due to the limited pasture and herd sizes and the long study period. The adequacy of this approach was described by Connolly (26).

All data were analyzed statistically using the lmerTest package (27) in R software (version 3.0.2: R core team, 2013). Normality tests were conducted using the Shapiro-Wilk test before the analysis. Then, the data were analyzed using a generalized linear mixed model (GLMM) with repeated measurements according to the data distributions. The treatment (GC vs. CC), sampling day (days 0, 38, 52, 72, and 86) and their interaction were considered to be fixed effects, and an individual animal was considered to be a random effect. When the data matched normal distribution, we estimated degrees of freedom, F- and p-values using type III ANOVAs with Satterthwaite's approximation. While the data matched Poisson and binomial distribution, we used Type II Wald chisquare tests for calculating degree of freedom, Chi-square and p-values. Differences were considered

Grazing Affects Cattle Temperament Trait

TABLE 4 | Statistical results of the temperament traits test of cows in each situation.

			DF			Num	DF		Den I	DF	Ch	F value or i-square va	lue		P-value	
Situation	Item	s	т	T × S	s	т	T × S	S	т	T × S	S	т	T × S	S	т	T × S
During moving to the body weight scale and during the weighing	During moving to body weight scale	3	1	3	-	-	-	_	-	_	17.6ª	3.8ª	3.2 ^a	<0.05	0.05	0.36
	Head movement	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	1.5	130.0	1.0	0.26	<0.01	0.42
	Tail flicking	3	1	3	-	-	-	-	-	-	1802.6ª	9.2 ^a	252.4ª	< 0.01	< 0.01	<0.01
	Walking/Stepping	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	2.0	26.7	1.2	0.15	< 0.01	0.35
	Overall movement	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	4.6	84.3	2.4	0.01	<0.01	0.1
During handling	Head movement	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	0.7	57.5	1.0	0.55	<0.01	0.39
	Tail flicking	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	18.3	6.6	0.8	< 0.01	< 0.01	<0.01
	Walking / Stepping	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	2.0	88.2	0.1	0.14	<0.01	0.96
	Rope tension	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	1.8	30.1	0.2	0.17	< 0.01	0.89
	Overall movement	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	4.7	68.8	0.3	0.01	<0.01	0.8
During moving to the stock for blood sampling, holding in the device, and	During moving to stock	3	1	3	_	-	-	-	-	-	31.5 ^a	0 ^a	25.2 ^a	<0.01	0.93	<0.01
during blood sampling	Head movement	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	2.3	8.5	2.4	0.1	0.02	0.1
	Tail flicking	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	4.1	1.9	2.7	0.02	0.22	0.07
	Walking / Stepping	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	0.5	1.7	2.0	0.71	0.23	0.14
	Overall movement	-	-	-	3	1	3	21	7	21	12.6	3.7	3.6	<0.01	0.09	0.03
	During blood sampling	3	1	3	-	-	-	-	-	-	3.6ª	9.2ª	18.5ª	0.31	<0.01	<0.01

DF, Degrees of freedom; Num DF, Numerator degrees of freedom; Den DF, Denominator degrees of freedom; T, Treatment: a significant difference between treatments (GC vs. CC); S, sampling day: a significant difference between sampling days (0, 38, 52, 72, and 86); T × S = treatment × sampling day interaction: a significant difference in the interaction of treatment × sampling day. ^aChi-square value. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05. A tendency toward significance was indicated by 0.05 < P < 0.1.

Grazing Affects Cattle Temperament Trait

significant at P < 0.05. Trends were identified at 0.05 < P < 0.1.

RESULTS

Temperament Trait Analysis

The score while moving to the body weight scale (Figure 1A) was lower in GCs than in CCs after the start of grazing (P = 0.05: Figure 2; Supplementary Figure 1; Table 4). During weighing (Figure 1B), the VAS scores indicating resistance as expressed by overall movement, head movement, tail flicking, and walking/stepping were significantly lower in GCs than in CCs after the start of grazing (all behaviors: treatment: P < 0.01; Figure 2, Supplementary Figure 1, Table 4). During handling (Figure 1C), the VAS scores for resistance as expressed by head movement, tail flicking, walking/stepping, rope tension, and overall movement were significantly lower in GCs than in CCs after the start of grazing (all behaviors: treatment: P < 0.01; Figure 3; Supplementary Figure 2; Table 4). During movement to the stock for blood sampling (Figure 1D), there were no significant differences in resistance scores between GCs and CCs (treatment: P = 0.93). In the stock (Figure 1E), the VAS scores for overall movement (treatment: P = 0.09) and head movement (treatment: P = 0.02) were lower in GCs than in CCs (Figure 4; Supplementary Figure 3; Table 4). During blood sampling (Figure 1F), the resistance score was significantly lower in GCs than in CCs (treatment: P < 0.01: Figure 4; Supplementary Figure 3; Table 4).

Cortisol Analysis

No significant difference was found in the concentration of cortisol between the treatments, nor was the interaction between treatment and sampling day significant (treatment: P = 0.41; interaction: P = 0.85: Figure 5).

DISCUSSION

The GCs were more docile than the CCs in various management situations, including weighing, handling, and holding for blood sampling. The GCs were also calmer while moving to the body weight scale and during blood sampling. These results suggest that grazing has strong impacts on the temperament of cows. The social environment is linked to temperament (12). Grignard et al. (13) reported that the existence of social partners improves the tractability of calves during handling (23). Moreover, housing conditions influence animal affective state and cognitive bias (28). Horses tend to judge optimistically in ambiguous situations when a positive affective state prevails by accessing pasture and contacting conspecifics (29). In general, animals were pessimistic when in a negative affective state, whereas they were optimistic when in a positive affective state. In the present study, GCs engaged in more active social interactions with other individuals than CCs, as we previously reported (15). Thus, although the presence of social partners during the temperament test, including handling and restriction, was the same in both treatments (grazing vs. confinement), the increase in social interaction between GCs and accessing pasture might



be one of the factors reinforcing calmness during handling and restriction.

Stress susceptibility is another factor leading to more aggressive behavior. Aggressive individuals have high cortisol concentrations (30). In the present study, the cortisol concentrations in CCs were in the range of 1.6-3.8 ng/ml whereas that in GCs were in the range of 1.7-2.9 ng/ml after the start of grazing, and no significant difference was detected in cortisol concentrations between the GCs and CCs. The cortisol concentrations of both treatments in the present study were close to the basal value of previous studies (31, 32). Thus, the cows in the present study might not be under intense stress. However, Higashiyama et al. (17) reported that the concentration of urinary cortisol increased 3.4-fold when grazing cattle were moved to a confined space, whereas when confined cattle were moved to a pasture, the concentration of cortisol did not increase. Urinary cortisol showed a similar pattern to plasma cortisol with an \sim 0.5-h time lag (31). The increase in cortisol concentrations in those previous studies returned to baseline within hours to days, implying that it is necessary to evaluate the relative change of its concentration at short intervals. In addition, our previous study showed that grazing cows had higher antioxidant capacity than confined cows, implying that grazing cows are less susceptible to physiological stress (33). Thus, susceptibility to stress under different feeding conditions might still impact animal temperament, and further study is needed.



FIGURE 4 | Temperament traits while moving to the stock for blood sampling, while in the device, and during blood sampling in GCs and CCs. The horizontal axis shows the temperament before and after the start of grazing. Data are presented as the means \pm SEM. BS, The score for resistance while moving to the stock for blood sampling; BH, The visual analog scale (VAS) score for head movement; BT, The VAS score for tail flicking; BW, The VAS score for walking/stepping; BO, The VAS score for overall movement; BS2, The score for resistance during blood sampling.



FIGURE 5 The cortisol concentration in GCs (\blacklozenge) and CCs (\diamondsuit). The horizontal axis shows the day on which the blood sample for the cortisol analysis was obtained, and day 0 (0) represents the day the cattle were moved to a pasture. Data are presented as the means \pm SEM. T, Treatment: a significant difference between treatments (GC vs. CC); S, sampling day: a significant difference between sampling days (0, 38, 52, 72, and 86); T × S = treatment × sampling day interaction: a significant difference in the interaction of treatment × sampling day. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05. A tendency toward significance was indicated by 0.05 < P < 0.1.

Experiences, including handling and transporting, affect temperament (34). Boivin et al. (18) reported that grazing caused a reduction in the expression of calm temperament traits in calves. The findings of the present study were inconsistent with the results of Boivin's study (18). However, the cows in the present study were adults that had experience with various management practices, including grazing, and were frequently handled by farm staff before this study. Moreover, age, breed, and genetics affect temperament (35). These traits of calves investigated in Boivin's study are different from those in the present study. Thus, the differences between the studies may induce different behavioral responses to grazing.

CONCLUSIONS

The present study showed that grazing was related to higher docility of cows in various management situations, such as weighing, handling, and blood sampling. Grazing may have contributed to mitigating the reaction to human-cattle interaction during handling and the reactions of cattle to restraint and painful operations. This is the first study to suggest a relationship between grazing and temperament in cows. Further study is needed to reveal the relationships between temperament traits and environmental factors such as social connections (29), stress conditions or ingestion of plants with antioxidants (33) while grazing.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal experimental procedures were approved by the Committee for Animal Research and Welfare of Gifu University (#17140) and conducted in accordance with the guidelines for animal research and welfare of Gifu University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NN designed the study, collected the data, conducted the statistical analysis, interpreted the data, and wrote and developed the manuscript. MY contributed to designing the study and interpreting the data and reviewed and developed the manuscript. HM conducted most of the data sampling and experimental work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was funded by the United Graduate School of Agricultural Science, Gifu University. This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the staff of Minokamo Livestock Farm, Gifu Field Science Center, Gifu University, and Atsuko Watabe for their assistance with conducting the study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Tulloh NM. Behaviour of cattle in yards. II. A study of temperament. *Anim Behav.* (1961) 9:25–30. doi: 10.1016/0003-3472(61)90046-X
- Haskell MJ, Rennie LJ, Bowell VA, Bell MJ, Lawrence AB. Housing system, milk production, and zero-grazing effects on lameness and leg injury in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2006) 89:4259–66. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72472-9
- Borstel U. Assessing and influencing personality for improvement of animal welfare: a review of equine studies. CAB Rev. (2013) 8:1– 27. doi: 10.1079/PAVSNNR20138006
- Broughan C. Odours, emotions, and cognition-how odours may affect cognitive performance. *Int J Aromather*. (2002) 12:92–8. doi: 10.1016/S0962-4562(02)00033-4
- Burdick NC, Banta JP, Neuendorff DA, White JC, Vann RC, Laurenz JC, et al. Interrelationships among growth, endocrine, immune, and temperament variables in neonatal Brahman calves. J Anim Sci. (2009) 87:3202–10. doi: 10.2527/jas.2009-1931
- Fell LR, Colditz IG, Walker KH, Watson DL. Associations between temperament, performance and immune function in cattle entering a commercial feedlot. *Aust J Exp Agric.* (1999) 39:795–802. doi: 10.1071/EA99027
- 7. Burrow HM. Measurements of temperament and their relationships with performance traits of beef cattle. *Anim Breed Abstr.* (1997) 65:477–95.
- Reinhardt CD, Busby WD, Corah LR. Relationship of various incoming cattle traits with feedlot performance and carcass traits. J Anim Sci. (2009) 87:3030–42. doi: 10.2527/jas.2008-1293
- Voisinet BD, Grandin T, Tatum JD, O'connor SF, Struthers JJ. Feedlot cattle with calm temperaments have higher average daily gains than cattle with excitable temperaments. J Anim Sci. (1997) 75:892–6. doi: 10.2527/1997.754892x
- Ceballos MC, Góis KCR, Sant'Anna AC, da Costa MJP. Frequent handling of grazing beef cattle maintained under the rotational stocking method improves temperament over time. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2016) 58:307– 13. doi: 10.1071/AN16025
- Gauly M, Mathiak H, Erhardt G. Genetic background of behavioural and plasma cortisol response to repeated short-term separation and tethering of beef calves. J Anim Breed Genet. (2002) 119:379–84. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-0388.2002.00360.x
- Nicol CJ. The social transmission of information and behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1995) 44:79–98. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(95)0 0607-T
- Grignard L, Boissy A, Boivin X, Garel JP, Le Neindre P. The social environment influences the behavioural responses of beef cattle to handling. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2000) 68:1–11. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(00)0 0085-X
- Boissy A, Le Neindre P. Social influences on the reactivity of heifers: implications for learning abilities in operant conditioning. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1990) 25:149–65. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(90)9 0077-Q
- Nakajima N, Doi K, Tamiya S, Yayota M. Physiological, immunological, and behavioral responses in cows housed under confinement conditions after grazing. *Livest Sci.* (2018) 218:44–9. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2018. 10.011
- Curley KO Jr, Paschal JC, Welsh TH Jr, Randel RD. Exit velocity as a measure of cattle temperament is repeatable and associated with serum concentration of cortisol in Brahman bulls. J Anim Sci. (2006) 84:3100– 3. doi: 10.2527/jas.2006-055

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2021.705764/full#supplementary-material

- Higashiyama Y, Nashiki M, Narita H, Kawasaki M. A brief report on effects of transfer from outdoor grazing to indoor tethering and back on urinary cortisol and behaviour in dairy cattle. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 102:119–23. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006. 03.007
- Boivin X, Le Neindre P, Garel JP, Chupin JM. Influence of breed and rearing management on cattle reactions during human handling. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1994) 39:115–22. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(94)9 0131-7
- Petherick JC, Doogan VJ, Holroyd RG, Olsson P, Venus BK. Quality of handling and holding yard environment, and beef cattle temperament: 1. Relationships with flight speed and fear of humans. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2009) 120:18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2009. 05.008
- Becker BG, Lobato JP. Effect of gentle handling on the reactivity of zebu crossed calves to humans. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1997) 53:219–24. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(96)0 1091-X
- Vogt A. Aditia EL, Schlechter I, Schütze S, Geburt K, Gauly M, von Borstel UK. Inter-and intra-observer reliability of different methods for recording temperament in beef and dairy calves. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2017) 195:15–23. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2017. 06.008
- National Agriculture and Food Research Organization (NARO). Japanese Feeding Standard for Beef Cattle. Tokyo: Japan Livestock Industry Association (2008).
- Grignard L, Boivin X, Boissy A, Le Neindre P. Do beef cattle react consistently to different handling situations? *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2001) 71:263– 76. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(00)00187-8
- Schwartzkopf-Genswein KS, Stookey JM, Welford R. Behavior of cattle during hot-iron and freeze branding and the effects on subsequent handling ease. J Anim Sci. (1997) 75:2064–72. doi: 10.2527/1997.7582064x
- Boissy A, Bouissou MF. Effects of early handling on heifers' subsequent reactivity to humans and to unfamiliar situations. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1988) 20:259–73. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(88)90051-2
- Connolly J. Perspectives on the use of animal as replicate in grazing experiments. In: Sustainable Meat and Milk Production from Grasslands, Proceedings of the 27th General Meeting of the European Grassland Federation. Cork (2018). p. 404–6.
- Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RH. LmerTest: Tests for Random and Fixed Effects for Linear Mixed Effect Models. R package, version 2.0-11 (2014). Available online at: http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=lmerTest (accessed April 5, 2017).
- Harding EJ, Paul ES, Mendl M. Cognitive bias and affective state. *Nature*. (2004) 427:312. doi: 10.1038/427312a
- Löckener S, Reese S, Erhard M, Wöhr AC. Pasturing in herds after housing in horseboxes induces a positive cognitive bias in horses. J Vet Behav. (2016) 11:50–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2015.11.005
- Burdick NC, Agado B, White JC, Matheney KJ, Neuendorff DA, Riley DG, et al. Evolution of exit velocity in suckling Brahman calves. J Anim Sci. (2011) 89:233–6. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-2973
- Higashiyama Y, Narita H, Nashiki M, Higashiyama M, Kanno T. Urinary cortisol levels in Japanese shorthorn cattle before and after the start of a grazing season. *Asian-Aust J Anim Sci.* (2005) 18:1430– 4. doi: 10.5713/ajas.2005.1430
- Morrow CJ, Kolver ES, Verkerk GA, Matthews LR. Urinary corticosteroids: an indicator of stress in dairy cattle. Proc NZ Soc Anim Prod. (2000) 60:218–21.

- Nakajima N, Doi K, Tamiya S, Yayota M. Effects of grazing in a sown pasture with forestland on the health of Japanese Black cows as evaluated by multiple indicators. J Appl Anim Welf Sci. (2021) 24:173– 87. doi: 10.1080/10888705.2020.1813581
- Grandin T. Assessment of stress during handling and transport. J Anim Sci. (1997) 75:249–57. doi: 10.2527/1997.751249x
- Burdick NC, Randel RD, Carroll JA, Welsh TH. Interactions between temperament, stress, and immune function in cattle. *Int J Zool.* (2011) 2011:373197. doi: 10.1155/2011/373197

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Nakajima, Mitsuishi and Yayota. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Feasibility and Reliability of the AWIN Welfare Assessment Protocol for Dairy Goats in Semi-extensive Farming Conditions

Monica Battini^{1*}, Manuela Renna², Mauro Giammarino³, Luca Battaglini⁴ and Silvana Mattiello¹

¹ Department of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences – Production, Landscape, Agroenergy, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ² Department of Veterinary Sciences, University of Turin, Turin, Italy, ³ Department of Prevention, ASL TO3, Veterinary Service, Turin, Italy, ⁴ Department of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences, University of Turin, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Ute Knierim, University of Kassel, Germany Mariana Almeida, University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro, Portugal

> ***Correspondence:** Monica Battini monica.battini@unimi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 28 June 2021 Accepted: 20 September 2021 Published: 21 October 2021

Citation:

Battini M, Renna M, Giammarino M, Battaglini L and Mattiello S (2021) Feasibility and Reliability of the AWIN Welfare Assessment Protocol for Dairy Goats in Semi-extensive Farming Conditions. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:731927. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.731927 The aim of this study was to test the feasibility and reliability of the Animal Welfare Indicators (AWIN) protocol for welfare assessment of dairy goats when applied to semi-extensive farming conditions. We recruited 13 farms located in the NW Italian Alps where three assessors individually and independently applied a modified version of the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats integrated with some indicators derived from the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for sheep. The applied protocol consisted of nine individual-level (body condition score, hair coat condition, abscesses, overgrown claws, udder asymmetry, fecal soiling, nasal discharge, ocular discharge, and improper disbudding) and seven group-level (severe lameness, Qualitative Behavior Assessment-QBA, thermal stress, oblivion, Familiar Human Approach Test-FHAT, synchrony at grazing, synchrony at resting) animal-based indicators. On most farms, the level of welfare was good. Many of the considered welfare problems (overgrown claws, fecal soiling, discharges, and thermal stress) were never recorded. However, oblivion, severe lameness, hair coat condition and abscesses were detected on some farms, with percentages ranging from 5 to 35%. The mean percentage of animals with normal body condition was 67.9 ± 5.7 . The level of synchronization during resting was on average low $(14.3 \pm 7.2\%)$. The application of the whole protocol required more than 4 h/farm and 3 min/goat. The inter-observer reliability varied from excellent (udder asymmetry, overgrown claws, discharges, synchrony at resting, use of shelter) to acceptable (abscesses, fecal soiling, and oblivion), but insufficient for hair coat condition, improper disbudding, synchrony at grazing, QBA. Differences in background of the assessors and feasibility constraints (i.e., use of binoculars in unfenced pastures, individual-level assessment conducted during the morning milking in narrow and dark pens, difficulties when using the scan and instantaneous sampling method due to the high number of animals that moved at the same time) can affect the reliability of data collection. Extensive training seems necessary for properly scoring animals when applying the QBA, whereas the FHAT to evaluate the Human-Animal Relationship of goats at pasture seems promising but needs to be validated. Indicators that evaluate the synchrony of activities require to be validated to identify the best moment to perform the observations during the day.

Keywords: animal welfare indicators, Capra hircus, extensive husbandry systems, feasibility, inter-observer reliability

INTRODUCTION

Welfare assessment in extensive production systems has received a lower interest in research than in intensive husbandry systems (1). This is partly due to the belief that animals in open ranges live a more natural life, hence welfare issues are perceived as a minor risk (2). It is undeniable that farm animals at pasture can express a fuller behavioral repertoire, exercise during the day and enjoy the benefit of sun (3). However, the efforts to adapt to outdoor conditions can be costly, for example in terms of thermoregulatory activity and fulfillment of nutritional requirements. Therefore, extensive livestock systems require specific indicators in order to properly assess the welfare of animals, considering the variety of issues they may face (1). Furthermore, differently from intensive husbandry systems that are quite similar across Europe and industrialized countries, pasture-based systems present an extreme variability in relation to the environmental context, and therefore they require a wider range of indicators that encompass all the possible contexts of application (4).

There are at least three issues that need to be considered in case of welfare assessment in extensive conditions: (1) although valid indicators for welfare assessment in intensive/indoor husbandry systems are already available, many of them still need to be tested for validity under extensive conditions and, in some cases, new indicators need to be identified (5-7); (2) the feasibility of data collection may be compromised due to different management and environmental conditions in outdoor systems (e.g., adverse climatic conditions or difficulty to restrain animals for close examination); (3) data collection under these difficult conditions may affect the reliability of the results (e.g., the assessor may not be able to reach the animals for close inspection, and might be forced to use optical instruments for inspecting animals at distance). Therefore, in spite of the fact that feasibility traits of indicators and their reliability are fundamental prerequisites that determine the effective application of a protocol (8), these last two issues present possible constraints when assessing animal welfare in open ranges.

Compared to other species [e.g. cattle, pigs; (9)], goats are more often raised in developing countries or marginal areas (Asia—especially China, India, Bangladesh, Pakistan, Africa, and Middle East), mainly in smallholder and mixed farming systems. Worldwide, goats are an important component of pastoralist herds. Even in Europe, goat farming is common in marginal areas, where other agricultural activities would be impracticable, and therefore is an important activity which limits the abandonment of such areas (10).

Even if there is a need for assessing the welfare of goats in extensive systems, the scarcity of the research on this topic

(1) makes it difficult to find suitable indicators to develop a valid and comprehensive welfare assessment protocol. A recent review on welfare assessment of ruminants at pasture identified 33 animal-based indicators for cattle and 20 for small ruminants, namely sheep and goats (11). However, only three of these indicators were developed and tested specifically for goats in extensive conditions: Qualitative Behavior Assessment (12), Body Condition Score (13), and body weight (13).

In 2011-2015, an EU-funded project on Animal Welfare Indicators (AWIN) developed on-farm welfare assessment protocols for sheep, goats, horses, donkeys and turkeys, possibly using animal-based indicators (14, 15). Despite a common approach, each AWIN protocol has its own characteristics and target category depending on the species. To give an example, the sheep protocol is intended for adult ewes, both for milk and meat production, bred indoor and/or outdoor, whereas the goat protocol was only developed for adult dairy goats in intensive (defined as those in which goats are permanently kept indoors and diet is mainly composed of preserved forages and concentrate) or semi-intensive (similar to the intensive ones, but with occasional access to pasture) husbandry systems (16, 17). These systems differ from those that rely almost exclusively on natural resources for feeding, with no or limited access to housing structures (extensive systems) or from those that rely mainly on pasture, with limited use of feed supplements in periods of greatest need, and the presence of facilities for sheltering animals in case of need (semi-extensive systems).

Research on the assessment of animal welfare in goats kept in semi-extensive and extensive systems is relatively new. An attempt to compare the application of the AWIN protocol in semi-intensive and extensive husbandry systems was carried out in Brazil on meat goat does (18). Since the AWIN welfare assessment protocol was developed for intensive dairy goat farms, in that study the authors only retained few indicators from the original protocol, added some from the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for sheep, and some indicators were partly modified and/or proposed ex novo. Unfortunately, the research performed by Leite Oliveira et al. (18) does not clarify the process that led to the selection and/or exclusion of some indicators from the goat protocol, nor if the indicators extrapolated from the sheep protocol were reliable also for meat goats. However, this study provides useful information about the feasibility of such protocol under extensive farming conditions in Brazil. An adapted version of the AWIN welfare assessment protocol was applied to 41 farms housing double-purpose goats in Central Portugal (19, 20). The farms included in that study reflected the husbandry systems of Portuguese rural areas: goats were housed at night in sheds or stables underneath farmers' houses and taken to pasture almost every day, in mixed flocks together with sheep. The authors stated that the removal of few animalbased indicators (e.g., queueing at feeding and at drinking) and the addition of few resource- and management-based indicators to the original AWIN protocol increased the suitability of this protocol to the context, making it more feasible. The concurrent validity of some newly introduced indicators, such as the number of days at pasture, was verified based on its relationship with already validated animal-based indicators, such as the prevalence of overgrown claws. Although the reliability of the protocol was not specifically evaluated, the new indicators are supposed to be reliable, as they consist mainly of easy-to-collect resource and management information.

The aim of this research is to test the feasibility and reliability of a protocol for welfare assessment of dairy goats in semiextensive systems, which are commonly found in the Italian Alps, using a modified version of the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats, integrated with some indicators derived from the sheep protocol.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Farms

Goat farms were extracted from a database of 163 farms, provided by the ASL (Local Health Center) TO3 territory of Pinerolo-Collegno (Province of Turin, Piedmont, NW Italy). From the database, we selected farms presenting the following characteristics: (i) raising goats for dairy or dual purposes; (ii) making use of outdoor grazing in spring and autumn in proximity to the winter housing buildings; (iii) keeping goats only, with no coexistence with other domestic species; (iv) breeding prevalently Alpine and Valdostana breeds (and their crossbreeds, Alpine \times Valdostana); (v) voluntary acceptance of the farmer. Only 13 farms satisfied all the inclusion criteria and were therefore included in the survey. None of the selected farms bred animals for dual purpose; hence, the assessment was only performed on dairy animals.

These farms housed the goats during the winter in indoor pens or, on three farms, in tie stalls. During spring and autumn, the animals were housed during the night and they were released in flat to medium/steep slope areas (ranging from 470 to 920 m a.s.l.) near the farms after the morning milking, giving them the opportunity to graze in meadows, but also to browse the surrounding bushy and woody areas. In some farms, only bushes and woods were available for foraging. In nine farms, woods were also used as shelters to protect the goats from wind, sun, and rain. When woods were not available, the goats had no shelters. On average the total area available for spring and autumn pasture was equal to 20,872.73 m², but large differences were found among the farms (min: 110 m²; max: >100,000 m²). The average available pasture area/goat was equal to 343.47 m² (SD: 502.82 m^2 ; min: 3.55 m^2 ; max: 1,470.60 m^2). The goats had access to pasture for 90-250 days/year for 4-12 h/day, except in one farm where they had permanent access to the outdoor grazing area. During summer, the goats were taken to alpine ranges from June to October for a total period of 90-180 days.

The total number of goats in our farm sample ranged from 12 to 77 with a mean (\pm SD) of 31.2 (\pm 20.74) goats. Lactating

goats ranged from 8 to 77 animals, with a mean (\pm SD) of 17.70 (± 18.71) goats. The average age of lactating goats ranged from 24 to 78 months. Goats were in their mid-lactation stage and were milked twice a day. In 12 farms, the goats were manually milked, while one farm was provided with a mobile milking unit. Besides making use of fresh grass and bushes available in the grazing area, once or twice a day, during milking, eight farms provided supplementary feed consisting of hay, chestnuts, alfalfa, bran, whole or flaked barley, and whole or flaked corn. Three farms provided supplementary feed consisting of whole, flaked or mash corn, with or without mineral supplementation, in the winter period only. In two farms, no supplementary feed was delivered. Fresh and clean water was always available inside the barn. At pasture, water was available through streams (five farms) or watering tanks (four farms); water was not available at pasture in four farms. The distance of water from the pasture area ranged from 0 to 1,500 m.

Claw trimming occurred once a year in six farms, when necessary in five farms, every 6 months in one farm and every 4 months in another farm.

All the farms produced cheese from pure goat milk in small dairies adjacent to the farms. The cheeses were sold at the farm shop, at local markets or were destined to the small-scale organized distribution.

Assessors

In each farm, the welfare assessment protocol was tested in the period April-July 2019, during the spring grazing period. In order to test protocol reliability, the assessment was carried out by three assessors who had different background and level of experience with dairy goats. The three assessors were students of the MSc in Animal Science at the University of Turin (Italy). Assessor A also had a M.Sc. in Veterinary Science and in Biostatistics, worked as a veterinarian in the Public Health Service and had more than 10 years of experience with dairy goats. Assessors B and C had no specific experience with dairy goats. The three assessors received a common training before the beginning of the study, including both theoretical and practical sessions, and received the AWIN protocol (17) as training material. The training was given by two authors of the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats kept in intensive or semiintensive production systems.

Data Collection

Farmers were contacted by telephone to illustrate the research and gather essential information about the farm routine, in order to identify the best time for welfare assessment, which depended mainly on milking time.

On each farm, the protocol was applied simultaneously and individually by the three assessors, without any kind of interaction among them. All the assessors were unknown to the farms. The assessments took place mostly under sunny weather (77%), with some cloudy days but never when raining. Visibility was always good. Wind was almost absent. Ambient temperatures ranged from 9 to 24°C, with an average of 18°C. Relative humidity ranged between 21 and 90%, with an average of 54%.

Indicator	Description	Origin ^a	Level ^b	Location ^c	Notes
Hair coat condition ¹	Goats with poor hair coat condition (described as: matted, rough, scurfy, uneven, shaggy hair coat, frequently longer than normal) are recorded	A	I	Μ	Converted to an individual-level indicator (formerly group-level indicator in the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats)
Body condition score ²	BCS is visually assessed at the rear of individual goat, using a three-level scoring method	А	Ι	Μ	Retained as it is
Abscesses ¹	The presence of abscesses (ruptured or not) is recorded	А	Ι	Μ	Retained as it is from the 2nd level
Overgrown claws ¹	The presence of overgrown rear claws (exceeding the normal length and/or width leading to a loss of the common triangular profile) is visually assessed on individual goats	A	I	Μ	Retained as it is
Udder asymmetry ¹	The presence of one half of the udder that is at least 25% longer than the other is recorded	А	Ι	Μ	Retained as it is
Fecal soiling ¹	The presence of soft fecal matter below the tail head and on both sides of the tail is visually assessed on individual goats, as a sign of diarrhea	A	I	Μ	Retained as it is
Nasal discharge ¹	The presence of any mucous or purulent discharge (white or yellowish) from the nose is visually assessed on individual goats	A	I	Μ	Retained as it is
Ocular discharge ¹	The presence of clearly visible flow from one or two eyes is visually assessed on individual goats	A	I	Μ	Retained as it is
Improper disbudding ¹	Goats showing presence of residual horns (scurs) are recorded	A	I	Μ	Converted to an individual-level indicator (formerly group-level indicator in the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats)
Severe lameness ¹	Goats showing signs of severe lameness (based on abnormal gait, head nodding, spine curvature, kneeling) are recorded	A	G	Т	Assessed when goats were brought to pasture
Qualitative Behavior Assessment (QBA)	The assessor integrates perceived details of behavior, posture and context into the summarization of an animal's style of behaving, or "body language", using a fixed list of descriptors. List of descriptors: aggressive, agitated, alert, bored, content, curious, fearful, frustrated, irritated, lively, relaxed, sociable, suffering	A	G	Ρ	Retained as it is, but animals can be observed from only one observation point, with sessions lasting maximum 10 min
Synchrony at grazing	The number of goats grazing simultaneously is recorded, using an instantaneous and scan sampling method (60 min observation session, 30 min scan intervals)	Ν	G	Ρ	Synchronization during grazing is usually evaluated using scan sampling method (21)
Thermal stress	The number of animals showing signs of heat or cold stress is recorded	A	G	Ρ	The indicator was retained as it is, but it was collected using a scan sampling method (60 min observation session, 30 min scan intervals)
Oblivion	The number of oblivious goats is recorded. An oblivious goat is defined as an animal, which is physically or mentally isolated from the group	A	G	Ρ	The indicator was retained as it is, but it was collected using a scan sampling method (60 min observation session, 30 min scan intervals)
Familiar human approach	The closest possible distance of approach from the farmer before an elicited flight response is recorded If no flight response is triggered (goats remain motionless at human approach) this is	Ν	G	Ρ	(16)

TABLE 1 | Indicators applied for refining the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats to semi-extensive farming conditions.

motionless at human approach) this is

If the goats actively move toward (goats walk directly toward the stockperson) and interact (sniffing, nosing) with the stockperson, this is

recorded as 0 m

also recorded

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Indicator	Description	Origin ^a	Level ^b	Location ^c	Notes
Synchrony at resting	The number of goats resting simultaneously is recorded, using an instantaneous and scan sampling method (60 min observation session, 30 min scan intervals)	Ν	G	Ρ	Synchronization during resting is usually evaluated using scan sampling method (22)
Use of shelter	The number of goats resting simultaneously using a shelter is recorded, with instantaneous and scan sampling method (60 min observation session, 30 min scan intervals)	Ν	G	Ρ	We considered the inclusion of this indicator not only as presence/absence of shelters [as in the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for sheep; (16)], but evaluating the effective use of shelters when present
Queuing at feeding	The number of goats queuing at the feed rack is counted during feeding time, using a scan sampling method during 15 min/observation (2 min/scan)	E			No feed delivered at the feeding rack during spring, but goats have access to pasture
Queuing at drinking	The number of goats queuing at the drinker is counted during feeding time, using a scan sampling method during 15 min/observation (2 min/scan)	E			No drinkers available
Kneeling at the feeding rack	The number of kneeling goats (front legs flexed, the rear up) is counted while they are at the feeding rack	E			No feed delivered at the feeding rack during spring
Latency to first contact test	The time elapsed from when the assessor stops in a pre-determined starting place in the pen and the contact with the first goat that nuzzles or touches any part of the assessor's body is recorded (max time: 300 s). After assessing the Latency to first contact test, the assessor leaves the pen before reentering to perform the Avoidance distance test	E			This test is not applicable outdoors
Bedding	Evaluation of the quantity and cleanliness of the bedding in the pen	E			This test is not applicable outdoors

When indicators are "Retained as it is" this is referred to the original AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats. Further specifications are listed in the table.

¹Dichotomous categorical variable (absence = 0; presence = 1).

²Trichotomous categorical variable (very lean = -1; normal body condition = 0; very fat = 1).

^aA, indicator retained from (17); N, new indicator, not originally present in (17); E, indicator from (17) which was excluded in the current protocol.

^bI, individual level; G, group level.

^cM, during the morning milking; T, during transfer from milking area to pasture area; P, at pasture.

The protocol included 13 out of the 18 original indicators from the 2nd level AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats (17), plus four new indicators. Some of the original indicators had to be adapted to the semi-extensive conditions (Table 1). The whole protocol applied in our study consisted of nine individual-level and seven group-level indicators. Some indicators of the AWIN protocol for goats kept in intensive or semi-intensive production systems were discarded, as they had no meaning or could not be applied in the context of extensive farming (Table 1). The main change from the original AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats was the order of collection of the indicators that was modified to better adapt to the semi-extensive system, where animals are released outdoors in the morning after the milking routine (Figure 1). The animals were always milked in small pens inside the barn. Data collection started with individuallevel assessment during the morning milking of the following indicators: body condition score, hair coat condition, abscesses, overgrown claws, udder asymmetry, fecal soiling, nasal discharge, ocular discharge, and improper disbudding. For these indicators, the same scoring-as detailed in the AWIN protocol for goatswas used (17). At the end of milking, the goats were brought outdoors by the farmer and allowed to graze pasture areas located near the farm. On the way to pasture (walking a distance of 300 m up to 1 km), severe lameness was recorded, based on the observation of abnormal gait, head nodding, spine curvature and kneeling (17). Due to management reasons, lactating goats were mixed with dry goats and yearlings at pasture; hence, the following group-level indicators were recorded both on lactating and non-lactating animals. The assessors first conducted the Qualitative Behavior Assessment (QBA), using the 13 descriptors detailed in the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats (17). QBA observations were always performed from one observation point for 10 min on the whole group of goats (12, 23). Then, using a scan sampling method (60 min observation period with 30 min scan intervals, i.e., three scans at time 0, 30, and 60 min), the assessors recorded the number of goats that



grazed simultaneously, the number of goats showing signs of thermal stress (shivering or panting), and the number of goats physically or mentally isolated from the group (oblivion) (17). Then, the quality of the human-animal relationship (HAR) was assessed by using a simplified Familiar Human Approach Test (FHAT), following the procedure described in the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for sheep, but in which only the reaction of goats toward the farmer was assessed (avoidance, contact, approach), whereas the distance expressed in meters was not assessed (16). This decision was made because this was a first attempt to apply a test, which has not been validated for goats yet. Assuming that approximately one and a half hour after milking goats start resting, possibly seeking for adequate shelters (24), a second scan session (60 min observation period with 30 min scan intervals) was then used to record the number of goats resting and the number of goats resting in a sheltered place (if present), specifying the type of shelter.

Assessor A evaluated all the 13 selected farms. Due to unforeseen circumstances, assessors B and C only assessed 12 farms. A minimum of two assessors per farm was always guaranteed.

Data Analysis

For individual-level indicators, absolute and percentage frequencies of animals without welfare problems were calculated. The prevalence of group-level indicators was calculated as the proportion of goats with absence of welfare problems out of the number of assessed goats. For indicators collected with the scan sampling method, we considered the proportion of goats in the scan with the highest number of animals synchronized during grazing and resting or presenting thermal stress or oblivion, out of the total number of goats. FHAT results were reported as the proportion of farms where goats avoided, accepted the contact or spontaneously approached the farmers out of the total number of farms. Principal Component Analysis (PCA, correlation matrix, no rotation) was used to explore results from the QBA. Data was analyzed using the statistic software IBM SPSS v. 26.0 for Windows (25).

The above-mentioned welfare outcomes are presented in the results referring to data collected by Assessor A. This choice is due not only to the fact that this was the only assessor who evaluated all the farms, but also because this assessor had more experience with goats than the others. Therefore, data collected by Assessor A were used as reference and compared with data collected by the other two observers in order to assess inter-observer reliability (IOR).

IOR was only calculated for the 11 farms where all the three assessors were present. For categorical data (individual-level indicators) IOR was calculated over all animals, regardless of farm, using the S index (26, 27). This index, selected in order to overcome the problem of the paradoxical behavior of Cohen's Kappa, considers the null hypothesis for which the agreement between pairs of observers can be considered as the result due

to chance and can be calculated using the following equation:

$$S = \frac{p_o - \left(\frac{1}{M}\right)}{1 - \left(\frac{1}{M}\right)}$$

where p_o is the rate of observed concordance and M is the number of categories.

The percentage of concordance agreement was calculated for pairs of assessors against Assessor A (A vs. B and A vs. C) and for the three assessors together (A vs. B vs. C). The S index was only calculated for the three assessors together. For continuous data (group-level indicators), intra-class correlation (ICCs) coefficients were calculated (95% confidence intervals, based on absolute agreement, random effects type, mean-rating). According to Bateson and Martin (28), we adopted the following thresholds to evaluate the quality of reliability: <0.50 = poor; 0.50–0.75 = moderate; 0.76–0.90 = good; >0.90 = excellent.

For QBA, the IOR of Principal Component (PC) scores attributed by the three observers to each farm on the first two PCs was analyzed by using the Kendall Correlation Coefficient *W*. The results were interpreted according to Martin and Bateson (29, 30), where *W*: 0.0-0.2 = slight correlation; 0.2-0.4 = low correlation; 0.4-0.7 = moderate correlation; 0.7-0.9 = high correlation; 0.9-1.0 = very high correlation.

According to several authors (7, 29), a guideline for an acceptable threshold of correlation coefficients when assessing IOR might be set at ≥ 0.7 . Even if the literature report different limits (28–30), our results will be discussed following this guideline.

At the end of the assessment, the assessors were asked to report the major constraints experienced during the application of the protocol.

RESULTS

The results of the application by Assessor A of the welfare assessment protocol for dairy goats in semi-extensive conditions are shown in **Table 2**, except for improper disbudding, severe lameness, and FHAT. The proportion of goats properly disbudded is not reported in **Table 2**, as this procedure was performed in one farm only (73.3% of goats properly disbudded). Severe lameness is not reported as only one goat showing this welfare problem was observed. As to the assessment of HAR quality, FHAT shows that in 61.5% of the farms the goats actively moved toward the farmers and interacted with them (sniffing, nosing). In one farm, the goats remained motionless at human approach, whereas in the remaining 30.8% of the farms the approaching farmer elicited a flight response.

Two descriptors (Bored and Frustrated) were scored 0 in all the farms by Assessor A; hence, they were removed from the analysis. PCA was performed on 11 out of 13 descriptors. The analysis identified four main PCs with eigenvalues >1 (4.624, 2.258, 1.753, and 1.080 for PC1, PC2, PC3, and PC4, respectively). The first two PCs together explained 62.57% of the total variance among the farms (PC1: 42.04%; PC2: 20.53%). **Figure 2** shows the distribution of the descriptor loadings and TABLE 2 | Absence of welfare problems (mean ± SE; min-max) observed in 13 semi-extensive dairy goat farms, recorded during individual- and group-level assessment.

Individual-level as	ssessment	Group-level assessment				
Indicator	Mean% ± SE% (min%-max%)	Indicator	Mean% ± SE% (min%–max%)			
Normal body condition	67.9 ± 5.69 (25.0–100.0)	Absence of severe lameness	99.4 ± 0.50 (92.3–100.0)			
Good hair coat	97.3 ± 1.99 (75.3–100.0)	Synchrony at grazing	92.5 ± 3.63 (60.5-100.0)			
Absence of abscesses	88.1 ± 3.09 (65.0-100.0)	Thermal comfort	100.0 ± 0.00 (100.0-100.0)			
Regular claws	100.0 ± 0.00 (100.0-100.0)	Absence of oblivious goats	99.3 ± 0.45 (94.9-100.0)			
Symmetric udder	96.2 ± 1.44 (87.0-100.0)	Synchrony at resting	14.3 ± 7.22 (0.0–80.0)			
Absence of fecal soiling	100.0 ± 0.00 (100.0-100.0)	Use of shelter (out of goats at resting)	95.1 ± 4.86 (56.3–100.0)			
Absence of nasal discharge	100.0 ± 0.00 (100.0-100.0)					
Absence of ocular discharge	100.0 ± 0.00 (100.0-100.0)					



Indicator	Concordance agreement (A-B)		Concordance agreement (A-C)		Concordanc	e agreement (A-B-C)	Inter-Observer Reliability (A-B-C)	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	S index (LCL-UCL)	
Body condition score	153	78.4	214	70.1	137	75.2	S** = 0.81 (0.77–0.85)	
Hair coat condition	153	85.0	214	74.8	137	83.0	S* = 0.66 (0.57–0.76)	
Abscesses	152	94.7	197	83.2	129	90.7	S* = 0.85 (0.80-0.90)	
Overgrown claws	153	100	214	99.5	137	99.5	S* = 1	
Udder asymmetry	152	96.1	214	89.3	136	95.6	$S^* = 0.91 (0.85 - 0.96)$	
Fecal soiling	152	86.8	213	88.7	135	92.1	S* = 0.85 (0.78-0.92)	
Nasal discharge	152	100	214	100	136	100	S* = 1	
Ocular discharge	152	100	214	100	136	100	S* = 1	
Improper disbudding	14	71.4	15	80.0	14	76.2	S* = 0.56 (0.20-0.91)	

N = sample size; % = percentage of agreement, LCL, Lower Confidence Level; UCL, Upper Confidence Level. S^{*} = S weighted with linear weights; S^{**} = S weighted with square weights, Thresholds: <0.50 = poor; 0.50-0.75 = moderate; 0.76-0.90 = good; >0.90 = excellent. In bold, indicators where correlation coefficient is \geq 0.7.

TABLE 4 | Inter-observer reliability for group-level observations.

Indicator	Reliability ICC (95% CI)
Synchrony at grazing	0.64 (-0.44 < Cl < 0.93)
Oblivion	0.74 (0.32 < Cl < 0.92)
Thermal stress	N.D.
Synchrony at resting	0.94 (0.84 < Cl < 0.98)
Use of shelter	1 (0.99 < CI < 1)

ICC, intraclass correlation coefficient; CI, confidence intervals; N.D., not determined. Thresholds: <0.50 = poor; 0.50-0.75 = moderate; 0.76-0.90 = good; >0.90 = excellent.In bold, indicators where correlation coefficient is ≥ 0.7 .

of the farm scores along the first two PCs. Descriptors on PC1 (that commonly describes the valence of emotions) range from Content to Irritated, whereas descriptors on PC2 (that describes the arousal) range from Lively to Content.

The IOR calculated for individual-level observations is reported in **Table 3**. The reliability among assessors appears to be excellent for udder asymmetry, overgrown claws and nasal and ocular discharges, acceptable for abscesses and fecal soiling, but insufficient for hair coat condition and improper disbudding. For group-level indicators results are reported in **Table 4** and show that the IOR among assessors is excellent for synchrony at resting and use of shelter, whereas it is acceptable for oblivion (even if the lower limit of confidence interval only reached 0.32) and insufficient for synchrony at grazing.

The agreement among assessors for QBA was considered unacceptable for PC1, due to the rather low Kendall's W (0.597). The agreement on PC2 was acceptable (Kendall's W: PC2 = 0.750).

The collection of individual-level indicators took about 3 min/goat and the time required to perform the whole protocol was about 4 h/farm. The assessors reported the presence of some constraints that reduced the feasibility of both individual- and group-level indicators. For individual-level indicators, narrow pens and low-light conditions affected the quality of the

assessment and extended the time needed for the inspection of the animals; for group-level indicators, open ranges, the presence of thick vegetation cover and the presence of guardian dogs were the major limitations.

DISCUSSION

This paper reports the results of the application of the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats in semi-extensive husbandry systems. The original protocol was partly modified to be adapted to the different context.

The assessment showed that in our farms some welfare problems were completely absent (overgrown claws, fecal soiling, discharges, and thermal stress) or almost absent (severe lameness, synchrony at grazing, and oblivion). However, a comment is necessary for hair coat condition and abscesses. The average situation for both these indicators was good also in comparison with Italian and Portuguese intensive farms (14, 31) and Brazilian meat farms (18). Nevertheless, in one farm a high prevalence of animals with poor hair coat condition was found (24.7%): this result is in line with intensive farms, but it is higher than the prevalence found in extensive meat goats in Brazil (12.12%) (18). It is important to underline that in our protocol the assessment of hair coat condition was performed on individual animals during milking and not as a group-level indicator with goats free to move in the pen as proposed by the AWIN protocol (17). The assessment of individual animals might be more accurate than the assessment in a group of animals; hence, we think that this change in data collection could have affected the prevalence of the indicator. As to the prevalence of abscesses, on average the situation is in line with abscesses found in Brazilian meat farms (9.84%), but in at least one of our farms a serious welfare problem is present, with 35% of animals with abscesses. Improper disbudding was actually a problem only in one farm, which was the only one to perform this practice. The high prevalence of this indicator in this farm (more than 1/4 of the animals) deserves attention, because residual horns (scurs) on the head of adult goats can press against the head or eye, causing lesions and pain.

Furthermore, scurs may be caught in fences and pen partitions, causing injuries and stress (17). As for hair coat condition, the assessment of improper disbudding was modified from group-level to individual-level indicator. Again, it is possible that the prevalence is affected by this change, making the assessment more accurate.

Potential welfare issues were highlighted regarding body condition and resting synchronization. The percentage of animals presenting a normal body condition was low (67.9%, but with a farm showing only 25% of animals with normal body condition) if compared to the results obtained in extensive double-purpose systems in Portugal [89.4%; (20)] and in intensive dairy systems in Portugal [77.7%; (31)] and in Italy [80.2%; (8)]. No direct comparison can be made with meat goats assessed by Leite Oliveira et al. (18), as the authors used a 5point scale system, ranging from very thin to very fat. However, excluding the extremes (very thin = 14.5% and very fat = 2.1%of the animals), 83.4% of the animals in that study presented a normal body condition, in line with the other above-mentioned studies (8, 19, 20, 31). The low percentage of goats in normal body conditions in our farms was totally determined by the percentage of very thin animals. The presence of very thin animals is a problem also in Italian intensive farms (8) and in meat goats (18), but not in Portuguese intensive farms where the major problem is represented by very fat goats (31). The authors of the research performed in Portuguese extensive farms did not report the prevalence of too thin or too fat animals; hence, no further comparisons can be made (19, 20). The high prevalence of very thin goats in our farms could be explained by the fact that goats were in mid-lactation stage, when body reserves had not recovered from the losses occurred during the previous peak of lactation yet (32), aggravated by the absence of supplementary feed offered to goats in five farms during the grazing period. The risk for low energy intake is higher at pasture compared to indoor conditions as it is not always easy to fulfill the energy requirements of dairy animals only through natural forage resources (11). Additionally, animals at pasture move (horizontally and vertically) more than in indoor conditions and may be exposed to extreme weather conditions, thus spending more energy and requiring body fat mobilization (13).

The second indicator that poses some welfare concerns is synchrony at resting, which was very low in our study with only on average 14.3% of goats that lied down simultaneously, and even some farms where the animals never rested at the same time. When a sheltered area, such as a thick vegetation cover, was available, most of the goats (95.1%) used it for resting. According to Zobel et al. (24), hiding spaces (e.g., woods, caves), possibly in elevated areas, are important environmental features that allow goats to express their natural behavioral repertoire. The quality of sheltered areas may influence goats' resting behavior; probably those offered to the goats in our study were not sufficient to guarantee a high level of simultaneous resting. Furthermore, Negretti et al. (33) found that goats in an outdoor yard moved more, but rested less compared to housed goats. Hence, we could hypothesize that the low percentage of resting animals is due to a high exploratory behavior and need for movement in the outdoor environment before going back to the barns.

The low observed number of resting goats might be due also to the presence of guardian dogs that elicited a strong fear reaction, and the presence of houseflies that bothered goats and prevented them from resting. Last, it is worth noting that the moment when goats were observed might not be optimal for resting observations. Findings from studies on feral goats would support the time we selected for performing the observations on resting synchronization. In fact, the diurnal activity of feral goats is characterized by feeding for >50% of daytime, mainly at dawn and dusk, and resting for >20% of daytime, mainly at midday, with a higher resting time from March to October, which decreases toward midwinter (34). Unfortunately, to our knowledge, no information is present in the literature regarding domestic goats at pasture. According to Stephan (35), animals can modify their activities during the day, to adapt to the surrounding environment. This might support the idea that goats at pasture graze until they are satiated, and may shift the time devoted to resting, performing it only in the barn after the evening milking. Furthermore, we may hypothesize that milking routine and other activities occurring in commercial farms, such as the distribution of supplementary feed, can affect the daytime activities of goats and, in this case, we may have missed the best timing for performing the observations on resting synchronization. In order to identify the best moment of the day to perform these observations, further research is needed to gather information about daytime activity budget and biorhythms of farmed goats. Therefore, in its present form, synchrony at resting is probably not suitable for inclusion in a welfare assessment protocol for goats, but certainly deserves further attention.

The AWIN welfare assessment protocol for goats (17) uses the Latency to first contact test to measure the quality of human-goat relationship. However, this test is not suitable for the assessment of the human-goat relationship when goats are at pasture. Hence, we used a different test, the FHAT, developed for the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for sheep, in order to check if it was suitable to evaluate the HAR quality in goats (16). However, since the validation of this test applied to goats is still pending, we used a simplified version, only considering the three possible reactions that goats could show, i.e., avoidance, contact and approach, and we did not record the distance expressed in meters when a flight response was elicited. The FHAT suggests that in most of the observed farms the relationship was positive, with goats voluntarily approaching the farmer in more than 60% of the farms. However, in more than 30% of the farms, the animals avoided any contact with the farmer. Caution should be used for the interpretation of these results since this test has not been validated for goats yet. Furthermore, comparisons with the results obtained in other extensively managed goats is difficult, due to differences in the procedures followed in other protocols for the evaluation of HAR. For example, in the Brazilian study on meat goats, an avoidance distance ranging from 57 to 239 cm was recorded, but it is unclear if only the avoidance distance was calculated, or if other possible reactions (approach, contact and avoidance) were assessed too (18).

QBA studies ground on contrasting expressive qualities where contexts are previously selected for their divergent characteristics (12). In our farm sample, farm characteristics are rather homogenous, and therefore the goats' expressive behavior on the farms showed a limited variation on the PCA plot, with only few exceptions. In most of the farms, the mood of the animals appeared to be positive, but the level of arousal cannot be clearly distinguished because Relaxed (low arousal) aligns with Lively and Aggressive (high arousal). An explanation for this can be the fact that Assessor A did not score any farm with Bored or Frustrated animals; hence, the evaluation is not complete and the QBA outcome was not very meaningful. QBA relies on the use of all the descriptors available in the list provided to the assessors: the absence of some descriptors influences the PCA plot, resulting in an uneven distribution of terms. In contrast with other studies [e.g., (36, 37)], QBA presented a low level of IOR, due to the insufficient agreement on PC1. QBA could be a feasible indicator to be used in semi-extensive systems (only 10 min of observations from one observation point), but our results suggest that the training provided during this trial was insufficient to obtain reliable results and that a more extensive training should be performed.

According to Kaufman and Rosenthal (38), IOR is frequently neglected in behavioral studies and, apart from studies on QBA (12), to our knowledge no studies have been conducted so far to investigate the IOR of welfare indicators collected on grazing goats. This issue is highlighted also by Richmond et al. (39) stating that the reliability of most of the physical and health indicators included in the AWIN welfare assessment protocol for sheep (16) was confirmed, but the majority of the behavioral indicators included in the same AWIN protocol (e.g., lying synchrony, human approach test) had not been tested for reliability before their inclusion in the protocol (39). Most of the indicators used in our research have been tested for reliability in intensive dairy goat farms in Portugal and Italy (40) and the results supported their inclusion in welfare assessment protocols for that specific context. However, these results cannot be automatically extended to semi-extensive conditions. Interestingly two of the indicators modified from the AWIN welfare assessment protocol (17), namely hair coat condition and improper disbudding that were originally collected as grouplevel indicator resulted in insufficient agreement among assessors when collected as individual-level indicator. This suggests the importance of training the assessors and testing IOR when some changes occur (e.g., context, data collection).

Most of the indicators collected on goats at pasture showed acceptable reliability; however, IOR was not sufficient for QBA (as already discussed) and synchrony at grazing. Investigating the reasons for this result, we identified some issues related to the background and training of the observers, and to feasibility constraints. Regarding background and training, assessor A had a sound experience with goats, whereas assessors B and C only had a limited experience. This may have affected the effectiveness of training that possibly did not bridge the gap among the assessors and in turn affected the results of the observations. Furthermore, the assessors reported several hurdles during the collection of the indicators that may have affected the IOR and reduced the feasibility of the protocol. The application of the whole protocol under semi-extensive conditions took more time than the application in intensive farming conditions. In fact, the average estimated time required in intensive conditions is 90 min/farm and 30-45 s/goat (17), whereas the application of the protocol in the present study required more than 4 h/farm and 3 min/goat for the individual assessment, and according to the assessors this was exhausting and time-consuming. When more than 15 lactating goats are present, according to the AWIN protocol the use of a sampling strategy for the individual-level assessment is recommended, where the sample size depends on the number of goats in the herd (14). However, in our study this strategy was not applied due to the small size of farms included in our research but, in the light of the results on the duration of the whole assessment, the recommendation to adopt a sampling strategy has to be kept in mind in the future in order to improve the feasibility of the assessment, especially in presence of large herds. This might allow reducing the time required for the application of the whole protocol, lasting possibly <2 h/farm and <5 min/animal. In fact, during a stakeholder consultation carried out within the AWIN project, farmers, veterinarians and technicians reported as acceptable for on-farm welfare evaluation a total time not exceeding 2 h and an individual assessment time of maximum 5 min per animal (8). The assessment of meat goat farms in Brazil ranged from 1 to 3 h, but the authors assumed that this time could increase with a greater number of animals (18). In this study a maximum of 50 goats were assessed in extensive systems. Furthermore, it has to be considered that the total time of application of the protocol may depend on the time needed to reach the grazing area that in some cases can be distant from the farm.

A further complication that affected the feasibility of our assessment, and in turn its reliability, is that observations performed when the animals were at pasture required the use of binoculars, in particular in unfenced pastures where animals could stray far away. If animals graze in areas with thick vegetation cover, observations can be difficult, as the vegetation reduces the visibility. As to visibility, the farms were visited on purpose only on good weather days, as we supposed that rain or fog could worsen the reliability of the results. Hence, we suggest checking the weather forecast before scheduling the farm visits.

In addition, the assessors reported difficulties to perform the individual assessment during milking in narrow and dark pens, especially because milking frequently occurred very early in the morning, under suboptimal lighting conditions. Hair coat condition, abscesses and udder asymmetry were considered the hardest indicators to be collected. A relatively low IOR was reached for improper disbudding in some cases (0.20), whereas a good IOR was obtained in other cases (0.91); the assessors did not report any specific constraints, probably because this indicator was only applicable on one farm. The assessors reported some difficulties to detect severely lame goats due to the different flooring on which the animals walked: in some cases, they walked on concrete floor, but in others, they reached the pasture on gravel roads with variable slopes. Different surfaces (e.g., hard or soft) and, in this case, also different slopes, may affect the reliability of the observation, as suggested by other authors (41). Although our original plan was to evaluate lameness on individual animals at the end of milking, while they were leaving the milking area, this turned out not to be feasible as, being

milked in narrow pens, the animals did not have enough space to walk for a sufficient distance to be properly assessed. Therefore, we decided to evaluate it observing the group of animals while they were moving from the milking area to pastures. According to assessors B and C, the detection of severe lameness in large groups of goats moving together was not easy, but assessor A reported this as an optimal situation, as severely lame goats can easily be identified as they walk slower than the others. The absence of severely lame goats (and of overgrown claws) in our farms is in agreement with the results obtained in meat goats extensively raised in Brazil (18), suggesting a positive effect of pasture on the health of claws, as observed by de Morais (20). The beneficial effect of grazing for reducing lameness was observed also in cattle by several authors [e.g., (42, 43)]. The assessors also found difficulties in assessing the synchrony at grazing using the scan and instantaneous sampling method, due to the high number of animals that moved at the same time. The IOR among the three assessors was insufficient and further training seems necessary to make the collection of this indicator more reliable. Furthermore, the wide range of confidence intervals for this indicator (-0.44 < CI < 0.93) suggested that the reliability is likely to be affected by the group size, the environment (e.g., presence of woods) and the distance from the animals. For synchrony at resting very good IOR was reached, probably due to the low number of animals that lied down simultaneously and because they did not move when resting.

Further studies are needed to test the validity of the FHAT in goats, but all the assessors reported that this test is easy to be conducted with goats at pasture and the agreement among assessors was perfect for the three possible reactions of goats to the farmer. However, it is probably advisable to register the goat reaction toward a familiar human when the farmer really gathers the flock, in order not to affect the routine and management of the farm, as maybe goats would react differently if handled out of the normal routine. In any case, the validity of this indicator in goats still has to be confirmed and requires further consideration.

All the indicators used in this attempt to adapt an already existing welfare assessment protocol for goats are animal-based measures. However, no practical animal-based indicator was found to cover the "absence of prolonged thirst" criterion. This lack is common to most of the evaluations conducted at pasture (11). However, Morales et al. (44) used skin elasticity and enophthalmia as signs of dehydration in cattle kept in silvopastoral systems. Indicators of dehydration (e.g., skin tent test, capillary refill time, thirst index) are available for some species [e.g., calves (45), horses (46), camels (47)], but not for goats. Hence, further research is needed to identify suitable indicators to assess this criterion. Although farmers may not perceive thirst as a welfare issue on grazing animals because they eat fresh grass, prolonged thirst may represent a serious welfare problem. This is probably the case also in our farms, as 4 out of 13 farms did not provide water points during the grazing period, and this may represent a serious welfare problem, particularly during hot summers.

In conclusion, this research showed that most of the indicators selected to assess the welfare of goats in semiextensive conditions could be applicable, even if most of them were originally developed for intensive conditions. For most indicators, an acceptable level of reliability was reached; however, further research is required in order to identify a complete set of robust indicators in this specific context. Finally, feasibility constraints should be taken carefully into account as they can affect the reliability of the evaluation. For example, the assessor may decide to collect the individual indicators during either morning or evening milking, choosing the moment when the light is higher, as a scarce illumination can negatively affect the results. Furthermore, it may be advisable to collect FHAT according to the farm routine, for example, when the farmer gathers the flock before entering the barn for the evening milking.

Specific research should be conducted on daily activities and biorhythms of farmed goats to select the best moment of observation for evaluating the synchrony during feeding and, in particular, during resting. This research highlighted the lack of animal-based indicators to assess the effect of prolonged thirst in semi-extensive conditions; hence, specific research is needed to fill in this gap.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because according to the National Italian Law (D.L. 26/2014), no specific ethical approval was required, as no pain, suffering, distress or prolonged damage equivalent to or greater than that caused by the insertion of a needle was applied. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MG collected data and organized the database. MB and MG performed the statistical analysis. MB wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MR and SM wrote sections of the manuscript. LB supervised the work. All the authors contributed to conception and design of the study, manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The authors received funds for open access publication fees by Open APC Project provided by University of Milan.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the farmers who allowed us to visit their farms. We also acknowledge the help by Drs. Fulvia Troja and Valentina Pitruzzella for the application of the adapted AWIN protocol in semi-extensive conditions. Last, the authors are grateful to the reviewers whose careful work has made the manuscript more interesting and comprehensive.

REFERENCES

- Temple D, Manteca X. Animal welfare in extensive production systems is still an area of concern. *Front Sustain Food Syst.* (2020) 4:545902. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.545902
- Fraser D. Understanding animal welfare. Acta Vet Scand. (2008) 50:S1. doi: 10.1186/1751-0147-50-S1-S1
- Arnott G, Ferris CP, O'connell NE. Review: welfare of dairy cows in continuously housed and pasture-based production systems. *Animal.* (2017) 11:261–73. doi: 10.1017/S1751731116001336
- Kaurivi YB, Laven R, Hickson R, Stafford K, Parkinson T. Identification of suitable animal welfare assessment measures for extensive beef systems in New Zealand. Agriculture. (2019) 9:66. doi: 10.3390/agriculture9030066
- Kaurivi YB, Laven R, Hickson R, Parkinson T, Stafford K. Developing an animal welfare assessment protocol for cows in extensive beef cow—calf systems in New Zealand. Part 1: assessing the feasibility of identified animalwelfare assessment measures. *Animals.* (2020) 10:1597. doi: 10.3390/ani10091597
- Munoz C, Campbell AJD, Hemsworth PH, Doyle RE. Animal-based measures to assess the welfare of extensively managed ewes. *Animals*. (2017) 8:2. doi: 10.3390/ani8010002
- 7. Knierim U, Winckler C. On-farm welfare assessment in cattle: validity, reliability and feasibility issues and future perspectives with special regard to the Welfare Quality (\$\mathbf{R}\$) approach. *Anim Welf.* (2009) 18:451–8.
- Battini M, Barbieri S, Vieira A, Stilwell G, Mattiello S. Results of testing the prototype of the awin welfare assessment protocol for dairy goats in 30 intensive farms in northern Italy. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2016) 15:283– 93. doi: 10.1080/1828051X.2016.1150795
- Gilbert M, Nicolas G, Cinardi G, Van Boeckel TP, Vanwambeke SO, Wint GRW, et al. Global distribution data for cattle, buffaloes, horses, sheep, goats, pigs, chickens and ducks in 2010. *Sci Data*. (2018) 5:1– 11. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2018.227
- Rossi R. The sheep and goat sector in the EU—main features, challenges and prospects. EPRS Eur Parliam Res Serv. (2017) 1–8. Available at: http:// www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2017/608663/EPRS_ BRI(2017)608663_EN.pdf
- Spigarelli C, Zuliani A, Battini M, Mattiello S. Bovolenta S. Welfare assessment on pasture: a review on animal-based measures for ruminants. *Animals*. (2020) 10:609. doi: 10.3390/ani10040609
- Grosso L, Battini M, Wemelsfelder F, Barbieri S, Minero M, Dalla Costa E, et al. On-farm qualitative behaviour assessment of dairy goats in different housing conditions. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 180:51– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.04.013
- McGregor BA, Butler KL. Relationship of body condition score, live weight, stocking rate and grazing system to the mortality of Angora goats from hypothermia and their use in the assessment of welfare risks. *Aust Vet J.* (2008) 86:12–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2007.00249.x
- Battini M, Stilwell G, Vieira A, Barbieri S, Canali E, Mattiello S. Onfarm welfare assessment protocol for adult dairy goats in intensive production systems. *Animals.* (2015) 5:934–50. doi: 10.3390/ani50 40393
- EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW). Statement on the use of animal-based measures to assess the welfare of animals. *EFSA J.* (2012) 10(6):1–29. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2767
- AWIN. AWIN welfare assessment protocol for Sheep. (2015). doi: 10.13130/AWIN_sheep_2015
- AWIN. AWIN welfare assessment protocol for Goats. (2015). doi: 10.13130/AWIN_goats_2015
- Leite Oliveira L, Stamm De Orte F, Camarinha Filho AJ, Garcia RDCM. On-farm welfare assessment in meat goat does raised in semi-intensive and extensive systems in semiarid regions of Ceará, Northeast, Brazil. *Cienc Rural.* (2020) 50:e20190745. doi: 10.1590/0103-8478cr20190745
- Stilwell G, Vieira A, Can E, Krug C, Saraiva S, Battini M, et al. Ruminants' welfare assessment. In: *Advances in Animal Health, Medicine and Production*. p. 3–26. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-61981-7_1
- de Morais MIPCC. Aplicação do protocolo AWIN em explorações familiares de pequenos ruminantes. *Thesis dissertation*. (2016). Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/10400.26/17141

- 21. Dunbar RIM, Shi J. Sex differences in feeding activity results in sexual segregation of feral goats. *Ethology.* (2008) 114:444– 51. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2008.01478.x
- Andersen IL, Bøe KE. Resting pattern and social interactions in goats-The impact of size and organisation of lying space. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 108:89–103. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.10.015
- Battini M, Barbieri S, Vieira A, Can E, Stilwell G, Mattiello S. The use of qualitative behaviour assessment for the on-farm welfare assessment of dairy goats. *Animals*. (2018) 8:123. doi: 10.3390/ani8070123
- Zobel G, Neave HW, Webster J. Understanding natural behavior to improve dairy goat (*Capra hircus*) management systems. *Transl Anim Sci.* (2019) 3:212–24. doi: 10.1093/tas/txy145
- IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 26.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp. (2019).
- Giammarino M, Mattiello S, Battini M, Quatto P, Battaglini LM, Vieira ACL, et al. Evaluation of inter-observer reliability of animal welfare indicators: which is the best index to use? *Animals.* (2021) 11:1–16. doi: 10.3390/ani11051445
- 27. Falotico R, Quatto P. Fleiss' kappa statistic without paradoxes. *Qual Quant.* (2015) 49:463–70. doi: 10.1007/s11135-014-0003-1
- Bateson M, Martin P. Measuring Behaviour—An Introductory Guide. 4th ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2021). doi: 10.1017/9781108776462
- Martin P, Bateson P. Measuring Behaviour, An Introductory Guide. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press (2007). doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511810893
- Diaz-Lundahl S, Hellestveit S, Stubsjøen SM, Phythian CJ, Moe RO, Muri K. Intra-and inter-observer reliability of qualitative behaviour assessments of housed sheep in Norway. *Animals.* (2019) 9:569. doi: 10.3390/ani90 80569
- Can E, Vieira A, Battini M, Mattiello S, Stilwell G. On-farm welfare assessment of dairy goat farms using animal-based indicators: the example of 30 commercial farms in Portugal. *Acta Agric Scand A Anim Sci.* (2016) 66:43– 55. doi: 10.1080/09064702.2016.1208267
- Darwesh KA, Merkhan KY, Buti ETS. Impact of lactation stage on the body condition and milk quality of black goat. *Int J Agric Food Res.* (2013) 2:48–52. doi: 10.24102/ijafr.v2i2.199
- Negretti P, Bianconi G, Meo Zilio D, Noè L, Bartocci S, Di Giovanni S, et al. Effect of additional outdoor yard on behaviour of lactating domestic goats (*Capra hircus*) in different seasons. *J Ethol.* (2020) 38:61–9. doi: 10.1007/s10164-019-00623-4
- Shi J, Dunbar RIM, Buckland D, Miller D. Daytime activity budgets of feral goats (*Capra hircus*) on the Isle of Rum: influence of season, age, and sex. *Can J Zool.* (2003) 81:803–15. doi: 10.1139/z03-055
- 35. Stephan FK. The "other" circadian system: food as a zeitgeber. *J Biol Rhythms*. (2002) 17:284–92. doi: 10.1177/074873002129002591
- Clarke T, Pluske JR, Fleming PA. Are observer ratings influenced by prescription? A comparison of free choice profiling and fixed list methods of qualitative behavioural assessment. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 177:77– 83. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.01.022
- Phythian CJ, Michalopoulou E, Duncan J, Wemelsfelder F. Inter-observer reliability of qualitative behavioural assessments of sheep. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2013) 144:73–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.11.011
- Kaufman AB, Rosenthal R. Can you believe my eyes? The importance of interobserver reliability statistics in observations of animal behaviour. *Anim Behav.* (2009) 78:1487–91. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.09.014
- Richmond SE, Wemelsfelder F, de Heredia IB, Ruiz R, Canali E, Dwyer CM. Evaluation of animal-based indicators to be used in a welfare assessment protocol for sheep. *Front Vet Sci.* (2017) 4:1–13. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017. 00210
- Vieira A, Battini M, Can E, Mattiello S, Stilwell G. Inter-observer reliability of animal-based welfare indicators included in the animal welfare indicators welfare assessment protocol for dairy goats. *Animal.* (2018) 12: 1942– 9. doi: 10.1017/S1751731117003597
- Anzuino K, Bell NJ, Bazeley KJ, Nicol CJ. Assessment of welfare on 24 commercial UK dairy goat farms based on direct observations. *Vet Rec.* (2010) 167:774–80. doi: 10.1136/vr.c5892
- 42. Mattiello S, Arduino D, Tosi M V, Carenzi C. Survey on housing, management and welfare of dairy cattle in tie-stalls in western Italian Alps. *Acta Agric Scand—Sect A Anim Sci.* (2005) 55:31–9. doi: 10.1080/09064700510009270

- Hernandez-Mendo O, von Keyserlingk AMG, Veira DM, Weary J. Effects of pasture on lameness in dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. (2007) 90:1209– 14. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)71608-9
- 44. Morales AMT, Ceballos MC, Londoño GC, Cardona CAC, Ramírez JFN, Da Costa MJRP. Welfare of cattle kept in intensive silvopastoral systems: a case report. *Rev Bras Zootec.* (2017) 46:478–488. doi: 10.1590/s1806-92902017000600002
- Kells NJ, Beausoleil NJ, Johnson CB, Chambers JP, O'Connor C, Webster J, et al. Indicators of dehydration in healthy 4- to 5-day-old dairy calves deprived of feed and water for 24 hours. J Dairy Sci. (2020) 103:11820– 32. doi: 10.3168/jds.2020-18743
- Pritchard JC, Burn CC, Barr ARS, Whay HR. Validity of indicators of dehydration in working horses: a longitudinal study of changes in skin tent duration, mucous membrane dryness and drinking behaviour. *Equine Vet J.* (2008) 40:558–64. doi: 10.2746/042516408X297462
- Menchetti L, Zappaterra M, Costa LN, Padalino B. Application of a protocol to assess camel welfare: scoring system of collected measures, aggregated assessment indices, and criteria to classify a pen. *Animals*. (2021) 11:1–24. doi: 10.3390/ani11020494

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Battini, Renna, Giammarino, Battaglini and Mattiello. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Barriers to Utilizing Non-replacement Male Calves in the Australian Dairy Industry: A Qualitative Study

Veronika Vicic^{1,2*}, Anthony J. Saliba³, Michael A. Campbell^{1,2} and Jane C. Quinn^{1,2*}

¹ School of Agricultural, Environmental and Veterinary Sciences, Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga, NSW, Australia, ² Graham Center for Agricultural Innovation, Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga, NSW, Australia, ³ School of Psychology, Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga, NSW, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Maria José Hötzel, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Brazil Philip A. Robinson, Harper Adams University, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Veronika Vicic vvicic@csu.edu.au Jane C. Quinn jquinn@csu.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 23 October 2021 Accepted: 22 December 2021 Published: 27 January 2022

Citation:

Vicic V, Saliba AJ, Campbell MA and Quinn JC (2022) Barriers to Utilizing Non-replacement Male Calves in the Australian Dairy Industry: A Qualitative Study. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:800388. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.800388

Male non-replacement calves in dairy systems represent an underutilized economic resource for dairy producers worldwide. Despite this, increasing the practice of rearing non-replacement male calves has significant barriers both in on-farm adoption and practice. Poor neonatal rearing practices, higher levels of morbidity and mortality, and disaggregated production pathways with multiple points of handling, have all been described as barriers to adoption of surplus calf production. To identify the critical decision-determining challenges associated with broader adoption of raising non-replacement stock, and to investigate the whole-of-value chain issues faced by dairy producers to rear non-replacement male calves, we undertook a series of semi-structured interviews with Australian dairy producers to interrogate their key challenges. To achieve this, a constructivist grounded theory approach was used to inform the process of analysis of in-depth interviews with Australian dairy producers regarding their current practices and perceptions. Five major themes emerged from these conversations that were key barriers to on-farm non-replacement calf rearing in the producer group participants. These were: impacts of drought on cost and availability of feed for these calves and the whole herd; the management requirements of non-replacement male calves as an additional workload to that of their current operation; their attitudes and current practices to and surrounding euthanasia; perceived ease of supply-chain access for these calves, and their perceptions of the economic value of dairy-beef product as a return on investment. Understanding the barriers to adoption of non-replacement calf rearing, and addressing the value proposition for dairy beef, can assist increased uptake of non-replacement calf rearing. These findings will allow development of strategies to address these barriers, and extension of viable management strategies to increase adoption of profitable business practices surrounding non-replacement male calf production.

Keywords: bobby calves, non-replacement male calf, dairy, euthanasia (active voluntary), dairy beef production, beef value chain, producer perceptions

INTRODUCTION

There is currently a paucity of knowledge of the practices and management strategies, for animal growth pathways and available markets for non-replacement male calves in the Australian dairy industry. The term "bobby calf" is widely used in Australia as a description of a male calf under six weeks old that is unaccompanied by its dam and the perceived common practice for management of these animals is for them to be slaughtered at < 10 days of age on farm (1). Unlike beef calves that are reared by their dams, in order to maximize milk collection, dairy farmers must artificially rear male calves if they are going to be reared for sale, this representing a major on-farm investment in facilities, feed and time as calves are often housed individually (2) and require relatively high levels of neonatal health management (3-5). As such, and without clear pathways for sale, the economic viability of this practice is often questioned by the industry, making adoption of on-farm rearing a challenge.

There are several production challenges associated with the rearing of non-replacement male calves for beef. These include the need for a protected environment due to their relative immaturity compared to calves weaned under standard conditions who will spend several months with their dams (6). Early-separated dairy calves are more sensitive to climate and other environmental conditions due to their size and age (1) and thus require shelter to maximize their growth and minimize risk of disease. Internationally, the transport of young calves, heat or cold stress, and transit through sales yards have all been shown to cause increased risk of mortality in dairy calves, impacting on producer returns (4, 5, 7). Some specialized producers have established a specific market for rearing non-replacement male dairy calves, but these are not widespread or common. Other perceived deterrents internationally to non-replacement male calf production are perceptions around a lack of obvious saleable markets (8), the perception of the replacement calf as a "low value byproduct" (9) and the limited number of rearing facilities for non-replacement male calves available to take non-replacement male calves for rearing (10). These compounding issues have resulted in the production of non-replacement male calves being identified as a "health and welfare challenge" internationally (8) and a "wicked problem," namely a problem that is subject to real world constraints and with potentially multiple solutions, for the dairy industry in Australia (11).

Australia is in the minority of developed countries that still perceives the practice of slaughtering non-replacement male dairy calves as more profitable than rearing them for meat production. Despite the perceived practicality, this practice comes with significant welfare implications (9, 12). There are strong indications, both from industry, the public and consumers, that this practice is undesirable with the UK moving to ban this practice by 2023 (13). Globally, consumer opinion is driving practice change (14), with the general perception that calves should be productive as vealers, or slaughtered as mature cattle sold as "dairy beef" (15). Overcoming this issue has been describes as "inherently complex" due to evolving social culture, no ultimate defined solution, stakeholder expectations and producers achieving desired production goals (11). Therefore,

understanding producer limitations and adoption of novel practices to manage male calves should present an economically viable option to retain these calves in the beef supply chain.

Although exact numbers of dairy-produced calves born in Australia are not known, recent figures suggest that approximately 400,000 non-replacement calves are processed each year in Australian abattoirs, with this number increasing from 2010 to the present (16). This number of non-replacement calves could represent a valuable proposition to dairy producers if they were to be utilized in an economically viable manner (17). To promote viable production practices for surplus male dairy calves, there is a need to define the barriers that are unique to the Australian dairy industry surrounding the adoption of nonreplacement male-calf rearing and the generation of a profitable dairy-beef value chain.

To better understand the perceptions and challenges of Australian dairy producers in relation to adoption of rearing nonreplacement calves for beef production we sought to investigate current producer experience of on-farm rearing strategies for non-replacement dairy calves and their associated challenges. Factors of interest included accessibility to markets for nonreplacement male calves and dairy producer's perceptions surrounding dairy-beef products in relation to marketability and eating quality. A qualitative methodology with semistructured interview questions was used to provide impromptu questions to suit the individual producer's responses. This allowed the researchers to capture the range and breadth of producer perceptions to current barriers to adoption of a viable dairy beef supply chain in Australia in the context of their individual enterprises.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Ethical approval for the collection of original data from human participants for the interviews reported in this manuscript was provided by Charles Sturt University Human Research Ethics Committee (Protocol number: H19225). All participants gave informed consent to participate in these interviews. This work was carried out in full compliance with the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007, updated 2018) and in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council Act (1992).

Methodological Framework

Semi-structured in-depth interviews were conducted with Australian dairy producers. Constructivist Grounded Theory (CGT) informed the research processes and analysis undertaken (18). In this study, the use of CGT as a methodology (19) allowed the researchers to explore, develop knowledge and focus on subjective experiences, perceptions and attitudes of participants concerning current issues associated with non-replacement male calves. The interactions, interpretations and understandings from the research allowed the researcher to deduct or build theory based on previous knowledge (19). This epistemology suggests that the researcher's existing knowledge, perceptions, and formal training in the field of dairy production influenced data collection and the interpretations of participant responses (18). The outcomes in turn reflect the researcher's ability to capture the experiences and opinions of producers through participant interactions. The results of the study are therefore a combination of the contribution of the researcher and the participants; the method is therefore able to capture outcomes that quantitative surveys can sometimes miss.

Sampling Strategy and Participants

Purposeful sampling was adopted to recruit current Australian dairy owners and/or managers over the age of 18 (20). This strategy identified information-rich participants that shared common attributes to provide in-depth knowledge that later formed central themes aligned with the objectives of the study. Aligned attitudes and opinions expressed in the interviews removed extreme variation among participant responses (20). Participant recruitment was achieved by distributing electronic flyers via dairy consultants, domain experts and dairy discussion groups. Few interviews were opportunistic and participant involvement was sought during a secondary study regarding dairy production. A total of 15 participants were interviewed. All participants owned or co-owned a dairy enterprise and were currently working in the enterprise at the time of the interviews (December 2019 to March 2020).

To address the scope of the research question, a saturation sampling technique was used to determine the number of interviews required to be undertaken (21). A point of saturation is reached in a qualitative study when no new insights or development of novel themes emerge from participant information, and data collection can terminate (22). Saturation was achieved after interviewing 13 participants which provided an information rich dataset enabling the research question to be addressed (20). No new insights were yielded, however a further two interviews were conducted to confirm this assumption.

Data Collection and Analysis

Fifteen face to face in-depth semi-structured interviews were conducted and audio-recorded by the first author. The interview questions focused on topics that explored past, present and emerging practices associated with rearing non-replacement male calves in dairy systems. A record of practice change (past, present and emerging) over time, allowed the researchers to assess the concurrent attitudes of producers surrounding their responsibility in relation to treatment and welfare of calves. It was of utmost importance to the study to interview owners and/or managers of dairy enterprises as they are the individuals who can implement the greatest changes within each production system. Identification of supply-chains for non-replacement male calves were accounted for through each participant's personal experience regarding the saleability of past male calves and expected future markets. The interview questions were designed to be presented in an open-ended manner. This approach was used to ensure unforeseen comments would be accounted for and subsequent questions could be tailored to each interview allowing overarching themes to remain central to the discussion formulated. Briefly, the interview questions covered the participant's involvement in the dairy industry, the scope of the dairy operation they managed and/or owned, calving management practices with a focus on non-replacement male calves, attitudes and practices toward euthanasia of nonreplacement male calves, ideal management strategies of nonreplacement male calves and how the strategies could be achieved, and opinions toward dairy beef products. A copy of the interview questions is available from the corresponding author upon request.

The researcher conducted each interview face to face, traveling to the location of each dairy enterprise where the participant resided. Convenience, ensuring participant confidentiality and reducing variation among data collection was a priority of the research team and is why the format of each interview was conducted in this manner. A \$20 gift card was offered to each participant as compensation and a token of appreciation for engaging in the study and providing personal insight that contributed to the outcomes of the research.

Figure 1 depicts the process the researcher undertook to interview and examine the results and develop new findings. Audio recordings from each interview were de-identified and transcribed verbatim by the first author post interview. The author reflected after each interview and adapted and / or added questions accordingly to suit new emerging topics. Sections of audio where the researcher could not comprehend what the interviewee said were noted as inaudible. Each transcript was then proofread. This process lead the researcher to become familiar with the dataset and initiate the process of analysis. The data was hand coded line-by-line with gerunds to allow the researcher to study each fragment of the data and help define meaning, make comparisons and recognize emerging links within the data. Memo writing assisted with the development and reflection of early categories emerging in the data (18, 23). An electronic copy of the coded data was then created on a Microsoft Word document. This process was used to rearrange and segregate codes to establish analytical categorization through focus coding (18). To generate the development of categories and later central themes, a search of supporting evidence through the raw interview data was undertaken to negate or lead to connections between micro and macro levels of the significant themes established (18). The individuality of each participant's experience were linked here to drive novel findings and generated theory aligned to the research aims and questions.

RESULTS

A total of 15 participants were interviewed. The length of interviews ranged from 15 to 50 min with the average interview length of 22 min. All participants owned or co-owned a dairy enterprise and were currently working in the enterprise at the time of the interviews (December 2019 to March 2020). There were six female participants and nine male participants. All participants were located in south Eastern Australia, ten in the Riverina area of New South Wales and five were located in the Western Districts of Victoria. Herd sizes ranged from 160 to 800 head, with the majority of enterprises having a herd size of 200 to 400 milking cows.



Several major themes emerged: these focused on market sustainability, drought, and resourcing. All participants reported that drought had impacted all facets of their dairy operations, from daily production and management decisions to market access opportunities. All participants also identified they had access to one or more saleable markets for non-replacement male dairy calves in Australia, however, only half of the participants reported supply-chain access that was consistent and economically viable. The remaining participants reported that they frequently had to access opportunistic markets, the majority of which were non-profitable. This cohort of participants did not have a level of confidence in their rearing and sale processes, and commonly resorted to selling calves to the "bobby truck" (a colloquial term for the truck used to transport non-replacement male dairy calves to the salevards or calf rearers), through the sale yards or social media outlets such as Facebook. Market access was not influenced by location of each dairy enterprise as challenges were seen across both NSW and VIC. All participants reported a range of barriers to rear non-replacement male calves in an economically viable manner including, but not limited to: "drought," "feed," "resources," "space," "land," "infrastructure," "time/labor," "cost/money," and "finding a market." Surprisingly, only two participants, reported the practice of euthanasia of non-replacement male calves on farm, but also stated that if a viable market was available, this route would take priority. For all participants euthanasia was not a preferred practice. These findings accentuate the need for producers to have access to profitable markets to sell non-replacement male calves, and to trust in those systems.

Primary Themes

Current knowledge, attitudes and practices associated with rearing non-replacement male calves in Australian dairy systems were identified through the subjective experiences of producers. These experiences generated five primary themes in the analysis: (1) impacts of drought, (2) management of non-replacement male calves, (3) euthanasia-related attitudes and practices, (4) supply-chain access, and (5) value of dairy-beef products.

Impacts of Drought

Statements regarding the impacts of drought on dairy production was prevalent throughout the interview process and as such,

became a central topic of conversation. Nine participants reported drought conditions impacted production practices and management choices, which in turn affected all facets of their operation.

Poor seasonal conditions contributed to an increase in the time and labor allocated to monitoring animals, feed allocation, water management as well as presenting reduced market opportunities for all livestock. The additional operational costs required as a consequence of ongoing drought formed a large portion of the participants reflections.

Producer A: "We didn't calve many this year...consequence of being in 2 years of drought and were down to next to no water allocation...so the last 12 months the numbers have been dwindling down..."

In contrast, major drought impacts did not affect six participants that had access to bore water, irrigated pasture and feed stockpiles. This cohort of participants were not as conscious of seasonal drought as these provisions were recognized to be alleviated.

Producer B: "... we store up as much fodder as we can we usually carry about 2 years worth of hay... we still have got enough feed in storage to carry us through but not pushing production..."

Producers C: "...the droughts take a huge toll...we are a little bit protected here because we grow all our own feed...but still...usually we have surplus grain...so usually we have that income as well..."

As such, location-specific impacts of drought were not observed. Within the same geographical region, participants who were better prepared for drought conditions expressed concern for other dairy producers who were not in such a fortunate position. These participants agreed that enduring previous droughts had forced innovation in their operations and promoted increased efficiencies within their production system to protect them against future economic risk associated with drought. Those participants that were more adaptable in their operating practices were at lower risk of encountering economic loss in the face of challenging climate conditions. The degree of focus on innovation differed, with some participants indicating a culture of innovation and others relying on traditional knowledge. Producer A: "...trying to be as flexible in your management approach on the farm as you can be, and sustain it...it's not just a matter of this is the way I do it, oh hang on there's a drought, or I've got no water, ring up and buy in a stack of hay and grain...you know question everything you do... well is there a better way... even me sons coming up with new ideas and changing things around..."

Nine participants reported reduced profit margins and that these reductions were directly correlated with ongoing drought conditions. Factors predicating this economic cost included deteriorating land conditions leading to increased reliance on supplementary feeding and increased labor costs. Poorer quality feed resources resulted in decreased animal body condition scores that resulted in higher rates of morbidity and mortality on farm, reduced sale prices and decreased supply chain access for all on-farm animals, including non-replacement male calves. Notably, the difficulty in selling non-replacement calves and reduction in price at point of sale forced two participants to revert to euthanasia practices where they had been previously able to avoid doing so.

Producer D: "We never used to [euthanise] but we have had to because of the cost and then the sale yards and sometimes getting five dollars is not worth all that time and milk..."

Management of Non-replacement Male Calves

All participants reported that retained heifer calves received vaccinations and any other required veterinary prophylactic treatments as per standard production practices. Retained heifer calves received a consistent feed allocation that was inclusive of milk, *ad libitum* hay and concentrate in the form of grain or pellets. Shelter was also provided to reduce environmental stressors during the critical period of early weaning and growth. The majority of producers interviewed reported that retained heifer calves took priority over non-replacement male calves. Specifically, six producers noted that vaccination and treatment protocols, feed quality and shelter provided to heifer calves was not replicated for non-replacement male calves.

Producer E: "... if things get a bit tight... you know your guys [nonreplacement male calves] are going to have to do it a bit harder than the heifers. Heifers will get first choice on where they go and they'll get grain and better hay... if I have to feed the steers grain, the hay it won't be as good..."

Four producers did identify that they felt it was their responsibility to treat all calves in a similar manner as a part of their "social license to operate" and to ensure that all animals were cared for in a "reasonable way." One producer had formal training as a veterinarian and justified this opinion with the explanation that the value of treating male calves maintained generally high health standards across the herd and increased treatment success rate among all calves, inclusive of the heifer calves that were a "long-term investment." Producer C: "...from an experience point of view I have treated a lot of bull calves...it makes me much better at treating the heifers in the same position so I justified that way and I am much better looking after the heifers which you know are more valuable...I just don't like [not treating non-replacement male calves], it's still a life and it's got some value in it...I know that some farmers wouldn't be able to justify the cost of drugs and the extra time but that's my policy here..."

However, one participant suggested that veterinary treatment of male calves reduced their ability to pass these animals on to saleyards due to the need to comply with industry withholding periods as a justification for their different management strategies between male and female calves.

Producer D: "... we try and sell them straight away, like a week-old so we can't [send them to a sale yard] if they are treated and at the moment there is... no return for us to chase that market so we don't bother."

Producers that did not manage heifer and non-replacement male calves in a similar manner identified "time," "labor" and "costs" as the major barriers to this differential treatment. They reported that a lot of time is spent "off the books" to facilitate rearing male calves, implying a negative cost benefit to their operation. *One* participant offset the extra labor requirements through the use of a robotic feeding system. Some participants reported inefficient or inadequate physical infrastructure, and/or space restrictions as limiting their ability to rear male calves. In some cases, this was a direct effect of expansion and growth within the milking herd leading to less space to house and rear male calves. Inadequate housing due to space constraints and herd growth often resulted in male calves being housed in exposed pens and/or paddocks, resulting in increased mortality and morbidity rates.

Producer F: "... deciding to keep the bull calves was a big change because we probably... at the time we had enough room, the calf numbers were a lot lower because our cow numbers were at that low point... but now the numbers are getting big, the calving groups are getting big...that's why they're [non-replacement male calves] in those makeshift kind of pens.... we're currently working on building a calf shed because I think our main problem at the moment is [the non-replacement male] calves exposure to the weather...I think that's when the calves are most susceptible to getting sick. They're freezing cold during the night and then really hot through the day, or the rainy weather..."

The opposite was true of these producers with available grazing land that appeared to facilitate the rearing of male calves to steers with fewer on-farm limitations.

Producer B: "It works in quite well because we got a fair bit of hill country, about 900 acres of that. So once we get them off the bucket that's the most labor-intensive part of it...then you only drench them and vaccinate them once and you put them out the back and forget about them so labor-intensive is not there."

Euthanasia Attitudes and Practices

Participant opinions surrounding euthanasia varied, however, all participants agreed that euthanasia of non-replacement male calves should only occur as a last resort. This response included two participants who reported currently practicing euthanasia of non-replacement male calves. Twelve participants reported that they would never euthanise non-replacement male calves, even if it was non-profitable to rear them. These participants indicated strong feelings that the dairy industry must acknowledge non-replacement male calves as a part of every dairy production system and manage the production of male calves responsibly.

Producer G: "... part of our social license... is to make sure that [we are] caring for all our animals in a reasonable way."

Producer H: "...I see it's more unethical to be slaughtering calves like some people are doing on-farm than selling them to the abattoirs and using that product...whether you look at it from a commercial environment or social [point of view]...why are you killing something...that is perfectly healthy and perfectly edible...it would probably be more economically sensible for us to shoot that calf in the paddock and be done with it...it is economically costing us money sending it to an abattoir but I think that's better use of the resource..."

These participants expressed several terms with negative connotations when describing their feelings toward male calf euthanasia, such as "avoid," "frustrated," "hate," "not supportive," "refuse," "unethical" and "unpleasant." One participant reported previously practicing euthanasia and expressed high levels of personal frustration toward having to euthanize a healthy calf. Adverse effects on the producer's mental health and well-being were also reported in line with this practice. Specifically, one participant did not allow other farm employees to euthanize calves for this reason. They did, however, identify that formal training in euthanasia reduced the toll on their mental well-being as it provided confidence the practice was conducted in the most humane way.

Producer A: "It's very frustrating to [euthanise] because you've got a perfectly healthy calf, good fit decent size calf and he is good for nothing, and you go I'm shooting a damn good calf, why? ... no one likes putting down good healthy calves so it wouldn't be good for staff's mental health either... before we were trained and got the captive bolt, I would leave stock for my dad to put down...I wasn't confident... when we did the captive bolt training and you're actually equipped to know exactly what you're doing, not just what you were taught by your dad or whatever... when you actually understand the science... it helps..."

Two participants, one who did euthanize and one who did not, reported that if it was not economical to rear male calves they considered it to be "acceptable" to euthanise non-replacement male calves. It was suggested that, in this instance, the milking herd should take priority for resource allocation. The participant who did practice euthanasia believed more negative impacts and stress was placed on non-replacement male calves sold through sale yards or not reared with optimal management strategies than the practice of humane euthanasia.

Producer D: "...well at the end of the day it is going to get euthanised isn't it...so I think rather than it getting sick...or going through the stress of the sale yard, I think is the most humane [to euthanise]...we've just got to be realistic about it, operating within our means..."

Producer B: "...I don't have an issue with it, we had to do it years ago...if there's not a market there, what you do with them...As long as it's done humanely it's not a problem, it's just something's gotta be done - it's a fact of life..."

"Dairy-Beef" Supply-Chain Access

Every participant reported the desire to access better markets for non-replacement male calves and to improve their production management practices but they also identified many constraints. These constraints presented an economic barrier to dairy producers and reduced their ability to make consciousness-based decisions while maintaining a profitable enterprise. This finding was in contrast to their treatment of replacement heifer (female) calves where their practices were highly consistent.

A visual representation of the co-relationships between the interview information surrounding producer market access/ supply chains for non-replacement male calves was compiled from their statements and is shown in **Figure 2**. Both dairy breeds, and beef x dairy first cross offspring were considered separately. Dairy breed producers identified three main production pathways for their non-replacement male calves, (1) calves that were sold to market at 7 days of age; (2) calves that were sold to markets at > 7 days of age; and (3) those that were euthanized. Those calves that were retained on farm longer than 7 days showed a greater number of finishing pathways than those sold very young. Beef first cross offspring only identified two pathways to sale: the calf rearer or retained on the home property.

The supply chains identified, and their relative profitability, varied between producers. Some producers reported inconsistent use of target supply chains (sale yards, vealer, steer market) for the sale of non-replacement male calves. This cohort of producers were holding onto their non-replacement male calves until market conditions improved (typically, prices to increase post drought) before committing to sale. These producers were therefore at higher risk of drought associated economic loss by this practice.

Producer A: "No specific market in mind at this point... at this stage if we break even that'll be about it, I don't expect to make any money on them at the moment, but going forward, better seasons, yes we hope to make a few bucks on them."

In contrast, producers who had well-established sale options in place for non-replacement male calves, including pre-contracted sales to calf rearers and/or returning customers, reported successful sales and market access. They also appeared to have a positive outlook on the utility and viability of non-replacement



calf production and were more amenable to seeking alternative production solutions.

Breed Characteristics and Value of a "Dairy Beef" Product

Of the 15 producers interviewed, the majority (9/15) were not using other non-dairy breed genetics to increase likelihood of carcass yield in their male non-replacement offspring. For these producers, their focus was on dairy production and their sires were of primary dairy genetics: these included mixed crosses (Holstein x Jersey; Friesian x Jersey; Friesian x Ayrshire) with Brown Swiss, Montbeliarde and Swedish Red cattle all reported, or pure breed genetics (Friesian, Jersey or Holstein). The remaining six producers reported using beef breed genetics to improve carcass yield with Angus (4) being the predominant breed of choice, the others reporting use of Wagyu and BeefX bulls.

Participant views toward dairy-beef products only emerged as a point of interest during the fifth interview and therefore not all participants expressed an opinion on this topic. Within this sub-cohort of participants (n = 11), opinions varied regarding the value of a dairy-beef product. Although the dairy producers were not market experts, they also indicated their perceptions of consumer behavior toward dairy-beef. A latent theme suggested most participants did not believe that dairy-beef could target a premium market. The perceptions of this cohort of participants can be separated into two clear categories: those who thought dairy-beef could not be considered a premium product, and those who considered that there was a premium market for dairy-beef. Producer G: "I don't know whether you would...advertise something as "dairy-beef"...you would want to do a lot of research on the name "dairy-beef" to see what connotations come up with it...you could be creating a can of worms for the people that might be euthanising..."

Three participants believed that beef from dairy animals had similar or inferior meat and eating quality to other beef breeds. One participant conveyed doubt in the supply chain for dairyproduced beef carcasses explaining they currently experienced a price discount at slaughter for their carcasses, an industry implication that this represents a carcass of lesser eating quality. Interestingly, this participant also had a perception that dairy beef carcass and eating quality outcomes were equal to those of conventional beef animals despite the dairy carcass receiving a discount. Another participant agreed that dairy bred animals receive discount at slaughter but suggested that this was due to inferior pre-slaughter nutrition and that these animals would require grain-finishing to perform well.

Producer I: "... I finished some Friesian steers... on grain for the last 60 days so I got a pretty good price for them... they yielded [well]... but generally in Western Victoria you cop an absolute flogging for Friesians... in terms of you send them to the markets [and] you just get a massive discount even to send to slaughter. Unless you can really finish them off with grain you will get a massive discount, they will pay the lowest end that you can get..."

Two participants explained their aim was to operate in a similar manner to match the standard they expect when purchasing food

for themselves, indicating a high level of food consciousness. These participants were actively restructuring their businesses to suit markets in alignment with their own food preferences. The same producers said they would pay a premium for highquality food items, including a dairy-beef product. However, they also suggested consumers generally do not think about the treatment of animals when purchasing food items and suggested there was a need to convey a positive animal welfare message for non-replacement male calves as a value chain opportunity. They identified that communication to the public around a dairybeef product should include the dedication and good stewardship of dairy producers toward non-replacement male calves and their desire to rear them in the best possible manner. Drawing consumer awareness not only to product quality, but also to animal welfare and production, would be essential in creating a viable broad-spectrum dairy-beef brand and market.

Producer J: "I think you would sell the whole story so really it's going to be about... being clean and green, free range and all that sort of stuff... I'm the one who picks up the bulls... out of the paddock every day and I tell the cows I'm looking after them, they're in my care I have to look after them the best that I can...so I think you have to convey that, it's like a stewardship thing..."

DISCUSSION

This qualitative study explored the subjective experiences and attitudes described by dairy producers regarding the production challenges associated with the practice of rearing and growing out non-replacement male calves to sizable beef animals. Although the cohort was relatively small, the methodological approach ensured that identification of alternative views was unlikely due to saturation of responses. The authenticity of in-person interviews to establish the context in which the enterprises were operating was an approach that is more difficult to achieve by phone or internet-based surveys. Five themes characterized each participant's production/management decisions surrounding non-replacement calves: impacts of drought, management of non-replacement male, supply-chain access, euthanasia-related attitudes and practices and value of dairy-beef products.

Within these themes poor profit margins influenced many management choices made by dairy producers; this finding was similar to those observed in other studies internationally where producer concerns for a dairy beef supply chain lay within poor supply chain integration and lack of viable profit margins (8, 24). Dairy beef, through slaughter of cull cows as well as nonreplacement calf production accounts for a small, but financially meaningful percentage of a dairy producers income, estimated in the U.S. to be between 5 and 15% of gross income, yet the product from these animals is often not identifiable to the consumer, and attracts downgrading for the producer (25, 26). In Europe, dairy beef production represents approximately one third of all beef produced in this region (27) and is widely accepted by European consumers. Current estimates indicated that approximately 2.8 million head of dairy cattle are processed annually in Australia, representing an important component of the beef and veal industry (28).

In this study, adoption of production of male nonreplacement male calves as a viable product for their system were limited by labor, infrastructure, and other resources, resources that were more limited by drought seasons. One potential strategy to support development of an integrated supply chain for dairy beef has been reported by Irish producers when considering resourcing requirements, where grants from government bodies have been used to provide necessary additional infrastructure. This model could aid in preventing euthanasia of nonreplacement male calves help to deliver the desired outcomes of the Australian Dairy Sustainability Framework toward reduction of euthanasia of non-replacement calves (24, 29).

Participants in our study reported monetary loss for the sale of non-replacement male calves was generally overcome by arrangement of pre-contracted sales to calf-rearers or other saleable markets (Figure 2). This assisted in giving these producers an economically viable route to market for these animals as oppose to participants who were waiting to see if market conditions improved to increased calf sale profit margins. Irish producers had concerns regarding price volatility and market uncertainty surrounding non-replacement male calves (24), so this represents a common challenge. By utilizing precontracted sales for non-replacement male calves, our study shows that this can support a pricing model that guarantees profitability and therefore mitigate risk for the dairy producer. This was also a favored option by Irish producers who preferred to send calves to a rearing facility with pre-contracted prices or retain ownership of calves of those calves in the rearing facility with a pre-contracted price negotiated prior to slaughter (24). This model could allow dairy producers at a national and international level to accommodate the extra labor requirements, facility usage, and grazing land capacity to support rearing of non-replacement animals, allowing more investment into the primary focus of their dairy production whilst supporting an integrated dairy beef supply chain.

Participants in our study reported that they would improve the conditions for rearing of non-replacement male calves if finance was not a potential barrier. This was similarly reported in a cohort of Irish producers where changes or improvement on farm to support a successful dairy beef integration system was the preferred option if finance was not a limiting factor (24). If grants and a more secure pricing structure was available for the sale of non-replacement male calves it could assist producers to invest in improved calf-rearing infrastructure and encourage them to put higher inputs into calf feeding protocols similar to those conditions described by participants for retained heifer calves. Improved feed quality and access to supported housing would assist male calves reaching target weights early and support them in their critical growth periods, improving calf mortality and morbidity rates (1). The interviews undertaken in this study also coincided with a period of sustained drought in south-eastern Australia. Drought was found to exacerbate the financial and practical requirements of non-replacement male calf production due to the cost of fodder, but participants also acknowledged that in a non-drought affected seasons it is currently difficult to

make financially viable decisions due to a lack of obvious or easily accessible supply chain options.

Our findings showed that there was not one consistent supply chain preferred by producers interviewed in this study (Figure 2) even within the same geographical region. This suggests that development of a single dairy beef supply chain will be hard to achieve. Previous studies have suggested that multiple production models may be required to give sufficient options to dairy producers to invest in maintaining nonreplacement calves for dairy-beef production (24). This may reflect that producers do not know how an integrated model will operate, or that sufficient options are not yet available. This represents a challenge to industry to determine the best dairy beef value chain model for industry adoption through targeted funding.

In our study, participants reported they did not think dairy beef should be marketed as a premium beef product due to "inferior" meat quality traits compared to other traditional beef breeds. This misconception or belief has also been reported in other studies (24, 30). Despite this perception amongst dairy producers, there is a growing body of work that suggests there is no difference between dairy and traditional British beef breeds in growth potential, lean meat yield, yield of prime cuts, and the quality of meat produced when grazed under similar conditions and slaughtered at the same chronological age or the same level of maturity (30). The reasons for this misperception of dairy beef as an inferior product needs to be further investigated. One possible reason could be due to the reported reduction in of quality feed inputs into early dairy-beef production systems from producers in our study, with the perception that this in turn will result in a poorer quality meat product. In contracts to a report by Maher et al. (24), who implied a lack of husbandry skills related to raising non-replacement calves, but rather a choice to treat male calves differently due to preconceived financial disadvantages of retaining these calves in the herd. Equally, perception of price discounts relating to a reduction in eating quality may also be feeding forward into these perceptions. Respondents in Maher et al. (24) also thought they were not receiving a fair price for the amount of labor and time needed for rearing nonreplacement calves with this also limiting their desire to continue in production.

Six of the fifteen producers interviewed reported that they were using joining their dairy heifers with traditional beef sires to produce a better performing male non-replacement calf. The most hybrid common crosses were with Angus bulls. These cross-bred calves were seen to be more valuable in the marketplace and received better pricing at slaughter, either from farm or through calf rearers. In a study of Irish producers, Maher (24) reported that Angus, Limousin and Hereford were the sires that Irish dairy producers would consider using to generate dairy beef animals (24, 31). There is evidence to support the perception of Angus as a strong contender for best hybrid carcass production, as studies in New Zealand (31), the United States (32) and Australia (33) have reported that performance, carcass quality and eating quality of crossbred dairy calves sired by Angus bulls was improved compared to dairy sired animals.

Although generally offering reduced yield compared to other dairy breeds (34), Jersey beef has been identified as a particular niche product (32), showing quality traits related to marbling and palatability (35, 36). Interestingly, not many producers in this study utilized Jersey as a breed (only four of fifteen producers interviewed). In contrast to the evidence that the Jersey breed can produce a quality beef carcass (35), our cohort indicated that these male calves were extremely hard to sell, were of least value, and were therefore the commonly euthanized, similar to that reported by Irish producers (24). This suggests that greater education is required on the value proposition of different dairy beef crosses to ensure that the breeding market is informed of the evidence on the relationship between dairy beef genetic composition and carcass quality outcomes. This might improve uptake of more niche diary breeds as a viable genetic cross for high quality dairy beef production if a premium product market could be established.

One of the products of the interviews was that euthanasia of calves was a valid exploratory topic due to the variable access to market options for non-replacement male calves in Australia. Producer statements also identified a key novel finding regarding producer well-being related to experience of non-replacement calf euthanasia in the dairy industry. Euthanasia was recognized as a traumatic experience by some producers and for this reason they were not prepared to delegate this task to other employees. One previous study has identified the practice of euthanasia generating emotional strain in dairy producers (37) and chronic stress associated with euthanasia of animals in other animal professions such as the veterinary industry, has been shown to be related to increased rates of burn out (38). These finding suggests that the human impact of euthanasia of non-replacement dairy calves should also be considered as a key imperative for the generation of viable production pathways for these animals. Dairy producer well-being in relation to production practices is an area that should be further examined in future studies.

CONCLUSION

The authors believe this is the first report to examine Australian dairy farmers opinions and attitudes to production and management of non-replacement dairy calves and the dairy beef supply chain. The interviews conducted in this study showed that producers considered there are current challenges to rear non-replacement male calves and that there is a knowledge gap related to optimal practices needed to produce a beef carcass able to meet grid specifications for best return on investment. Finally, the personal impact of performing euthanasia was reported by producers, and was highlighted as a last resort, where other avenues for value-chain integration for non-replacement calves had failed. Clearly, producers are looking for options to maintain these animals as a viable income stream, and more options need to be available either on farm or through other production systems.

In response to these findings, the authors suggest that pricing structures and market stability are segments of the supply chain that could be improved to generate a viable dairy beef supply chain and create future market options for non-replacement calves and their retention in the system. This study will inform future quantitative research to expand on key areas including supply chain markets for non-replacement male calf in Australia and globally. There is also a need to further explore producer well-being related to euthanasia and management of nonreplacement male calves in the Australian setting.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors on reasonable request.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was reviewed and approved by Charles Sturt University Human Research Ethics Committee (Protocol H19225). The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- Moran J. Calf Rearing, A Practical Guide. 2nd ed. Collingwood, VIC:CSIRO Publishing (2002). doi: 10.1071/9780643069909
- Costa JHC, von Keyserlingk MAG, Weary DM. Invited review: effects of group housing of dairy calves on behavior, cognition, performance, and health. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:2453–67. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-10144
- Shivley CB, Lombard JE, Urie NJ, Weary DM, von Keyserlingk MAG. Management of preweaned bull calves on dairy operations in the United States. J Dairy Sci. (2019) 102:4489–97. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-15100
- 4. Hulbert LE, Moisá SJ. Stress, immunity, and the management of calves. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:3199–3216. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-10198
- Renaud DL, Duffield TF, LeBlanc SJ, Ferguson S, Haley DB, Kelton DF. Risk factors associated with mortality at a milk-fed veal calf facility: a prospective cohort study. *J Dairy Sci.* (2018) 101:2659–68. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13581
- Creutzinger K, Pempek J, Habing G, Proudfoot K, Locke S, Wilson D, et al. Perspectives on the management of surplus dairy calves in the United States and Canada. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:661453. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.661453
- Grandin T, Shivley C. How farm animals react and perceive stressful situations such as handling, restraint, and transport. *Animals*. (2015) 5:1233– 51. doi: 10.3390/ani5040409
- Wilson DJ, Canning D, Giacomazzi T, Keels K, Lothrop R, Renaud DL, et al. Hot topic: Health and welfare challenges in the marketing of male dairy calves-findings and consensus of an expert consultation. *J Dairy Sci.* (2020) 103:11628–35. doi: 10.3168/jds.2020-18438
- Cave JG, Callinan APL, Woonton WK. Mortalities in bobby calves associated with long distance transport. Aust Vet J. (2005) 83:82– 4. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.2005.tb12203.x
- Stafford KJ, Mellor DJ, Todd SE, Gregory NG, Bruce RA, Ward RN. The physical state and plasma biochemical profile of young calves on arrival at a slaughter plant. NZ Vet J. (2001) 49:142–9. doi: 10.1080/00480169.2001.36222
- Bolton SE, von Keyserlingk MAG. The dispensable surplus dairy calf: is this issue a wicked problem and where do we go from here? *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:660934. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.660934
- Ashfield A, Wallace M, Prendiville R, Crosson P. Bioeconomic modelling of male Holstein-Friesian dairy calf-to-beef production systems on Irish farms. *Irish J Agric Food Res.* (2014) 53:133–47. Available online at: http://hdl.handle. net/11019/758.
- Case P. Dairy Industry Takes Steps to End Bull Calf Euthanasia. Farmers Weekly. (2020). Available online at: https://www.fwi.co.uk/livestock/dairy/

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VV, AS, MC, and JQ conceived and designed the study. VV collected, compiled, analyzed the data, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to review of the manuscript and approve the submitted version.

FUNDING

VV was supported an Australian Research Training Program Scholarship from Charles Sturt University and a scholarship from the Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation. MC and JQ are supported by funding from Meat and Livestock Australia.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the participating dairy producers in this study for sharing their knowledge and personal experiences, this study could not have been undertaken without them.

dairy-industry-takes-steps-to-end-bull-calf-euthanasia (accessed December 5, 2021).

- Cardoso CS, Von Keyserlingk MAG, Hötzel MJ. Brazilian Citizens: Expectations regarding dairy cattle welfare and awareness of contentious practices. *Animals.* (2017) 7:89. doi: 10.3390/ani7120089
- 15. Bennett L. Dairy Beef Scheme Offers Alternative To Slaughter Of Unwanted Calves (2021).
- Fordyce G, Shephard R, Moravek T, McGowan MR. Australian cattle herd: a new perspective on structure, performance and production. *Anim Prod Sci.* (2021). doi: 10.1071/AN20342
- 17. Dairy Australia Ltd. Rearing Healthy Calves (2017).
- Charmaz K. Constructing Grounded Theory. Sage Melbourne, Australia (2014).
- Strauss A, Corbin J. Grounded theory methodology. *Qual Res.* (1994) 17:273– 85.
- 20. Patton MQ. *Qualitative Evaluation And Research Methods*. 2nd ed. Newbury Park, Calif: Sage Publications(1990).
- Tweed A, Charmaz K. Grounded theory methods for mental health practitioners. *Qual Res Method Ment Health Psychother*. (2012) 10:131– 46. doi: 10.1002/9781119973249.ch10
- Bowen GA. Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: a research note. Qual Res. (2008) 8:137–52. doi: 10.1177/1468794107085301
- Thornberg R. Informed Grounded Theory. Scand J Educ Res. (2012) 56:243– 59. doi: 10.1080/00313831.2011.581686
- 24. Maher JW, Clarke A, Byrne AW, Doyle R, Blake M, Cromie A, et al. Exploring the opinions of irish beef farmers regarding dairy beef integration. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:660061. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.660061
- Lowe M, Gereffi G. A Value Chain Analysis Of The U.S Beef And Dairy Industries. Centre for Globalisation, Governance and Competitiveness, Duke University. Durham, NC.: Governance and Competitiveness Centre for Globalisation, Duke University (2009).
- Drouillard JS. Current situation and future trends for beef production in the United States of America - a review. Asian-australas J Anim Sci. (2018) 31:1007–16. doi: 10.5713/ajas.18.0428
- 27. The European-Commission. Prospects For Agricultural Markets And Income in the EU 2013-2023. European Commission Brussels (2013).
- Greenwood PL, Gardner GE, Ferguson DM. Current situation and future prospects for the Australian beef industry - a review. *Asian-australas J Anim Sci.* (2018) 31:992–1006. doi: 10.5713/ajas.18.0090
- 29. Australian Dairy Industry Sustainibility Report. (2020). Available online at: https://www.sustainabledairyoz.com.au/ (accessed Otober 15, 2021).

- Bown MD, Muir PD, Thomson BC. Dairy and beef breed effects on beef yield, beef quality and profitability: a review. N Z J Agri Res. (2016) 59:174– 84. doi: 10.1080/00288233.2016.1144621
- Coleman Lucy W, Hickson RE, Schreurs NM, Martin NP, Kenyon PR, Lopez-Villalobos V, et al. Carcass characteristics and meat quality of hereford sired steers born to beef-cross-dairy and angus breeding cows. *Meat Sci.* (2016) 121:403–8. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2016.07.011
- Jaborek JR, Zerby HN, Moeller SJ, Fluharty FL, Relling AE. Evaluation of feedlot performance, carcass characteristics, carcass retail cut distribution, Warner-Bratzler shear force, and fatty acid composition of purebred Jersey and crossbred Jersey steers. *Transl Anim Sci.* (2019) 3:1475– 91. doi: 10.1093/tas/txz110
- O'Brien J. Angus Sires for Holstein Heifers. North Sydney, NSW: Meat and Livestock Australia (2007). Available online at: https://www.mla.com.au/ contentassets/025cd78f047548f1acc77c62d1f55198/pird.04,v06._final_report. pdf (accessed December 1, 2021).
- Berry DP, Judge MJ, Evans RD, Buckley F, Cromie AR. Carcass characteristics of cattle differing in Jersey proportion. J Dairy Sci. (2018) 101:11052– 60. doi: 10.3168/jds.2018-14992
- Arnett EJ, Fluharty FL, Loerch SC, Zerby HN, Zinn RA, Kuber PS. Effects of forage level in feedlot finishing diets on carcass characteristics and palatability of Jersey beef. J Anim Sci. (2012) 90:960–72. doi: 10.2527/jas. 2011-4027
- Stanqueviski F, da Silveira ALF, Missio RL, Kuss F, Paris W, Hill JAG, et al. Slaughter body weights of Jersey young bulls finished on feedlot. *Rev Bras de Zootec*. (2020) 49:1–11. doi: 10.37496/rbz4920200078

- Wagner BK, Cramer MC, Fowler HN, Varnell HL, Dietsch AM, Proudfoot KL, et al. Determination of dairy cattle euthanasia criteria and analysis of barriers to humane euthanasia in the United States: dairy producer surveys and focus groups. *Animals*. (2020) 10:770. doi: 10.3390/ani10050770
- Knesl O, Hart BL, Fine AH, Cooper L, Patterson-Kane E, Houlihan KE, et al. Veterinarians and humane endings: when is it the right time to euthanize a companion animal? *Front Vet Sci.* (2017) 4:45. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00045

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Vicic, Saliba, Campbell and Quinn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Determinants of Ruminant Farmers' Use of Sustainable Production Practices for Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation in Enugu State, Nigeria

Cynthia Ebere Nwobodo*, Blessing Nwokolo, Juliana Chinasa Iwuchukwu, Violet Amarachukwu Ohagwu and Remigius Ikechukwu Ozioko

Department of Agricultural Extension, University of Nigeria, Nsukka, Nigeria

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

George Thomas Stilwell, University of Lisbon, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Gabriela Olmos Antillón, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden Jeetendra Prakash Aryal, International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center, Mexico

*Correspondence:

Cynthia Ebere Nwobodo cynthia.nwobodo@unn.edu.ng

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 02 July 2021 Accepted: 03 January 2022 Published: 07 February 2022

Citation:

Nwobodo CE, Nwokolo B, Iwuchukwu JC, Ohagwu VA and Ozioko RI (2022) Determinants of Ruminant Farmers' Use of Sustainable Production Practices for Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation in Enugu State, Nigeria. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:735139. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.735139 A sustainable ruminant production system ensures economically viable livestock systems that meet the current and future demands of animal products as well as the environmental safety of current and future generations. The study analyzed the determinants of ruminant farmers' use of sustainable production practices for climate change adaptation and mitigation in Enugu State, Nigeria. Multistage sampling procedure was used to select ninety six (96) ruminant farmers that constituted the sample for the study. Semi-structured interview schedule with open ended questions was used in data collection. Data were analyzed using multiple regression and Pearson Moment Correlation statistics. Access to veterinary services (t = 2.056, p = 0.044), monthly household income (t = 3.582, p = 0.001) and annual income from ruminant production (t = -2.635, p = 0.011) were socio-economic factors that significantly influenced use of sustainable practices. The adjusted R- square implies that the three factors were able to explain 24% of variance in use of sustainable practices. There is a significant positive correlation (r = 0.426, p = 0.000) between knowledge level of farmers and their use of sustainable production practices. Schemes for financial inclusion such as payment for ecosystem services can spur farmers to adopt mitigation strategies. Improved climate change knowledge can enhance ruminant farmer's resilience to the increasing impacts of climate change.

Keywords: animal welfare, ruminant production, climate change, sustainable agriculture, adaptation and mitigation

INTRODUCTION

Since the Rio meeting of 1992, the world has committed to reducing greenhouse gases which cause climate change and to invest in processes that reduce the impact of climate change on lives and livelihoods of populations. Climate change adaptation and mitigation have therefore been on the front burner of scientific research, attracting international debates, and consensus. The emergent of numerous climate change research gave rise to interests in sustainability and with the Sustainable Development Goals coming on board, researchers and development practitioners have directed efforts to sustainable production. Ruminant production and climate change are strongly inter-dependent. The ruminant sector contributes to greenhouse gases (GHGs) emissions mainly

through the emission of methane (CH₄), largely from enteric fermentation, nitrous oxide (N₂O) emission from manure and the use of nitrogenous fertilizers in growing feed, and carbondioxide (CO₂) from fossil fuel burning (1). Globally, ruminants contribute about 80 percent of livestock emissions of carbon dioxide (CO₂), 47 percent of Methane (CH₄), and 24 percent of Nitrous oxide (N₂O) emissions (2, 3). About 90% of livestock emissions are produced by ruminants alone through enteric fermentation (4). Enteric fermentation methane (CH₄), emitted from ruminants during digestion, is a main source of global methane emissions and is responsible for 25% of global methane (S).

As ruminant production increases worldwide due to increasing population, global increase in income and consequent increase in demand for animal protein, wastes from ruminant production is becoming a serious environmental concern. The expansion in production of ruminant animals in response to the increasing demand leads to resultant expanded quantities and areas of production. These have detrimental effects on the environment (6, 7). Obviously, in spite of their growing global importance, livestock are increasingly being held responsible for many adverse effects on the environments including climate change, loss of vegetation cover, reduced biodiversity, soil erosion and compaction, and excessive run-off often from overgrazing (8).

On the other hand, ruminants are adversely affected by the detrimental effects of extreme weather events. Climate change extremes and seasonal fluctuations in herbage quantity and quality affects the well-being of livestock leading to declines in production and reproduction efficiency (9). For instance, temperature affects most of the critical factors for ruminant production, such as water and feed availability, production, reproduction and health of animals (10). High temperatures predisposes ruminants to physiological stress and diseases. Also, high temperatures trigger the incidence of transmittable chronic respiratory diseases: coryza, salmonellosis and infectious laryngotracheritis (11). Thermal livestock stress decreases feed intake and efficiency of feed conversion, especially for livestock that are fed large amounts of high-quality feeds. In the case of cattle, feed intake reduction leads to a negative energy balance and reduced weight gain (10). Climate change affects feed availability and quality leading to nutrient deficiencies resulting in metabolic disease of varying nature. Mineral deficiencies results in anemia, retarded growth, and reproductive disorders in livestock. Also, the nutritional stress increases the case of pregnancy toxemia and neonatal death due to poor milk yield and resultant reduction in immunity with consequent proneness to many infectious diseases (12).

Vector-borne diseases are also highly influenced by climatic factors. Climate change result to an increased spread of existing vector-borne diseases and macro-parasites of animals as well as the emergence and spread of new diseases (13). According to Ashraf et al. (14), climate change exerts both direct and indirect influences on the transmission of vector borne diseases, affecting timing of outbreak or the intensity of an outbreak, establishing a temporal linkage and affecting geographical distribution, establishing a spatial linkage of many infectious diseases in animals. Prolonging of the warm season due to climate change may increase the number of cycles of infection possible within 1 year for warm- or cold-associated diseases, respectively. As climate change disrupts rainfall patterns, there are high risks of a number of infectious diseases of ruminants including zoonotic illnesses. For instance, under high humidity, the incidence of *helmenthosis* increases in ruminants (11). Also, prolonged period of no rainfall leads to drought spells which affects pasture availability, quantity and quality. Feed scarcity due to limited pasture leads to stress, immunosuppression and finally predispose ruminant animals to different diseases and death.

Ruminant production is very important to Nigeria's economy not only as source of animal protein but as source of livelihood for the rural poor farmers. In Southeast Nigeria, ruminants are specially raised as source of investment in which they could serve as source of income for household expenses, meat, and manure, used in social and religious ceremonies and as a source of insurance against crop failure (15) especially resulting from climate-related shocks. Sheep and goat accounts for majority of the ruminant production in Enugu State with the cattle being produced mainly for ceremonial activities. All members of the household including men, women and children are involved in the management of ruminant production in the area. Enugu State, ruminant production is faced with numerous challenges ranging from seasonal feed shortages, high mortality rate as a result of diseases and poor access to veterinary services, low reproduction and general sub-optimal management practices. Climate change further increases the already overwhelming risks facing ruminant production in the area.

The strong inter-dependence between ruminant animal production and climate change calls for concerted efforts toward sustainable production of ruminant animals. Hoving et al. (16) noted that sustainable intensification is critical to global production of animal protein and for the farmers and livelihoods that are dependent on livestock. Sustainable agriculture is an agriculture that must produce adequate amounts of high-quality food, protect its resources and be both environmentally safe and profitable (17). Sustainability rests on the principle that the needs of present generation should be met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs (18). Sustainable production practices are those practices that in as much as they increase production, does little or no harm to the environment. Therefore, the quest to increase ruminant production to meet growing demand should not be at the detriment of the environment. Ensuring economically viable livestock systems that meet the current and future demands of animal products as well as the environmental safety of current and future generations are the interests of a sustainable ruminant production system. Sustainable intensification of ruminant production can be achieved by improving animal health, welfare and production, without harming the environment (19). Hence, adaptation and mitigation strategies in ruminant production need to recognize the unique challenge to decrease absolute emissions, largely through reduced emissions intensity, while meeting the growing global demand for meat and animal products (20). The FAO (2) noted that improving feeding practices and digestibility of diets, improving yields through genetics, feeding practices and animal health, reducing land use change from feed crop cultivation and pasture expansion, improving manure management, and improving the efficiency of feed crop production, are potential mitigation pathways in ruminant production. Hence, the following questions suffice: Do ruminant farmers use sustainable production practices? Therefore, the study sought to: identify sustainable production practices of ruminant farmers for climate change adaptation and mitigation, determine socio-economic factors influencing farmers' use of sustainable practices, determine the relationship between ruminant farmers' knowledge level and their use of sustainable production practices and examine the challenges encountered by ruminant farmers in using sustainable production practices.

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) has been largely applied to the study of environmental science research as it can provide valuable implication not only in predicting and managing individual behavior, but also for increasing social and environmental sustainability (21). This paper is based on TPB) which stems from the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA). The TRA posits that attitude and subjective norms are the determinants of intention, and that intention directly affects behavior to some extent (22). In the TPB, individual intention mainly depends on three determinants: attitude, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control (21). The theory posits that behavioral intentions are influenced by the attitude about the likelihood that the behavior will have the expected outcome and the subjective evaluation of the risks and benefits of that outcome (23). The two theories are based on the premise that individuals make logical, reasoned decisions to engage in specific behaviors by evaluating the information available to them (24). The performance of a behavior is determined by the individual's intention to engage in it, which is influenced by the value the individual places on the behavior, the ease with which it can be done and the views of significant others and the perception that the behavior is within his/her control. This means that individuals will adopt a behavior which they think they can benefit from and which they have capacity to use within their own specific circumstances and which its adoption is supported by the members of their social system. Knowledge is a prerequisite for effective action (25). Li et al. (26) noted that factors which influence pro-environmental behavior of individuals include environmental knowledge, demographic factors, institutional factors, economic factors, social and cultural factors, motivation, and so on. Farmers' knowledge about a technology is often influenced by their access to information (27-30) which could come from extension, media and the farmers' social network (28, 31, 32). This knowledge influences farmers' evaluative capacity (30) which in turn influences farmers' views about the practices (perceptions) (33). Brokensha et al. (34) noted that farmers' perception, knowledge and practice influence how farming decisions are made. It follows therefore that if farmers have positive perception about sustainable production practices, they are likely to practice them. Their perception is however influenced by their knowledge of such practices. On the other hand, the socio-economic characteristics of a farmer determines whether or not he/she will adopt those practices. Carpenter et al. (35) and Prokopy et al. (30) identified farm and farmer characteristics as important factors enhancing a farmer's ability to adopt an innovation and considered it as a resilience capacity. Prokopy et al. (30), Baumgart-Getz et al. (27), and Li et al. (26) noted that important socio-economic variables influencing farmers' adoption decisions (including proenvironmental decisions) are: age, education (formal education and farmer training (extension), marital status, income, farming experience, tenure, social network, labor, place of residence, capital, information and so on. However, a short coming of this model is that is does not take care of other exogenous factors which could influence an individual's choice of using or not using a particular practice. This was taken care of in the study by adapting and modifying the TPB.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted in Enugu State, Nigeria. The State is located in the Southeast Geo-political Zone of the Country, lying between latitude 5° 56'N and 7°06'N, and longitude 6°53'E and 7°55'E (36). Multistage sampling procedure was used to select ninety six (96) ruminant farmers that were used for the study. At the first stage, two Agricultural zones (Nsukka and Awgu) were selected through purposive sampling technique from the six agricultural zones in the State. At the second stage, two blocks were selected from each zone using simple random technique giving a total of four blocks. The blocks were Nsukka and Igbo-Etiti (Nsukka zone), Awgu and Aninri (Awgu zone). At the third stage, two circles were selected from each block through simple random sampling technique to give a total of eight circles. The circles were Eziani and Obukpa from Nsukka Block, Ekwegbe, and Ozalla from Igbo-Etiti Block, Mgbowo, and Akwu from Awgu Block, Amorji, and Amokwe from Aninri Block. At stage four, from a list of ruminant farmers provided by the extension worker for each circle, 12 farmers each were selected through systematic random sampling technique. Thus, the total sample size for the study was ninety-six (96).

Semi-structured interview schedule with open-ended sections was used in data collection. To ensure face validity, the interview schedule was validated by three experts while a pre-test was done to ensure reliability of instrument. Written consent was presented and read out to the respondents.

(37) noted two ways of measuring sustainability indicators as: (a) practice-based indicators or action-oriented indicators, i.e., using information on farmers' practices or other causal variables (corresponding to most of pressure indicators), and (b) effectbased indicators or result-oriented indicators, i.e., based on an assessment of the effect at different stages of the cause-effect chain (from emission to impact indicators). For the purpose of this paper, sustainability was measured with practice-based indicators. The study used farmers' practices as a measure of their

use of sustainable production practices in ruminant production. Respondents indicated sustainable production practices (SPP) they used for climate change adaptation and mitigation. Each adaptation and mitigation practice used was scored one and a sum of the scores was generated for each respondent. Socioeconomic variable were measured as sex (Male = 1, Female =2), age (years), educational level (years), household size (number of individual in a household), access to extension (number of times in the past 1 year), access to veterinary service (number of times in past 1 year), years of farming experience (number of years), years of ruminant farming experience (number of years), access to credit facilities (Yes = 1, No = 0), annual household income (in naira), annual income form ruminant production (naira). Challenges encountered using sustainable practices were stated and rated on a four-point Likert-type scale of great extent (4), moderate extent (3), little extent (2), and No extent (1) with a mean/cut-off point of 2.5. Any variable with mean of 2.5 and above is accepted as a challenge faced by ruminant farmers in the use of SPP. All interview and discussions were done using local dialect. Data were analyzed using percentage and mean scores, and multiple regression. The socioeconomic factors influencing use of sustainable production practices were measured with a regression model as presented in the model below.

$$Y = \alpha + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \beta_3 X_3 + \beta_4 X_4 + \beta_5 X_5 + \beta_6 X_6 + \beta_7 X_7 + \beta_8 X_8 + \beta_{12} X_{12} + U$$

Where:

Y = Use of sustainable production practice (Number of sustainable production practices used by the ruminant farmer)

 $\beta_{1-} \beta_{15} =$ Regression coefficient

 $X_1 = Age (years)$

 $X_2 = Sex (Male = 1, Female = 0)$

 X_3 = Marital status [Married = 1 (Living with spouse), Not married (Not living with spouse) = 0]

 X_4 = Educational level [Educated=1 (any form of formal education), not educated =0 (no formal education]

 $X_5 =$ Years of farming experience (years)

 $X_6 =$ Years of experience in ruminant production (years)

 X_7 = Household size (number of people living under the same roof and having at least one meal per day together)

 $X_8 = Extension \text{ contact}$ in the last 1 year (Yes = 1, otherwise = 0)

 X_9 = Access to veterinary services in the last 1 year (Yes = 1, otherwise = 0)

 $X_{10} = Access to credit facilities in the last 1 year (Yes = 1, otherwise = 0)$

 X_{11} = Monthly household income (naira)

 X_{12} = Annual income from ruminant production (naira)

U = Error team

Pearson moment correlation was used to determine relationship between knowledge level of ruminant farmers on climate change (KLRFCC) and their use of sustainable production practices (SPP). Knowledge statements were generated for each of causes, effects, and adaptation and mitigation measures to climate change. Respondents reacted to a set of thirty (34) KLRFCC test statements by indicating "True" or "False". Each correct answer was scored "1" while an incorrect answer was scored "0". A composite score was therefore generated for each respondent for knowledge on climate change and actual use of sustainable production practices (SPP). The relationship was measured at 0.05 probability level.

RESULTS

Climate Risks Faced by Ruminant Farmers

A high proportion of the respondents (88.5%) experienced reduced feed/pasture availability; and 94.8% indicated that climate change has resulted in increased price of grains and feed supplement as shown in Table 1. As uncertainties in onset and duration of rains increase as a result of climate change, the quantity and quality of pastures decline and farmers would resort to feed supplementation in order to cope. The competition for feed supplements will no doubt lead to high prices which means more financial pressure on the ruminant farmers. Also, 89.6% perceived increased livestock disease occurrence while 88.5% experienced increased mortality of animals due climate change. Higher risks of infection as a result of high temperatures could overwhelm the coping capacity of ruminant farmers leading to increased mortality of the animals. Similarly, 84.4% of the respondents indicated reduced growth rate and 81.3% perceived lower feed intake. Reduced growth rate is directly linked to low feed intake. When feed intake of animals are affected, major metabolic processes are retarded leading to poor growth rate, reduced milk production, low resistance to diseases and death may result. About 60.4% experienced heat stress on their animals and 54.2% experienced reduced water availability. High temperatures causes drought and heat stress on animals. These triggers physiological disorders and reduced activity in ruminants. This corroborates Malami and Tukur (38) that climate change has led to reduction on feed resources, loss in weight, increased mortality of young animals, increased heat load on the animals from cloudless skies for most part of the year, increased diseases and pest incidence in ruminant production. These effects will no doubt result to low production thereby impacting negatively on the farmers' income. Climate change is therefore hampering sustainable livestock production with the result that availability, accessibility and affordability of animal protein will be greatly affected.

Sustainable Production Practices of Farmers for Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation

Results of the various adaptation options used by ruminant animal as contained in **Table 2** show that almost all (99.0%) of the respondents adapted to the effects of climate change by diversification with non-farming businesses. Ruminant farmers will better adapt to the often sudden and devastating effects of climate change like flooding by engaging in other income generating activities that are not highly dependent on weather events. Most (96.9%) of the respondents adapted by providing sunshade, and 95.8% adapted by ensuring adequate ventilation in the pens. Provision of sunshade and adequate ventilation of pens basically used as measures to reduce the effects of high temperatures which could predispose animals to heat stress and
 TABLE 1 | Climate risks faced by ruminant farmers.

Risks factors	Frequency	Percentage
Heat stress on animals	58	60.4
Lower feed intake	78	81.3
Reduced growth rate	81	84.4
Reduced milk production	7	7.3
Reduced milk quality	4	4.2
Reduced feed/pasture availability	85	88.5
Reduced water availability	52	54.2
Reduced quality of pasture available	44	45.8
Increase livestock diseases occurrence	86	89.6
Increased mortality of animals	85	88.5
Reduced meat quality	4	4.2
Reduced fertility	27	28.1
Increase price of grain/feed supplement	91	94.8
Change in the distribution of pests	10	10.4
Cold stress	9	9.4

certain ill-health conditions. Most (94.8%) of the respondents also adapted by use of local breeds. Some local breeds are more resistant to extreme weather and have developed immunity to diseases prevalent in the local environment. The most common local breed present in the study area is the West African Dwarf (WAD) goat and sheep which are well-known to be resistant to trypanosomiasis prevalent in humid parts of the country. Also, 92.7% adapted by diversifying livestock production with crop farming. Diversification of farming enterprise helps farmers to withstand the potential economic losses associated with climate shocks. It increases the resilience of livelihoods to climate impacts (39).

Similarly, the majority (89.6%) of the respondents adapted by providing plenty drinking water for animals, 88.5% adapted by diversifying their livestock types, while 87.5% engaged in intensive rearing/home feeding of animals. Provision of plenty fresh drinking water can help cushion the effect of heat stress while diversification of livestock can help reduce the infestation and spread of weather- related illnesses that are more prevalent in a particular specie of animal (10). Also, 63.5% adapted by medication/treatment of animals. Regular treatment of diseases improves herd health and productivity thereby reducing death of animals and consequent economic loss resulting from climate change.

These results show that ruminant farmers are adapting to climate change by using various sustainable management practices. Improved management practices which do not increase harm done to the environment are advocated for sustainable ruminant production (40). These practice ensure that farmers continue to increase production to enhance profitability of their livelihood activities while constituting minimal or no harm to the environment.

Results show that respondents adopted mitigation options as indicated by 94.8% who engage in frequent removal of effluents, while 90.6% diversify animal feed and 83.3% used supplementary

TABLE 2 Sustainable production practices used by ruminant farmers for climate
change adaptation and mitigation.

Adaptation options	Percentage scores	Mitigation options	Percentage scores		
Reducing stocking density	79.2	Planting of trees around animal houses	22.9		
Provision of sun shade	96.9	Reduced manure storage time	4.2		
Adequate ventilation of pens	95.8	Providing bedding materials during cold	7.3		
Use of resistant breeds	84.4				
Medication/treatment of animals	63.5	Using supplementary feeding	83.3		
Diversification with non-farming businesses	99.0	Frequent removal of effluents	94.8		
Diversification of livestock	88.5	Using rotational grazing system	24.0		
Saving of animal feed (hay, straw, silage, etc.)	3.1	Intensive rearing of animals/home feeding	87.5		
Feeding with higher proportion of concentrates	6.3	Provision of vegetative cover (grasses) around animal farm to reduce heat radiation from the soil	4.2		
Provision of plenty fresh drinking water	89.6	Reduce temperature in manure storage	3.1		
Use of local breeds resistant to prevailing climate conditions	94.8	Addition of essential oils to animal diet reduce emissions	4.2		
Vaccination of animals	4.2	Diversification of animal feed	90.6		
Diversification with crop farming	92.7	Reducing stocking density	79.2		
Harvesting forage for ensiling at an early stage of maturity	3.1	-	-		
Seasonal migration (movement) of animals	3.1	-	-		
Cross breeding with resistant breeds	12.5	-	-		

Bold values: Sustainable production practices used.

feeding. Deficiencies and metabolic diseases caused by feed scarcity and poor quality feed can be cushioned through feed diversification and use of supplements while removal of effluents can ameliorates the build-up of GHGs. About 87.5% engage in intensive rearing and 79.2% engage in reduction of stocking density which leads to lesser emissions of GHGs (41).

It is noteworthy however that a number of sustainable practices were yet to be embraced by a good number of TABLE 3 | Socio-economic factors influencing respondents' use of sustainable practices.

Model	Unstandard	lized coefficients	Standardi		
	В	Std error	Beta	т	Sig
Constant	9.911	1.349		7.346	0.000
Age	0.046	0.031	0.309	1.493	0.141
Sex	-0.460	0.499	-0.122	-0.922	0.360
Marital status	-0.171	0.613	-0.033	-0.280	0.781
Educational level	0.758	0.584	0.173	1.298	0.199
Years of farming experience	-0.010	0.035	-0.069	-0.297	0.768
Years of experience in ruminant production	-0.015	0.030	-0.087	-0.502	0.618
Size of household	0.021	0.107	0.022	0.193	0.847
Extension contact	-3.586	1.966	-0.195	-1.823	0.073
Access to veterinary services	0.901	0.438	0.239	2.056	0.044
Access to credits facilities	0.367	0.949	0.044	0.387	0.700
Estimated monthly income	5.927-5	0.000	0.473	3.582	0.001
Annual income from ruminant production	-8.345-5	0.000	-0.382	-2.635	0.011

Dependent variable: number of sustainable production practices, P = 0.05, R = 0.604, $R^2 = 0.365$, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.236$. Bold values: Significant values.

TABLE 4 | Correlation between knowledge level and number of sustainable practices used.

		Knowledge	Number of sustainable
		level	production practices used
Knowledge level and use of SPP	Correlation coefficient	1	0.426
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.000
	Ν	96	96

Source: Field data, 2018–2019.

ruminant farmers. A closer look at the results suggests that respondents were less engaged in mitigation practices. Planting trees around animal houses contributes to carbon sequestration as well as providing shading to animal houses in extreme weather conditions (10, 16), feeding with higher proportion of concentrates reduces methane release during enteric fermentation (42), addition of essential oils in feed reduces methane release during enteric fermentation (43, 44), reduced manure storage time lowers the emissions of nitrous oxide and methane by volatilization (10, 45), while reduced temperature in manure storage (manure cooling) reduces methane formation (46). The implication of the low use of the mitigation measures is that more harm will continue to be done on the environment by ruminant farmers in the area. On the other hand, the results reveal that proactive measures to possible effects of impending climate catastrophes were not widely practiced by the respondents. For instance, harvesting silage at early stage of maturity helps to ensure nutritious herbage (16, 42) even during drought. seasonal migration of animals helps farmers avoid impending climate risks like drought, flood, and disease epidemics (47), storing of animal feed can help ensure availability of enough quantity of feed in periods of scarcity such as drought, while immunization/vaccination of animals helps to prevent disease epidemic among herds which can be triggered by climate extremes (39). Harvesting of silage and storing of forage for use during drought periods could reduce migration and the consequent incessant farmer-herder conflicts which has resulted to unprecedented loss of lives and properties in the country.

Socio-Economic Factors Influencing Respondents' Use of Sustainable Practices

Table 3 shows the influence of socio-economic characteristics of respondents on their use of sustainable production practices. The overall result was significant (F = 2.829, p = 0.004), implying that socio-economic characteristics of ruminant farmers had significant influence on their use of sustainable production practices. The regression results show that among the socioeconomic factors, access to veterinary services (t = 2.056, p <0.05) had significant positive influence on use of sustainable production practices. This implies that ruminant farmers with access to veterinary services engaged more sustainable production practices than those without access. This could be attributed to the fact that veterinarians supply farmers with relevant advice on sustainable strategies used in dealing with the impacts of climate change on health of ruminant animals. Also, monthly household income had significant positive influence (t = 3.582, p < 0.05) on the use of sustainable production practices. Household income in this study refers to the totality of income generated (estimated monthly) by all members of a household including farm and non-farm incomes. This means that higher income status of households enhances the use of sustainable production practices. The result may stem from the fact that a number of sustainable production practice may require extra expenses and household members can willingly and easily offer financial assistance to the household member rearing ruminants. The implication of this is that relevant bodies such as development agencies, governments

TABLE 5 Challenges to use of sustainable production practices in ruminant
production.

Constraints	Mean	Std deviation
Lack of funds	3.71	0.78
High cost of feeds	2.41	1.25
High prevalence of animal diseases	2.77	0.83
Poor educational level of farmers	2.00	1.01
Failed government policies	1.70	0.95
Urbanization	1.14	0.57
Inadequate storage facilities	1.51	0.81
Glut when marketing during shock	1.27	0.62
Inadequate extension services	2.37	1.08
Inadequate manpower	2.20	1.15
Poor awareness on sustainable production practices	2.22	1.16
Water scarcity	1.70	0.81
Pressure on grazing lands	1.45	0.80
Lack of access to improved breeds	1.56	0.90
Theft	1.47	0.94
Inadequate modern farm input	1.56	0.89
Lack of good management skills	1.99	1.05
High cost of drugs	2.68	1.11
Transportation issues	1.39	0.64
Inadequate basic infrastructure	1.50	0.82
Land scarcity	2.52	1.24
Poor attitude to animal production	1.71	1.10
Cultural influence	1.03	0.18

Cut-off = 2.5. Bold values: equal to or greater than the cut-off point.

and financial institutions could support the use of sustainable production practices through programmes aimed at increasing the financial base of ruminant farmers. Terfa and William (48) stated that since rural farm households in sub-Saharan Africa are vulnerable to climate change as they have low financial base, it is crucial to examine how financial inclusion can enhance their resilience to the increasing impact of climate change.

On the other hand, results show that annual income from ruminant production had significant negative influence (t =-2.635, p < 0.05) on use of sustainable practices. This could mean that larger farms tend to engage in unsustainable practices than smaller farmers. According to Lin et al. (49), large scale livestock production increases the impact of livestock on GHGs emissions which includes a variety of production-related activities such as over grazing, enteric fermentation, feed-crop production with fertilizers and burning of fossil fuel through transportation of inputs, outputs and products. This result implies that ruminant farmers tend to overlook their production activities once their herd size gets larger. This is attributable to poor management arising from the financial, labor and other demands required in taking care of large herd size. Advocates of sustainable development could target larger ruminant farms in the provision of incentives for enhancing sustainable production of ruminant.

The R square value is the proportion of the variability in the use of sustainable production practices which was explained by the regression model. The adjusted R square is the estimate of r^2 for the population. Therefore, access to veterinary services, monthly income and income from ruminant production were able to explain 24% of the variance in the use of sustainable practices by respondents. The TPB posits that individuals will adopt a behavior which they think they can benefit from and which they have capacity to use within their own specific circumstances. This result support the theory in that it shows that the ruminant farmers can use those sustainable practices for which they have financial capacity to adopt.

Relationship Between Respondents' Knowledge Level on Climate Change (KLCC) and Their Use of Sustainable Production Practices (SPP)

Table 4 shows a Pearson Moment correlation between ruminant farmers' knowledge level on climate change (KLCC) and their use of sustainable production practices (SPP). Results show that there is a significant positive correlation (r = 0.426, p < 0.05) between KLCC and their use of SPP. This means that higher knowledge level of ruminant farmers on climate change enhances use of sustainable production practices. Nwobodo and Agwu (18) had noted that climate change knowledge level of farmers needed to be improved in order to foster effective adaptation and mitigation as continuous neglect of cognitive adaptive capacity of individual actors on climate change will undermine efforts of attaining the goals of current and future adaptation strategies. The implication of this is that climate change communicative interventions such as trainings and symposiums should target ruminant farmers to boost their knowledge and enhance their use of sustainable practices. Such interventions could focus more on activities that enhance mitigation by reducing greenhouse gas emissions thereby reducing catastrophic events resulting from climate change. This will promote long term resilience of ruminant farming systems. Pretty and Bharucha (50) suggest improvement of farmers' knowledge and capacity through the use of farmer field schools, videos and modern information communication technologies.

Challenges to Use of Sustainable Production Practices

The challenges (**Table 5**) farmers encounter in using sustainable practice in ruminant production were: lack of funds (M = 3.71, SD = 0.78), land scarcity (M = 2.52, SD = 1.24), high prevalence of animal diseases (M = 2.77, SD = 0.83), and high cost of drugs (M = 2.68, SD = 1.11). Land scarcity and lack of funds hinders expansion of ruminant production enterprise. Farmers are limited in the number of animals they can keep because of insufficient fund and limited land area. Farmers in the area could only construct small pens within the available land which can only contain limited number of animals. This will restrict the spaces available and could subject the animal to overcrowding. Respondents narrated how livestock diseases such as tryponosomiasis, mastitis, brucellosis, foot and mouth disease,

ecto- parasites and endo-parasites are reported had constrained their ruminant production enterprise. They stated that high cost of drugs and veterinary services to attend to sick animals is very high leaving many of the farmers without regular access veterinary services. Offor et al. (51) had noted that insufficient fund and disease incidence were the major constraints identified by small ruminant farmers. The increased incidences of diseases outbreak resulting from climate change without regular access to veterinary services leads to high mortality which translates to huge economic losses to ruminant farmers.

The standard deviations from almost all the results were less than zero (0), except for high cost of drugs. This suggests that respondents had convergent view on the challenges they faced in using sustainable production practices. However, respondents had little bit of divergent view on high cost of drug. This could mean that high cost of drug is relative to the income level of each of the respondents. Most of the ruminant farmers were poor and would find it costly to afford basic drugs for their animals. Having identified diseases outbreak as a major constraint, the farmers would not have complained about the cost of drugs if they were high income earners.

DISCUSSION

Ruminant farmers make use of sustainable production practices. However, they made more use of adaptation practices and little of mitigation practices. They may have engaged more in adaptation because those measures are more or less ad hoc, offering immediate relief to the effects of climate change. This is attributable to their low scale of production which does not encourage long term investments especially in practices that do not yield immediate results. Also, farmers may not be inclined to adopting mitigation measures if they do not see a tangible link between such measures and farm productivity and/or household food security. Wollenberg et al. (52) argue that smallholder farmers in developing countries prioritize immediate benefits and are more likely to adopt mitigation measures if they perceive co-benefits or outcomes in using such measure in enhancing productivity and improved household food security. Ruminant farmers could be encouraged to adopt mitigation strategies through schemes such as payment for ecosystem services, increased prices for sustainable low carbon impact products. Agricultural development agencies and governments could mainstream mitigation of climate change through such policies that offer incentives to ruminant farmers who adopt mitigation measures. Although the number of sustainable productive practices used appears to be limited in terms of explaining the use of SPP. However, the challenges to use throws

REFERENCES

 Rivera-Ferre MG, Lopez -i- Gelats F, Howden M, Smith P, Morton JF, Herrero M. Re-framing the climate change debate in the livestock sector: mitigation and adaptation options. WIREs Clim Change. (2016) 7:869–892. doi: 10.1002/wcc.421 explained other factors that could constrain or enhance use. Lack of funds, high prevalence of animal diseases, high cost of drugs and land scarcity were the challenges faced by farmers in using sustainable production practices. Having access to veterinary services, estimated monthly income were the socio-economic factors that positively influence farmers use of sustainable practices while annual income from ruminant production negatively influence farmers use of sustainable practices.

CONCLUSION

Relevant policies that promote financial inclusion such as improved access to credits, loans and grants will help ruminant farmers build resilience while minimizing their contributions to climate change. The significant positive correlation between knowledge level on climate change and use of SPP implies that more knowledge of climate change issues could translate to better adaptation to and mitigation of climate change. Therefore, agricultural extension agencies should prioritize adaptation and mitigation in its tool kit. Famer-to-farmer extension should be encouraged in order to offer ruminant farmers more opportunities to learn from fellow farmers who could act as climate change vanguards by development agencies. More sophisticated adaptation and mitigation strategies could be introduced to farmers in the area. Governments could make provisions for veterinary services at a subsidized rate for farmers.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study involving human participants was reviewed and approved by the Department of Agricultural Extension, University of Nigeria, Nsukka. Written informed consent of the participants was received during the field survey.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CN conceived and conceptualized the study and wrote the draft of the manuscript. BN wrote the background, collected the data, and wrote part of the manuscript. JI scrutinized and improved the manuscript. VO and RO read and corrected the background and methodology. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

^{2.} Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. *Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Ruminant Supply Chains: A Global Life Cycle Assessment.* Rome: FAO (2013).

^{3.} Humane Society International. An HSI Report: The Impact of Animal Agriculture on Global Warming and Climate Change (HSI) 2011. Retrieved from: http://www.humanesociety.org/assets/pdfs/farm/hsus-the-impact-of-

animal\penalty-\@M-agriculture-on-global-warming-and-climate-change. pdf

- Varijakshapanicker P, Mckune S, Miller L, Hendrickx S, Balehegn M, Dahl GE, et al. Sustainable livestock systems to improve human health, nutrition, economic status. *Anim Front*. (2019) 9:39–50. doi: 10.1093/af/vfz041
- Zhang YW, McCarl BA, Jones JPH. An overview of mitigation and adaptation needs and strategies for the livestock sector. *Climate*. (2017) 5:95. doi: 10.3390/cli5040095
- Tessema W, Ingenbleek P, Trijp H. Pastoralism sustainability and marketing: a review. Agron Sustain Dev. (2014) 34:75–92. doi: 10.1007/s13593-01 3-0167-4
- Behnke GD, Pittelkow CM, Nafziger ED, Villamil MB. Exploring the relationship between Greenhouse emissions, yield, and soil properties in cropping systems. *Agriculture*. (2018) 8:62. doi: 10.3390/agriculture8050062
- Orheruata AM, Omoyakhi JM. Livestock-environment interaction: issues and options in Nigeria. J Appl Sci Environ Manage. (2008) 12:129–33. doi: 10.4314/jasem.v11i4.55178
- Sejian V. Climate change: impact on production and reproduction, adaptation mechanism and mitigation strategies in small ruminants. A review. *Indian J Small Ruminants*. (2013) 19:1–21. doi: 10.1163/15707563-00002438
- Rojas-Downing MM, Pouyan AN, Harrigan T, Woznicki SA. Climate change and livestock: impacts, adaptation, and mitigation. *Clim Risk Manage*. (2017) 16:145–63. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2017.02.001
- Biobaku KT, Amid SA. Predisposing factors associated with diseases in animals in Nigeria and possible botanical immunostimulants and immunomodulators: a review. *Bangl J Vet Med.* (2018) 16:87–101. doi: 10.3329/bjvm.v16i1.37381
- Shinde AK, Sejian V. Sheep husbandry under changing climate scenario in India: an overview. *Indian J Anim Sci.* (2013) 83:998–1008.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Desertification. Available online at: http://www.fao.org/desertification/default.asp?lang=en, on(accessed April 18, 2019)
- Ashraf A, Mohammad MD, Basharat MW, Showkat AS, Mir S, Majid S. Climate change and infectious diseases of animals: a review. *J Entomol Zool Stud.* (2017) 5:1470–7.
- Anyanwu NJ, Ogualu JO, Odoemena VU, Kalio GA, Epke II. Sheep and goat farming in Imo State Southeast Nigeria: A traditional vocation at the verge of extinction. *Nigerian J Anim Product.* (2020) 47:237– 46. doi: 10.51791/njap.v47i4.70
- Hoving IE, Stienezen MWJ, Hiemstra SJ, van Dooren HJ, Buisonje FE. Adaptation of Livestock Systems to Climate Change, Funstions of grassland, Breeding, Health and Housing. Wageningen UR Livestock Research (2014).
- Velten S, Leventon J, Jager N, Newig J. What is sustainable agriculture? A systematic review. Sustainability. (2015) 7:7833–65. doi: 10.3390/su7067833
- Nwobodo CE, Agwu AE. Knowledge level of youth farmers on climate change in Benue State of Nigeria. *Afr J Agric Res.* (2015) 10:2875– 81. doi: 10.5897/AJAR2015.9680
- Giuseppe P, Ana HDF, Bruno S, Agostino S, Luigi C, Nicola L, et al. Sustainable ruminant production to help feed the planet. *Italian J Anim Sci.* (2017) 16:140–71. doi: 10.1080/1828051X.2016.1260500
- Henry B, Charmley E, Eckard R, Gaughan JB, Hegarty R. Livestock production in a changing climate: adaptation and mitigation research in Australia. *Crop Pasture Sci.* (2012) 63:191–202. doi: 10.1071/CP11169
- Si H, Shi J, Tang D, Wen S, Miao W, Duan K. Application of theory of planned behavior in environmetal scienc: a comprehensive bibiometric Analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:1–26. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16152788
- Fishbein M, Ajzen I. Belief, Attitude, Intention, Behaviour: An Introduction to Theory Research. London: Addison-Wesley. (1975).
- LaMorte WW. The theory of Planned Behavior. (2019). Available online at: http://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/MPHModules/SB/ BehavioralChangeTheories/BehavioralChangeTheories3.html on 05/01/2020
- 24. Ryan S, Carr A. Applying the biopsychological model to the management of rheumatic disease. In: Conner M, editor. *Rheumatology*. International Encyclopedia of the Social and Behavioural Sciences (Amsterdam: Elsevier) (2010).
- Ajzen I, Joyce N, Sheikh S, Cote NG. Knowledge and the prediction of behaviour: the role of information accuracy in the theory of planned behavior. *Basic Appl Soc Psychol.* (2011) 33:101–17. doi: 10.1080/01973533.2011.568834

- Li D, Zhao L, Ma S, Shao S, Zhang L. What influences an individual's proenvironmental behavior? A literature review. *Resour Conserv Recycl.* (2019) 146:28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.03.024
- Baumgart-Getz A, Prokopy LS, Floress K. Why farmers adopt best management practice in the United States: a metaanalysis of the adoption literature. J Environ Manage. (2012) 96:17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.10.006
- Greiner R, Patterson L, Miller O. Motivations, risk perceptions and adoption of conservation practices by farmers. *Agric Syst.* (2009) 99:86– 104. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2008.10.003
- Lambrecht I, Vanlauwe B, Merckx R, Maertens M. Understanding the process of agricultural technology adoption: mineral fertilizer in eastern DR Congo. *World Dev.* (2014) 59:132–46. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.01.024
- Prokopy L, Floress K, Klotthor-Weinkauf D, Baumgart-Getz A. Determinants of agricultural best management practice adoption: evidence from the literature. J Soil Water Conserv. (2008) 63:300–11. doi: 10.2489/jswc.63.5.300
- Knowler D, Bradshaw B. Farmers' adoption of conservation agriculture: a review and synthesis of recent research. *Food Policy*. (2007) 32:25– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2006.01.003
- Pannell DJ, Marshall GR, Barr N, Curtis A, Vanclay F, Wilkinson R. Understanding and promoting adoption of conservation practices by rural landholders. *Austral J Exp Agric*. (2006) 46:1407–24. doi: 10.1071/EA05037
- 33. Bwambale N. Farmers' knowledge, perceptions, and socioeconomic factors influencing decision making for integrated soil fertility management practices in Masaka and Rakai Districts, Central Uganda. Graduate Theses and dissertation. Iowa State University, Ames, IA, United States (2015).
- 34. Brokensha DW, Warren DM, Werner O. *Indigenous Knowledge Systems and Development*. Maryland: University Press of America (1980).
- Carpenter S, Walker B, Anderies JM, Abel N. From metaphor to measurement: resilience of what to what? *Ecosystems*. (2001) 4:765– 81. doi: 10.1007/s10021-001-0045-9
- Ezike JO. Delineation of old and new Enugu State. Bulletin of the Ministry of Works, Lands and Survey, Enugu State. Government Bulletin, Enugu, Ministry of Works (1998).
- Latruffe L, Diazabakana A, Bockstaller C, Desjeux Y, Finn J, Kelly E, et al. Measurement of sustainability in agriculture: a review of indicators. *Stud Agric Econ.* (2016). 118:123–130. doi: 10.7896/j.1624
- Malami BS, Tukur HM. Effects of climate change on livestock production in semi-arid Nigeria: pastoralists' perception and coping strategies. Usmanu Danfodiyo University Sokoto-Nigeria. (2017) 1:16–23.
- Delia G, Bett B, Lindahl J, Robinson T. Climate and Livestock Disease: Assessing the Vulnerability of Agricultural Systems to Livestock Pests Under Climate Scenarios. Montpellier: CGIAR. (2015).
- Ifeanyi-Obi CC, Nnadi FN. Climate change adaptation measures used by farmers in Southsouth Nigeria. J Environ Sci Toxicol Food Technol. (2014) 8:1–6. doi: 10.9790/2402-08410106
- International Fund for Agricultural Development. Livestock and Climate Change. Livestock Thematic Papers (IFAD), (2009). Available online at: enterprise-development.org/wp-content/uploads/Livestock_and_Climate _Change.pdf (accessed January 8, 2020).
- Haque MN. Dietary manipulation: a sustainable way to mitigate methane emissions from ruminants. J Anim Sci Technol. (2018) 60:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s40781-018-0175-7
- 43. Yatoo MA, Chaudhary LC, Agarwal N, Chaturvedi VB, Kamra DN. Effect of feeding of blend of essential oils on methane production, growth, and nutrient utilization in growing buffaloes. *Asian Australas J Anim Sci.* (2018) 31:672–6. doi: 10.5713/ajas.16.0508
- Benchaar C, Greathead HMR. Esential oils and opportunities to mitigate enteric methane emissions from ruminants. *Fuel Energy Abstracts*. (2011) 166:338–55. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.04.024
- 45. Jokela B, Laboski C, Andraski T. Manure Application Methods and Timing Effects on Emission of Ammonia and Nitrous Oxide. (2019). Accessed online at: https://lpelc.org/manure-application-method-and-timing-effects-on-emission-of-ammonia-and-nitrous-oxide/
- 46. Webb J, Sorensen P, Velthof G, Amon B, Pinto M, Rodhe L, et al. Assessment of the variation of Manure Nitrogen Efficiency throughout Europe and an appraisal of means to increase manure-N efficiency. *Adv Agron.* (2011) 119:371–442. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-407247-3.00007-X

- Berhe M, Hoag D, Tesfay G, Tadesse T, Oniki S, Kagatsume M, et al. The effects of adaptation to climate change on income of households in rural Ethiopia. *Pastoral Res Policy Pract.* (2017) 7:1–15. doi: 10.1186/s13570-017-0084-2
- Terfa WA, William MF. Climate change and financing adaptation by farmers in northern Nigeria. *Fin Innovat.* (2018) 4:1–17. doi: 10.1186/s40854-018-0094-0
- 49. Lin BB, Chappell MJ, Vandermeer J, Smith G, Quintero E, Berner-Kerr R, et al. Effects of industrial agriculture on climate change and the mitigation potential of small-scale agro-ecological farms. *CAB Rev.* (2011) 6:1–18. doi: 10.1079/PAVSNNR20116020
- Pretty J, Bharucha ZP. Sustainable intensification in agricultural systems. Ann Bot. 114:1571–1596. (2014). doi: 10.1093/aob/mcu205
- Offor EI, Ekweanya NM, Oleka AC. Effects of socio-economic factors on small ruminant production in Ohafia Agricultural Zone of Abia State. Agro Sci J Trop Agric Food Environ Extens. (2018) 17:7–11. doi: 10.4314/as.v17i3.2
- Wollenberg E, Higman S, Seeberg-Elverfeldt C, Neely C, Tapio-Biström ML, Neufeldt H. *Helping Smallholder Farmers Mitigate Climate Change*. CGIAR CCAFS (2012). Available online at: https://cgspace.cgiar.org/ bitstream/handle/10568/21730/CCAFS_Brief05_Finalamended(web)_LR. pdf?sequence=1

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Nwobodo, Nwokolo, Iwuchukwu, Ohagwu and Ozioko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Dynamics of Thermolysis and Skin Microstructure in Water Buffaloes Reared in Humid Tropical Climate—A Microscopic and Thermographic Study

Reíssa Alves Vilela¹, José de Brito Lourenço Junior¹, Manuel Antonio Chagas Jacintho², Antonio Vinícius Correa Barbosa³, Messy Hannear de Andrade Pantoja¹, Carlos Magno Chaves Oliveira¹ and Alexandre Rossetto Garcia^{4*}

¹ Institute of Veterinary Medicine, Federal University of Pará, Castanhal, Brazil, ² Laboratory of Skin and Leather Quality Assessment, Embrapa Southeast Livestock, Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation, São Carlos, Brazil, ³ Cyberspace Institute, Federal Rural University of the Amazon, Belém, Brazil, ⁴ Laboratory of Biotechnology and Animal Reproduction, Embrapa Southeast Livestock, Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation, São Carlos, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Govindan Krishnan, Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR), India Daniel Mota-Rojas, Metropolitan Autonomous University, Mexico

*Correspondence:

Alexandre Rossetto Garcia alexandre.garcia@embrapa.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 07 February 2022 Accepted: 05 April 2022 Published: 25 May 2022

Citation:

Vilela RA, Lourenço Junior JB, Jacintho MAC, Barbosa AVC, Pantoja MHA, Oliveira CMC and Garcia AR (2022) Dynamics of Thermolysis and Skin Microstructure in Water Buffaloes Reared in Humid Tropical Climate – A Microscopic and Thermographic Study. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:871206. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.871206 The thermolytic capacity test is used to assess the adaptability of animals to existing environmental conditions. However, there is insufficient information on the relationship between histomorphometry and adaptability of buffaloes. Thus, this study aimed to assess the use of thermolysis pathways by buffaloes reared in a hot and humid environment so as to understand the relationships between environment, skin morphological characteristics, and heat storage, as well as the intensity and proportionality of use of its ways of dissipating heat to maintain homeothermy. The heat tolerance test, associated with the evaluations via infrared thermography, was applied to 10 female Murrah buffaloes and tegument histomorphometry was carried out. The animals exhibited very high heat tolerance with an average of 9.66 \pm 0.21 and used thermal polypnea as the main heat dissipation pathway. Their mean skin thickness was 6.03 ± 1.16 mm and the active sweat and sebaceous gland tissue were $1.57 \pm 0.38\%$ and 1.08 \pm 0.39%, respectively. The buffaloes exhibited a positive correlation between eyeball temperature and internal body temperature (r = 0.84523, p < 0.0001) and a negative correlation between respiratory rate and skin thickness (r = -0.73371, p =0.0157). The high thermolytic capacity in shade conditions confirms the importance of access to shade in buffalo rearing systems in tropical regions.

Keywords: acclimatization, *Bubalus bubalis*, heat stress, histology, infrared thermography, thermoregulation, precision livestock farming

INTRODUCTION

Domestic buffaloes (*Bubalus bubalis*) are animals that inhabit different ecosystems (1). The worldwide buffalo population is estimated at approximately 208 million animals, 62% of which reared in the intertropical zone, distributed across 37 countries located in Asia (61.42%), Americas (1.16%), Africa (0.002%), and Oceania (0.002%) (2). There is also a considerable buffalo population that, despite being reared in subtropical or temperate climates, has been stricken with more intense

and more frequent heat loads (3). In all these countries, one of the most important roles of buffaloes is, undoubtedly, milk production, significantly contributing to food safety, in addition to being efficient as draft power (2, 4). Thus, the buffalo is a model of multipurpose bovid which serves larger-scale productions as well as plays an essential role in the assets and economy of smallholders in several countries in Asia and Latin America, such as the Philippines, Thailand, Brazil, and Mexico (5-8). One of the most notable characteristics of buffaloes is their adaptative capacity (9). However, despite their adaptability to different environmental conditions, the water buffaloes have morphological peculiarities that impact the regulation of their body temperature (BT) (10, 11), making them more susceptible to heat stress, particularly when submitted to environmental conditions of high temperature and relative humidity and/or intense direct solar radiation (12).

The skin is the largest organ in the body and has a role of thermoregulation, defense, and protection of the organism (13). Buffaloes have thick skin, with a prominent stratum corneum, that can be twice as thick as the skin of bovines $(11 \,\mu\text{m vs.} 5 \,\mu\text{m})$ (14, 15). Besides very pigmented skin, the high melanin concentration provides them increased protection against ultraviolet radiation (10). Moreover, the epidermis of buffaloes extends through numerous papillae, which influences the distribution of blood vessels and favors the vasodilation process (16). However, the water buffaloes have a lower number of hair follicles (HF) on their body surfaces when compared with Zebu cattle $(135-145 \text{ vs. } 3.000 \text{ follicles.cm}^{-2})$ (17) and this reduced the layer of reflecting fur on the epidermis makes them more susceptible to visible and infrared radiations, which are more absorbed and transmitted due to the black color of the epidermis (18, 19). Their hairs are relatively long and thick and connect to the skin associated with sweat and sebaceous glands (20). The density of sweat glands is low, and those glands are of the type apocrine and merocrine in a simple saccular and spiral tubular format, located deep into the reticular dermis and surrounded by blood vessels and nerve fibers (20). The sebaceous glands of buffaloes are simple or compound alveolar located in the reticular layer of the dermis and surround the entire HF, secreting sebum in a holocrine way (21).

Heat stress is antagonistic to animal welfare and leads to economic losses resulting from the reduction in productive and reproductive performance, besides increasing buffalo morbidity and mortality (22). The recent studies have shown the negative effects of heat stress on dairy buffaloes (23-25), with significant changes in milk composition and industrial yield such as reduced contents of fat, protein, lactose, and total solids (26-29). In addition, the negative effects of heat stress have been reported on conception rates, which decrease when temperature-humidity index values are above 80 (30-32), and on semen quality, with decreased percentage of live spermatozoa and increased abnormal sperm population (33-36). Heat stress also impairs the immune response, affecting the gene expression of cytokines and their receptors (37, 38). To mitigate the deleterious effects of heat stress in water buffaloes and provide them greater thermal comfort, establishing environmental management strategies (39) as well as the identification and selection of more heat-tolerant animals are equally important (40, 41).

A thermotolerant animal is able to maintain its homeothermy even under high environmental heat loads (29). Several measures have been proposed for phenotyping thermotolerant animals, which, in general, include functional evaluations based on the monitoring of physiological variables related to body thermoregulation, including internal temperature, respiratory and heart rates, and blood parameters. Among the blood or serum parameters commonly assessed are hematocrit, hemogram, hemoglobin concentration, oxidative stress markers, and the concentration of glucocorticoid and thyroid hormones and of heat shock proteins (42, 43). In turn, body surface temperature (ST) monitored by infrared thermography has been used as an indicator of heat production since this technique allows assessing the amount of thermal energy emitted by longwave radiation on a surface (19). Implementing a program for the identification and selection of thermotolerant animals requires evaluation strategies that can be adopted easily and with low cost. In this sense, the heat tolerance test (HTT) has been used to assess the adaptability of water buffaloes to hot environments (44), a test that requires relatively little time and can be performed on-farm (45). However, there are no studies associating buffalo thermolytic response (capacity of dissipating heat through peripheral vasodilation, sweating, and thermal polypnea) in this test with microscopic anatomic tegument characteristics, which is a gap in knowledge seen as the buffalo tegument system has features that completely distinguish it from other domestic animal species. Although some morphological particularities of buffaloes are known, there is a little fundamental knowledge on the histomorphometric characteristics of the skin of those animals and their relationship with thermolytic adaptive capacity. Therefore, this study is proposed aiming at expanding the knowledge and understanding of buffalo thermoregulating mechanisms and thermal transfer mechanisms between the animal and the environment. The aims of the study are as follows: To (i) assess the thermolytic responses of buffaloes submitted to thermal challenge in a humid tropical environment and (ii) determine the relationships between the thermal environment, cutaneous morphological characteristics, and heat storage (HS), as well as the intensity and proportionality of the use of heat dissipations pathways to maintain homeothermy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Site, Climate, and Period

The experiment was conducted at the Biotechnology Center of Animal Reproduction—CEBRAN of the Federal University of Pará, in Castanhal, PA, Brazil (01°30'48"S and 47°94'23"W, 41-m altitude). The local climate subtype was humid tropical, Afi (Köppen), characterized by well-distributed annual rainfall, with a rainier period from January to June and a less rainy period from July to December. The mean annual air temperature was 26.6°C (min. 23.0°C; max. 32.0°C). The mean annual relative humidity was 83% and the cumulative annual rainfall was 2,900 mm (46). The study was conducted between November and December.

Animals and Handling

Ten female Murrah buffaloes previously reared under the same environmental and handling conditions were used. Prior to the beginning of the study, the animals underwent clinical evaluation, diagnostic tests, and a quarantine period to ensure proper health condition. At the beginning of the experiment, the animals were 18 ± 0.7 months of age (18–20 months), with mean weight of 336.3 ± 38.2 kg (264–398 kg) and body condition score of 3.0 ± 0.4 (2.5–4.0) (scale from 1–5) (47). The buffaloes were kept in a 0.2-ha pen with *Brachiaria decumbens* pasture and natural shade (90 m² per animal). The animals were fed daily (between 8 a.m. and 4 p.m.) supplementary feed made up of elephant grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*) silage and concentrate based on wheat bran, in addition to mineral mixtures. Access to the automated drinking trough was *ad libitum*.

Heat Storage and Cumulative Heat Storage

The buffaloes were individually weighed on an electronic scale and the body weight was used to calculate HS (in $W \cdot m^{-2}$) and cumulative heat storage (CHS) ($W \cdot m^{-2} h^{-1}$) on the days of data collection, according to methodology described by McGovern and Bruce (48) [Eqs. (1) and (2), respectively].

$$\Delta RT = ((3600 \times HS \times A))/((Bw \times cb)) \tag{1}$$

where ΔRT is the differences between rectal temperatures at different hours; HS is the HT (W·m⁻²); A is the animal surface (m²) calculated by the equation: $A = 0.13 \times Bw^{0.556}$ (where Bw is the body weight in kg) and cb is the specific heat of the animal (3.4 KJ·kg⁻¹ K⁻¹).

$$CHS = \sum_{12}^{3} HS$$
 (2)

where CHS is the cumulative heat storage $(W \cdot m^{-2} \cdot h^{-1})$ calculated the by sum of the storage heat in different time intervals (from 12 p.m. to 3 p.m.), with the zero value being considered at 12 p.m.

Heat Tolerance Test

To determine the individual thermolysis capacity, the heat tolerance test (HTT) described by Baccari Junior et al. (44) and modified by Titto et al. (45, 49) was applied. Over a 15-days period, the test was applied on 4 non-consecutive days, which exhibited specific and predetermined meteorological characteristics of cloudless sky, no rainfall or wind gusts, and minimum black globe temperature of 45° C in full sunlight. During the application of the test, the animals were kept standing to avoid heat exchange with the soil *via* conduction, and remained in food and water fast so as to not change HS (45).

For the test, the buffaloes were conducted to a corral with holding pens and rough concrete floor, 4-m ceiling, and roofing with ceramic tiles, which provided 162 m^2 of shade, with access to an adjacent open area of 120 m^2 with dirt floor, with no drinking or feeding troughs, and delimited by a fence with six smooth wires, where the animals were exposed to direct solar radiation.

According to the protocol of the HTT by Baccari Junior et al. (44), modified by Titto et al. (45, 49) to compare the rates of heat acquisition and dissipation, the buffaloes were kept under shade condition for 2h, from 10 a.m. to 12 p.m. (Period 0). The physiological variables recorded in this period represented the baseline individual reference values. Next, the animals were exposed to solar radiation for 1 h, from 12 p.m. to 1 p.m. (Period 1), the period of heat challenge. After that, the animals were returned to the shade, where they were kept for 2 h, from 1 p.m. to 2 p.m. (Period 2) and from 2 p.m. to 3 p.m. (Period 3), representing the period for tolerance recovery of the animals after the heat challenge. By the end of Periods 1, 2, and 3, the physiological variables of internal body temperature, respiratory rate, and body ST were recorded (see description in the Section, Physiological variables). All buffaloes were assessed on the same days as the test.

Next, the heat tolerance index (HTI) was calculated based on the equation that takes into account the mean internal body temperatures in Periods 0 and 3 [Eq.(3)].

$$HTI = 10 - (BT3 - BT0)$$
(3)

where HTI is the heat tolerance index, which is calculated by the difference between the internal BT obtained at the end of Period 3 (BT3) and the internal BT obtained at the end of Period 0 (BT0).

The result of the HTI varies on a scale from 0 to 10, which represents the capacity of the animals to dissipate the heat absorbed during exposure to sunlight. The closer the result is to 10, the more tolerant the animal (44). According to Titto et al. (45), an animal is classified as very sensitive to heat stress when its HTI is below 7.5; low heat tolerance when its HTI is between 7.51 and 8.2; medium heat tolerance with HTI between 8.21 and 8.9; high heat tolerance when its HTI is equal to or higher than 9.51.

Physiological Variables

The comparison of the rates of heat acquisition and dissipation was based on alterations of internal BT (°C), respiratory rate (RR) (mov·min⁻¹), surface temperature (ST) (°C), and on the calculation of the respective HS in each experimental period. RR was recorded *via* inspection and counting of thoracic movements for 1 min with the aid of a stopwatch and was recorded before the animals entered the holding pen for verification of the other physiological variables. The BT was measured by clinical transrectal thermometry using a digital thermometer (Termomed, Incoterm, Brazil) with the measuring range, 32.0–42.0°C, resolution of 0.1°C, maximum error of \pm 0.2°C, and a self-checking system.

The ST by Infrared Thermography

The ST was assessed by infrared thermography using a portable thermographic camera (FLIR E-5, Oregon, USA) operating in the spectral range of 7.5–13 μ m, with detector of 160 × 120 pixels, thermal sensitivity of <100 mK, field of view of 45° × 34°, and an automatic calibration. The thermographic images were always recorded on the right-side antimere of the animals, with 0.98



FIGURE 1 | Illustrative images of thermographic images taken to assess STs of the eyeball and cheek (A), trunk (B), rump (C), and forelimb (D) of adult female buffaloes. Images parametrized for the rainbow color palette and automatic thermal scale.

emissivity adopted according to indications by Brcko et al. (50). All thermograms were analyzed in the software FLIR Tools (FLIR tools, RRID:SCR_016330).

The STs of interest (**Figure 1**) were eyeball surface temperature (EST) (°C), resulting from the hotspot recorded in the eyeball region (51); cheek surface temperature (CST) (°C), determined by the mean temperature of the rectangular area between the region of the zygomatic and jaw bones (50); trunk surface temperature (TST) (°C), determined by the mean temperatures of the rectangular area in the dorsal region between the sternal ribs (50); rump surface temperature (RST) (°C), determined by the mean temperature of the circular area between the ileum and ischium (50); and forelimb surface temperature (FST) (°C), measured in the region of the ergot, above the phalanx (50). In addition, the compound surface temperature (CompST) (°C) was calculated, a derivative variable expressed by the arithmetic mean of the STs in the other body regions assessed, as proposed by Sevegnani et al. (52).

Biometeorological Monitoring and Black Globe Temperature and Humidity Index

During the experiment, the biometeorological variables of drybulb temperature (DBT; $^{\circ}$ C), relative humidity (RH) (%), and black globe temperature (°C) were permanently monitored and recorded in 10-min intervals using electronic devices placed in the handling corral, in the environments where the animals underwent the HTT, in full sunlight, and in the shade. The variables were monitored using a HOBO U12-012 datalogger (Onset, Brazil) (HOBOware Pro, RRID:SCR_021915) installed at a height of 1.60 m from the ground. The BGHI was later calculated as described by Buffington et al. (53), determined by Eq. (4).

$$BGHI = T_{bg} + (0.36 \times T_{dp}) + 41.5 \tag{4}$$

where T_{bg} is the black globe temperature (°C) and T_{dp} is the dew point temperature (°C).

According to Baêta and Souza (54), BGHI values up to 74 indicate a comfort condition for the animals; from 74 to 78, an alert situation; from 79 to 84, a danger situation; and above 84, an emergency situation.

The biometeorological data recorded during the HTT are presented in **Figure 2**.

Skin Histomorphometry

Thirty days after the end of the HTT, the skin microbiopsy was performed in all animals for histomorphometric analyses. The



FIGURE 2 | Mean and standard deviation of the biometeorological variables recorded in different observation periods during the HTT carried out in adult female buffaloes in humid tropical climate. Period 0 (shade): From 10 a.m. to 12 p.m.; Period 1 (sun): From 12 p.m. to 1 p.m.; Period 2 (shade): From 1 p.m. to 2 p.m.; Period 3 (shade): From 2 p.m. to 3 p.m.

microbiopsy was performed on the right-side antimere at the mean height of the back, in the region of the 12th intercostal space. The buffaloes were in water and food fast for 12 h and the microsurgical procedures were performed after physical restraining the animal and local skin anesthesia as described by Kahwage (55).

The samples were fixed in 10% formalin solution for 48 h and then underwent an 8 h cycle in an automated tissue processor (OMA DM-40, OMA Metalúrgica, Brazil) for dehydration and clarification. The samples were then included in paraffin blocks and processed histologically, with 4- μ m thick cuts parallel and perpendicular to the skin surface made. Next, the samples were mounted on glass slides, stained using Masson's trichrome method (56), and assessed in light-field optical microscopy (Leica DME, Leica Microsystems, Germany) (Leica Microsystems, RRID:SCR_008960). The assessment was carried out with total magnification of $40 \times$ for the parallel cuts and $100 \times$ for the perpendicular ones. The images were digitized and stored in a database for later analysis using the software Image J (ImageJ, RRID:SCR_003070) (57).

In the digitized images of the parallel cuts, the following parameters were assessed: (i) The number of HF; and (ii) hair density (HD) (follicles·mm⁻²). In the digitized images of the perpendicular cuts, the following parameters were assessed: (i) Thickness of skin (TS) (mm); (ii) sweat gland area (ASwG)

 (μm^2) , which corresponds to the mean value of the area of each sweat gland; (iii) sebaceous gland area (ASG) (μ m²), which corresponds to the mean value of the area of each sebaceous gland; (iv) sweat gland area by surface (ASwG_surface) (%), which corresponds to the percentage of active sweat gland tissue in the sample; (v) sebaceous gland area by surface (ASG_surface) (%), which corresponds to the percentage of active sebaceous gland tissue in the sample; and (vi) height of sweat gland (HSwG) (μm) at four spots of the gland epithelium (58). The TS was determined after the mounting of composite images (Figure 3) using the software Adobe Photoshop CS5, with the standard of 30% overlap adopted between images to create homogeneous mosaics. Five composite images were analyzed per animal with three skin thickness measurements per image at three distinct anatomic spots. Skin thickness was given by the linear distance measured on the surface of the epidermis until the smooth musculature, with the mean value of each sample being adopted.

Statistical Analysis

The response variables were approached using different statistical models according to the characteristic of each variable. Initially, a descriptive analysis of the data was made for the biometeorological and physiological variables. Data normality was evaluated by Shapiro–Wilk and/or Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests and the equality of variances was evaluated by Levene's





test. For the biometeorological variables, one-way ANOVA (DBT and RH) and Kruskal–Wallis test (BGHI) were applied. For the parametric analyses of the physiological variables, fixed-effects (treatment-periods) and random-effects (animals and date) ANOVA were applied. The means between periods were compared by Tukey's test and, if needed, the data were transformed by BoxCox to meet the assumptions of the parametric analyses. All those analyses considered significance at 5%.

In addition, the factorial analysis by principal components (PCs) was performed to cluster and identify the behaviors of the correlations between the variables TS, ASG_surface, RR, CHS, and HTI. Bartlett's test of sphericity and Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin test were performed to assess whether the factorial analysis fitted the data. Finally, bivariate Pearson linear correlation analysis was carried out for the variables RR, BT, EST, CST, TST, RST, FST, CHS, BGHI, HF, HD, TS, HSwG, ASwG, ASwG_surface, ASG, ASG_surface, and HTI. The data were analyzed in the softwares SAS version 9.1.3 (Statistical Analysis System, RRID:SCR_008567) (59) and Rstudio version 1.4.1717 (R Project for Statistical Computing, RRID:SCR_001905) (60).

RESULTS

Based on the averages of the biometeorological variables, it was found that DBT (p = 0.13251) and RH (p = 0.12783) did not change during the observation times over the HTT. The mean maximum values of DBT were $33.15 \pm 0.57^{\circ}$ C with coefficient of variation of 1.72% recorded in Period 2. The mean maximum values of RH were $54.53 \pm 2.16\%$ with coefficient of variation of 3.96% recorded in Period 0. However, the non-parametric analysis by Kruskal–Wallis test indicated a significant difference for BGHI between the experimental periods (p = 0.02731), with the highest BGHI value of 98.46 \pm 2.88 with coefficient of variation of 2.93\% recorded in Period 1.

The ANOVA for the physiological and biophysical variance exhibited a significant effect (p < 0.0001) for all sources of variation and the means adjusted by least squares are presented in **Table 1**.

The animals staying for 1 h under full sunlight, from 12 p.m. to 1 p.m., resulted in an increase in physiological variables related to thermolysis, with an increase by 0.91° C in BT, 59 mov·min⁻¹ in RR, and 5.41°C in CompST, with the highest increase in ST recorded in the rump region at 6.48°C.

In period 2, a decrease at the same proportion was found, by 59 mov·min⁻¹ in RR, which returned to baseline values, with no difference among Periods 0, 2, and 3. The same behavior of reduction in body STs was observed regardless of the anatomic region assessed. Two hours after the animals returned to the shade (Period 3), CST and FST returned to baseline values, reflecting in the reduction in internal body temperature, demonstrated by HS and CHS, with a decrease by up to 0.6° C in BT, with no difference between Periods 2 and 3.

The descriptive analysis of the histomorphometry variables and the HTI of the animals is presented in **Table 2**.

The mean HTI recorded during the HTT was 9.66 \pm 0.21, ranging from 9.20 to 10.00. For the histomorphometric variables,

TABLE 1 Mean and standard deviation of the physiological and biophysical variables assessed in adult female buffaloes in the Eastern Amazon during	g the HTT.
--	------------

Effects	Period 0	Period 1	Period 2	Period 3	
Variable	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	
вт	$38.05 \pm 0.11^{\circ}$	38.96 ± 0.16^{a}	38.38 ± 0.12^{b}	38.36 ± 0.12^{b}	
RR	$22\pm2.18^{\mathrm{b}}$	81 ± 11.52^{a}	$22\pm0.83^{\mathrm{b}}$	$20\pm1.05^{\mathrm{b}}$	
EST	$36.17 \pm 0.68^{\circ}$	39.99 ± 1.07^{a}	37.68 ± 0.61^{b}	$37.53 \pm 0.45^{\rm b}$	
CST	$35.37 \pm 0.88^{\circ}$	39.89 ± 1.13^{a}	$36.62 \pm 0.73^{\rm b}$	$36.33\pm0.65^{\rm bc}$	
TST	$34.68\pm0.74^{\rm c}$	40.59 ± 1.58^{a}	36.04 ± 0.74^{b}	$35.92\pm0.74^{\rm b}$	
RST	$34.18 \pm 0.71^{\circ}$	40.66 ± 0.89^{a}	$35.61 \pm 0.98^{\rm b}$	$35.44 \pm 1.38^{\rm b}$	
FST	$33.66 \pm 1.03^{\circ}$	39.97 ± 1.45^{a}	35.66 ± 1.07^{b}	$35.08 \pm 1.25^{\circ}$	
CompST	$34.82 \pm 0.76^{\circ}$	40.23 ± 0.55^{a}	$36.33\pm0.68^{\rm b}$	36.06 ± 0.79^{b}	
HS	Op	0.0216 ± 0.0030^{a}	$-0.0138 \pm 0.0032^{\circ}$	-0.0003 ± 0.0021^{b}	
CHS	Oc	0.0649 ± 0.0091^{a}	0.0233 ± 0.0123^{b}	0.0222 ± 0.0117^{b}	

Period 0 (shade): From 10 a.m. to 12 p.m.; Period 1 (sun): From 12 p.m. to 1 p.m.; Period 2 (shade): From 1 p.m. to 2 p.m.; Period 3 (shade): From 2 p.m. to 3 p.m.

BT, Internal body temperature (°C); RR, Respiratory rate (mov-min⁻¹); EST, Eyeball surface temperature (°C); CST, Cheek surface temperature (°C); TST, Trunk surface temperature (°C); RST, Rump surface temperature (°C); FST, Forelimb surface temperature (°C); CompST, Compound surface temperature (°C); HS, Heat storage (W-m⁻²); CHS, Cumulative heat storage (W-m⁻² h⁻¹).

 a^{-c} Means followed by equal lowercase letters within the row do not differ statistically by Tukey's test (p < 0.05).

TABLE 2 | Number of observations (*n*), averages (\bar{X}), standard deviation (SD) coefficient of variation (CV), minimum (Min.) and maximum (Max.) values for the heat tolerance index, and histomorphometric characteristics of the skin of adult female buffaloes reared in the Eastern Amazon.

Variable	Unit	п	Ā	SD	CV	Min.	Max.
HTI	-	40	9.66	0.21	2.15	9.20	10.00
HF	-	10	12.40	2.12	17.09	10.00	16.00
HD	hair∙mm ⁻²	10	2.00	0.26	13.11	1.59	2.41
TS	mm	10	6.03	1.16	19.21	4.77	8.28
HSwG	μm	10	16.20	1.99	12.28	12.00	19.00
AswG	μm^2	10	17,283.9	4,449.8	25.75	13,102.1	26,450.9
ASwG_surface	%	10	1.57	0.38	24.16	1.14	2.30
ASG	μm^2	10	11,821.9	4,301.9	36.39	4,834.0	19,175.8
ASG_surface	%	10	1.08	0.39	35.98	0.44	1.73

HTI, Heat tolerance index; HF, Number of hair follicles; HD, Hair density; TS, Thickness of skin; HSwG, Height of sweat gland; ASwG, Mean value of the area of each sweat gland; ASwG_surface, Percentage of active sweat gland tissue in the sample; ASG, Mean value of the area of each sebaceous gland, ASG_surface, Percentage of active sebaceous gland tissue in the sample; ASG, Mean value of the area of each sebaceous gland, ASG_surface, Percentage of active sebaceous gland tissue in the sample.

the averages of HD of $2.0 \pm 0.26 \text{ mm}^2$, TS of $6.03 \pm 1.16 \text{ mm}$, HSwG of $16.2 \pm 1.99 \mu \text{m}$, ASwG of $17,283.92 \pm 4,449.85$, and ASG of $11,821.95 \pm 4,301.90 \mu \text{m}^2$ were observed per animal. The percentage of active sweat gland tissue was $1.57 \pm 0.38\%$ and the percentage of active sebaceous gland tissue was $1.08 \pm 0.39\%$.

The results obtained by the PCs technique, with the respective eigenvalues and percentages of variance explained by each one, show that the first two PCs accounted for 86.2% of the total variation on the thermolytic capacity of buffaloes, with principal component 1 (PC1) accounting for 45.2% and principal component 2 (PC2), for 41.0% of the data variance.

An analysis of the contribution of the variables in the dimensions and their respective weights shows that the variables that most contributed in dimension 1 were RR (0.766), TS (-0.914), and ASG_surface (-0.865), while the variables that most contributed to dimension 2 were HTI (-0.920), CHS (0.944), and HF (0.686) (**Figure 4**).

The correlations among internal body temperature, respiratory rate, body STs, stored heat, and the BGHI are presented in **Figure 5**. Analysis of the coefficients of Pearson's correlations showed significant positive correlations (p < 0.0001) for all pairs of these variables.

The correlations among histomorphometric variables, the heat tolerance index, internal body temperature, and RR are presented in **Figure 6**. An analysis of the values of the linear coefficients showed a significant negative correlation (p = 0.0157) between RR and skin thickness and no significant correlation with internal body temperature.

DISCUSSION

The water buffaloes exhibited very high heat tolerance and used thermal polypnea as the main heat dissipation pathway. Their mean skin thickness observed was 6.03 ± 1.16 mm and, for the



first time, the morphometry of sweat glands and sebaceous glands of buffaloes was performed, with a histological approach that allowed indicating its secreting activity. The PCs analysis enabled identifying morphological and functional associations relevant for thermoregulation of buffaloes, such as the interrelation of TS with the proportion of ASG and with respiratory rate. The study also showed that the buffaloes exhibited a high positive correlation between eyeball temperature and internal



body temperature, a characteristic that may be explored in the future for the development of non-invasive diagnosis resources and remote monitoring of animal health and well-being.

The data in this study were collected during November and December, during the less rainy season of the Amazon biome, which goes from July to December (46). Although there was no significant difference in the dry-bulb temperature and relative air humidity values between the experimental periods, it was seen that the animals were in an environmental condition susceptible to heat stress since the mean air temperature values were above 32° C in all periods over the HTT.

The animals were exposed to environmental temperatures above the thermal comfort zone, characterized as an air temperature range in which the animal may exhibit its minimum metabolic rate and where homeothermy regulation is performed *via* exchange of sensible heat with the environment (61). According to Goswami and Narain (62), the thermoneutral zone for the water buffaloes ranges from 15.5° C to 21.2° C, while Shafie (63) places such zone between 13.0° C and 24.0° C. These authors suggest that the critical high temperature for buffaloes is above 29° C and 23.6° C, respectively, indicating that the animals in this study had to activate their heat dissipation pathways to maintain homeostasis as the lowest air temperature to which they were exposed was 32.14° C in the beginning of the HTT (Period 0).

Despite the high air temperatures during the tolerance test, relative air humidity remained with minimum values of 48% in Period 1 and maximum values of 56% in Period 0, staying within the relative humidity range considered optimal for most domestic species, which ranges from 40 to 70% (64). That can be explained by the time of day recommended for the application of the heat



thermotolerance test, which coincided with moments of lower relative humidity in the circadian cycles occurring in the humid tropical climate subtype (46).

In this study, the classification of the BGHI indicates a danger situation (54), even when the animals were kept in the shade, with BGHI above 81. When the animals were exposed to sunlight, to identify their heat acquisition under a condition of direct solar radiation, the BGHI indicated an emergency situation (54), with maximum value of 101, since during that period the maximum black globe temperature value recorded was 52.1°C. The environmental thermal challenge situation for the animals is therefore evident, compelling them to activate their thermolysis pathways, an effect demonstrated by the alterations in physiological and biophysical variables monitored.

The relative air humidity recorded during the HTT favored heat exchange through respiratory evaporation, demonstrated by the pronounced increase in RR when the animals were under direct solar radiation, reaching maximum values of 116 mov·min⁻¹. The increase in RR is an essential thermoregulatory response to maintain homeothermy and is used by buffaloes as a proactive thermolytic response to prevent hyperthermia in heat challenge situations (65).

The increase or decrease in RR depends on the intensity and duration of the heat stress to which the animals are submitted (66). This study showed the importance of heat loss through the respiratory pathway for buffaloes to maintain homeothermy. The pronounced reduction in RR occurred as soon as the animals returned to the shade after the heat challenge period (81–22 mov·min⁻¹) confirms the rapid tolerance recovery of buffaloes after a heat stress situation, which reflected in a reduction by 0.58° C in internal body temperature. Several studies have described this rapid recovery of buffaloes in comparison with cattle (14, 67, 68).

When the animals were kept in a thermal comfort environmental condition provided by shade, their RR decreased and returned to values considered normal, with no significant difference among Periods 0, 2, and 3. According to Shafie (63), the RR of buffaloes ranged from 18 to 30 mov $-min^{-1}$ for animals in thermal comfort. Thus, the importance of shade to maintain or favor homeothermy in buffaloes is evident. Indeed, recent reports indicate that the natural shade provided by silvopastoral systems contributes to the buffalo's well-being, to the expression of their normal behavior, and to increased performance (39). In tropical regions, providing shade becomes a requirement as it helps decrease excess direct irradiation received by the epidermis of buffaloes through direct solar radiation, particularly during the hottest hours of the day (61). Other studies carried out in the Amazon region have also indicated beneficial effects of shade on the physiological responses of buffaloes (69-75). In addition to seeking shade to rest and facilitate heat dissipation, buffaloes have the habit of wallowing (76). With this behavior, the animals lay on mud to favor body cooling via conduction, combined with the effects of convection caused by the wind and evaporation of the water in the mud (19). Since in this study, the animals were kept standing during the thermotolerance test to avoid interferences in the determination of HS, the effect of wallowing on body thermoregulation was not assessed.

This study recorded temperatures of eyeball surface, cheek, and forelimb, due to the greater microvascular blood flow of those anatomical regions (77), in addition to the trunk and rump, as those regions are more susceptible to oscillations in environmental conditions (78), particularly of solar radiation incidence. An assessment of the body STs when the animals were exposed to direct solar radiation showed a more significant increase in rump temperature (34.18-40.66°C) followed by increases in forelimb, trunk, cheek, and eyeball temperatures in relation to the baseline period. It is known that the epidermis temperature of the animal is influenced by the thermal condition of the environment, changes in blood flow, fur characteristics, and intensity of the skin latent thermolysis pathway (79). The increases in rump and trunk temperatures are directly related to environmental conditions in Period 1, when the daily irradiation level is historically maximum in the region (46), associated with morphofunctional characteristics of the epidermis of buffaloes, which favor heat acquisition. The epidermis of buffaloes has a high melanin concentration, which provides them heightened protection against ultraviolet radiation, however, with high absorbance (11). Moreover, the number of HF in the body surface makes them more susceptible to visible and infrared radiations, which are absorbed at higher intensity due to the color of the epidermis (10).

The increase in forelimb and cheek temperatures likely occurred due to the peripheral vasodilation in those regions. When an animal is exposed to heat stress, the initial thermoregulatory response that is set off is peripheral vasodilation (61, 79). In addition, considering the body area/mass ratio, greater blood flow is observed in the skin of the limbs and head than in the other regions of the body, which can be considered a thermoregulatory strategy for exchange of sensitive heat through radiation, conduction, and convection in those regions (77). It was found that only those two anatomic regions did not exhibit significant differences for STs recorded in Periods 0 and 3, which confirms vasodilation enables increased loss of sensitive heat, resulting in a reduction in forelimb and cheek temperatures when the animals were in environmental thermal comfort condition.

The orbital region has sympathetic fibers of the face nerve that innerve the capillary vessels of the facial and infraorbital artery, which respond to stressful stimuli (19). It was found that the lower alteration in STs between Periods 0 and 1 occurred in the eyeball, with an increase by only 3.82 °C. Such lower alteration may be related to the orbital anatomy, since, according to Casas–Alvarado et al. (80), adrenergic sympathetic fibers are sensitive to the neurosecretion of epinephrine and norepinephrine, which promotes vasoconstriction of capillaries, thus reducing the heat exchange rate and serving as a local thermoregulating mechanism.

An analysis of linear correlations showed that, among the body STs assessed, eyeball temperature exhibited the highest correlation with internal BT (r = 0.84523, p < 0.0001). The orbital region more closely corresponds to the internal BT since it suffers less alteration relative to the effects of environment temperature (81). Such results corroborate those found by Brcko et al. (50) and Barros et al. (43), who assessed the domestic buffaloes reared in the Amazon region. Bertoni et al. (82) also concluded that temperatures of the orbital region, of the nasal septum, and of the vulva have proved efficient in evaluating the thermal comfort of female buffaloes.

Pearson correlation between the variables studied and RR showed a greater positive correlation with the STs of the rump (r = 0.88598, p < 0.0001) and trunk (r = 0.84612, p < 0.0001) as those anatomic regions are more prone to temperature alterations when the animal is exposed to direct solar radiation (82). The negative correlation between RR and skin thickness (r = -0.73371, p = 0.0157) makes the animal spend less energy to dissipate heat since its RR is not as intense. Such characteristic observed is favorable to the animal and its productivity since altering the RR and depth results in a deviation of energy to respiration, which could be used in metabolic processes (79) such as growth, maintenance of gestation, or milk production.

The greater thermal gradient between the composite ST and air temperature measured in a dry-bulb thermometer was recorded in Period 1, with $\Delta T = 7.29^{\circ}$ C. That greater gradient facilitates the dissipation of metabolic heat accumulated through the sensitive pathway and, due to the relative air humidity recorded, it also favored heat losses through the latent pathway, demonstrated by the alteration in respiratory rate. When the animals returned to a thermal comfort environment (Periods 2 and 3), a gradual reduction was observed in the calculated values of HS. Shade enabled a reduction by 0.0427 W·m⁻¹ h⁻¹ in stored heat, which reflected in a difference of 0.31°C in internal BT when compared with the internal temperatures measured

between Periods 0 and 3. According to Pereira et al. (65), when in a thermal comfort condition, buffaloes exhibit a notable loss of body heat, provided by the reduction in stored heat.

Given the results of the tolerance index, the animals were classified as individuals of very high heat tolerance, with HTI values above 9.51 (45). Such thermotolerance capacity is directly related to the rapid physiological recovery of the animals after the heat stress situation due to the activation of their latent and sensitive thermolysis pathways. That result corroborates the findings by Pantoja et al. (75), who evaluated buffaloes reared in the Amazon region, in a humid tropical climate, indicating high heat tolerance in individuals from herds of that region.

A search of the scientific literature on the tegumental structures of buffaloes shows a lack of information and, at times, some controversies. Therefore, this study brings a valuable contribution regarding the skin histomorphometry of domestic buffaloes. The most striking characteristic of buffalo skin is the thickness of the epidermis, since the stratum corneum is more eminent and can be twice as thick than in cattle (14). The results from this study indicate that the mean skin thickness was 6.03 mm, corroborating the values reported by Ermetin (83), who determined a variation in skin thickness of adult domestic buffaloes of 6.0-7.6 mm. The findings also agree with the results found by Taneja and Bhatnagar (84), who indicate skin thickness of female Murrah buffaloes between 6.0 and 6.4 mm.

In addition, several recesses characterized by the extension of countless papillae in the dermis are found in the interface between the epidermis and dermis (14). According to Hafez and Anwar (16), those papillae have an important thermoregulatory role as the epidermis, when expanding into the dermis, changes the distribution of blood vessels. Thus, the arteries branch out more frequently, originating countless arterioles and capillaries, which favor heat dissipation *via* vasodilation. That effect can be observed in this study through the increase in ST of the animals when exposed to direct solar radiation, which was made evident by the results obtained with the use of infrared thermography.

Domestic buffaloes are animals that stand out for their low hair density (18). The number of hairs per unit of area decreases with age, making the adult animals nearly glabrous (85). This study found mean density of 2.00 HF per mm², matching the results by Debbarma et al. (20) and Raheem, Elias and Ahmed (18), who indicate hair density in buffaloes of 1.91 and 2.78 HF per mm², respectively. However, the number of HF in the literature varies, with values ranging from 91.84 cm⁻² for Murrah animals (86), 135–145 cm⁻² for Mediterranean buffaloes (17), and 394 cm⁻² for Egyptian buffaloes (15). In fact, the lower hair density of buffaloes may have a double effect. It may facilitate heat dissipation by convection and evaporation, but it also reduces thermal insulation as the skin is more exposed to direct solar radiation (61).

In this study, the mean epithelium height of the sweat gland was 16.20 μ m, with variation between 12.00 and 19.00 μ m. The mean areas of the sweat and sebaceous glands were 17,283.92 μ m² and 11,821.95 μ m², respectively. The percentage of active sebaceous gland tissue was 1.08 \pm 0.39%. In turn, the percentage of active sweat gland tissue in the sample analyzed was 1.57 \pm 0.38%. That variable represents the ratio between the sum of the

areas of the lumen of sweat glands identified in an image and the total area of tissue evaluated in the histological cut. Since the lumen of a sweat gland depends on it being filled by the sweat produced (79), the higher the percentage, the greater gland activity will be, representing the functionality of the sweat gland. Thus, the greater the gland activity at a given moment, the higher the possibility of the sweat produced being secreted, favoring the reduction of the skin ST. To the best of our understanding, such information is a first since no reference values were found in the literature to compare those variables. The recent studies have assessed the type and diameter of sweat (20) and sebaceous (21) glands in different regions of the body of buffaloes, in addition to their distribution (86); however, with no mention of the percentage of gland area, which is an indicative of activity of the respective glands.

Given the determination of the number of PCs, it was found that the first two PCs generated based on this analysis have eigenvalues >1 (λi > 1) (87). The eigenvalues observed, of 2.709 for Dimension 1 and 2.458 for Dimension 2, accounted for 86.2% of the total variance in the dataset. Thus, the first two PCs effectively summarize the total sampling variance and may be used to study the set of those data. The weights of the variables that most contribute to Dimension 1 and the relationship between the variables and their placements along PC1, which models 45.2% of the variance of the data matrix, show that RR has an opposite sign to skin thickness and to the activity of sebaceous gland tissue. Such relationship is in accordance with the thermolytic response of buffaloes since skin thickness may condition the amount of energy that will be transferred to the core region of the body of the animal. The thicker the skin, the greater the protection against body overheating via reduction of thermal conductivity (88).

Moreover, the association of greater epidermis thickness with larger percentage of active sebaceous gland tissue favors the reduction in radiant thermal load absorbed by the skin. That occurs due to the greater reflectance of solar radiation in consequence of lipid secretion of the sebaceous glands, which spreads over the epidermis (10, 89), thus leading to a lower need of latent thermolysis and activation of thermal polypnea. Therefore, it is supposed that the first PC1 models the behavior of the preference of thermolytic pathway in buffaloes.

An analysis of the relationship between variables and their placements along PC2, which models 41.0% of the variance in the data matrix, showed that the HTI has an opposite sign to stored heat and number of HF. The relationship of those variables in the PC corresponds to the thermolytic responses of buffaloes since the heat stored along the day results in an increase in internal body temperature, leading to a lower heat tolerance index. The opposite relationship between the HTI and the number of HF demonstrates the preference of buffaloes in using latent thermolysis through the respiratory pathway in contrast with the cutaneous one. According to Marai and Haeeb (10), buffaloes have lower efficiency in losing heat through cutaneous pathways and the respiratory pathway is very relevant in dissipating endogenous heat to maintain homeothermy. A shortcoming of this study is that the local microclimate conditions, particularly the high relative air humidity, did not favor the direct quantification of sweat production by the standard technique, which uses paper disks impregnated with cobalt chloride (90). Therefore, it would be interesting to replicate the experimental protocol under climate conditions other than humid tropical climate. Furthermore, the thermoregulatory associations measured in this study were limited to young females and could be assessed in animals in other age groups and physiological conditions, such as calves and lactating or pregnant females.

CONCLUSIONS

The quantification of the dynamic responses to the HTT and of the morphofunctional characteristics of buffalo tegument, such as the activities of sweat and sebaceous glands, hair density, and skin thickness, are the resources that allow measuring the thermotolerance capacity of buffaloes in a humid tropical environment. Buffalo skin thickness influences the conformation of dermal papillae and the distribution of peripheral blood vessels, which are identifiable via infrared thermography and whose participation in thermal exchanges can be successfully monitored in regions such as eyeball, cheek, trunk, rump, and forelimb. In humid tropical climate conditions, water buffaloes are able to quickly reduce their internal BT when protected from direct solar radiation, with the activation of thermal polypnea. In addition, eyeball ST can be used as a non-invasive indicator of thermal comfort of buffaloes as it exhibits a high correlation with internal body temperature.

Nomenclature: Resource Identification Initiative

FLIR: FLIR tools, RRID:SCR_016330; HOBO: HOBOware Pro, RRID:SCR_021915; Leica Microsystems: Leica Microsystems, RRID:SCR_008960; Software Image J: ImageJ, RRID:SCR_003070; SAS: Statistical Analysis System, RRID:SCR_008567; R Studio Team: R Project for Statistical Computing, RRID:SCR_001905.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Li M, Hassan F, Guo Y, Tang Z, Liang X, Xie F, et al. Seasonal dynamics of physiological, oxidative and metabolic responses in non-lactating nili-ravi buffaloes under hot and humid climate. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:622. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00622
- Minervino AHH, Zava M, Vecchio D, Borghese A. Bubalus bubalis: a short story. Front Vet Sci. (2020) 7:570413. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.570413
- Lacetera N. Impact of climate change on animal health and welfare. Anim Front. (2019) 9:26–31. doi: 10.1093/af/vfy030
- Abdel-Shafy H, Deng T, Zhou Y, Low WY, Hua G. Editorial: buffalo genetics and genomics. *Front Genet.* (2022) 12:820627. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021. 820627

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was carried out in accordance with the Brazilian Guideline for Care and Use of Animals in Teaching or Scientific Research Activities. The procedures were approved by the Animal Bioethics Commission of Embrapa Eastern Amazon (Protocol 00715) and the results were reported according to the ARRIVE Guidelines: Animal Research Reporting in vivo Experiments.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RV, JL, MJ, and AG: conceptualization. RV, JL, MJ, AB, and AG: methodology. RV, AB, and AG: data curation. MP, MJ, JL, RV, and CO: investigation. AB and AG: formal analysis. RV and AG: writing the original draft. JL and AG: funding acquisition. MJ, JL, and AG: reviewing, and editing. AG: project administration, supervision. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded in part by the Federal University of Pará, Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) Brasil (Finance Code 001), and Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation-Embrapa (Precision Agriculture Network, Grant# 11.14.09.001.03.03). In addition, this study received financial support for the publication fee from the Pró-Reitoria de Pesquisa Pós-Graduação (PROPESP/UFPA); ARG is the е fellow of CNPq-National Council for Scientific and Technological Development.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Federal University of Pará and Embrapa (Precision Agriculture Network, Grant# 11.14.09.001.03.03) for the financial support. This study was also financed by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior—Brasil (CAPES)—Finance Code 001.

- Quinzeiro Neto T, Garcia AR, Santos JC, Garcia MT, Homma AKO, Lourenço Junior JB. Socioeconomical importance of buffalo breeding to small farm agriculture at Xingu river floodplains, Pará, Brazil. *Rev Vet.* (2010) 21:1013–5.
- Matsumoto N, Nampanya S, Khounsy S, Young JR, Ashley KA, Bush RD, et al. Challenges for beef production in smallholder communities with low reproductive management skills: a case study from Northern Lao PDR. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2017) 49:87–96. doi: 10.1007/s11250-016-1162-y
- 7. Cruz LC. Trends in buffalo production in Asia. *Ital J of Ani Sci.* (2007) 6:9–24. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2007.s2.9
- Bertoni A, Álvarez-Macías A, Mota-Rojas D, Dávalos JL, Minervino AHH. Dual-purpose water buffalo production systems in tropical Latin America: bases for a sustainable model. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2910. doi: 10.3390/ani11102910

- Silva JAR, Garcia AR, Almeida AM, Bezerra AS, Lourenço Junior JB. Water buffalo production in the Brazilian Amazon basin: a review. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2021) 53:343–64. doi: 10.1007/s11250-021-02744-w
- Marai I, Haeeb A. Buffalo's biological functions as affected by heat stress a review. *Livest Sci.* (2010) 127:89–109. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2009.08.001
- Garcia AR. Conforto térmico na reprodução de bubalinos criados em condições tropicais. *Rev Bras de Rep Ani*. (2013) 37:121–30. Available online at: https://ainfo.cnptia.embrapa.br/digital/bitstream/item/87101/1/PROCI-2013.00081.pdf
- Joset WCL, Silva JAR, Godinho LA, Barbosa AVC, Martorano LG, Lourenço Junior JB. Thermoregulatory responses of female buffaloes reared under direct sunlight and shaded areas in the dry season on Marajó Island, Brazil. Acta Sci Anim Sci. (2018) 40:37641. doi: 10.4025/actascianimsci.v40i1.37641
- Mota-Rojas D, Wang D, Titto CG, Gómez-Prado J. Carvajal-de la Fuente V, Ghezzi M, et al. Pathophysiology of fever and application of infrared thermography (IRT) in the detection of sick domestic animals: recent advances. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2316. doi: 10.3390/ani11082316
- 14. Mason IL. Environmental physiology. In: Cockrill WR, editor. *The Husbandry* and Health of the Domestic Buffalo. Rome: FAO (1974). p. 89–104.
- Hafez E, Badreldin A, Shafei M. Skin structure of Egyptian buffaloes and cattle with particular reference to sweat glands. J Agric Sci. (1955) 46:19– 30. doi: 10.1017/S0021859600039587
- Hafez E, Anwar A. Normal haematological values in the buffalo. Nature. (1954) 174:611–12. doi: 10.1038/174611b0
- Zicarelli L. Estacionalidad Reproductiva en Búfalas. In: Crudeli G. editor. Reproducción en Búfalas. 1st ed. Argentina: Ediciones Moglia (2016). p. 73–94.
- Raheem MHA, Elias AM, Ahmed NS. The correction factor of hair density in the skin of buffalo. *Iraqi J of Vet Sc.* (2006) 20:101– 6. doi: 10.33899/ijvs.2006.62487
- Mota-Rojas D, Pereira AMF, Wang D, Martínez-Burnes J, Ghezzi M, Hernández-Avalos I, et al. Clinical applications and factors involved in validating thermal windows used in infrared thermography in cattle and river buffalo to assess health and productivity. *Animals.* (2021) 11:2247. doi: 10.3390/ani11082247
- Debbarma D, Uppal V, Bansal N, Gupta A. Histomorphological study on regional distribution of hair follicles in buffalo skin *Indian Vet J.* (2018) 95:36–40. doi: 10.1155/2018/5345390
- Debbarma D, Uppal V, Bansal N, Gupta A. Sebaceous gland distribution in different regions of buffalo skin. *Haryana Vet.* (2019) 58:119–21. Available online at: https://www.luvas.edu.in/haryana-veterinarian/download/ harvet2019-june1/30.pdf
- 22. Wankar AK, Rindh SN, Doijad NS. Heat stress in dairy animals and current milk production trends, economics, and future perspectives: the global scenario. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2021) 53:70. doi: 10.1007/s11250-020-02541-x
- Behera R, Chakravarty AK, Sahu A, Kashyap N, Rai S, Mandal A. Identification of best temperature humidity index model for assessing impact of heat stress on milk constituent traits in Murrah buffaloes under subtropical climatic conditions of Northern India. *Indian J Ani Res.* (2018) 52:13– 9. doi: 10.18805/ijar.B-3359
- Vasantha SKI. Prasad ChS, Naik BR, Kumar KA, Seshaiah ChV, Tej JNK. Effect of season on milk production in Murrah Buffaloes: THI a proven marker. *Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci.* (2021) 10:252–6. doi: 10.20546/ijcmas.2021.1004.025
- Sharma P, Nayak S, Baghel RPS, Nayak A, Roy B, Mishra A, Shukla S. Effect of meteorological variables on milk production in lactating buffaloes fed on linseed oil and whole linseed. *J Pharm Phytoc.* (2021) 10:8–11. Available online at: https://www.phytojournal.com/archives/2021/vol10issue1S/PartA/ S-9-6-196-562.pdf
- Behera R, Chakravarty AK, Kashyap N, Bharti RS, Mandal A, Gupta AK. Identification of most suitable temperature humidity index model for daily milk yield of Murrah buffaloes in subtropical climatic condition of India. *Indian J Ani Sci.* (2018) 88:74–7.
- Savaliya BD, Parikh SS, Makwana RB, Patbandha TK, Gamit PM, Murthy KS. Effect of microclimate alteration on Temperature Humidity Index (THI), milk production and milk composition in Jaffarabadi buffaloes during summer. *Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci.* (2019) 8:1379–85. doi: 10.20546/ijcmas.2019.804.160
- 28. Wankar AK, Kekan PM, Daware SB, Manimaran S, Bagadhe P, Buktare MR. Effect of THI and other environmental variables on milk constituents

in red Kandhari cattle and Marathwadi Buffaloes. *J Entomo Zool Stu.* (2020) 8:1372–6. Available online at: https://www.entomoljournal.com/archives/2020/vol8issue2/PartW/8-2-173-782.pdf

- Begum R, Huozha R, Rastogi S, Singh P. Alterations in milk composition due to seasonal and lactational stages in Tarai buffalo. *Buffalo Bulletin.* (2021) 40:637–44. Available online at: https://kuojs.lib.ku.ac.th/index.php/ BufBu/article/view/2687
- El-Tarabany MS. Survival analysis and seasonal patterns of pregnancy outcomes in Egyptian buffaloes. *Livestock Sci.* (2018) 213:61–6. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2018.05.008
- Kabir MdE, Islam Md S, Dadok F, Islam MdR, Rahman A-NMdI, Zannatul N. Influence of season on the ovarian biometry, oocyte yield and quality in buffaloes. *Asian J Res Ani Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:152–8.
- Reswati R, Purwanto BP, Priyanto R, Manalu W, Arifiantini RI. Reproductive performance of female swamp buffalo in West Sumatra. *IOP Conf Ser: Earth Environ Sci.* (2021) 48:012025. doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/748/1/012025
- Sharma M, Bhat Y, Sharma N, Singh A. Comparative study of seasonal variation in semen characteristics of buffalo bull. J Entomol Zool Stud. (2018) 6:52-109. Available online at: https://www.entomoljournal.com/ archives/2018/vol6issue1/PartM/6-1-52-109.pdf
- 34. Kumar N, Ghosh SK, Mohanty TK, Prasad JK, Singh RK, Patel B. Effect of heat stress on physico-morphological characteristics and sperm functions in Murrah buffalo semen. *Indian J Ani Sci.* (2019) 89:390–3. https://www. cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20193445086.
- 35. Sinha R, Bhakat M, Mohanty TK, Kumar R, Ranjan A, Rahim A, et al. Seasonal variation of sperm kinematics in Murrah bulls under the tropical climatic condition. *Buffalo Bulletin*. (2021) 40:87–98. Available online at: https://kuojs. lib.ku.ac.th/index.php/BufBu/article/view/2303
- 36. Gonçalves AA, Garcia AR, Rolim Filho ST, Silva JAR, Melo DN, Guimaraes TC, et al. Scrotal thermoregulation and sequential sperm abnormalities in buffalo bulls (Bubalus bubalis) under short-term heat stress. J Thermal Biol. (2021) 96:102842. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2021.102842
- Priyadarshini L, Aggarwal A. HSP70s expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in pre and postpartum murrah buffaloes during summer and winter seasons with astaxanthin supplementation. J Ani Res. (2018) 8:561–70. doi: 10.30954/2277-940X.08.2018.3
- Liu P, Guo L, Mao H, Gu Z. Serum proteomics analysis reveals the thermal fitness of crossbred dairy buffalo to chronic heat stress. *J Thermal Biol.* (2020) 89:102547. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102547
- Santos NFA, Silva JAR, Araújo AA, Viana RB, Garcia AR, Bezerra AS, et al. Silvopastoral systems contribute to water buffalo welfare and normal behavior pattern under eastern amazon conditions. J Agric Stud. (2021) 9:260–71. doi: 10.5296/jas.v9i2.18022
- Lakhani P, Alhussien MN, Lakhani N, Jindal R, Nayyar S. Seasonal variation in physiological responses, stress and metabolic-related hormones, and oxidative status of Murrah buffaloes. *Biol Rhythm Res.* (2018) 49:844– 52. doi: 10.1080/09291016.2018.1424775
- 41. Singh SV, Somagond YM, Deshpande A. Nutritional management of dairy animals for sustained production under heat stress scenario. *Indian J Ani Sci.* (2021) 91:337–49. Available online at: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/354947339_Nutritional_management_of_dairy_animals_for_ sustained_production_under_heat_stress_scenario
- Carabaño MJ, Ramón M, Menéndez-Buxadera A, Molina A, Díaz C. Selecting for heat tolerance. Ani Front. (2019) 9:62–8. doi: 10.1093/af/vfy033
- 43. Barros DV, Silva LKX, Kahwage PR, Lourenço Júnior JB, Sousa JS, Silva AGM, et al. Assessment of surface temperatures of buffalo bulls (Bubalus bubalis) raised under tropical conditions using infrared thermography. Arq Bras Med Vet Zootec. (2016) 68:422–30. doi: 10.1590/1678-4162-8327
- 44. Baccari Junior F, Polastre R, Fré CA, Assis PS. Um novo índice de tolerância ao calor para bubalinos: correlação com o ganho de peso. SBZ 1986: Anais da 23 Reunião Anual da Sociedade de Zootecnia, 1986 Jul 20-25. Campo Grande (1986). p. 316.
- Titto CG, Titto EAL, Titto RM, Mourão GB. Heat tolerance and the effects of shade on the behavior of Simmental bulls on pasture. *Anim Sci J.* (2011) 82:591–600. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-0929.2011.00872.x
- Pachêco NA, Santiago AV, Bastos TX, Cordeiro AHF. Boletim Agrometeorológico de 2009 para Belém, PA. Belém: Embrapa Amazônia Oriental (2011). p. 39.

- Machado R, Corrêa RF, Barbosa RT, Bergamaschi MACM. Escore da condição corporal e sua aplicação no manejo reprodutivo de ruminantes. São Carlos: Embrapa (2008). p. 16.
- McGovern R, Bruce J. Model of thermal balance for cattle in hot conditions. J Agric Eng. (2000) 77:81–92. doi: 10.1006/jaer.2000.0560
- Titto EAL, Pereira AMF, Passini R, Balieiro Neto G, Fagundes ACA, Lima CG, et al. Estudo da tolerância ao calor em tourinhos das raças Marchigiana, Nelore e Simental. APEZ 1999: Anais do IX Congresso de Zootecnia; 1999 Nov 11-13. Porto: APEZ - Associação Portuguesa dos Engenheiros Zootécnicos (1999). p. 142.
- Brcko CC, Silva JAR, Martorano LG, Vilela RA, Nahúm BDS, Silva AGM, et al. Infrared thermography to assess thermoregulatory reactions of female buffaloes in a humid tropical environment. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:180. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00180
- Giro A, Bernardi ACC, Barioni Junior W, Lemes AP, Botta D, Romanello N, et al. Application of microchip and infrared thermography for monitoring body temperature of beef cattle kept on pasture. *J Thermal Biol.* (2019) 84:121–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2019.06.009
- 52. Sevegnani KB, Silva. SHMG. Fernandes DPB. Evaluation thermorregulatory of dairv buffaloes of capacity Eng using infrared thermography. Agrí. (2016)36:1-12. doi: 10.1590/1809-4430-Eng.Agric.v36n1p1-12/2016
- Buffington DE, Collazo-Arocho A, Canton GH, Pitt D, Thatcher WW, Collier RJ. Black globe-humidity index (BGHI) as comfort equation for dairy cows. *Trans ASAE*. (1981) 24:711–14. doi: 10.13031/2013. 34325
- Baêta FC, Souza C F. Ambiência em edificações rurais conforto animal. 2 edição. 1 reimpressão. Viçosa: UFV (2012). p. 269.
- 55. Kahwage PR. *Respostas termolíticas e qualidade seminal de ovinos naturalizados criados em ambiente tropical* (master's thesis). Universidade Federal do Pará, Belém, Brazil (2015).
- 56. Chang SP, Tsai HH, Chen WY, Lee WR, Chen PL, Tsai TH. The wrinkles soothing effect on the middle and lower face by intradermal injection of botulinum toxin type. A Int J Dermatol. (2008) 47:1287– 94. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2008.03895.x
- Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW, NIH. Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nat Methods. (2012) 9:671–75. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2089
- Kahwage PR, Esteves SN, Jacinto MAC, Barioni Junior W, Pezzopane JRM, Pantoja MHA, et al. High systemic and testicular thermolytic efficiency during heat tolerance test reflects better semen quality in rams of tropical breeds. *Int J Biomet.* (2017) 61:1819–29. doi: 10.1007/s00484-017-1367-4
- SAS INSTITUTE. Statistical Analysis System: User's Guide. Version 9.1.3. Cary: SAS Institute (2002/2003).
- R Studio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R. Boston, MA: RStudio, PBC (2021).
- 61. Pereira AMF, Titto EAL, Almeida JAA. Adaptação dos ruminantes aos climas quentes. Curitiba, PR: Appris (2019). p. 187.
- 62. Goswami SB. Narain P. The effect of air temperate and relative humidity on some physiological indices of buffalo bulls (Bubalus bubalis L). *Indian J Vet Sci New Delhi.* (1962) 32:112–18.
- Shafie MM. Physiological responses and adaptation of water buffalo. In: Yousef MK, editor. *Stress Physiology in Livestock.* 2. Boca Raton, FL: CRS Press (1985). p. 67–80
- 64. Ferreira RA. *Maior produção com melhor ambiente: para aves, suínos e bovinos.* Viçosa, MG: Aprenda Fácil (2011). p. 401.
- Pereira AMF, Vilela RA, Titto CG, Leme-dos-Santos TMC, Geraldo ACM, Balieiro JCC, et al. Thermoregulatory responses of heat acclimatized buffaloes to simulated heat waves. *Animais*. (2020) 10:756. doi: 10.3390/ani10050756
- Martello LS, Savastano Júnior H, Silva SL, Titto EAL. Respostas Fisiológicas e Produtivas de Vacas Holandesas em Lactação Submetidas a Diferentes Ambientes. Ver Bras Zootec. (2004) 33:181–91. doi: 10.1590/S1516-35982004000100022
- Koga A, Kurata K, Furukawa R, Nakajima M, Kanai Y, Chikamune T. Thermoregulatory responses of swamp buffaloes and Friesian cows to diurnal changes in temperature. *Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci.* (1999) 12:1273– 6. doi: 10.5713/ajas.1999.1273
- 68. Koga A, Sugiyama M, Del Barrio AN, Lapitan RM, Arenda BR, Robles AY, et al. Comparison of the thermoregulatory response of

buffaloes and tropical cattle, using fluctuations in rectal temperature, skin temperature and haematocrit as an index. *J Agric Sci.* (2004) 142:351-55. doi: 10.1017/S0021859604004216

- 69. Castro AC, Lourenço Júnior JB, Santos NFA, Monteiro EMM, Aviz MAB, Garcia AR. Sistema silvipastoril na Amazônia: ferramenta para elevar o desempenho produtivo de búfalos. *Ciência Rural.* (2008) 38:2395– 402. doi: 10.1590/S0103-84782008000800050
- Moraes Júnior RJ, Garcia AR, Santos NFA, Nahúm BS, Lourenço Junior JB, Araújo CV. Conforto ambiental de bezerros bubalinos (Bubalus bubalis Linnaeus, 1758) em sistemas silvipastoris na Amazônia Oriental. Acta Amazonica. (2010) 40:629–40. doi: 10.1590/S0044-59672010000400001
- Silva JAR, Santos NFA, Araújo AA, Lourenço Júnior JB, Garcia AR, Viana RB, et al. Effect of the climatic conditions of the Brazilian Eastern Amazon in the tolerance to the heat in buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis) created on the shading and sun. *Revista Vet.* (2010) 21:777–80.
- 72. Silva JAR, Araújo AA, Lourenço Júnior JB, Santos NFA, Garcia AR, Nahúm BS. Conforto térmico de búfalas em sistema silvipastoril na Amazônia Oriental. *Pesq Agrop Bras.* (2011) 46:1364–71. doi: 10.1590/S0100-204X2011001000033
- 73. Garcia AR, Matos LB, Lourenco Junior IB, Nahúm BS, Araúio CV. Santos AX. Variáveis fisiológicas de búfalas leiteiras criadas Pesq soh sombreamento em sistemas silvipastoris. Agrop Bras (2011)46:1409-14. doi 10.1590/S0100-204X20110010 00039
- Silva JAR, Araújo AA, Lourenço Júnior JB, Santos NFA, Garcia AR, Oliveira RP. Thermal comfort indices of female Murrah buffaloes reared in the Eastern Amazon. Int J Biomet. (2015) 59:1261–67. doi: 10.1007/s00484-014-0937-y
- Pantoja MHA, Silva JAR, Delgado ML, Margarido YMM, Adami COR, Garcia AR, et al. Respostas fisiológicas e adaptabilidade de bubalinos ao clima equatorial amazônico. *Rev Acad Ciênc Anim.* (2018) 16:7– 13. doi: 10.7213/academica.16.2018.02
- Garcia AR, Silva LKX, Barros DV, Lourenço Junior JB, Martorano LG, Lisboa LSS, et al. Key points for the thermal comfort of water buffaloes in Eastern Amazon. *Ciência Rural.* (2023) v.53:1, e20210544. doi: 10.1590/0103-8478cr20210544
- Hales JRS. Efeitos da exposição a ambientes quentes na distribuição regional do fluxo sanguíneo e na função cardiorrespiratória em ovinos. *Pflugers Arch.* (1973) 344:133–48.
- Peng D, Chen S, Li G, Chen J, Wang J, Gu X. Infrared thermography measured body surface temperature and its relationship with rectal temperature in dairy cows under different temperature-humidity indexes. *Int J Biomet.* (2019) 63:327–36. doi: 10.1007/s00484-018-01666-x
- 79. Silva RG. Introdução à bioclimatologia animal. São Paulo: Nobel (2000). p. 286.
- Casas-Alvarado A, Mota-Rojas D, Hernández-Ávalos I, Mora-Medina P, Olmos-Hernández A, Verduzco-Mendoza A, et al. Advances in infrared thermography: Surgical aspects, vascular changes, and pain monitoring in veterinary medicine. J Therm Biol. (2020) 92:102664. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102664
- Gloster J, Ebert K, Gubbins S, Bashiruddin J, Paton DJ. Normal variation in thermal radiated temperature in cattle: implications for foot-and-mouth disease detection. *BMC Vet Res.* (2011) 7:73. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-7-73
- Bertoni A, Napolitano F, Mota-Rojas D, Sabia E, Álvarez-Macías A, Mora-Medina P, et al. Similarities and differences between river buffaloes and cattle: health, physiological, behavioral and productivity aspects. *J of Buffalo Sci.* (2020) 9:92–109. doi: 10.6000/1927-520X.2020.09.12
- Ermetin O. Husbandry and sustainability of water buffaloes in Turkey. *Turkish J Agric Food Sci Tech.* (2017) 5:1673– 82. doi: 10.24925/turjaf.v5i12.1673-1682.1639
- Taneja GC, Bhatnagar DD. Sources of variation in skin thickness and its relationship with yield in Murrah buffaloes. *Indian Vet J.* (1960) 37:551– 56. https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/19610100732.
- Villares JB, Montenegro MR, Ramos AA. As estruturas anexas à pele do búfalo Jafarabadi, Murrah e Mediterrâneo. In: Ramos AA, Villares JB, Moura JC, editores. *Bubalinos*. Campinas: Fundação Cargill (1979). p. 9–29.
- Raghav S, Uppal V, Gupta A. Comparative study on distribution of sebaceous and sweat glands in skin of different domestic animals. *Indian J Anim Res.* (2021) B4228:1–5. doi: 10.18805/IJAR.B-4228

- Fraga AB, Lima Silva F, Hongyu K, Santos DS, Murphy TW, Lopes FB. Análise multivariada para avaliação de grupos genéticos e características de produção de vacas mestiças Holandês x Zebu. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2016) 48:53338. doi: 10.1007/s11250-015-0985-2
- Aggarwal A, Singh M. Changes in skin and rectal temperature in lactating buffaloes provided with showers and wallowing during hot-dry season. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2008) 40:223–8. doi: 10.1007/s11250-007-9084-3
- Villares JB, Ramos AA, Rocha GP. As vias cutâneas e respiratórias na termólise de bubalinos sob extrema tensão térmica. In: Ramos AA, Villares JB, Moura JC, editores. *Bubalinos*. Campinas: Fundação Cargill (1979). p. 55–132.
- Schleger AV, Turner HG. Sweating rates of cattle in the field and their reaction to diurnal and seasonal changes. *Australian J Agric Res.* (1965) 16:92-106. doi: 10.1071/AR9650092

Conflict of Interest: MJ and AG were employed by Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Vilela, Lourenço Junior, Jacintho, Barbosa, Pantoja, Oliveira and Garcia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Severiano Silva, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY

Flaviana Gottardo, University of Padua, Italy Maria José Gomes, University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Mhlangabezi Slayi mslayi@ufh.ac.za

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 22 April 2022 ACCEPTED 07 November 2022 PUBLISHED 25 November 2022

CITATION

Slayi M, Zhou L and Njisane YZ (2022) Grass composition and distribution patterns as determinants of behavioral activities and weight accumulation of Nguni and Boran cattle post-relocation. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:926140. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.926140

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Slayi, Zhou and Njisane. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Grass composition and distribution patterns as determinants of behavioral activities and weight accumulation of Nguni and Boran cattle post-relocation

Mhlangabezi Slayi^{1*}, Leocadia Zhou¹ and Yonela Zifikile Njisane²

¹Risk and Vulnerability Science Centre, University of Fort Hare, Alice, South Africa, ²Department of Livestock and Pasture Science, Faculty of Science and Agriculture, University of Fort Hare, Alice, South Africa

Grass biomass composition and distribution patterns within the paddock as determinants of behavioral activities and animal performance of Nguni (NG) and Boran (BR) cattle post-relocation to a novel environment were examined. Ten steers of each breed aged 9 months were bought from two different farms and sent to Honeydale research facilities, where they were reared on rangelands for 12 weeks. Identification and classification of grass species were done every sampling week before introducing cattle to each paddock. Direct visual observations and durations of behavior and paddock occupancy patterns were recorded every fortnight between 0500 and 1900 h every week. Individual animal weights and body condition scores (BCS) were recorded two times per week. Location within paddocks hugely affected (P < 0.0001) the composition of the vegetation as most grass species were found everywhere on pastures, near the watering points and along fencelines. However, the distribution patterns of the grass species significantly differed at different locations. Aristida congesta was dominant (P = 0.0014) everywhere in the pasture and along fenceline than in areas with a high density of trees. Except in shaded areas, Cynodon dactylon (P = 0.0003) and Eragrostis chloromelas (P = 0.0008) were highly abundant near the watering points, pastures, and along the fenceline. Themeda triandra (P < 0.0001) was only prevalent everywhere on pastures except in shade areas, near the water sites, and along fenceline. In terms of palatability and ecological groups, highly palatable species (P < 0.0001) and decreasers (P = 0.0010) were more frequent everywhere in the paddocks. From Weeks 1 to 3, NG spent more time walking (P < 0.0001), while the BR showed a significant decline in grazing activities (P < 0.0001) in spite of several differences in vegetation composition. Both breeds showed a significant decline in weight gain (P < 0.0001) and body condition score (P < 0.0001) in the first 3 weeks. However, the two cattle breeds quickly compensated for their behavioral activities and weight gain, and this shows a good ability to cope with stress caused by heterogeneous environmental conditions.

KEYWORDS

novel environment, beef cattle, climate change, foraging behavior, rangelands

Introduction

A cattle ranching holds a significant contribution as a tool to alleviate the poverty crisis among the disadvantaged rural people in South Africa and beyond (1), where three-quarters of the population primarily relies on livestock farming as a source of income (2). Seventy-five percent of cattle production in the country is undertaken in areas, where land and the surrounding environments are harsh and not suitable for other viable use (3). Cattle production in rural areas basically relies on natural pastures as a source of feed (4). Herbaceous forages, browse species, and crop residues are the main feed resources offering a range of goods and services, such as cattle grazing, an important component of extensive livestock production (5). In South Africa, normally cattle production has two distinct seasons: rainy and dry seasons (6). During the rainy season, from October to March, cattle typically have a reasonable amount of forage available (7). Conversely, during the dry season, from April to September, pastures often present restricted forage quantity and quality (8). Thus, the nutritional and productivity of natural pastures throughout the year are not enough for grazing animals to reach their full productive potential (9). Under such challenging situations, cattle farmers are forced to establish supplementary plans depending on the production goals and socio-economic status of the farmer (10). Supplementation involves additional costs to the farmer (8). In most instances, only 20%, if not less, of the farmers could afford the additional feed costs and other management inputs due to the consistent lack of a sustainable income source (11).

Animal performance is dependent on forage intake, which, in turn, is influenced by consumption patterns (6). In heterogeneous pastures such as native grassland, animals change the mechanisms of forage harvest and ingestion, keeping nutrient supply constant (12), and similar behavior may occur when animals have access to better quality pasture. In turn, pastures with higher fiber content cause the animal to reduce forage consumption (13). When it is possible for the animal to select a better diet quality, changes occur in patterns of ingestion and rumination of grazing animals (9). For this reason, foraging behavior is one of the prominent activities in extensively reared cattle as it affords them a better opportunity to learn about their environment by searching for better quality forage, locating water sources (13, 14), and engaging with their herd mates to build social relationships (15). For ruminants, grazing and ruminating activities are essential in nutrient capture and, ultimately, animal performance (16). Up to date, little is known about how the fobs and grass biomass composition at different locations within a paddock may impact different behavioral activities and weight accumulation where animals' food base is natural pastures. A better understanding on how grass biomass composition and distribution patterns determine grazing activities and weight accumulation is important for managing both animals, and their rangelands as climate change

through recurrent droughts continue to be an area of concern to many countries (17).

At the same time, high-producing cattle breeds like Simmental, Limousine, and others are experiencing difficulties to adapt to harsh environmental conditions with less available feed resources than their area of origin (13). Consequently, livestock ownership changes involving the relocation of cattle became a norm as farmers were forced to sell a portion of the stock to reduce drought-related financial and production losses (15). Tropical cattle breeds like Nguni and Boran are highly reputed for their ability to strive under nutritive restrictive environments where hot and humid conditions impede productivity (18). For this reason, tropical breeds like Nguni and Boran were allowed to enter the growing commercial sector and extensive recording facilitated breed improvement (19). Thus, while the breeds were improved in the commercial sector, they were being eroded in the rural areas (20). Fortunately, the inherent hardiness of the breeds allowed them to survive, and purebred animals are still found in limited numbers in rural communities. In an attempt to address this problem, there has been a growing interest calling for the mainstreaming of indigenous cattle breeds as a climateresilient model to improve the tolerance and herd productivity in communal farming setups (21). With climate change impacts occurring at a faster rate than predicted, the current study sought to deposit a portion of the information by examining the distribution and vegetation composition as determinants of foraging behavior and weight accumulation of Nguni and Boran cattle post-relocation to a novel environment.

Materials and methods

Ethical approval

Accommodation and care of animals were in accordance with the recommendations of the University of Fort Hare's Research Ethics Policy. The project guidelines were reviewed and permitted under the ethical clearance certificate number MUC551SSLA01 from the Institutional Animal Research Ethics Committee.

Source of animals and description of experimental site

The animals were sourced from two different farms in the Eastern Cape (Nguni bought in Morgan Bay while the Boran was bought in Bathurst) and sent to Honeydale Research farm at the University of Fort Hare in Alice, South Africa (Figure 1). The Nguni cattle are widely acknowledged to be the outstanding beef breed for optimal production under harsh African conditions. Nguni cattle are heat and light tolerant and can handle extreme

10.3389/fvets.2022.926140

heat and cold alike (3). They are adaptable and hardy and possess excellent resistance to internal and external parasites with natural immunity to tick-borne diseases (10). It is slightly smaller in size compared to the large beef breeds of other countries but this just enables it to live in the Highveld regions of Africa (21). Bulls are medium sized and weigh between 500 and 600 kg. They are muscular and display typical male characteristics with well-developed, muscular cervicothoracic humps, which mean that the hump is in front of the foreleg. The cows are small and weigh between 300 and 400 kg. They are feminine with sleek, delicate lines around the neck and forequarter, and a prominent wedge shape with the weight in the stomach and hindquarter area. The sloping rump is a distinctive characteristic of the Nguni cow and ensures ease of calving. The udder is small to medium, well-attached with small, functional teats. On the other hand, the Boran cattle are a mediumsized beef animal. They can be gray, fawn, or red in color. They are recognized for their high fertility, good mothering ability, excellent temperament, and great survivability under harsh conditions (22). Their early maturity and good meat quality will ensure their value in crossbreeding projects aimed at improving the productivity of beef herds. The experimental area is located at 32.8° latitude and 26.9° longitude at approximately 520 m above the sea level. The local climate is classified as semi-arid, with a mean annual temperature of 28.7°C and a mean annual rainfall of 453 mm. The experimental site is 210 ha, which was divided into 36 paddocks of 5.84 ha each. These paddocks were characterized by high heterogeneity in cattle grazing patterns, with some areas showing some signs of degradation and encroachment. The soils in the area are comprised of deep alluvial-derived types in arable lands, which are mostly shallow with <450-mm depth (23). The area lies in the lowland characterized by steep, isolated mountains, and hills with several dams and water streams. The ecological area and veld type predominantly belong to the Bhisho Thornveld (24). The vegetation is composed of several trees, shrubs, and grass species, with Vachelia karroo, Themeda triandra, Digitaria eriantha, Eragrostis spp., and Pennisetum clandestinum being the dominant plant species (25).

Experimental design and animal management

Upon arrival at the experimental farm, the steers were supplemented with Vitamin B complex and inoculated with Blanthrax[®] against Anthrax and other related diseases are known to be prevalent in the area. The steers were allocated into one paddock (500 \times 500 m per paddock, length \times width) irrespective of their source of origin to allow the acclimatization and buildup of social relationships with their new herd mates. A 6-month resting period was applied to each paddock to ensure

there is sufficient forage before introducing the animals. A 24h accessible watering system was located at the center of each paddock. Different numbered and colored ear tags (green for Boran and white for Nguni) were fitted on each animal for identification. An individual code was marked on the back of each steer using a washable dye to differentiate between steers with the same body color during behavioral observations. The steers were dipped with DRASTIC DEADLINE[®] fortnightly, as is the new requirement to control tick infestation in the area. The steers had free access to water and were allowed to free-range together throughout the trial period. Rotational grazing was adopted for feeding the animals, and they were moved to a new paddock after every 14 days. A total number of six paddocks were used to carry the animals in the current study.

Vegetation assessments and species identification

The species composition of the vegetation was estimated from different locations within a paddock using a steppoint method (26). The nearest plant and basal strikes were recorded from 250 point observations per location. The point observations were placed at 2-m intervals, and records were made over the length of the plot in five straight parallel lines with a distance of 4 m between them. Grasses were classified based on the succession and ecological information for the arid and semi-arid regions of South Africa (27) as follows: (i) highly palatable species; those that develop on rangeland in good condition and decrease with high grazing pressure (decreaser), (ii) palatable species; those that appear in rangeland in good condition and increase with moderate grazing pressure (increaser IIa), and (iii) less palatable species; those that occur in rangeland in good condition and increase with severe utilization (increaser IIb and IIc). Those grasses that could not be identified were collected with full inflorescences and sent to the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) Herbarium in Pretoria for identification. In each location, four 0.25 m² quadrants were randomly placed for above-ground grass biomass sampling. Forages within each quadrant were harvested to a stubble height, bulked, and oven dried for 48 h at 60°C. Dried samples were weighed to measure the dry matter (DM) yield.

Inter-observer reliability and recording of foraging and drinking behavior

Five observers with more than 3 years of participation in data collection involving behavior monitoring were selected in the current experiment. At the beginning of the trial,



definitions of behaviors were set, and the observers were trained to gather data and were subjected to a preliminary trial as a protocol to test their understanding and to ensure inter-observer reliability. Using data collection sheets, the five trained personnel recorded the animals' behavioral patterns from 0500 h in the morning to 1,900 h the same day. The procedure was done on three consecutive days each observation week. The same data collectors were used throughout the trial period. Time spent grazing (mouth in contact with grass species), drinking water (head pointing down and mouth in contact with water at the watering point), standing idle or either ruminating, lying down (body in contact with the ground using either lateral or sternal recumbency), browsing (mouth in contact with forage browse tree or shrub) and walking (moving from one place to the next with head raised up) was recorded for every first 20 min of every hour through the scan sampling procedure by Martin and Bateson (28). The location of the animals in the paddock (shade, pasture, fenceline, or water source) was recorded every 20 min per hour. The animal was considered in the shade when the head and most of its body were covered by the shade, at the water source and fenceline, and when standing or lying at <5 m from the water source and fence. Amount of time recorded for each activity and location was expressed as a percentage of the total time spent for all the

activities by the animals in the veld. Using the same five trained observers, drinking frequencies were recorded continuously and simultaneously for each animal. The number of instances for each drinking action (drinking bouts) and time spent by each animal drinking water was recorded using a stopwatch. "Drinking bouts" were defined as when at least 4 min was spent without any drinking.

Live weight and body condition scores

The steers were driven into the handling facility to collect individual animal weights and BCS two times per week. Animals were individually weighed using a digital weighing band (individual scale CAUDURO 40100–1,500 kg, Cachoeira do Sul; Brazil), and live weights were recorded. The steers were weighed at 8 o'clock, after 3 h of fasting. The animals were palpated, and body condition scoring was assessed by experienced personnel using a 1–5 point scale (3). These measurements were taken every fortnight. The average daily gain (ADG) was determined by the difference between weights on Weeks 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, and 12 divided by the number of days between each measurement.

Statistical analysis

The data obtained were checked for homogeneity of variance and the presence of outliers using the extreme observation table, while normality was tested using PROC UNIVARIATE. Data on foraging activities were arc sin transformed, while the BCS were square-root transformed before the generalized linear model analysis was run. This adjustment was made to ensure the normality of the data. Outliers were set to missing, and the analysis was re-run to determine if any new outliers appeared. This process was repeated until all outliers were removed from the data set. A comparison of means was made using the PDIFF option. The model used was as follows:

 $Yijl = u + \alpha i + \beta j + hk + \alpha \beta ij + \alpha hij + \beta hjl + Eijk,$

where, $Y_{ijl} =$ proportion of time spent on different behavioral activities (grazing, browsing, resting, walking, pasture, shade, fenceline, and watering points); water intake (number and duration of drinking bouts); and animal performance (ADG and BCS. Whereas, $\mu =$ overall mean; $\alpha_i =$ effect of breed (i = Boran, Nguni); $\beta j =$ effect of observation week (1, 3, 5, 7, 9, and 12); hk = effect of observer (1, 2, 3, 4, and 5); $\alpha\beta_{ij} =$ interaction of genotype and observation week; $\alpha h_{ik} =$ interaction of breed and observer; $\beta h_{jk} =$ interaction of observation week and observer; $E_{ijk} =$ random errors. Pearson correlation coefficients for the two breeds were used to determine the relationship among the tested variables.

Results

Abundance of common grass species, ecological, and palatability groups

The current study identified six common grass species at different locations within the paddocks during the trial period (Table 1). All the common grass species were more abundant except the Sporobolus fimbriatus. However, the distribution patterns of the grass species significantly differed at different locations. Aristida congesta was dominant (P = 0.0014) everywhere in the pasture and along fenceline than in areas with a high density of trees. Except in shaded areas, Cynodon dactylon (P = 0.0003) and Eragrostis chloromelas (P = 0.0008) were highly abundant near the watering points, pastures, and along the fenceline. Themeda triandra ($P \leq 0.0001$) was only prevalent everywhere on pastures except in shade areas, near the water sites, and along the fenceline. In terms of palatability and ecological groups, highly palatable species ($P \le 0.0001$) and decreasers (P = 0.0010) were more frequent everywhere in the paddocks. Biomass production significantly varied (P < 0.0001) between location sites, with more DM yield found everywhere on pasture than in other areas.

Biomass production according to different locations within a paddock is presented in Figure 2. Anywhere within the paddock and fenceline had higher biomass production (P < 0.0001) except along the water points and fencelines.

Behavioral activities displayed by the Nguni and Boran cattle during the observation weeks

The proportion (expressed in percentages) of time spent by the Nguni (NG) and Boran (BR) steers on each behavioral activity during the observation weeks is shown in Table 2. BR had a higher proportion (P < 0.0001) of grazing time than NG. However, the proportion of time spent grazing between the two breeds significantly declined (P < 0.0001) from Week 1 to Week 5. There was a significant interaction (P =0.0002) between breed and observation period with regard to the proportion time spent on grazing. A higher proportion of time spent on walking events was noted in NG than in BR. The two genotypes showed an increase (P < 0.0001) in time spent walking on Week 1 than in the successive weeks. Significant interactions (P < 0.0001) existed between breed and observation period with regard to the proportion of time spent walking. BR had higher proportion (P < 0.0001) of time spent browsing than NG. Time spent walking by the two breeds showed a significant difference (P < 0.0001) with regard to the observation period. A notable decline in browsing activities was observed in Weeks 1-5 than in the subsequent weeks. There was a significant interaction (P = 0.0006) between the breed and observation period. The proportion of time spent resting remained insignificantly low (P > 0.05) irrespective of the breed and observation period.

Spatial distribution of the Nguni and Boran steers according to observation weeks

The effect of breed and period on animal distribution in the paddock is presented in Figure 3. The proportion of time spent on pasture remained the same (P = 0.0559) irrespective of the breed. However, a significant variation with regard to the time spent on pasture (P = 0.0005) was noted within the observation period. From Week 5 to Week 9, the steers spent more time on pasture than in the preceding weeks. NG had a higher (P < 0.0001) proportion of time spent along the fenceline than BR. Week 1 and Week 3 showed a higher (P < 0.0001) proportion of time spent along fenceline than in the successive weeks. Significant interactions (P < 0.0001) were also noted between breed and observation period with regard to the

Grass species	Water points	Pastures	Shade	Fenceline	M.S.E	Probability
Aristida congesta	2.94 ^b	5.88 ^a	1.47 ^c	2.94 ^b	1.42	0.0014
Cynodon dactylon	5.88 ^b	7.35 ^a	2.94 ^c	4.41 ^c	1.65	0.0003
Digitaria eriantha	2.94 ^c	8.82 ^a	2.94 ^c	4.41 ^b	1.44	< 0.0001
Eragrostis chloromelas	5.88 ^b	7.35 ^a	1.47 ^d	2.94 ^c	2.37	0.0008
Sporobolus fimbriatus	1.47 ^b	2.94 ^a	1.47 ^b	1.47 ^b	1.63	0.0322
Themeda triandra	1.47 ^c	10.29 ^a	2.94 ^b	1.47 ^c	3.05	< 0.0001
Ecological groups						
Decreasers	9.38 ^c	18.75 ^a	7.29 ^c	12.50 ^b	1.51	0.0010
Increaser I	-	2.08	-	-	0.10	< 0.0001
Increaser II	7.29 ^c	15.63 ^a	6.25 ^c	10.42 ^b	1.42	0.0002
Increaser III	1.04 ^c	3.13 ^a	-	2.08 ^b	0.71	0.0426
Invaders	1.04 ^b	2.08 ^a	-	1.04 ^b	0.33	0.0500
Palatability groups						
Highly palatable	14.14 ^b	22.22 ^a	8.08 ^c	15.15 ^b	1.62	< 0.0001
Moderately palatable	8.08 ^b	19.19 ^a	4.04 ^c	7.07 ^b	1.21	0.0025
Less palatable	3.03 ^a	1.01 ^b	1.01 ^b	1.01 ^b	1.24	0.0375
Virtually unpalatable (forbs)	2.02	2.02	-	-	0.81	0.5074

TABLE 1 Relative abundance (%) of common grass species, ecological, and desirability groups at different locations within a paddock.

Different letters "a, b, c, and d" represent significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between sampling locations within a paddock.



time spent along fenceline. BR spent more (P < 0.0001) time along water points than NG. A variation in time spent along water sources was more dominant (P < 0.0001) in Weeks 1–3 than in the successive weeks. Genotype and observation period showed a significant interaction (P < 0.0001) in response to time spent along water points. The two breeds spent similar

		Period							Stat	istics	
	Breed	Week 1	Week 3	Week 5	Week 7	Week 9	Week 12	±SEM	В	Р	B x P
Grazing	Boran	44.20 ^{b,x}	39.00 ^{c,y}	42.80 ^{b,y}	50.10 ^{a,x}	51.80 ^{a,y}	51.80 ^{a,x}	1.412	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0002
	Nguni	35.80 ^{c,y}	40.00 ^{c,y}	44.20 ^{b,y}	42.80 ^{b,y}	49.80 ^{b,y}	43.60 ^{b,y}				
Walking	Boran	33.70 ^{b,x}	38.30 ^b	33.60 ^b	23.10 ^{c,y}	18.80 ^{d,y}	20.60 ^{c,x}	1.295	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
	Nguni	42.00 ^{a,y}	38.80 ^b	32.60 ^b	33.20 ^{b,x}	25.20 ^{c,x}	32.50 ^{b,y}				
Browsing	Boran	12.70 ^{b,x}	12.50 ^{b,x}	13.10 ^{b,x}	18.40 ^{a,x}	16.70 ^{a,x}	18.70 ^{a,x}	0.739	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0006
	Nguni	11.60 ^{b,x}	11.40 ^{b,x}	13.00 ^{b,x}	13.10 ^{b,y}	14.40 ^{b,y}	13.30 ^{b,y}				
Resting	Boran	9.40 ^{b,y}	10.20 ^{a,x}	10.50 ^{a,x}	8.40 ^{b,y}	12.70 ^{a,x}	8.90 ^{b,y}	0.979	0.4450	0.3499	0.2048
	Nguni	10.60 ^{a,x}	9.80 ^{b,x}	10.20 ^{a,x}	10.90 ^{a,x}	10.60 ^{a,x}	10.60 ^{a,x}				

TABLE 2 LSMeans for the proportion of time spent on different behavioral activities according to breed and observation period.

S.E.M, standard error of means. Different letters "a, b, c" represent significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between periods of observation. "x and y" represent significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between genotypes. B, Breed; P, Period; B x P, Breed x Period interaction.

time in shade (P = 0.1014) during the observation periods. However, the observation period showed a significant variation (P = 0.0004) with regard to time spent by the steers near or under the shade. The proportion of time spent under the shade showed significant interaction (P < 0.0001) between breed and observation period.

Water consumption patterns of the Nguni and Boran steers during the observation weeks

No significant interactions were noted between breed and observation period on the number of drinking bouts (P = 0.4007) and duration of drinking bouts (P = 0.1042) as shown in Figure 4. BR had a higher number (P < 0.0001) of drinking bouts than NG throughout the study. Contrastingly, NG had a longer duration (P < 0.0001) per drinking bout than BR during the period of behavior observation.

Average daily weight gain and body condition scores of Nguni and Boran cattle

The average daily gain and BCS of the Nguni and Boran steers are presented in Table 3. BR had higher ADG (P < 0.0001) and BCS (P < 0.0001) than NG, even though they were of similar age. Both breeds showed a significant decline in ADG (P < 0.0001) on Weeks 1 and 3 than Weeks 5-12. On the other hand, the two breeds showed a significant decline (P = 0.0028) on BCS during Week 1 only. No significant interactions (P = 0.3129) were noted with regard to ADG.

Correlation coefficients of Nguni and Boran steers among the tested variables

Table 4 shows relationships between all the tested variables for the Boran (top) and Nguni (bottom) diagonal. For BR steers, the proportion of time spent on grazing positively correlated with browsing (r = 0.017 at P < 0.0001). On the other hand, time spent on grazing activities negatively correlated with resting (r = -0.963 at P = 0.0025). Browsing negatively correlated with the proportion of time spent on resting (r = -0.767 at P = 0.0098) and pastures (r = -0.699 at P = 0.0246). Positive correlations (r = 0.634 at P = 0.0492) were noted between the proportion of time spent on browsing and fenceline. Resting positively correlated with walking (r = 0.836 at P = 0.0026), while negatively correlated (r = -0.661 at P = 0.0379) with ADG. Walking positively correlated with time spent along the fenceline (r = 0.741 at P = 0.0142), while negatively correlated (r = -0.701 at P = 0.0240) with ADG. The proportion of time spent under the shade negatively correlated with time spent on pasture (r = -0.733 at P = 0.0158) and fenceline (r = -0.780at P = 0.0078). Time spent under the shade positively correlated with time spent around water points (r = -0.947 at P < 0.0001) and the number of drinking bouts (r = 0.782 at P = 0.0264).

The amount of time spent on pasture positively correlated with time spent along the fenceline (r = 0.931 at P < 0.0001) and the number of drinking bouts (r = 0.778 at P = 0.0081). Time spent near the water points negatively correlated with the amount of time spent along the fenceline (r = -0.679 at P = 0.0308) and ADG (r = -0.794 at P = 0.0061). Positive correlation (r = 0.701 at P = 0.0239) existed between the amount of time spent along the fenceline positively (r = 0.683 at P = 0.0295) correlated with the number of drinking bouts. The proportion of time spent along the fenceline positively (r = 0.683 at P = 0.0295) correlated with the number of drinking bouts. For NG steers, the proportion of time spent on grazing negatively correlated with time spent on browsing (r = -0.666 at P = 0.0357), resting (r = -0.659 at P = 0.0384), walking





	Period							Statistics			
	Breed	Week 1	Week 3	Week 5	Week 7	Week 9	Week 12	±SEM	В	Р	B x P
ADG* (kg/day)	Boran	0.36 ^{c,x}	0.38 ^{c.x}	0.47 ^{a.x}	0.50 ^{a,x}	0.46 ^{a,x}	0.43 ^{a,x}	0.012	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.3129
	Nguni	0.30 ^{d,y}	0.31 ^{b,y}	0.41 ^{b,y}	0.41 ^{b,y}	0.42 ^{b,y}	0.35 ^{b,y}				
BCS	Boran	3.00 ^{c,x}	4.00 ^{a,x}	3.70 ^{b,x}	3.70 ^{b,x}	3.60 ^{b,x}	3.50 ^{b,x}	0.181	< 0.0001	0.0028	0.1564
	Nguni	2.40 ^{e,y}	2.60 ^{d,y}	2.70 ^{d,y}	3.00 ^{c,y}	3.10 ^{c,y}	2.60 ^{c,y}				

TABLE 3 LSMeans for the average daily gain (ADG) and body condition scores (BCS) according to breed and observation period.

*ADG, average daily gain; BCS, body condition score; s.e.m, standard error of means. Different letters "a, b, c, d, and e" represent significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between periods of observation. "x and y" represent significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between breeds. B, Breed; P, Period; B x P, Breed x Period interaction.

TABLE 4 Correlation values among the tested variables of interest for the Boran (top) and Nguni (bottom) diagonal.

	Grazing	Browsing	Resting	Walking	Shade	Pasture	WP	FL	DB	ADG
Grazing	_	0.017***	-0.963***	-0.838**	-0.146	0.296	0.202	-0.463	-0.289	0.451
Browsing	-0.666*	-	-0.767**	-0.122	0.127	-0.699*	-0.031	0.634*	-0.288	0.370
Resting	-0.659*	0.479	-	0.836*	0.372	-0.183	0.048	-0.241	-0.102	-0.661*
Walking	-0.707*	-0.750*	-0.749^{*}	-	-0.291	-0.043	-0.295	0.741*	0.588	-0.701^{*}
Shade	0.104	0.247	0.439	-0.696*	-	-0.733*	0.947***	-0.780**	0.782**	-0.250
Pasture	0.191	-0.554	-0.297	0.423	-0.637**	-	-0.422	0.931***	0.778**	0.419
WP	-0.606	0.551	0.161	0.217	0.974***	0.080	-	-0.679*	0.701*	-0.794**
FL	0.042	-0.147	-0.388	0.396	-0.652^{*}	0.684*	-0.980***	-	0.683*	0.219
DB	-0.711*	0.396	0.045	0.563	-0.848**	0.144	0.701*	0.895***	-	-0.010
ADG	0.260	-0.696*	-0.704^{*}	-0.701	-0.308	0.650*	-0.173	0.195	0.195	-

Significance at *(P < 0.05), **(P < 0.01), ***(P < 0.001), WP, water point; FL, fenceline; DB, drinking bouts; ADG, average daily gain and BCS, body condition score.

(r = -0.826 at P = 0.0033), number of drinking bouts (r = -0.826 at P = 0.0033)-0.711 at P = 0.0210), and BCS (r = -0.739 at P = 0.0145). Browsing negatively correlated with the amount of time spent on walking (r = -0.750 at P = 0.0168) and ADG (r = -0.696at P = 0.0255). Resting positively correlated with fecal DM (r =0.746 at P = 0.0133), while negatively correlated with time spent on walking (r = -0.749 at P = 0.0125). Positive correlations (r = 0.813 at P = 0.0042) were noted between the amount of time spent on pastures and a number of drinking bouts. Negative correlations (r = -0.696 at P = 0.0253) existed between the amount of time spent on walking and under the shade. Time spent under the shade negatively correlated with the amount of time spent on pasture (r = -0.637 at P = 0.0015), fenceline (r = -0.652 at P = 0.0411), and drinking bouts (r = -0.848)at P = 0.0020). The proportion of time spent under the shade positively correlated with the amount of time spent along water points (r = 974 at P < 0.0001) and BCS (r = 0.661 at P =0.0376). A positive correlation existed between the amount of time spent on pasture and fenceline. The amount of time along water points positively correlated with the BCS (r = 0.646 at P = 0.0437), while negatively correlated with time spent along the fenceline. Time spent along the fenceline positively correlated with the number of drinking bouts (r = 0.895 at 0.0005), while at the same time negatively correlated (r = -0.739 at P = 0.0417)

with the BCS. ADG positively correlated with the amount of time spent on pasture (r = 0.650 at P = 0.0419).

Discussion

Transferring cattle to a new environment results in a heterogeneous use in different parts of the paddock. However, this might be influenced by the vegetation composition and its distribution patterns since most of the animals rely on natural pastures as a source of nutrition. Findings obtained from this study noted differences in distribution patterns of common grass species, with most of them found along water points and everywhere on pastures. Differences in the abundance of grass species within a specified area is highly influenced by a number of factors, such as weather or climate and management practices (17, 29). Such factors are known to influence the grazing patterns and weight accumulation of cattle that solely depend on native grasslands as a source of feed (13). However, behavioral changes and weight accumulation differences between the two cattle breeds could be attributed to a combination of the new environment and vegetation composition. Exposing cattle to a new environment result in temporal disruptions in their foraging routine, water footprint, and weight accumulation as a

response mechanism to the imposed stimuli (10). The response of the animals and time needed to adapt differs with each animal species, sex, breed, age, physiological status, and the production system (15, 30). It is well-accepted and documented in the literature that taking animals to a new environment compel them to make substantial changes in their time budgets, and this negatively impacts their welfare and productivity (31, 32). Previous studies done in cattle production used activity time budgets to measure the response as well as to get some insights into the adaptation potential of different breeds to several climate change shocks (10). Nonetheless, there is limited information about how different cattle genotypes learn to adapt when sent to a novel environment, as this has become a norm in the era of climate change. In the current study, the proportion of time spent on walking became the dominant activity shown by the Nguni and Boran steers during the first 3 weeks postrelocation. The difference in time spent on walking could be attributed to the fact that the Nguni cattle are known for their ability to walk long distances in search of grazing sites and water points (18). At the same time, the Nguni cattle are selective grazers and browsers; hence, the need to walk a longer distance to search for better quality forage, while the Boran are effective grazers (21). Some studies argue that an increase in locomotion may reflect social instability and curiosity of animals to cope with environmental changes (33). With this information, a combination of the season through insufficient forage and novelty of the environment might have played a crucial role in elevated time spent walking with intents to search for better quality food as the study was conducted during dry months. Other studies documented the restriction on time spent grazing as another response made by animals in adjusting to their unknown environment (34). Similar results were achieved in the current study, where the amount of time spent on grazing and browsing significantly dropped in the first 3 weeks of introduction to the new area. Breed differences in time spent grazing and browsing could be attributed to different feeding mechanisms shown by the steers. The remarkable ability shown by the Nguni and Boran cattle to obtain the nutritional value from the available natural vegetation proves to be very beneficial to their excellent adaptation under challenging conditions which could be counterproductive to bulk grazers such as exotic cattle breeds (12).

The proportion of time spent resting remains unchanged in both breeds throughout the study, which could be due to the fact that Nguni and Boran cattle are energetic cattle breeds capable to of adapting harsh climatic conditions and extreme temperatures (3). The two cattle breeds spent equal time on pastures, and this could be due to the fact that cattle are social animals and prefer to graze in groups. Without the social support of familiar group members, individuals may feel vulnerable to predation and spend more time moving up and down as they do not feel safe to rest (20). Similar findings were reported by Barbieri et al. (35), who noted that during the day, cattle spent

most of their time grazing in groups. However, the time spent by the steers on pasture appears to be determined by various factors like weather conditions, social relationships of the animals, and forage availability (36). Introducing cattle to an unfamiliar environment results in an unstable social and foraging routine and cattle display a high proportion of heterogeneous patterns with regard to the occupancy distribution (5). For instance, in the first 3 weeks, the steers spent longer time around fenceline, with Nguni steers showing high proportion than the Boran steers. This implies that individual animals differ in their levels of inquisitiveness and motivation to explore novel situations, which is essential for learning and familiarization with a new environment. Grazing around the fenceline could also be a territorial marking and learning mechanism used by animals to familiarize themselves with their new environment (30). On the other hand, other studies argue that time spent along the fenceline could not be the sole indicator of adaption as it can be influenced by a number of factors, including forage availability within the paddock (14). Since the time spent along the fenceline was only dominant during the first 3 weeks, it is agreed that the steers were in the process of familiarizing themselves with their new environment. However, future studies should bring up the issue of seasonality in relation to forage availability and how this influences the spatial distribution of cattle after being exposed to a novel environment. Moreover, the social structure of the herd during grazing movements should be put into consideration as it also had an influence on the spatial distribution of the steers during the period of behavior observations.

There is a general lack of adapted genetic material suited to the prevailing harsh climatic conditions. For instance, exotic breeds tend to lack the adaptive traits necessary for survival and production in the rigorous environment accompanied by extreme temperatures and low forage availability than their area of origin (18). Even though it was minimal, the steers appeared to share equal chances of seeking shade irrespective of the breed. Tropical cattle breeds like Nguni and Boran are heat tolerant, and their medium body frame appears to be very instrumental to harsh and heterogeneous conditions (1). The availability of shade through trees, in this case, is essential for cattle reared on natural pastures as their absence can reduce animal well-being and subsequently alter their daily routine (37). Other studies claim that cattle prefer to graze or hide in dense areas as a protective mechanism to escape from predators and other mechanical intruders (38). Hiding under the trees or dense areas is an adaptation phenomenon used by cattle to protect and defend themselves against potential threats that are perceived as predation risks (6). Under such conditions, time spent by cattle under the shade primarily depends on the degree of disturbance stimuli (15). Predation risks play a prominent role in shaping the activity patterns of many foraging animals; hence, they resort to shifting some activities over others to avoid or reduce risks or extent of interference in competition for resources (7). In the absence of insufficient shade, cattle

106

spend more of their time around water points (39). Similar observations were made in the current study, where Boran cattle were observed to spend more time around water points than the Nguni steers during different observation weeks. Frequent access and distance of cattle from the water sources depend on daily weather conditions like extreme temperatures, humidity, and wind speed (3, 19). Temperature and humidity have a direct relationship with cattle water consumption (4). Cattle tend lose more water from their bodies through consistent perspiration and defecation resulting from increasing physiological demand due to dehydration hence the need for regular access to water sources. Rearing cattle under natural pastures is accompanied by lots of water availability constraints due to erratic rainfalls, as many cattle farmers rely on natural resources like dams, streams, and ponds (2). As a result, water stress is an area of concern nowadays as most cattle breeds, particularly high-producing or precious genotypes, fail to adapt when sent to low-rainfall areas.

Boran cattle had a higher number of drinking bouts than the Nguni, even though no significant interactions were noted between the breed type and the period of behavior observation. A similar observation was made by Simelane et al. (10) who noted that drinking frequency in cattle could be affected by several factors, including weather conditions. In a study conducted by Williams et al. (39), an elevated degree of THI (temperature-humidity index) resulted in cows drinking more water, spending more time at the drinker, making more visits to the drinker, and competing more at the drinker. A similar observation was made in the current study, where cattle aggressively interacted with each other around the water points. It was noted that the Nguni had longer drinking bouts than the Boran steers. These results are unlikely to be explained by the weather conditions alone but might be related to physiological demand and unstable social relationships between the two cattle breeds. The two cattle breeds showed a significant decline in ADG and BCS even though it was just for the first 3 weeks. The difference in ADG and BCS between the two breeds could be that Boran had higher grazing time while the Nguni had walked longer hours during the first 3 weeks. A similar observation was made by Kabasingiza et al. (40) who recorded an increase in body weight loss in the 1st week's post-relocation. Both breeds quickly compensated for their weight loss in the successive weeks. Scientific evidence showed that the Nguni and Boran cattle performed well-under optimal conditions while the exotics performed poorly under the prevailing management practices of the communal system. Small framed cattle breeds like Nguni and Boran have a lower maintenance requirement which is more easily met by the available forage even during dry months (21). This may be due to the maintenance of a high blood urea when the nitrogen content of the pasture drops. As seen in previous studies by Katiyatiya et al. (3) and Simelane et al. (10), the Nguni maintained a level of 13% in winter while the blood urea levels of the Simmental fell to 7 mgs%, approaching the minimum for proper N balance. However, the authors note that the ability to

maintain body condition may be due to adaptation to one or more stress factors.

Negative correlations between time spent grazing and the proportion of time spent on resting and walking. At any given time, the grazing will always be the preferred activity shown by the Boran instead of browsed (3, 19). Nguni steers showed negative correlations between the amount of spent grazing and other variables such as browsing, resting, walking, and a number of drinking bouts. It is widely accepted that under optimal conditions, browsing will always be the first preference activity shown by the Nguni cattle (10, 18). A negative correlation between browsing and ADG could be due to the high proportion of time spent by the Nguni while walking in search of browsing. Depending on the area and nature of vegetation, cattle breeds like Nguni and other browsers like goats tend to walk longer distances in search of browse species, and this is accompanied by lots of energy expenditure hence the weight loss (31, 34).

Conclusion

The study demonstrated adaptation differences with regard to behavioral activities and occupancy patterns of the Nguni and Boran steers post-relocation could be influenced by a combination of the unfamiliar environment and vegetation composition. This had a negative effect on the weight gain and BCS as the two breeds showed a consistent decline in grazing activities and spent more time walking in the first 3 weeks of exposure. The ability of the Nguni and Boran cattle to respond differently to the stimuli and quickly compensate for the weights implies that the two breeds coped very well in spite of several constraints. Reintroducing the indigenous cattle breeds should be a welcomed idea or possible mitigation approach to improve the tolerance of struggling cattle breeds subjected to harsh and heterogeneous environmental conditions. Nguni and Boran cattle should be prioritized in livestock development and breeding programs to better the genetic capacity of the struggling cattle breeds.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by accommodation and care of animals was in accordance with the recommendations of the University of Fort Hare's Research Ethics Policy. The project guidelines were reviewed and permitted under the ethical clearance certificate number MUC551SSLA01 from the institutional Animal Research Ethics Committee. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: MS and YN. Methodology: LZ and MS. Data curation and writing—original draft preparation: MS. Writing—review and editing: MS, YN, and LZ. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

The financial support received from the National Research Foundation (NRF): Scarce Skills Doctoral Scholarship (Grant UID: 102487), Scarce Skills Postdoctoral Fellowship (Reference:

References

1. Mokolobate MC, Theunissen A, Scholtz MM, Neser FWC. Sustainable crossbreeding systems in the era of climate change. *S Afr J Anim Sci.* (2014) 44:8–11. doi: 10.4314/sajas.v44i5.2

2. Kannan N, Osei E, Gallego O, Saleh A. Estimation of green water footprint of animal feed for beef cattle production in Southern Great Plains. *Water Res Industry.* (2017) 17:11–8. doi: 10.1016/j.wri.2016.12.002

3. Katiyatiya CLF, Bradley G, Muchenje V. Hair coat characteristics and thermophysiological stress response of Nguni and Boran cows raised under hot environmental conditions. *Int J Biometeorol.* (2017) 61:2183– 94. doi: 10.1007/s00484-017-1424-z

4. Scholtz MM, Neser FWC. Schonfeldt HC, Schutte GM. Research and development on climate change and greenhouse gases in support of climate-smart livestock production and a vibrant industry. *South Af J Ani Sci.* (2014) 44:1–7. doi: 10.4314/sajas.v44i5.1

5. Pierrehumbert RT, Eshel G. Climate impact of beef: an analysis considering multiple time scales and production methods without use of global warming potentials. Environ Res Letter. (2015) 10:1–10. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/8/085002

 Mapfumo L, Muchenje V, Mupangwa JF, Scholtz MM, Washaya S. Dynamics and influence of environmental components on greenhouse gas emissions in sub-Saharan African rangelands: a review. *Animal Prod Sci.* (2021) 61:721– 30. doi: 10.1071/AN20564

7. Archer ERM, Landman WA, Malherbe J, Maluleke P, Weepener H. Managing climate risk in livestock production in South Africa: how might improved tailored forecasting contribute? *Climate Risk.* (2021) 32:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2021.100312

8. Vetter S, Goodall VL, Alcock R. Effect of drought on communal livestock farmers in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Af J Range Forage Sci.* (2020) 37:93–106. doi: 10.2989/10220119.2020.1738552

9. Mlaza N, Tefera B, Hassen A. Spatiotemporal status of vegetation, soil and cattle serum minerals in degraded communal rangelands of the Eastern Cape, South Africa: implications for livestock sustainability and management interventions. Af J Range Forage Sci. (2022) 1–12. doi: 10.2989/10220119.2022.2073611

10. Simelane P, Shapiro JT, Mahlaba TAM, McCleery RA, MacFadyen DN, Monadjem A. The foraging ecology of nguni and brahman cattle under different management systems in high-altitude grasslands of South Africa. *J. Rangeland Sci.* (2021) 11:301–9.

11. Cusack DF, Kazanski CE, Hedgpeth A, Chow K, Cordeiro AL, Karpman J et al. Reducing climate impacts of beef production: a synthesis of life cycle

SFP150813137239, UID: 99687), and Project TS64 (UID: 99787) are acknowledged.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

assessments across management systems and global regions. *Glob Chang Biol.* (2021) 27:1721–36. doi: 10.1111/gcb.15509

12. Ruwanza S, Thondhlana G, Falayi M. Research progress and conceptual insights on drought impacts and responses among smallholder farmers in South Africa: a review. *Land.* (2022) 11:159–67. doi: 10.3390/land11020159

13. Napolitano F, Girolami A, Pacelli C, Braghieri A. Activity budgets and forage selection of podolian cattle, a semi wild Bovine breed. *Int Schol Res Network*. (2011) 3:1–8. doi: 10.5402/2011/972804

14. Ngxumeshe AM, Ratsaka M, Mtileni B, Nephawe K. Sustainable application of livestock water footprints in different beef production systems of South Africa. *Sustainability.* (2020) 12:1–13. doi: 10.3390/su12239921

15. Améndola L, Solorio FJ, Ku-Vera JC, Massioti RDA, Zarza H, Mancera KF, et al. A pilot study on the foraging behaviour of heifers in intensive silvopastoral and monoculture systems in the tropics. *Animal.* (2020) 13:606–16. doi:10.1017/S1751731118001532

16. Pollock JG, Gordon AW, Huson KM, McConnell DA. The effect of frequency of fresh pasture allocation on the feeding behaviour of high production dairy cows. *Animals (Basel)*. (2022) 12:243. doi: 10.3390/ani12030243

17. Simanga S, Tefera S, Wakindiki IS, Mopipi K. Comparison of grass and soil conditions around water points in different land use systems in semiarid South African rangelands and implications for management and current rangeland paradigms. *Arid Land Res Manag.* (2020) 34:207– 30. doi: 10.1080/15324982.2019.1670279

18. Tada O, Muchenje V, Dzama K. Preferential traits for breeding Nguni cattle in low-input *in-situ* conservation production systems. *Springer Plus*. (2013) 2:188–95. doi: 10.1186/2193-1801-2-195

19. Nyamushamba GB, Mapiye C, Tada O, Halimani TE, Muchenje V. Conservation of indigenous cattle genetic resources in Southern Africa's smallholder areas: turning threats into opportunities - A review. *Asian Au J Animal Sci.* (2017) 30:603–21. doi: 10.5713/ajas.16.0024

20. Bica GS, Filho LCPM, Lemos D. Beef cattle on pasture have better performance when supplied with water trough Than Pond. *Front Vete Sci.* (2021) 8:1–8. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.616904

21. Mapfumo L, Muchenje V, Mupangwa JF, Scholtz MM. Changes in biochemical proxy indicators for nutritional stress resilience from Boran and Nguni cows reared in dry arid rangeland. *Trop Anim Health Prod.* (2017) 49:1383–92. doi: 10.1007/s11250-017-1338-0

22. Slavi M, Njisane YZ, Muchenje V. Behavioural and haemato-biochemical responses of Nguni and Boran steers post relocation and herd regrouping

in a novel environment. JApp Animal Welfare Sci. (2021) 24:39-55. doi: 10. 1080/10888705.2020.1759070

23. Nciizha AD, Wakindiki IIC. Particulate organic matter, soil texture and mineralogy relations in some Eastern cape ecotopes in South Africa. South Afr J Plant Soil. (2012) 29:39–46. doi: 10.1080/02571862.2012.688882

24. Mucina L, Rutherford MC. The Vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland. Pretoria, South Africa: SANBI. (2011), pp. 513.

25. Acocks JPH. Veld types of South Africa, third ed. *Memoirs of Botanical Survey of South Africa Government Printer*. Pretoria, South Africa (1988), pp 1–146.

26. Hardy MB, Walker LS. Determining sample size for assessing species composition in grassland. J Grassland Soc Southern Africa. (1991) 8:70-3. doi: 10.1080/02566702.1991.9648265

27. Tainton NM, Edwards PJ, Mentis MT, A. revised method for assessing veld condition. *Proceed Annual Cong Grassland Soc Southern Africa*. (1980) 15:37–42. doi: 10.1080/00725560.1980.9648882

28. Martin P, Bateson PPG. Measuring Behavior: An Introductory Guide. Cambridge: Cambridge University Pres. (2007). doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511810893

29. Easter TS, Killion AK, Carter NH. Climate change, cattle, the challenge of sustainability in a telecoupled system in Africa. *Ecol Sociol.* (2018) 23:1-10. doi: 10.5751/ES-09872-230110

30. Jordaan FJ, Neser FWC, Maiwashe A, King Z, Scholtz MM. The environmental impact of changes in cow productivity and its component traits in South Africa's Landrace beef breeds. *Front Animal Sci.* (2021) 2:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fanim.2021.743229

31. Trindade JK, Pinto CE, Neves FP, Mezzalira JC, Bremm C, Genro TCM, et al. Forage allowance as a target of grazing management: implications on grazing time and forage searching. *Rangeland Ecol Manang.* (2012) 65:382–93. doi: 10.2111/REM-D-11-00204.1

32. Halimani T, Marandure T, Chikwanha OC, Molotsi AN, Abiodun BJ, Dzama K, et al. Smallhoder sheep farmers' perceived impact of water scarcity in dry

ecozones of South Africa. Determinants and response strategies. *Clim Risk Manag.* (2021) 34:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2021.100369

33. Madhusoodan AP, Seijian V, Rashamol VP, Savitha ST, Bagath M, Krishnan G, et al. Resilient capacity of cattle to environmental challenges – An updated review. *J Anim Behav Biometerol.* (2019) 7:104–18. doi: 10.31893/2318-1265jabb.v7n3p104-118

34. Mezzalira JC, Bremm C, Trindade JK, Nabinger C, Carvalho PCF. The ingestive behaviour of cattle in large-scale and its application to pasture management in heterogeneous pastoral environments. *J Agri Sci Technol.* (2012) 2:909–16. doi: 10.17265/2161-6256/2012.07A.008

35. Barbieri CW, Quadros FLF, Jochims F, Soares ÉM, Oliveira LB, Carvalho RMR, et al. Sward structural characteristics and performance of beef heifers reared under rotational grazing management on campos grassland. *Am J Plant Sci.* (2014) 5:1020–42. doi: 10.4236/ajps.2014.57114

36. Jochims F, Soares, ÉM. Oliveira de, Kuinchtner LB, Casanova BC, Marin PT, et al. Timing and duration of observation periods of foraging behavior in natural grasslands. *Front Vete Sci.* (2020) 7:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.519698

37. Silpa MV, Konig S, Sejian V, Malik K, Nair MRR, Fonseca VF. C, et al. Bhatta, R. Climate-resilient dairy cattle production: applications of genomic tools and statistical models. *Front Vete Sci.* (2021) 8:1–16. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.625189

38. Tüfekci H, Çelik TH. Effects of climate change on sheep and goat breeding. BSJ Agri. (2021) 4:137–145. doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.954299

39. Williams LR, Jackson EL, Hurley GJ, Swain DL. Drinking frequency effects on the performance of cattle: A systematic review. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr. (2016) 101:1076–92. doi: 10. 1111/jpn.12640

40. Kabasingiza N, Mutoni B, Mutimira M. Evaluation of body condition score in ankole cattle in nyagatare district of Rwanda. *J Animal Vete Adv.* (2020) 19:43–6. doi: 10. 36478/javaa.2020.43.46

Frontiers in **Veterinary Science**

Transforms how we investigate and improve

animal healthThe third most-cited veterinary

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us

frontiers

Frontiers in **Veterinary Science**



